
 
 

Environment, Climate Emergency and 
Transport Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 30 November 2022 
Time: 
 

6.00 p.m. 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 

 
 
Contact Officer: Polly Price 
Tel: 0151 666 3336 
e-mail: pollyprice@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

 
This meeting will be webcast at 

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

Due to anticipated increased public attendance at this meeting, members of 
the public are asked to register their attendance in advance via the link below 
to avoid disappointment. After registering, you will be issued with an e-ticket. 
Please bring this with you. 
 
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/environment-climate-emergency-and-
transport-committee-tickets-473211707957 
 
If you have any issues registering your attendance via the link, please contact 
Committee Services via the telephone number above. 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
 
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
2. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 

3. APOLOGIES  
 

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/environment-climate-emergency-and-transport-committee-tickets-473211707957
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/environment-climate-emergency-and-transport-committee-tickets-473211707957


4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
 To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 20 

October 2022 
 

5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS  
 
 Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have not 

received an acknowledgement of your question/statement by the 
deadline for submission. 
 

 5.1 Public Questions 
 

  Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 
Noon, Friday 25th November 2022 to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (via the online form here: Public Question Form) and to 
be dealt with in accordance with Standing Order 10. 
 
Please telephone the Committee Services Officer if you have 
not received an acknowledgement of your question by the 
deadline for submission. 
 

 
 5.2 Statements and petitions 

 
  Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 

12 noon, 25 November 2025 to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt 
with in accordance with Standing Order 11.1. 
 
Petitions may be presented to the Committee. The person 
presenting the petition will be allowed to address the meeting 
briefly (not exceeding one minute) to outline the aims of the 
petition. The Chair will refer the matter to another appropriate 
body of the Council within whose terms of reference it falls 
without discussion, unless a relevant item appears elsewhere 
on the Agenda. Please give notice of petitions to 
committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. 
. 
 

 5.3 Questions by Members 
 

  Questions by Members to be dealt with in accordance with 
Standing Orders 12.3 to 12.8. 
 

SECTION A - KEY AND OTHER DECISIONS 
 
6. HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT - APPROVAL OF 

CONSULTATION REPORT AND FINAL CONSULTATION 
OUTCOMES (Pages 9 - 290) 

 
 The PDF files below may not be suitable to view for people with 

disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices.  

https://forms.office.com/r/H1WT279VSq


 
Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this 
document in an accessible format. 
 

7. POLLINATOR STRATEGY (Pages 291 - 360) 
 
8. WEED CONTROL (Pages 361 - 384) 
 
9. UPDATE - WIRRAL ALLOTMENT PARTNERSHIP STRATEGY 

(Pages 385 - 396) 
 
SECTION B - BUDGET AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
 
10. ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT 

COMMITTEE PERFORMANCE REPORT (Pages 397 - 424) 
 
 The PDF files below may not be suitable to view for people with 

disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices.  
 
Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk if you would like this 
document in an accessible format 
 

11. QUARTER 2 BUDGET REPORT (Pages 425 - 448) 
 
SECTION C - WORK PROGRAMME / OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
12. WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 449 - 456) 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
 The terms of reference for this committee can be found at the end of 

this agenda. 
 
 

mailto:neilthomas@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:neilthomas@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND 
TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

 
Thursday, 20 October 2022 

 
 

Present: Councillor EA Grey (Chair) 

 
 Councillors S Foulkes 

S Percy 
T Smith 
A Gardner 
L Fraser 
 

V Wilson 
H Gorman 
N Graham 
O Osanlou 
T Elzeiny 
 

 
 

29 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  
 
The Chair welcomed attendees and viewers to the meeting and reminded 
everyone that the meeting was webcast and retained on the Council’s website 
for two years. 
 

30 APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Paul Connolly, he was 
deputised by Councillor Tracy Elzeiny. 
 

31 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and any 
other relevant interest and to state the nature of the interest. No such 
declarations were made. 
 

32 MINUTES  
 
Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2022 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

33 PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS  
 
33.1 Public Questions  
 
The Chair indicated that 8 questions had been received. 
 
Stuart Clerk asked a question regarding the West Kirby sea defences and the 
impact on lifeboat provisions. The questioner asked if the council was aware 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



of the potential risk to life in regards to the Sandy Lane gate, and what action 
did the committee propose to address the issue, and who was responsible for 
the consequences of possible injury or loss of life if Lifeboats become 
restricted.  
 
The Chair responded by explaining the ultimate reduction of risk to life due to 
the decrease in flood risk provided by the West Kirby Flood Alleviation 
Scheme. The Chair explained where both pedestrian and vehicle access 
could be found along Sandy Lane and Dee lane, as well as the Wirral Sailing 
Centre entrance and exit. These accesses would be closed at times of flood. 
Operational procedures were being developed in collaboration with RNLI to 
ensure the flood risk provisions did not affect operations from Dee Lane and 
Sandy Lane.  
 
Phil Waterford asked a question regarding an issue with parking in the vicinity 
of St Peters School, Heswall. Mr Waterford asked if Highways Officers could 
reassess the situation and bring recommendation that address these 
concerns.  
 
The Chair responded explaining that the junction in this area was covered by 
a Traffic Regulation Order (double yellow lines). Concerns regarding safety 
issues had been noted. An assessment of the parking conditions would be 
undertaken in December 2022 as part of the Traffic Regulation Order. This 
could take up to 6 months and would result in a significant spend of public 
funding. Advisory warning notices had been requested to discourage 
pavement parking. Two crossing patrols were employed within the vicinity of 
the school in order to encourage more active travel.  
 
Nicola Verkade asked a question on behalf of Frank McArdle regarding the 
use of LiDAR data in determining beach heights at Hoylake Beach and a 
possible error in this data of up to 30cm. The question requestion how much 
confidence did the committee place in the use of the LiDAR technique.  
 
The Chair responded by explaining that the use of LiDAR was one of the 
methods used to look at beach topography and was suitable for use in 
Hoylake, this is because it covered 100% of the large area in question. The 
data had been used to create contour plots, and repeat surveys have 
provided digital data that indicate broad scale changes in elevation through 
time. Utilising data over a period of time limits the inaccuracy as the data is 
repeated over decades. Traditional methods of beach profiling rely of 
extrapolation to provide whole area data. LiDAR is now standardised 
technique used worldwide.  
 
Mr Kelly and Margi Drummond asked questions regarding the residents of 
The Oaks as possible pilot scheme users of porous parking mats on green 
spaces. 
 

Page 2



The Chair responded that the use of green spaces as parking areas required 
careful consideration against the council’s declared Climate Emergency and 
resources. Officers are aware of residents requests for green spaces to be 
transformed into parking areas. A report covering this issue was due to come 
to committee in the new year (2023) so an appropriate policy may be 
considered. 
 
Hannah Rapley asked a question regarding the frequency of alley way 
cleaning in Seacombe, and if this would be the previously promised monthly 
basis.  
 
The chair responded to say that the Council had a statutory duty to maintain 
passage through an adopted or specified alleyway to ensure a throughfare for 
residential use.  Biffa are contracted to remove all Litter, bulky items, 
hazardous waste and other specified materials from passages and alleyways 
(Entries), irrespective of size or type of material and irrespective of how the 
material arrived at the Location.   
 
Charlotte Smith asked if the committee could provide an outcome of the 
consultation regarding Hoylake Beach. 
 
The Chair responded by explaining that over 3000 responses were received 
for the initial consultation undertaken in June, July and August. The report 
regarding this consultation and management options will be brought to 
committee in November. 
33.2 Statements and petitions  
 
Edward Lamb presented a petition to the committee which demonstrated 
thanks toward Wirral Council for the installation of a cycle link, improvements 
to it, and the overall quality of the cycle network across Wirral. 
 
The Chair thanked Mr Lamb for this petition.  
33.3 Questions by Members  
 
Councillor Gorman asked for an explanation for the removal of litter bins 
throughout the borough. Including one at the junction of Storeton Road and 
Mendip Road amongst others. Councillor Gorman wanted to know the exact 
number of bins that have been removed in total and whether there is a plan 
for replacement. 
 
The chair responded to confirm that litter bins were removed if they were 
damaged or in need of replacement due to condition or style. Removed bins 
are usually replaced at the same time as this is more efficient.   

34 DEVELOPMENT FUNDING FOR TRANSPORT PIPELINE BIRKENHEAD 
CENTRAL GATEWAY  
 
 

Page 3



The Lead Commissioner, Strategic Transport Infrastructure introduced the 
report of the Director of Regeneration and Place. This report sought 
comments from the Committee in regard to the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority to support the development of the Birkenhead Central 
Gateway Programme. The report also noted the approved slippage of 
£1,092,129 from 2021/22 development funding grant award. The development 
funding would support key regeneration projects including Argyle Street, Dock 
Branch Park, Hind Street and Woodside.  
 
Members were informed that the development of the transport projects 
supported the delivery of several key catalyst projects and neighbourhoods 
identified in Birkenhead 2040, the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) programme and 
the wider regeneration of the Left Bank. This would ensure that the Council 
achieves delivery of transport and regeneration schemes within the Borough 
as part of a Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) wide 
programme of schemes and interventions.  
 
The Committee asked if Ward Members had been consulted and were 
assured that they would be aware of the project. Members also discussed 
Active Travel as a Government Policy and noted that available funding should 
be spent wisely.  
 
 
Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 

35 FUTURE HIGH STREETS FUND MOVEMENT SCHEMES  
 
The Lead Commissioner, Strategic Transport Infrastructure introduced the 
report of the Director of Regeneration and Place. The report provided 
Members with an update regarding the work undertaken to progress the 
Future High Streets Fund (FHSF) Movement Schemes in Birkenhead. The 
schemes were:  
 

 Charing Cross / Grange Road, Birkenhead; and 

 Conway Street / Europa Boulevard, Birkenhead  
 
The report requested that Members note the progress made in the 
development and design of the schemes and sought approval to undertake 
public and stakeholder consultation and engagement in relation to both 
schemes. 
 
Committee queried the ‘work in progress’ part of the proposals included in the 
Appendix. It was confirmed that “work in process” was referenced as this 
element was not completed in time to be included in the report.  Committee 
were advised that regular updates would continue to be provided on the 
proposals as the development for the project continues. 
 

Page 4



Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 

36 ACTIVE TRAVEL FUND TRANCHE 2 - BAYSWATER ROAD & LEASOWE 
ROAD  
 
 
The Lead Commissioner, Strategic Transport Infrastructure introduced the 
report of the Director of Regeneration and Place. The report considered the 
objections and expressions of support received following consultation 
regarding the proposed mandatory cycle link along A554 Bayswater 
Road/Harrison Drive, Wallasey Ward. This scheme had been developed as 
part of Tranche 2 of the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Active Travel Fund. 
In accordance with the Council’s constitution consideration of the approval of 
the implementation of the scheme was a matter for this Committee given that 
in excess of 14 objections had been received in response to the public 
consultation on the scheme. The scheme also sought approval for the 
removal of the Leasowe Road scheme in the Leasowe and Moreton East 
ward, and the Moreton West and Saughall Massie ward from the Tranche 2 
programme.  
 
The purpose of this scheme was to create an environment that is safe for both 
pedestrians and cyclists and to help embed walking and cycling as part of 
new long term commuting habits. 
 
Members queried the cost increase of the project, with officers confirming the 
following reasons why this increase had occurred: 
 

 The scheme was put forward as part of Active Travel tranche 1 as part 
of the emergency COVID response to be delivered in a few months 
with no consultation, but was not afforded the funding until tranche 2 
and by this point consultation was required again and this incurred 
additional costs and additional staff time.   

  The original scheme wasbased on high level outline design estimates 
costed before LTN1/20 was applicable – the application of the new 
design standard included additional design features which increased 
the scheme cost.   

 There has been a general increase in the cost of materials and rates 
due to inflation increases  

 
 
Members also queried why The Crescent scheme in West Kirby has been 
removed from the programme and a further discussion was held to explain 
this was due to the forthcoming West Kirby Masterplan process and that it 
was considered that any active travel proposals would be considered as part 
of this comprehensive approach. 
 

Page 5



Members were keen to ensure early delivery of the projects as well as 
oversight of any slippage within the scheme.  
 
Resolved – That 
 

(1) the implementation of a mandatory cycle link along the A554 
Bayswater Road/Harrison Drive, Wallasey, as set out in Appendix 1 of 
this report be approved; and 
 

(2) the Director of Regeneration and Place be authorised to: 
 
(a) Submit a change control request to the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority to withdraw the Leasowe Road scheme from 
the Active Travel Tranche 2 programme; 

 
(b) Submit a change control request to the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority to enable £111,000 of budget previously 
allocated to the Leasowe Road scheme to be allocated to the A554 
Bayswater Road/Harrison Drive scheme; and 

 
(c) Effect an associated virement so that the budget for the proposed 

mandatory cycle link along Bayswater Road/Harrison Drive is 
increased from £70,000 to £181,000. 

 
 

37 2022-23 BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 1  
 
The Finance Business Partner introduced the report to the committee. The 
report set out the financial monitoring information for the Environment, 
Climate Emergency and Transport Committee as at quarter 1 (1 Apr – 30 Jun) 
of 2022-23. The report provided Members with an overview of budget 
performance, including progress on the delivery of the 2022-23 saving 
programme and a summary of reserves to enable the Committee to take 
ownership of the budgets and provided robust challenge and scrutiny to 
Officers on the performance of those budgets. Managing a budget required 
difficult decisions to ensure that a balanced position could be presented. 
Regular Member engagement, which this report formed part of, was 
considered essential in delivering effective governance and financial 
oversight. At the end of Quarter 1, there was a forecast adverse position of 
£2.014m on the Committees net revenue budget, of £63.905m. This position 
was based on activity to date, projected trends in income and expenditure and 
potential mitigation to offset areas of adverse variance. 
 
Committee queried the waste contract which had increased by 900K.  It was 
clarified that that this in an index linked contract and that it is an inflationary 
increase.  
 

Page 6



Resolved – That  
 

(1) the forecast revenue position presented at Quarter 1 be noted.  
(2) the progress on delivery of the 2022-23 savings programme at 

Quarter 1 be noted.  
(3) the forecast level of reserves at Quarter 1 be noted. 
(4) the forecast capital position presented at Quarter 1 be noted.  

 
 

38 WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  
 
 
The chair presented the report to the committee, which provided the 
Committee with an opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across the 
municipal year. The work programme for the Environment Climate Emergency 
and Transport Committee was attached as Appendix 1 to the report. 
 
In response to a further request that there was to be a workshop held for 
Committee Members on waste management and the development of a waste 
strategy.  
 
Resolved – That the work programme be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 
ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
Wednesday, 30 November 2022 
 

 

Report Title: APPROVAL OF INITIAL HOYLAKE BEACH 

CONSULTATION REPORT AND APPROVAL OF 

BEACH MANAGEMENT OPTIONS FOR 

CONSULTATION 

Report of: DIRECTOR OF NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report provides Members of the Committee with the results of the initial consultation 
exercise relating to Hoylake Beach Management and also proposes two beach 
management options, developed and informed by the initial consultation, for further 
consultation. 
 
The future management of Hoylake beach strategically aligns with both the Sustainable 
Environment and Safe and Pleasant Communities themes of the Wirral Plan 2025. 
 
This report affects Hoylake & Meols ward.  
 
It is not a key decision. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. Approve the Initial Consultation Report, included as Appendix A to this report  
2. Approve consultation on the two beach management options developed following 

completion of the Initial Consultation. 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
1.1 On 16 March 2021, the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee 

approved the Communications and Engagement Strategy, included as Appendix F, 
for the development of a beach management plan at Hoylake. Stage 4 of that 
strategy sets out requirement to undertake an initial consultation with the objective of 
gathering all views on Hoylake Beach so that a long list of management options 
could be developed. 

 
1.2 The Communications and Engagement Strategy also identified that the initial 

consultation should identify the regulatory framework set out in the Discretionary 
Advice, included as Appendix E, procured from Natural England and also utilise the 
findings of the Ecology and Geomorphology Study (Appendix D) undertaken in the 
summer of 2021 and produced in 2022. 

 
1.3 The initial consultation was undertaken from 29 June until 10 August and the 

Consultation Report, included as Appendix A, provides a factual summary of the 
results of the consultation. 

 
1.4 Stages 5 and 6 of the Communications and Engagement Strategy relate to the 

development of objectives for future beach management and the testing of the long 
list of options developed following consultation against those objectives and 
assessment criteria to identify a short list of options for further consultation. 

 
1.5 Following the end of the consultation in August 2022 the work on development of the 

long list, objectives and shortlisting has been undertaken and the report which sets 
these out is included as Appendix B. Six options for beach management have been 
shortlisted which meet the objectives for future beach management, align with the 
Discretionary Advice from Natural England and have been subject to further 
appraisal by Natural England. Of the six options appraised by Natural England four 
were found to be unlikely to receive assent under Section 28H of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. The remaining two options brought forward for consultation 
present some challenges to Natural England but may be suitable as a final preferred 
option with some refinement.  
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 A standard form of options appraisal is to develop a long list of options and to use 

Objectives and Assessment Criteria to measure the benefits of each option thereby 
reducing the long list to a short list for further, more detailed consideration or 
consultation. 

 
2.2 For the beach management area between Red Rocks and the RNLI Station a 

combination of areas were defined and five differing beach management approaches 
applied to these areas resulting in 23 long list options.  

 
2.3 Measurement of each of the 23 options against the assessment criteria has resulted 

in the development of 6 options indicated above. 
 
2.4 The full process and all options are included in the Royal HaskoningDHV Report - 

Identification of Short Listed Options included as Appendix B 

Page 10



 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

 INITIAL CONSULTATION SEEKING YOUR VIEWS 
 
3.1 The first public consultation on the new Beach Management Plan for Hoylake Beach 

was undertaken from 29 June 2022 to 10 August 2022. Prior to this consultation a 
Have Your Say portal had been set up by Wirral Intelligence Service to start the 
engagement process and to act as a repository for a significant amount of 
information and data regarding Hoylake Beach to help inform those with an interest 
in participating in future consultations. 

 
3.2 The Have Your Say portal also provided a series of Frequently Asked Questions and 

answers and also served to act as the repository for the Ecology and 
Geomorphology Study published in early 2022. The Study considered how Hoylake 
Beach had changed due to natural coastal processes in the preceding decades, 
measured the existing vegetation communities and made predictions regarding 
future evolution of the beach taking into account rising sea levels as a result of 
climate change. The Study measured the various impact under two scenarios “Do 
Nothing” and “Do Everything” on the premise that the future Hoylake Beach 
Management Plan would be fit between these two extremes. 

 
3.3 The Initial Consultation was facilitated by a questionnaire developed to address the 

many points raised by residents during the engagement process. The purpose of the 
questionnaire was to measure how Hoylake Beach is used and enjoyed and to 
measure the variety of opinion on how Hoylake Beach could be managed in future. 
The outputs from the consultation were used to define the objectives for the Hoylake 
Beach Management Plan and to set assessment criteria for the development of 
management options. 

 
3.4 The consultation and four in-person information sessions were promoted through a 

mix of print and digital channels to raise awareness and encourage participation in 
the online survey.  

 
3.5 The launch of the consultation was pitched to local media and featured in print 

editions of the Wirral Globe and Liverpool Echo. The consultation was also included 
on the digital platforms for the Wirral Globe and Liverpool Echo as well as in local 
sites West Kirby Today, Birkenhead News, Wirral Family Guide and Cheshire 
Wildlife Trust. The consultation also featured on ITV Granada reports TV and 
website.  

 
3.6 The consultation was published on the Council’s own digital channels to encourage 

digital click through to the Have Your Say website. This included social media 
channels, weekly residents e-newsletter, Wirral View website and targeted emails to 
those who had previously subscribed to receive updates about Hoylake beach 
management. The council’s social media posts were shared and featured on local 
interest groups and residents own social media accounts extending the reach both 
locally, regionally and nationally.  

 
3.7 Outdoor media was used in Hoylake with banners along the beachfront and an ‘A’ 

board outside the information session venue to attract attention within the local 
community and people visiting the beach. Outdoor media also contained a QR code 
that linked through to the online survey.  

Page 11



 
3.8 Eventbrite was used to manage attendance at the information session in Hoylake 

with the public able to pre book a space; an allocation for walk in spaces was also 
made available.  

 
3.9 Paper surveys were made available at local libraries and an Easy Read consultation 

paper also developed and shared with 14 local groups. A letter outlining the 
consultation was sent to care homes in Wirral to advise them on the consultation and 
the availability of paper surveys.  

 
3.10 In addition to digital reminders a follow up print advert featured in the Wirral Globe to 

remind people to take part. 
 
3.11 Following the information drop in events Community Connectors carried out three 

days of face to face engagement in the local community to continue to raise 
awareness and reach those who may not be able to access digital channels. 525 
people were approached and of these 122 did not previously know about the 
consultation. As part of this work further paper copies, posters and leaflets were 
distributed.  

 
3.12 The headline results of the consultation promotion were: 
  

 79k impressions (views) from 14 Wirral Council social media posts  

 6,906 total engagements through Council’s social media posts (likes, comments and 
shares) 

 165 people prebooked a place through Eventbrite at the information session, 157 
people attended  

 1497 page views on Hoylake beach Wirral View story 

 1193 residents clicked through Wirral View email to information on the consultation 

 95 people subscribed to receive email updates on the consultation 75.8% of the 
emails were opened and click rate of 19.4% to the consultation portal   

 62 scans of the QR code that was on outdoor media and flyers directing to the 
website 

 91.9k potential reach based on print media circulation figures 

 Potential monthly reach of 397.5k Monthly unique browsers reach on Wirral Globe 
website   

 Potential daily reach of 970k on Liverpool Echo website  
 
The Have Your Say (HYS) consultation page received:  

 21,468 views  

 13,780 referrals through to the HYS page came from social media  

 3975 direct visits to the HYS website 

 531 referrals from news sites to HYS  

 325 referred through email to website  

 722 arrived at the consultation page by searching online to access HYS website  

 244 referrals from through .gov website 

 18,109 users visited one page 

 8306 informed participants - performed a task, visited multiple pages 

 3176 completed the consultation  

 No Easy Read surveys were received  
 
 
 

Page 12



3.12 The consultation questionnaire could be completed online via the Have Your Say 
portal or by submitting a paper questionnaire which were located at Hoylake and 
West Kirby libraries and distributed at the drop-in sessions and by Community 
Connectors. Paper copies were also available on request and could also be returned 
by post. 

 
3.13 Following the conclusion of the consultation Wirral Intelligence Service analysed the 

responses and provided a Power BI report to allow interrogation of the data from 
different perspectives. The full Consultation Report, based on the outputs of the 
Power BI analysis is provided as Appendix A. 

 
3.14 The headline outputs from the consultation are: 

 3176 responses were received 

 64% of responses were from Wirral postcodes, 35% were from postcodes outside 
Wirral and 1% did not provide postcode data 

 Of the 2046 Wirral responses 54.5% were from Hoylake and Meols ward 

 Walking is the most popular use of Hoylake Beach when looking at Total Responses, 
Wirral Responses and Hoylake and Meols Responses. For responses outside of 
Wirral the most popular use of Hoylake Beach is as a place to be close to nature. 

 When looking at All Responses Hoylake Beach’s importance as a natural asset was 
as a habitat for birds and other wildlife, however taking Wirral and Hoylake & Meols 
responses in isolation Hoylake Beach was seen as being most important as an open 
space for the community 

 Wirral Responses with regard to the presence of saltmarsh did not provide any 
strong indicators with those preferring saltmarsh approximately equal to those who 
do not support the presence of saltmarsh. Hoylake and Meols residents were more 
opposed to saltmarsh (45%) however 35% of Hoylake and Meols residents found 
some saltmarsh to be acceptable. Total Responses were more favourable towards 
the development of saltmarsh 

 The same level of response was measured regarding the acceptability of sand dunes 
with a slightly more favourable response to development of dunes 

 When looking at Wirral responses and Hoylake and Meols responses the same level 
of response was measured regarding how the beach should look, managed or 
natural. Total responses were more supportive of a natural beach irrespective of 
aesthetics. 

 When considering hazards within the natural environment the majority of both Total 
and Wirral responses felt that there was no need to manage natural hazards at 
Hoylake Beach any differently to other natural areas. Hoylake and Meols residents 
however expressed more concern about the development of hazards if the beach 
was left unmanaged. Hazards identified included: 

o Mosquitos 
o Vermin 
o Stagnant water 
o Slippy surfaces 

 The balance between the local ecology and the needs of the local business 
community was measured in Question 9. Total and Wirral Responses identified the 
local ecology to be the overriding priority (35%) however 22% of responses identified 
that a balance needed to be found between the needs of local businesses and the 
local ecology. Hoylake and Meols responses identified that Business & Tourism were 
their priorities and that a fully maintained beach would best serve these. 
 

3.15 Questions 10 and 11 addressed how future management options for Hoylake Beach 
should be developed and how the cost and carbon associated with future 
management should influence the development of those options. The outputs from 

Page 13



these questions cannot be summarised easily. Pages 23 to 28 of the Appendix A 
Consultation Report provides the analysis of the responses. 

 
 
 OBJECTIVES FOR THE FUTURE BEACH MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
3.16 A series of objectives have been developed for the future Hoylake Beach 

Management Plan which take account of the findings of the Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and Ecology Study, the views expressed on the management of the 
beach from the consultation exercise carried out in summer 2022 and consultation 
with Natural England. 

The objectives of the Beach Management Plan are to: 

 Not compromise or adversely impact on the integrity of designated sites. 

 Promote biodiversity and contribution to mitigating climate change. 

 Minimise disturbance to wildlife.  

 Maintain and enhance the amenity benefit, wellbeing and health of the local 
community and visitors. 

 Ensure the safety of users and access across the beach.  

 Contribute to the reduction in the risk of flooding and/or erosion to local property and 
infrastructure. 

 Provide recommendations on further studies and monitoring to inform future 
management. 

 

3.17 In addition a series of assessment criteria were developed, based on the 
consultation outputs and the Ecology and Geomorphology Study to allow the 
identification, measurement and comparison of the potential environmental effects 
associated with the different management options. 

3.18 A summary of the assessment criteria headings is given below 

 Population and Human Health 

 Critical Infrastructure and Material Assets 

 Biodiversity 

 Climatic Factors 

 Water 

 Landscape / Seascape 
  

with full details of each categorisation given in Appendix B attached to this report. 

 
 LONG LIST OF OPTIONS FOR FUTURE BEACH MANAGEMENT 
 
3.19 For the beach management area between Red Rocks and the RNLI Station four 

Beach Management Scenarios have been developed that divide the frontage up into 
different Management Areas (MAs), as follows: 

  

o Scenario A 
 MA1a - Whole frontage 

o Scenario B 
 MA1b - RNLI station to Alderley Road Slipway 
 MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks 

o Scenario C 
 MA1c - RNLI station to Alderley Road Slipway 

Page 14



 MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap 

 MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks 
o Scenario D 

 MA1d - RNLI station to King’s Gap 

 MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks 

 
3.20 Five differing beach management approaches were applied to these areas  
 

 Do Nothing - Hoylake Beach develops naturally with no management. 

 Maintain and Remove - the current extent of vegetation on Hoylake Beach is 
maintained and its seaward expansion is prevented using mechanical means. 

 Do Everything – continued removal of all vegetation using mechanical means. 

 Do Everything (strip) – continued removal of a strip of vegetation immediately 
seaward of the seawall by mechanical means. This option would form part of either 
the Do Nothing or Maintain options. 

 Beach Nourishment - placement of appropriately sized sand to a specified thickness 
on top of the existing vegetation. This would create a sandy beach at a higher 
elevation than the current vegetated beach.  Vegetation would be continually 
removed, on the nourished area and in-front, using mechanical means, if required. 

 
3.21 The combination of management areas and approaches resulted in a long list of 23 

management options. 
 
 SHORTLISTING 
3.22 Shortlisting of the 23 management options has been undertaken by determining 

whether there is a beneficial or adverse effect on the assessment criteria and also by 
measuring the strength of that effect. 

 
3.23 The full results of the shortlisting and the rationale behind the determination of 

beneficial or adverse effect are captured in the matrices contained in the Hoylake 
Beach Management Plan – Identification of Short Listed Options Report, reproduced 
in Appendix B. 

 
3.24 The six short listed options are: 
 

 
Option 1  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Road) Maintain and Remove   

MA2b (Alderley Road - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
Option 3  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Do Everything  

MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
Option 5  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Beach Nourishment  

MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
Option 9  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Do Nothing / Do Everything (strip)  

MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
Option 15  MA1d (RNLI Station - King’s Gap) Maintain and Remove   

MA2d Do Nothing (King’s Gap - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
Option 23  MA1d (RNLI Station - Kings Gap) Do Nothing / Do Everything (Strip)  

MA2d (Kings Gap - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
 
 
 

 

Page 15



3.25 Whichever beach management option is identified as the preferred option for the 
Hoylake Beach Management Plan it will be subject to a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment and will require assent from Natural England under Section 28H of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  

 
3.26 In order to ensure Natural England would support all options proposed for 

consultation further engagement has been undertaken with Natural England to allow 
them to screen the options development through the long listing approach and the 
selection of the short list of options following appraisal against the beach 
management plan objectives and selection criteria. 

 
3.27 Natural England provided a response to this request on 01 November 2022 which is 

included as Appendix C to this report. In their response Natural England state that 
Options 3, 5, 9 and 23 above could result in significant habitat loss and would 
therefore be difficult for them to provide assent to Wirral Council to undertake the 
operations required if they were chosen, through consultation, as the preferred 
beach management option. Without assent Wirral Council cannot act legally in 
implementing the beach management plan. These four options are therefore no 
longer proposed as short listed options. 

 
3.28 Natural England also state that the remaining two options (Options 1 and 15) may 

require further refinement before they are able to assent any supporting Habitat 
Regulations Assessment. Natural England recommend ongoing discussions 
regarding the refinements of both the removal of vegetation from the frontal 
(seaward) zone of the existing vegetated area and also the requirements around 
RNLI access.  

 
3.29 It is therefore proposed to seek approval from the Committee to consult on Options 1 

and 15 as set out above and in more detail in Appendix B and to continue discussion 
with Natural England regarding refinements to these options. 

 
3.30 Maps of Options 1 and 15 are included in Appendix G. Maps of all options are 

included as an appendix to Appendix B Identification of Short Listed Options. 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 An economic appraisal exercise to provide a scale of likely costs has been 
undertaken. The appraisal is a qualitative assessment which provides a sliding scale 
of £ (least expensive - £0 to £10,000 per annum) through to £££££ (most expensive - 
£100,001 to £200,000 per annum). The scale of costs can be seen against each 
option in the report in Appendix B. 

 
4.2 The following assessment applies to the two options (subject to refinement) most 

likely to receive assent from Natural England: 
 

Option 1  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Maintain and Remove   
MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
££ ( £10,001 to £20,000 per annum) 

 
Option 15  MA1d (RNLI Station - King’s Gap) Maintain and Remove   

MA2d Do Nothing (King’s Gap - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 
££ ( £10,001 to £20,000 per annum) 
 

Page 16



The costs of raking the beach under either option would be met from the existing 
Parks and Countryside budget. If further works were required additional funds would 
need to be identified. 

 
4.3 The cost of developing the Hoylake Beach Management Options Report is £20,887 

and this has been met from Climate Emergency Budget. 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 Hoylake Beach forms part of North Wirral Foreshore Site of Special Scientific 

Interest, Dee Estuary Special Area of Conservation, Mersey Narrows and North 
Wirral Foreshore Special Protection Area / RAMSAR site. Assessment of the 
preferred beach management option following consultation will be undertaken as 
assent is required from Natural England under Section 28H of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and under the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) to allow Wirral Council to legally implement 
the beach management plan. 

 
5.2 Both options proposed for consultation include the maintenance of the current extent 

of vegetation and seaward expansion of vegetation is prevented using mechanical 
means. Depending on the position of Mean High Water Spring Tides, which defines 
the seabed, a licence under the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 may be 
required if the operation to prevent expansion of vegetation results in the removal of 
any substance or object from the seabed when using a vehicle. 

 
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 Existing resources have been used to develop the Have Your Say questionnaire, 

undertake analysis and produce the Consultation Report. Similarly existing 
resources have been used to promote the consultation, provide staff for drop-in 
sessions and also promote the consultation via Community Connectors. 

 
6.2 Existing resources will also be used to undertake the proposed consultation on 

beach management options using similar methods as those for the initial 
consultation. 

 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Natural England have highlighted the risks against four of the six short listed options 

and the recommendation of this report is to not to proceed with further consultation 
on those options as they are unlikely to receive assent under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act. 

 
7.2 The two remaining options may still not receive assent in their present form and 

further refinement may be required prior and during the associated Habitat 
Regulations Assessment to ensure the preferred option from consultation receives 
assent from Natural England. 

 
7.3 The initial consultation in summer 2022 highlighted the perceived hazards 

associated with all management options. Some hazards are identified in 3.8 above 
however the Consultation Report in Appendix A gives full details of hazards identified 
by consultees during the initial consultation. 

Page 17



 
7.4 Whichever management options are taken forward for consultation there will be 

some element of natural environmental hazards associated. The consultation 
process will ensure all hazards associated with each option for consultation are 
clearly identified.  
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 The Background Section 3.0 to this report and supporting Appendix A detail the 

engagement and consultation undertaken to date.  
 
8.2 Detail is also provided regarding the continuing engagement with Natural England 

during the long listing and short listing of options. Two options are proposed for 
further consultation following that process. 

 
8.3 The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transportation Committee are requested 

to approve the two options presented for further consultation. The form, methods and 
duration of the second consultation to mirror the initial consultation with the start of 
the six week consultation process in December 2022 and conclusion in January 
2023. 

 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The potential impact of the proposals contained within this report have been 

reviewed and the impact review is attached – 
 https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-

assessments 
 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Climate Change is a key factor in selecting a future sustainable beach management 

at Hoylake. The Ecology and Geomorphology Study identifies a trend of accretion in 
foreshore volumes across the Hoylake frontage, with sediment fed into the area by 
easterly littoral drift and onshore movement from Liverpool Bay. The Ecology and 
Geomorphology Study also predicts that accretion, or increases beach level, will 
outpace increases in sea level, based on 50 percentile medium emissions scenario.  

 
10.2 The beach management options short listed for further consultation align with this 

prediction and would result in positive benefits with regard to management of flood 
and coastal erosion risks and also carbon sequestration. 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1   A key consideration of the initial consultation was the balance between the 

importance of the local ecology and the needs of business and tourism. 35% of 
respondents felt that the local ecology was their priority, followed by the desire for a 
balance between the needs of the local business community and the developing 
natural environment at 22%. 

 
11.2 14% of respondents identified business and tourism as their priority and that this 

would be achieved with a maintained beach, whilst 12% felt that while business and 
tourism was their priority people visit Hoylake Beach for differing reasons. 

 

Page 18

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments


11.3 8% of respondents felt that a naturally developing beach would be beneficial to 
business and tourism. 

 
 

 
 

REPORT AUTHORS: Neil Thomas 
  (Senior Manager - Flood and Coastal Risk Management) 
  email: neilthomas@wirral.gov.uk 
 
  Colin Clayton  
  (Colin Clayton, Assistant Director - Parks and Environment)  
  email: colinclayton@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A   draft Consultation Report (Initial Consultation – Seeking Your Views on 

Hoylake Beach) 
Appendix B Report – Hoylake Beach Management Plan – Identification of Short 

Listed Options (Royal HaskoningDHV) 
Appendix C  Letter, Natural England 01 November 2022 
Appendix D  Ecology and Geomorphology Study, date, Royal HaskoningDHV 
Appendix E Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 

– Natural England March 2020 
Appendix F Hoylake Beach Management Communications and Engagement 

Strategy 
Appendix G Maps of Options for Consultation 
 
 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Hoylake Beach Management Update 
 
Hoylake Beach Working Group – Final Report 
 
Call-in Hoylake Beach 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
This report is being considered by the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee in accordance with Sections (a) and (e) of its Terms of Reference: 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for the Council’s role 
and functions:-  
(a)  in co-ordinating the response to cross-cutting sustainability issues such as reducing 

carbon emissions, air quality issues, climate change response, improving resource 
efficiency and developing sustainable energy; 

(e) in respect of parks, open spaces, countryside management, allotments,  
playgrounds and cemeteries, including arboricultural, gardening and warden  
services; 

Page 19

mailto:neilthomas@wirral.gov.uk
mailto:colinclayton@wirral.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 

16 March 2021 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 

03 December 2020 

Special Meeting - Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
Call-in Hoylake Beach Management 
 

21 August 2020 

Executive Member Decision 
Hoylake Beach Management 

13 March 2020 

 
 

Page 20



2 

 

 

Hoylake Beach 

Consultation Report 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Consultation: 29 June – 10 August 2022 
Report: 21 September 2022  

Page 21



2 
 

Contents 
1.0 Executive Summary ................................................................................................................. 3 

1.1  Key Findings .................................................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Methodology ........................................................................................................................... 7 

2.1 Questionnaire ..................................................................................................................... 7 

2.2 Analysis of Respondents ..................................................................................................... 8 

2.3 Interpretation of Results ..................................................................................................... 8 

2.4 Community Drop in Sessions .............................................................................................. 8 

2.5 Community Connectors ...................................................................................................... 9 

2.6 Stakeholder Representations ............................................................................................. 9 

2.7 Communication ................................................................................................................ 10 

3.0 Results ................................................................................................................................... 12 

3.1 The Questionnaire ............................................................................................................ 12 

3.2 Community Drop in Sessions ............................................................................................ 33 

3.3 Community Connectors .................................................................................................... 33 

3.4 Stakeholder Representations ........................................................................................... 34 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic ............................................................................................... 35 

4.1 Demographics ................................................................................................................... 35 

4.2 Have your say ‐ Site Traffic ............................................................................................... 41 

Appendix 1: Stakeholder Representations .................................................................................. 45 

 
 

   

Page 22



3 
 

1.0 Executive Summary 
Wirral Council is moving forward on developing a new beach management plan for Hoylake. 

The work is being carried out in a number of stages. 

The first stage in the work was to develop an expert‐led, independent scientific study of the 

beach which will help to give everyone a clear understanding of the ecology of the beach; how 

it has changed in the past and how it is likely to change in future with rising sea levels as a result 

of climate change. Survey work on the beach was undertaken in August 2021 and the final 

Ecology and Geomorphology Study has now been published.  

Following the publication of the report phase one of engagement was carried out with 

residents and stakeholders. The results of this engagement are provided in this report. The 

outcome of this initial consultation has been used to develop draft objectives for Hoylake beach 

and future management options taking into account the public and stakeholder feedback. 

Following this a second public engagement exercise will be carried out to allow review of the 

objectives and options included in the draft future management options. The preferred options 

from that consultation will be reported to Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 

Committee where Councillors will make the decision on future beach management. 

 
   

Page 23



4 
 

1.1 Key Findings  

 The Hoylake Beach engagement generated local, national and some international interest. 

3,199 people responded to the consultation. In response to the consultation 2,046 

respondents were from Wirral and 1,130 were outside Wirral. 23 had no valid location. 

 Monitoring responses over time there was a large peak in online response on the 10 July 

2022 with 868 responses on one day. This coincided with a Facebook post from Chris 

Packham, Naturalist, and television presenter on the morning of that day. On this day 266 

of the responses were from Wirral and 602 from outside Wirral.  

 Including all respondents walking is the main reason people use the beach (17.4%), 

followed by a place to be close to nature (15.9%) and the ability to enjoy the views from 

the promenade third (15.1%). Wirral residents use the beach for exercising (12.5%) more 

than a place to be close to nature (12.0%). (Question 1).  

 When asked to rank statements about Hoylake beach, ‘I believe it’s an important habitat 

for birds and other wildlife,’ was considered by all respondents as the most important. 

However, Wirral residents voted ‘I believe it's a valuable open space for the community,’ as 

the most important. External responses seem to view the environmental statements as 

more important, while residents have a greater emphasis on the beach as a community 

asset. (Question 2). 

 42.6% of all respondents favoured allowing the area to become a saltmarsh. However, for 

Wirral residents only, there was a more even spread of responses; a greater proportion 

favoured a balance of some saltmarsh (35.1%) with a similar proportion against any 

saltmarsh (34.8%) and 30.1% wanted to allow the area to become a saltmarsh. (Question 

3). 

 45.3% of all respondents want sand dunes to be allowed to develop across the entire area, 

17.4% are against any sand dunes. Only 35.3% of Wirral responses favoured sand dunes 

developing across the entire area and 25.4% are against any sand dunes. The most popular 

answer for Wirral responses favoured allowing some sand dunes to develop (39.3%). 

(Question 4). 

 53.8% of respondents favoured a natural looking beach, whilst 18.0% prefer Hoylake beach 

to look managed and maintained and 28.2% favoured a balanced aesthetic. 37.1% of Wirral 

residents preferred a natural looking beach however 26.6% favoured a managed and 

maintained look. (Question 5). 

 47.1% want mud and silt on the beach due to the environmental benefits and 26.5% people 

don’t want mud and silt. Among Wirral residents, 39.5% do not want mud and silt, 29.7% 

would like the mud and silt and 30.8% favoured a balance. (Question 6). 

Page 24



5 
 

 48.2% of people don’t believe a natural beach will be any less accessible, meanwhile 25.7% 

were concerned with the impact naturalisation could have on disabled access. Of Wirral 

resident respondents, 37.9% believe naturalisation could deny disabled access however, 

36.4% do not believe a natural beach will be less accessible. (Question 7). 

 Hoylake beach’s hazards should not be managed any different to other coastal areas, 

believe 62.8% of respondents. Similarly, 46.4% of Wirral residents who responded believe 

Hoylake beach’s hazards should not be managed any different to other coastal areas. 

However, Wirral residents were more concerned about the beach’s potential hazards, 

27.4% believe Hoylake beach could become hazardous if unmanaged, and 26.2% believe 

Wirral council should manage all potential hazards. (Question 8). 

 When asked what is more important; local ecology or business/tourism, Local ecology 

(35.4%) was the most agreed with statement, followed by the desire for a balance between 

the needs of the local business community and the developing natural environment, 22.3%. 

Wirral residents agreed with the statements in the same order as the overall response. 

(Question 9). 

 For a beach management plan, five options were provided, with which respondents could 

choose to agree or disagree on a Likert scale from Strongly agree to Strongly disagree. The 

preferred management option overall, with highest net agreement, was option b, “Explore 

with Natural England further intervention to support more Natural Succession of the 

ecology of this area of beach, thus encouraging more floral growth with no maintained 

access route from the adjoining promenade.” However, amongst Wirral residents option d 

was most agreed with “Explore with Natural England the most extensive management 

programme possible to return the entire beach to as it was pre‐2019. (i.e., maintained 

beach).” (Question 10).  

 The preferred sand management option with the highest net agreement was, “I would 

support an option that is based around limiting the increase in costs and carbon dioxide 

emissions.” Wirral respondent’s favoured option was, “I would support an option that 

would seek to find a compromise between Full Management and Natural Succession that 

would limit as far as practical the increase in costs and carbon dioxide emissions.”. 

(Question 11). 

 When asked to provide specific health concerns if Hoylake beach were to be rewilded, the 

most common was the potential increase in mosquitos, flies, and biting insects. This was 

commented by 330 survey respondents, 96.3% of these being Wirral residents. 

Additionally, Vermin, stagnant water and unmaintained surfaces which could become 

uneven, slippy or unstable were also popular concerns. However, 246 commentors, 55.7% 

being Wirral residents, believed the potential increases in hazards are worth the 

environmental benefits rewilding would provide. (Question 12). 

Page 25



6 
 

 When asked to provide any additional comments, the most common category favoured 

naturalisation, agreed with by 737 respondents – 46.9% of which were Wirral residents.  

205 comments specifically mentioned the habitat the beach could become for plants 

including rare grasses, and wildlife. However, the second most common category 

mentioned by 385 respondents favoured managing the beach, 95.8% of these respondents 

were Wirral residents. Alternatively, 194 comments favoured a middle ground approach, 

allowing some beach to be managed and some rewilded. 93.8% of respondents in favour of 

a manged approach were Wirral residents. (Question 13). 

   

Page 26



7 
 

2.0 Methodology 
Through the Hoylake Beach Consultation people were asked to provide their views about future 

development of Hoylake Beach. 

The consultation was carried out between 17 May – 28 June 2022. The approach used was an 

on online public consultation through the ‘Have your say’ consultation portal at 

www.haveyoursay.Wirral.gov.uk with a page dedicated to the Hoylake Beach Consultation.  

Documents provided on the site included a Hoylake Beach Ecology and Geomorphology Study 

Non‐Technical Summary February 2022. The Council also collated a set of reports, including the 

full Ecology and Geomorphology Study and supporting information, maps and photographs 

related to Hoylake Beach which were published in an online Document Library enabling access 

to a range of information about the Beach. A set of Frequently Asked Questions was also 

provided on the site to provide additional useful information. 

The online questionnaire was provided for residents and stakeholders to engage with. 

Respondents were also able to request paper copies or Easy Read versions of the questionnaire, 

or submit additional comments via a dedicated email address, which was published on the 

‘Have your say’ website alongside the online tool.  

Residents and stakeholders also had an opportunity to speak with officers in person to get 

background information and have any questions answered about the process of developing the 

new Beach Management Plan. These events were held at Hoylake Community Centre on: 

 Tuesday 12 July – 11:00 – 19:00. 

 Wednesday 13 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00. 

 Thursday 14 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00. 

 Friday 15 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00. 

 

2.1 Questionnaire 

The consultation questionnaire was developed to gain views of residents and stakeholders on 

future Hoylake Beach management and the questions had agreement of all political parties 

within the Council. To enable informed understanding of people’s views, respondents were 

invited to provide free‐text comments to expand on their ideas or concerns. 

Following closure of the consultation, the responses to each of the direct questions were 

collated and the responses included in this report. For the free‐text comment questions, a text 

Page 27



8 
 

coding approach was used based on the reoccurring themes. This data was then collated and 

summarised in the report.  

There was wide scale interest in the Hoylake engagement including high profile social media 

coverage and a large number of responses were submitted from people outside Wirral. To 

ensure thorough interpretation of the results analysis has been undertaken to allow responses 

to be viewed from within the Wirral, outside the Wirral and all the responses combined.  

 

2.2 Analysis of Respondents 

All respondents were asked to provide their postcode to complete the questionnaire. This was 

to enable understanding of where those completing the survey reside and what proportion of 

responses were from Wirral residents. All those completing the online survey were asked to 

register and only one survey response per individual registration was entitled. 

Respondents to the questionnaire were also given the option to provide additional 

demographic information about themselves. It must be noted that this is an option and that not 

all respondents included this information. This data allows the demographic results to be 

included in this report to enable analysis of the scope of responses and representation from 

different demographic groups.  

 

2.3 Interpretation of Results 

In terms of the results, it is important to note that: 

 The public consultation is not representative of the overall population of Wirral but 

provides information on the opinion of those residents, non‐residents, and other 

stakeholders who engaged. 

 For specific tools where percentages do not add up to 100, this may be due to rounding, 

or the question is multi‐coded. All free‐text questions and ideas that offered 

respondents the option to provide written feedback could have covered multiple 

themes. Therefore, with free‐text responses being categorised using a coding system, 

some comments will be multi‐coded and therefore add up to more than 100 percent. 

 

2.4 Community Drop in Sessions 

Residents and stakeholders had opportunity to speak with officers in person to get background 

information and have any questions answered about the process of developing the new Beach 

Page 28



9 
 

Management Plan. People could arrange bookable slots per hour via the Eventbrite online tool 

and drop‐in slots, with no booking required were also available. 

These events were held at Hoylake Community Centre on: 

 Tuesday 12 July – 11:00 – 19:00. 

 Wednesday 13 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00. 

 Thursday 14 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00. 

 Friday 15 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00. 

 

2.5 Community Connectors 

To raise awareness of the live consultation with local residents the Community Connectors 

Team were deployed to Hoylake to speak to local people and inform them about the 

consultation. Community Connectors are a service commissioned by Wirral Council that 

support local communities on a range of topics and work directly in the community. For this 

role they provided leaflets, mini‐posters and paper copies to residents and spoke to people to 

raise awareness of the survey and how to complete it. They also asked people if they already 

knew about the survey, if they did how they had heard of it, and if they had already completed 

it. Two connector staff worked in Hoylake on the 25, 27 and 29 July 2022. 

 

2.6 Stakeholder Representations 

In order to ensure all key stakeholders were able to be included in the consultation stakeholder 

analysis was carried out. Eight key stakeholder organisations were identified. These were 

contacted on the 12 July 2022 by letter, with a request to submit any representations they 

would like to make regarding the initial phase of consultation to hoylakebeach@Wirral.gov.uk 

by 10 August 2022.  

 

The following stakeholders were contacted: 

 Natural England 

 Environment Agency 

 Royal National Lifeboat Institution 

 North West Fisheries Inshore Conservation Authority 

 HM Coastguard 

 Cheshire Wildlife Trust 

 Wirral Wildlife 

Page 29



10 
 

 Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 

 

2.7 Communication 

To raise awareness about the consultation amongst as many residents and stakeholders as 

possible, a consultation communication campaign was carried out.  

The consultation and four in‐person information sessions were promoted through a mix of print 

and digital channels to raise awareness and encourage participation in the online survey. The 

launch of the consultation was featured in local print editions of the Wirral Globe and Liverpool 

Echo and across their digital platforms as well as in hyper local sites West Kirby Today and 

Birkenhead News and special interest sites such as Wirral Family Guide and Cheshire Wildlife 

Trust. The consultation was picked up by and featured on ITV Granada reports including a 

statement from the council encouraging the public to take part and have their say. 

The consultation was published throughout the consultation on the council’s own digital 

channels to encourage digital click through to the Have Your Say website. This included social 

media channels, weekly residents e‐newsletter, Wirral View website and targeted emails to 

those who had previously subscribed to receive updates about Hoylake beach management. 

The council’s social media posts were shared and featured on local interest groups and 

residents own social media accounts extending the reach both locally, regionally, and 

nationally. Conservationist and television presenter Chris Packham shared the post on his 

Twitter and Facebook accounts encouraging people to take part.  

Outdoor media was used in Hoylake with banners along the beachfront and an ‘A’ board 

outside the information session venue to attract attention within the local community and 

people visiting the beach. Outdoor media also contained a QR code that linked through to the 

online survey.  

Eventbrite was used to manage attendance at the information session in Hoylake with the 

public able to pre book a space; an allocation for walk in spaces was also made available. 165 

people prebooked a place at the information sessions.  

Paper surveys were made available at local libraries and an Easy Read consultation paper also 

developed and shared with 14 local groups. A letter outlining the consultation was sent to care 

homes in Wirral to advise them on the consultation and the availability of paper surveys.  

In addition to digital reminders a follow up print advert featured in the local newspaper to 

remind people to take part. 

Following the Information drop in events Community Connectors carried out face to face 

engagement and door knocking in the local community to continue to raise awareness and 

Page 30



11 
 

reach those who may not be able to access digital channels. As part of this work further paper 

copies, posters and leaflets were distributed.  

Comms output highlights:  

 165 people prebooked a place at the information session 

 1497 page views on Hoylake beach Wirral View story  

 95 people received targeted email with an open rate of 75.8% and click rate of 19.4%  

 1193 residents clicked through Wirral View email to consultation 

 62 people used the QR code. 

 75.9k reach of from 14 Wirral Council social media posts  

 6,906 total engagements through Council’s social media posts  

 91.9k print media circulation  

 397.5k Monthly unique browsers on Wirral globe   

 970k Liverpool Echo daily online reach  

 

   

Page 31



12 
 

3.0 Results 
3.1 The Questionnaire 

The questionnaire was responded to by 3,199 people, 2,972 through the online portal and 227 

using paper copies. No Easy Read surveys were completed. No questions were mandatory so 

respondents could choose which questions to respond to.    

Of the 3,199 total responses, 2046 (64.0%) came from Wirral residents and 1,130 (35.3%) from 

non‐Wirral residents. 23 respondents did not provide their location. Due to the interest from 

those outside Wirral, the findings provided show responses for the response from Wirral 

residents, the response from non‐Wirral residents and the combined overall response.  

 

3.1.1 Question 1: Hoylake Beach is used by a variety of people for many different reasons – 

please select which are important to you. 

 

Respondents to this question were allowed to select multiple categories they believed were 

important reasons to use Hoylake beach. The most popular was walking, voted as important by 

17.4% of respondents. ‘A place to be close to nature’ was voted the second most important use 

from the options provided, voted for by 15.9% of respondents, and ‘the ability to enjoy the 

views from the promenade’ was third most important (15.1%). 

Figure 1: How people use the beach, % of overall responses. 

Page 32



13 
 

The primary use of the beach for Wirral residents was also walking, voted for by 17.7% of Wirral 

respondents, closely followed by ‘enjoy the views from the promenade’ (17.2%). In contrast to 

the overall response, Wirral residents used the beach more for the purpose of exercising 

(12.5%) than ‘a place to be close to nature’ (12.0%).  

 

Q1 
Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral 
Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

Walking  14  638  1623  2275 

A place to be close to nature  5  975  1103  2083 

Enjoy the views from the beach or 

promenade 
13  381  1581  1975 

Birdwatching  1  827  721  1549 

Exercise  10  306  1145  1461 

Family activities: playing on the beach  8  201  1052  1261 

A place to picnic  10  173  814  997 

Walking the dog  4  197  779  980 

Other  12  119  350  481 

Grand Total  77  3817  9168  13062 

Table 1: How respondents use Hoylake beach. 

 

3.1.2 Question 2: Hoylake Beach is an important natural asset ‐ please rank the following in 

order of their importance to you, (with 1 being the most important). 

 

Contributors were asked to rank the importance of Hoylake Beach's natural assets, with 1 being 

most important. Therefore, the lower the average ranking, the more important the asset is 

considered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 33



14 
 

Q2  Average Score  Ranking 

Overall  Wirral  Difference  Overall  Wirral  Wirral 

Difference 

I believe it’s an important 

habitat for birds and other 

wildlife. 

2.86  3.42  + 0.56  1  2  + 1 

I believe its environmental 

status is important. 

3.04  3.57  + 0.52  2  3  + 1 

I believe it's a valuable 

open space for the 

community. 

3.90  3.21  ‐ 0.69  3  1  ‐ 2 

I believe it's important to 

manage flood risk. 

4.39  4.36  ‐ 0.02  4  4 
 

I believe it's important 

because saltmarsh traps 

carbon dioxide. 

4.90  5.60  + 0.70  5  8  + 3 

I believe it’s an important 

visitor attraction. 

5.09  4.59  ‐ 0.50  6  5  ‐ 1 

I believe it's important 

because it captures 

windblown sand. 

5.19  5.27  + 0.09  7  7 
 

I believe it’s an important 

space for community 

events. 

5.77  5.07  ‐ 0.70  8  6  ‐ 2 

Table 2: Order of importance ranking 

Overall, ‘I believe it’s an important habitat for birds and other wildlife,’ was ranked the most 

important, followed by ‘I believe its environmental status is important.’ However, Wirral 

residents voted ‘I believe it's a valuable open space for the community,’ as the most important 

but this was only ranked third most important overall.  

Wirral responses appear to view the beach more so as a community asset than the overall 

response. However, the residents and overall response consistently voted ‘I believe it's 

important to manage flood risk,’ as fourth most important, and ‘I believe it's important because 

it captures windblown sand,’ as seventh most important. 

 

 

 

Page 34



15 
 

3.1.3 Question: 3 Saltmarsh (these are coastal wetlands that are flooded and drained by salt 

water brought in by the tide and colonised by vegetation – for further information see the 

frequently asked questions). 

 

Respondents favoured allowing the area to become a saltmarsh (42.6%), 23.3% of respondents 

were against any saltmarsh. Overall, 34.2% of respondents favoured a more balanced beach 

management scheme, with some saltmarsh being acceptable. 

 

However, Wirral residents were less in favour of allowing the entire area to become saltmarsh 

(30.1%) and a greater proportion were against any saltmarsh (34.8%). A similar proportion of 

respondents favoured a balance of some saltmarsh (35.1%). 

 

Q3 

Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral  Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

I do want saltmarsh across the entire 

area.  4  732  607  1343 

I don’t want saltmarsh.  7  28  700  735 

I think some saltmarsh is acceptable.  5  366  707  1078 

Grand Total  16  1126  2014  3156 

Table 3 : Summary of responses to Q3 by location 

 

Figure 2: Saltmarsh 

Page 35



16 
 

3.1.4 Question 4: Sand dunes. 

 

45.3% of respondents wanted sand dunes to develop across the entire area, and 37.3% of 

respondents were in favour of sand dunes being allowed to develop in some areas. 17.4% were 

against any sand dunes.  

 

Figure 3: Sand Dunes 

Responses from Wirral were mixed, with 35.3% favouring sand dunes developing across the 

entire area and 25.4% being against any sand dunes. The most common answer was in favour 

of some sand dunes being allowed to develop (39.3%). 

 

Q4 

Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral  Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

I don’t want sand dunes.  6  29  515  550 

I think some sand dunes are acceptable.  6  381  795  1182 

I want sand dunes to develop across the 

entire area.  4  715  715  1434 

Grand Total  16  1125  2025  3166 

Table 4: Summary of responses to Q4 by location 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



17 
 

3.1.5 Question 5: Aesthetics. 

 

“It doesn’t matter how it looks, it’s natural,” was the most common response when asked 

about the beach’s aesthetics (53.8%). 18.0% preferred for Hoylake beach to look managed and 

maintained. 28.2% favoured a balanced aesthetic.  

Wirral residents also preferred a natural looking beach (37.1%); however, a greater share of 

respondents also favoured a managed and maintained looking beach (26.6%). 36.3% would like 

Hoylake beach to have a balanced aesthetic.  

 

Q5 

Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral  Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

I think the coast should look managed and 

maintained.  8  24  539  571 

I think there could be a balance made between a 

natural beach and a maintained beach.  4  154  734  892 

It doesn’t matter how it looks, it’s natural.  4  950  750  1704 

Grand Total  16  1128  2023  3167 

Table 5: Summary of responses to Q5 by location 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4: Aesthetics 

Page 37



18 
 

3.1.6 Question 6: Accessibility. 

 

The most common answer was that people want mud and silt on the beach due to the 

environmental benefits (47.1%). 26.5% of respondents don’t want mud and silt closely followed 

by a desire for a balanced approach which allows some mud and silt (26.4%).  

 

 
Figure 5: Access 

The most popular answer among Wirral residents was that they don’t want any mud and silt 

(39.5%). 30.8% of Wirral residents wouldn’t mind some mud and silt, and 29.7% would like the 

mud and silt for the environmental benefits.  

 

Q6 
Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral 
Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

I don’t want the mud and silty areas because I can’t use 

the beach like I did before. 
10  30  798  838 

I want the mud and silty areas because they bring 

environmental benefits. 
4  884  601  1489 

If it occurs naturally, I wouldn’t mind some mud and silt, 

just not everywhere. 
2  211  622  835 

Grand Total  16  1125  2021  3162 

Table 6: Summary of responses to Q6 by location 

Page 38



19 
 

3.1.7 Question 7: Accessibility. 

 

The most common answer was that people don’t believe a natural beach will be any less 

accessible (48.2%). 26.1% of respondents would like a balance to provide access while allowing 

natural development, meanwhile 25.7% were concerned with the impact naturalisation could 

have on disabled access.  

 

Figure 6: Accessibility 

37.9% of Wirral resident respondents are concerned that naturalisation could deny disabled 

people access. 36.4% do not believe a natural beach will be less accessible, and 25.7% think 

there should be a balance of accessibility and naturalisation.  

 

Q7 
Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral 
Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

I don't believe a natural beach will provide any less 

access if managed appropriately. 
4  782  730  1516 

I think there should be a balance made to provide 

access and allow areas to develop naturally. 
2  303  517  822 

I’m concerned that people with disabilities will lose a 

resource they previously had access to. 
10  38  761  809 

Grand Total  16  1123  2008  3147 

Table 7: Summary of responses to Q7 by location 

Page 39



20 
 

3.1.8 Question 8: Health. 

 

The most common answer was that Hoylake beach’s hazards should not be managed any 

different to other coastal areas (62.8%). 18.9% believe Wirral council should be managing all 

issues people believe to be hazardous at Hoylake beach and 18.3% believe if left unmanaged 

Hoylake beach would become hazardous.   

Similarly, 46.4% of Wirral residents who responded believe Hoylake beach’s hazards should not 

be managed any different to other coastal areas. However, Wirral residents were more 

concerned about the beach’s potential hazards. 27.4% believe Hoylake beach could become 

hazardous is unmanaged, and 26.2% believe Wirral council should manage all potential hazards. 

 

Q8 

Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral  Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

I believe, if left unmanaged Hoylake Beach would 

become a health hazard.  6  20  545  571 

The council should be managing all issues that people 

believe are hazardous to their health at Hoylake Beach.  4  65  522  591 

There are natural hazards that occur in other locations all 

along the coast as part of the natural equilibrium which 

aren’t managed why should it be any different at 

Hoylake Beach?  6  1037  922  1965 

Grand Total  16  1122  1989  3127 

Table 8: Summary of responses to Q8 by location 

Figure 7: Health 

Page 40



21 
 

3.1.9 Question 9: Please select the statements you agree with: 

 

Respondents could select multiple responses they believed were important. Local ecology 

(35.4%) was the most agreed with statement, followed by “a balance needs to be found 

between the needs of the local business community and the developing natural environment,” 

22.3%. Excluding ‘other’ responses, “business and tourism are my priorities, and a natural 

developing beach will be beneficial,” were the least agreed with (8.0%). Of the ‘other’ 

responses, many highlighted the benefits of eco‐tourism, however some were concerned that 

naturalisation will reduce Wirral’s beach capacity and discussed the knock‐on effects this could 

cause, such as fewer visitors and reduced exercise space.  

Wirral residents agreed with the statements in a similar order as the overall response, however 

provided a more balanced view with more agreement given to the business and tourism 

statements. A greater proportion provided ‘other’ statements, many of which showed greater 

concern that tourists will not be attracted to a ‘natural’ beach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 8: Tourism 

Page 41



22 
 

Q9 

Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral  Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

A balance needs to be found between the needs of 

the local business community and the developing 

natural environment.  2  362  670  1034 

Business & Tourism are my priorities and a naturally 

developing beach will be beneficial.  3  166  201  370 

Business & Tourism are my priorities and these are 

best served with a maintained beach.  7  24  623  654 

Business & Tourism are my priorities. People come 

to Hoylake and its beach for different reasons and 

the beach should be a place for all visitors to enjoy.  5  47  558  610 

Other  12  27  288  327 

The local ecology is my priority.  4  920  719  1643 

Grand Total  33  1546  3059  4638 

Table 9: Summary of responses to Q9 by location 

   

Page 42



23 
 

3.1.10 Question 10: Please let us know if you agree or disagree with the following options in 

the development of a beach management plan.  

 

   

Figure 10: Beach Management Plan ‐ Wirral Response. Colours represent popularity of response. 
Lighter colours represent less popular responses, darker colour shows more popular responses. 

Figure 9: Beach Management Plan ‐ Overall Response. Colours represent popularity of response. 
Lighter colours represent less popular responses, darker colour shows more popular responses. 

Page 43



24 
 

Option A: Explore with Natural England an area of beach with the vegetation partially 

controlled to prevent full natural succession with a maintained vegetation free access route to 

the beach from the adjoining promenade. 

 

Overall, most people disagreed (30.3%) or strongly disagreed with this option (31.4%).  When 

looking at responses from just Wirral residents, the sentiment was similar, with 28.8% in 

disagreement, and 29.5% in strong disagreement. 

 

Option B: Explore with Natural England further intervention to support more Natural Succession 

of the ecology of this area of beach, thus encouraging more floral growth with no maintained 

access route from the adjoining promenade. 

 

Whilst overall, most people strongly agreed (33.3%) with this option, only slightly fewer (28.5%) 

strongly disagreed. When isolating Wirral resident’s responses, there is a clear difference to the 

overall sentiment, with many more (42.2%) strongly disagreeing with the option than strongly 

agreeing (22.1%). 

 

Option C: Explore with Natural England identifying a sizeable fully maintained area of beach 

(cleared of all vegetation) which has a maintained vegetation free access route to the beach 

from the adjoining promenade. 

 

Overall, most respondents (37.9%) strongly disagreed with this option. When looking at Wirral 

residents only, sentiment is more divided.  A smaller proportion (28.5%) strongly disagreed with 

this as an option and a similar proportion of people (27.9%) strongly agreed. 

 

Option D: Explore with Natural England the most extensive management programme possible 

to return the entire beach to as it was pre‐2019. (i.e., maintained beach). 

 

Overall, there was strong disagreement (50.2%) to this option. When isolating Wirral resident’s 

responses, the sentiment is more divided. Whilst 38.0% strongly disagreed with the option, a 

similar amount strongly agreed (36.3%). 

 

Option E: Work with Natural England to agree a maintained vegetation free access route to an 

unmaintained beach with maintenance intervention only to protect the access route from the 

adjoining promenade. 

 

28.3% of respondents strongly disagreed with this option, overall.  The level of strong 

disagreement is more pronounced amongst Wirral residents, with 35.6% strongly disagreeing. 

Page 44



25 
 

In order to analyse the responses to the five options to allow comparison a ‘net agreement’ 

approach has been used. For this each option has been assigned a rank based on net 

agreement, calculated by summing the percentage of respondents in agreement (agreed or 

strongly agreed) and taking away the percentage of respondents in disagreement (disagreed or 

strongly disagree). The option with the greatest net agreement, the preferred option, is 

assigned rank 1, and the option with the lowest is given rank 5.  

 

Option  Net Agreement  Rank  Net Agreement ‐ Wirral  Rank ‐ Wirral 

A  ‐40.7%  5  ‐32.8%  5 

B  11.3%  1  ‐20.5%  3 

C  ‐29.6%  4  ‐3.0%  2 

D  ‐28.3%  3  ‐2.6%  1 

E  ‐11.3%  2  ‐29.8%  4 

Table 10: Beach Management Plan ‐ Net agreement 

The preferred management option for respondents is option B, “Explore with Natural England 

further intervention to support more Natural Succession of the ecology of this area of beach, 

thus encouraging more floral growth with no maintained access route from the adjoining 

promenade.”  

However, 42.2% of Wirral residents strongly disagreed with this option. Wirral respondents 

would prefer option D “Explore with Natural England the most extensive management 

programme possible to return the entire beach to as it was pre‐2019. (i.e., maintained beach).” 

   

Page 45



26 
 

3.1.11 Question 11: The Geomorphological study has predicted that the sand levels on this 

beach area will rise significantly over the next 50 years irrespective of which management 

option is chosen. Therefore, there will be considerable future costs for the Council to manage 

the sand which will accrete along this beach. Please let us know if you agree or disagree with 

the following options. 

Figure 101: Beach sand Management Plan ‐ Overall Response. Colours represent popularity of 
response. Lighter colours represent less popular responses, darker colour shows more popular 
responses. 

Figure 112: Beach sand Management Plan ‐ Wirral Response. Colours represent popularity of 
response. Lighter colours represent less popular responses, darker colour shows more popular 
responses. 

Page 46



27 
 

Option A: I support a management option for the beach which will require the removal and 

transport of the sand from the beach which will incur increased costs and a potential increase in 

carbon dioxide emissions linked to fuel transport. 

 

Overall, the highest proportion of people strongly disagreed with this option (41.3%).  This is 

reflected among Wirral responses where 32.5% of people strongly disagreed.  A higher 

proportion of Wirral residents did strongly agree (22.4%) with the option but not enough to 

alter the overall sentiment of strong disagreement. 

 

Option B: I support a management option for full Natural Succession which will require the 

management of the sand which will impact on the public infrastructure (drains, pavements and 

roads). This will incur increased costs and a potential increase in carbon dioxide emissions linked 

to fuel transport. 

 

This option attracted no strong sentiment both overall or amongst Wirral residents, and in both 

cases the highest proportion of people neither agreed nor disagreed with the option. 

 

Option C: I would support an option that would seek to find a compromise between Full 

Management and Natural Succession that would limit as far as practical the increase in costs 

and carbon dioxide emissions. 

 

Overall, the highest proportion of people (33.6%) agreed with this option, and this is reflected 

amongst Wirral residents where 31.7% agreed. 

 

Option D: I would support an option that is based around limiting the increase in costs and 

carbon dioxide emissions. 

 

The highest proportion of respondents agreed with this option, both overall (30.0%) and 

amongst Wirral residents (28.5%). 

 

In order to analyse the responses to the five options to allow comparison a ‘net agreement’ 

approach has been used. For this each option has been assigned a rank based on net 

agreement, calculated by summing the percentage of respondents in agreement (agreed or 

strongly agreed) and taking away the percentage of respondents in disagreement (disagreed or 

strongly disagree). The option with the greatest net agreement, the preferred option, is 

assigned rank 1, and the option with the lowest is given rank 4.  

 

 

Page 47



28 
 

Option  Net Agreement  Rank  Net Agreement ‐ Wirral  Rank ‐ Wirral 

A  ‐33.1%  4  ‐10.4%  4 

B  ‐11.0%  3  ‐8.7%  3 

C  24.6%  2  21.4%  1 

D  31.5%  1  20.3%  2 

Table 11 : Beach sand Management Plan ‐ Net agreement 

The preferred option for respondents with 31.5% net agreement was option D, “I would 

support an option that is based around limiting the increase in costs and carbon dioxide 

emissions.” While Wirral respondents supported option D (20.3% net agreement), option C was 

preferred “I would support an option that would seek to find a compromise between Full 

Management and Natural Succession that would limit as far as practical the increase in costs 

and carbon dioxide emissions,” with 21.4% net agreement.  

 

   

Page 48



29 
 

3.1.12 Question 12: If you believe Hoylake Beach left unmanaged could become a health 

hazard, please note any specific health concerns here.  

Mosquitos/flies/biting insects 

330 comments were made in total, with 96.3% being from Wirral residents concerned about 

Hoylake beach potentially causing an increase in Mosquito and other insects’ numbers if left 

unmanaged. The main concern is that biting insects can spread disease to humans and animals 

and can be considered pests.  

 

Refutes health hazards 

246 comments outlined their belief that the potential increase in health hazards is acceptable. 

The main reason for this is due to the natural benefits the naturalisation will bring to the local 

environment. 55.7% of these comments came from Wirral residents.  

 

Vermin  

Similarly, to the health issues caused by potential increases in insect numbers, 185 comments 

expressed concern that the naturalisation of Hoylake beach could encourage Vermin to infest 

the area, which could result in health hazards for humans and other animals. 97.8% of these 

comments came from Wirral residents.  

Figure 12: Top 11 categories (75+ responses) outlining specific health concerns. 

Page 49



30 
 

Stagnant water 

146 comments showed concern that stagnant water on Hoylake beach could become a health 

hazard, particularly if ingested. This could be a hazard for local humans and animals, in 

particular dogs. 96.6% of these comments were from Wirral residents.  

 

Uneven / slippy / unstable surface 

Many are concerned that an unmanaged beach could become unsafe and inaccessible due to 

uneven/slippy/unstable surfaces. Comments suggested that unsafe surfaces will result in 

injuries. 145 comments related to this concern, with 96.6% coming from Wirral residents.  

 

Other 

406 comments related to less common concerns have been grouped under this heading. In 

total 371 ‘Other’ comments came from Wirral residents. The most popular ‘other’ health 

concerns include: the idea that a natural beach may impede the RNLI, the beach may become a 

fire hazard; particularly from public barbecues in the summer, and that by reducing access to 

Hoylake beach people may have to travel further to find sand.  

 

In total, 90.2% of the 2052 comments came from Wirral residents.  

 

Comment Category 
Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral 
Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

Mosquitos/flies/biting insects  3  9  318  330 

Refutes health hazards  1  108  137  246 

Vermin  2  2  181  185 

Stagnant water  3  2  141  146 

Uneven/slippy/unstable surface  1  4  140  145 

Concealed dog mess  1  5  106  112 

Lose wellbeing/mental health benefits  3  5  101  109 

Toxic plants  1  0  103  104 

Hazardous debris & Litter caught in grass  2  5  95  102 

Unpleasant smell  1  4  84  89 

Drainage  0  4  74  78 

Other  3  32  371  406 

Grand Total  21  180  1851  2052 

Table 12 : Health hazard comments by category.  

Page 50



31 
 

3.1.13 Question 13: If you have any additional comments related to Hoylake Beach, please 

provide them here.  

 

Pro‐naturalisation  

The most common category of additional comments favoured naturalisation. 737 comments 

were ‘pro‐naturalisation,’ 46.9% of these comments came from Wirral residents who valued 

the environmental benefits greater than the trade‐offs.  

 

Pro beach management  

The second most common comment category was in favour of managing Hoylake beach. In 

total 385 commentors favoured management, with 95.8% coming from Wirral residents. The 

commentors valued the beach as a community asset, and do not want to risk what many 

consider an increase in health hazards. Many also believe that a natural beach would be an 

eyesore. 

 

Habitat 

205 comments mentioned the habitat that Hoylake beach could become if rewilded. The 

presence of rare grasses on Hoylake beach are commonly referred to, while many also would 

like the beach to be home to other plants and wildlife. 40% of comments came from Wirral 

residents. 

 

 

Figure 12: Top 8 categories (75+ responses) outlining additional comments. 

Page 51



32 
 

Middle ground ‐ Partially managed 

194 comments, with 93.8% coming from Wirral residents, were in favour of a middle ground 

approach of partial management, whereby some areas of the beach were left to rewild, while 

others were managed, and access maintained. Most accept that chemical spraying cannot 

continue but raking the surface would be a possibility.  

 

Other 

1695 comments were made which related to categories with a smaller number of respondents 

mentioning them and will be grouped under ‘other’. The most common categories mentioned 

were against the use of chemicals in beach management, against stopping the beach serving as 

a leisure asset, some want access to be retained, and some think the unmanaged beach would 

become an eyesore. 

 

In total, 72.5% of the 3654 comments came from Wirral residents.  

 

Comment Category 
Not 

provided 

Outside 

Wirral 
Wirral 

Grand 

Total 

Pro naturalisation  2  389  346  737 

Pro beach management  4  12  369  385 

Habitat  1  122  82  205 

Middle ground ‐ partially managed  0  12  182  194 

Amenity beach ‐ benefits economy/tourism  1  4  125  130 

Natural beach = visitor attraction  0  64  53  117 

Sand Dunes beneficial  1  28  82  111 

Biological diversity  1  52  27  80 

Other  7  305  1383  1695 

Grand Total  17  988  2649  3654 

Table 13: Additional comments by category. 

 

 

 

   

Page 52



33 
 

3.2 Community Drop in Sessions 

Community drop‐ins allowed people to discuss the Hoylake beach consultation with informed 

officers. This enabled questions to be answered, people provided with access to the 

consultation documents through advice about the online questionnaire or provision of paper 

copies as required. Approximately 157 people attended the sessions over four days.  

 

Meeting  Attendees 

Tuesday 12 July – 11:00 – 19:00.  27 

Wednesday 13 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00.  63 

Thursday 14 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00.  43 

Friday 15 July ‐ 11:00 – 19:00.  24 

Table 14: Table showing the attendees at community drop‐in sessions. 

Whilst the Community Drop‐in sessions were arranged to encourage participation in the survey 

many attendees took advantage of the opportunity to talk with officers and other attendees 

about specific issues relating to the beach. Many of the hour‐long sessions turned into debates 

with broad, well informed, and good‐mannered discussion. Many attendees highlighted the 

division that had been caused in the community because of the differing views held. Officers 

were able to explain that the consultation process sought to establish that future management 

options would be best aligned with the consultee feelings and that were deliverable within the 

environmental regulatory framework protecting North Wirral Foreshore Site of Special 

Scientific Interest. 

 

3.3 Community Connectors 

The Community Connectors spoke with 525 people in Hoylake about the questionnaire. 77% of 

people (403) already knew about the consultation and 23% (122) were not aware. 17% of 

people (89) had already completed the questionnaire, 72% (376) were provided with leaflets 

and 5% 24) were provided with paper copies of the questionnaire. 

Residents had heard about the consultation from a range of sources including TV, Wirral Globe, 

Email, leaflets, and local meetings. 30% had heard about it through word of mouth, 22% 

through social media, 19% through posters and 8% through banners. 

 

Page 53



34 
 

3.4 Stakeholder Representations 

Three stakeholder direct representations were received via the dedicated email address 

supplied for the consultation process. These were from Wirral Wildlife, Natural England, and 

the Environment Agency. The response from the Environment Agency had no comments to add 

at the time. The two other representations are included in Appendix 1 of this report. 

 

 

 

   

Page 54



35 
 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic 
4.1 Demographics 

Registration was required to engage in the online Hoylake Beach Consultation. The registration 

form included questions regarding demographics including gender, age group, ethnicity, and 

sexual orientation, however not all questions in the registration form were compulsory and 

respondents could choose to select ‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question. The demographics 

results are summarised below.  The same questions were included on the paper‐copy 

questionnaires, this information was merged with the online results. 

Most respondents (61.1%) classified themselves as residents. Of those who registered as 

‘other’, 979 respondents did not provide any further details, while 12 said they were residents 

at a local care home.  

 

 

Figure 13: Who are you registering as?

0.2%0.7%2.1%5.4%

30.4%

61.1%

An elected
Member of

Wirral Council

An employee of
Wirral Council

A local BusinessA member of a
voluntary or
community
organisation

OtherA local resident

Registrated as...

Page 55



36 
 

The gender breakdown of respondents was 60.4% female, 35.0% male, with 4.3% preferring not 

to say and 0.2% preferring to use their own term. 

 

Figure 14: Gender of respondents 

The age group profile is illustrated with the most common age groups were 55‐64 years 

(27.3%), followed by 45‐54 years (24.7%). Under 25’s made up 1.7% of respondents.  

 

 
Figure 15: Age group of respondents 

 

 

 

0.2%
4.3%

35.0%

60.4%

Prefer to use own termPrefer not to sayMaleFemale

Gender

6.2%

17.7%

27.3%
24.7%

15.7%

6.7%

1.6%0.1%

75+65‐7455‐6445‐5435‐4425‐3416‐24Under 16

Age Group

Page 56



37 
 

92.4% of respondents were of White British ethnicity. Of the 3.0% who registered as ‘other,’ 22 

preferred not to say, and 69 did not provide any further details.  

 

Figure 16: Ethnicity of respondents 

   

92.4%

3.0%

2.1%

1.2%

0.4%

0.2%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

White ‐ English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern…

Other

White ‐ Any other White background

White ‐ Irish

Mixed ‐ White and Asian

Mixed ‐ Any other Mixed background

Asian or Asian British ‐ Chinese

Mixed ‐ White and Black African

Asian or Asian British ‐ Indian

Asian or Asian British ‐ Any other Asian…

Mixed ‐ White and Black Caribbean

Travelling community ‐ Gypsy/Roma

 Asian or Asian British ‐ Pakistani

Asian or Asian British ‐ Bangladeshi

Asian or Asian British ‐ Pakistani

Black or Black British ‐ Caribbean

Other ethnic group ‐ Arab

Other ethnic group ‐ Other ethnic group

Ethnicity

Page 57



38 
 

75.6% of respondents were heterosexual, 1.7% were gay/ lesbian, 1.8% bisexual and 20.9% 

preferred not to say. 

 

 
Figure 17: Sexual orientation of respondents    

80.6% of respondents did not have a disability, 10.0% had a disability and 8.4% preferred not to 

say. 

 

 
Figure 18 ‐ Disability status of respondents 

 

The survey was responded to locally, nationally, and internationally. The spread of responses is 

provided below in heat maps, based on postcodes provided.  

The majority of responses from Wirral postcodes came from Hoylake and Meols (54.5%). The 

second highest responding wards was West Kirby and Thurstaston (9.4%). Each of the 22 Wirral 

wards had some representation in the survey findings. 

Gay/Lesbian
1.7%

Bisexual
1.8%

Prefer not to say
20.9%

Heterosexual
75.6%

Sexual orientation?

No
81.6%

Yes
10.0%

Prefer not to say
8.4%

Do you have a disability?

Page 58



39 
 

Figure 19 ‐ Wirral heat map of respondents 

 

 

Figure 20 ‐ Respondents in Wirral wards 

54.5%

9.4%

4.4%

3.2%

2.8%

2.7%

2.5%

2.3%

1.8%

1.8%

1.7%

1.7%

1.7%

1.5%

1.4%

1.3%

1.3%

1.0%

0.9%

0.9%

0.7%

0.6%

Hoylake and Meols

West Kirby and Thurstaston

Greasby, Frankby and Irby

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Wallasey

New Brighton

Heswall

Pensby and Thingwall

Upton

Leasowe and Moreton East

Clatterbridge

Liscard

Oxton

Bebington

Claughton

Bromborough

Prenton

Birkenhead and Tranmere

Bidston and St. James

Eastham

Seacombe

Rock Ferry

Wirral responses by Ward

Page 59



40 
 

Responses came from throughout the UK; however, the highest concentration of responses 

came from the Northwest of England.  

Internationally, contributions came from Ireland, the USA, Mexico, Peru, Greece and the 

Phillipines.  

Figure 21 ‐ Heat map of respondents from the United Kingdom. 

Figure 22 – Map illustrating the location of international responses. 

Page 60



41 
 

4.2 Have your say ‐ Site Traffic 

Reviewing the online site activity, visits, and how people visit the site can be useful to evaluate 

if people are aware of the site, as well as to ensure engagement activities are deployed 

effectively, and to a wide range of different people – enhancing public engagement in the 

future.  

This information relates to the online Hoylake Beach webpages on the Have Your Say site and 

does not include paper copy responses.  

18,627 visited the Hoylake Beach Consultation page of the Have Your Say site, of these 5,236 

visited multiple project pages and 331 downloaded a document. 2,972 people in total 

completed the questionnaire. 

These figures cannot be viewed as definitive as they are based on site tracking through 

‘cookies’ and there are a number of factors that can impact on this. These include that cookies 

may be disabled or deleted, individuals may access the site multiple times through different 

devices or different browsers. However, the figures can be used to gauge how much interest 

has been generated in individual projects through the rate of engaged participants. 

The route that people access the site is known as the traffic source. The ‘Have your say’ portal 

allows analysis to be carried out on traffic source, and if they lead to engagement in the site 

tools such as the questionnaire. This analysis allows a greater understanding of which 

communication and promotional tools to use to optimise engagement. 

For this project a range of traffic sources have been reviewed and summarised in the table 

below. Most visits to the site were via links clicked from social media sites (14,033) or direct 

visits, where people typed the internet address into their web browser (5,330 visits). Social 

media visits generated a rate of engagement of 6.6%, meaning 6.6% of these visits resulted in 

completion of the survey, and direct visits had an engagement rate of 30.1%. 

 

TRAFFIC CHANNEL  AWARE VISITS  INFORMED VISITS (%)  ENGAGED VISITS (%) 

DIRECT  5,330  2,415 (45.3%)  1,605 (30.1%) 

SOCIAL  14,033  5,403 (38.5%)  927 (6.6%) 

EMAIL  327  88 (26.9%)  37 (11.3%) 

SEARCH ENGINE  891  488 (54.8%)  206 (23.1%) 

.GOV SITES  278  136 (48.9%)  63 (22.7%) 

REFERRALS  609  268 (44%)  118 (19.4%) 

Table 15: Site traffic sources 

Page 61



42 
 

Using the online site allows the tracking of response numbers over time. For this high‐profile 

questionnaire, the response rate numbers were tracked throughout the process. Due to the 

national and some international interest the responses from within Wirral and those from 

outside Wirral were also calculated. The chart/table below shows the response rates over time 

from the online results. 

In general, with many surveys there is often a peak in response in the last few days before the 

survey closes. In this case for the 8/9/10 August there was an increase in response rates. On the 

final day 10 August there were 155 responses in total, 125 responses from within Wirral and 30 

from outside Wirral.   

For this questionnaire two other peaks can be noted in the online data. On the 3 of July there 

was an increase in response rates to 185, 89 from outside Wirral and 96 inside Wirral and on 4 

July there were 152 responses with 55 from outside Wirral and 97 inside Wirral. This coincided 

with a Tweet on the 3 July from Chris Packham, Naturalist and Television Presenter who noted 

Hoylake beach and shared the link to the online questionnaire. 

The main peak on the 10 and 11 July coincides with a Facebook post from Chris Packham on the 

morning of 10 July 2022. He noted Hoylake beach and shared the link to the online 

questionnaire.  For this peak on the 10 July there were 868 responses, 602 from out of Wirral 

and 266 from inside Wirral. On the 11 July there were 198 responses with 104 from outside the 

Wirral and 94 inside the Wirral. 

 

Figure 23: Responses by day 

Page 62



43 
 

Date 

Wirral  Outside Wirral  Total 

Responses 

by day 

Cumulative 

Responses 

Responses 

by day 

Cumulative 

Responses 

Responses 

by day 

Cumulative 

Responses 

29/06/2022  93  93  9  9  102  102 

30/06/2022  55  148  8  17  63  165 

01/07/2022  72  220  2  19  74  239 

02/07/2022  32  252  39  58  71  310 

03/07/2022  96  348  89  147  185  495 

04/07/2022  97  445  55  202  152  647 

05/07/2022  24  469  19  221  43  690 

06/07/2022  20  489  11  232  31  721 

07/07/2022  18  507  1  233  19  740 

08/07/2022  8  515  2  235  10  750 

09/07/2022  15  530  1  236  16  766 

10/07/2022  266  796  602  838  868  1634 

11/07/2022  94  890  104  942  198  1832 

12/07/2022  63  953  36  978  99  1931 

13/07/2022  55  1008  24  1002  79  2010 

14/07/2022  47  1055  13  1015  60  2070 

15/07/2022  64  1119  7  1022  71  2141 

16/07/2022  18  1137  8  1030  26  2167 

17/07/2022  25  1162  6  1036  31  2198 

18/07/2022  22  1184  1  1037  23  2221 

19/07/2022  14  1198  4  1041  18  2239 

20/07/2022  11  1209  0  1041  11  2250 

21/07/2022  10  1219  1  1042  11  2261 

22/07/2022  14  1233  0  1042  14  2275 

23/07/2022  24  1257  0  1042  24  2299 

24/07/2022  22  1279  1  1043  23  2322 

25/07/2022  10  1289  3  1046  13  2335 

26/07/2022  13  1302  1  1047  14  2349 

27/07/2022  11  1313  1  1048  12  2361 

28/07/2022  9  1322  2  1050  11  2372 

29/07/2022  10  1332  1  1051  11  2383 

30/07/2022  27  1359  2  1053  29  2412 

31/07/2022  19  1378  0  1053  19  2431 

continued 

 

Page 63



44 
 

Date 

Wirral  Outside Wirral  Total 

Responses 

by day 

Cumulative 

Responses 

Responses 

by day 

Cumulative 

Responses 

Responses 

by day 

Cumulative 

Responses 

01/08/2022  14  1392  0  1053  14  2445 

02/08/2022  20  1412  3  1056  23  2468 

03/08/2022  15  1427  1  1057  16  2484 

04/08/2022  14  1441  0  1057  14  2498 

05/08/2022  18  1459  2  1059  20  2518 

06/08/2022  6  1465  0  1059  6  2524 

07/08/2022  11  1476  1  1060  12  2536 

08/08/2022  112  1588  5  1065  117  2653 

09/08/2022  117  1705  33  1098  150  2803 

10/08/2022  125  1830  30  1128  155  2958 

11/08/2022  2  1832  0  1128  2  2960 

Table 16 – Cumulative online survey responses, Wirral residents, External and Total. Online 

responses only. 

 

   

Page 64



45 
 

Appendix 1: Stakeholder Representations 
 

Wirral Wildlife Response 
 

HOYLAKE BEACH 

 

1/1 

This article is written by Cheshire Wildlife Trust and its local group Wirral Wildlife, using the 

guidance issued to Wirral Borough Council by Natural England, and with further advice on 

geomorphology, sediment accretion and estuarine habitats from coastal experts who know 

Wirral. Coastal change is natural; we are fortunate that here it is providing new habitat to help 

tackle the climate, environmental and well‐being emergencies we face. 

  

During the last ice age, Wirral was under a thick layer of ice. This gouged out the Dee Estuary 

and pressed down our part of the earth's crust. Since the ice melted about 10,000 years ago, 

the Dee Estuary has been slowly filling up with nutrient‐rich sand and mud, known as sediment. 

The sediment comes mostly from the sea, by longshore drift along the North Wales coast. It is 

this accumulated sediment that makes the Wirral shores internationally important for nature 

conservation. It is full of worms, snails, crabs and other invertebrates. On these feed the 

thousands of birds which winter here, which would not be able to survive without this rich 

food. 

  

The seabeds of the Dee and Mersey estuaries also store lots of carbon that has been absorbed 

over thousands of years, sealed underwater. If disturbed, this carbon is released, making our 

climate warmer and our seas more acidic. Readers will know about the effects of the climate 

emergency and current efforts to tackle this: we are part of nature, not separate from it. Salt 

marsh is one of the best habitats at taking carbon dioxide out of the atmosphere, on a par with 

peatlands and woodlands, while vegetated sand dunes fix appreciable amounts. Bare sand fixes 

little carbon. (See Natural England report cited at end). 

Page 65



46 
 

  

Sea levels have fluctuated widely since the last ice age and are currently rising as a result of 

increasing sea temperatures. Our piece of crust has been slowly coming up again since the 

weight of ice was removed, so the net sea level rise at Liverpool is currently about 5mm a year ‐ 

which does not sound much until it is added up over a century and more. Currently sand 

accretion at Hoylake is faster than sea level rise, and the geomorphological report done by 

Royal Haskoning (published February 2022) expects this to continue for the next 50 years. Our 

coasts are dynamic places, always changing. For the last century many of our coasts have been 

"frozen" in place by coastal defences. Can and should this be continued? 

  

To help answer this, the national government has put in place a Shoreline Management Plan 

(SMP), about which there were local public meetings in 2012. Rev. Paul Rooney, Head of 

Geography and Environmental Science at Liverpool Hope University tells us that there has been 

a "tectonic change" in knowledge of coastal processes in the last 20 years ‐ but we still cannot 

accurately predict the future from the past. 

  

So what about Hoylake? The SMP decision for North Wirral, made by national experts, is to 

"hold the line" i.e. maintain the existing hard defences for at least 50 years from when the plan 

was made. After that defences may be removed at Leasowe Bay and natural sand dunes 

encouraged to take over. Before the 19th century, there were sand dunes all the way from West 

Kirby to New Brighton. The SMP principle is to work with nature ‐ but Liverpool Bay is not 

entirely natural, being affected by the canalisation of the Dee and Mersey and the dredging of 

the Liverpool Port approaches for shipping. (See Facebook page Hoylake beach – the Evidence) 

At Hoylake, the energy of the water and sediment supply are key. The Hoyle Lake, a former 

deep anchorage just offshore, is now full of sediment, so the sand brought by the sea is all 

coming towards Wirral. Hilbre and the East Hoyle Bank break some of the energy of the waves, 

tides and currents. The result is sand and a little mud is being deposited on Hoylake shore, 

raising its level to the point where the sea rarely reaches the promenade, and conditions are 

excellent for specialist plants. The colonisation by coastal plants is the result. Sand dunes are 

wonderful habitats for a suite of fascinating plants which we need to respect and which provide 

us with service by holding the sand together, so less blows inland onto the promenade. An on‐

going study of Hoylake shore by an expert professional botanist (Joshua Styles) has so far (by 

summer 2022) recorded 180 plant species, including twenty‐four rare and unusual ones of 

national or regional significance. Most of the species are now those characteristic of sand dune 

rather than salt marsh. Natural England opinion (see guidance) is that at Hoylake the balance 

would be more towards sand dune than salt marsh, and certainly this is what the developing 

vegetation indicates.  This new sand dune habitat, known as embryo dune, is itself rare in the 

UK, where most coasts are eroding, and is very valuable in wildlife terms.  It has considerable 

Page 66



47 
 

protection under the legislation that governs internationally important wildlife sites (formerly 

EU Habitats Directive, now transposed into UK law through the Environment Act 2021). 

Spartina (Cord‐grass) occupies much less than 5% of the vegetated area. Almost all the plant 

species present are native to the UK. This excellent collection has arrived naturally, because the 

shore provides the correct environment for their needs. This special and natural environment 

we now have on our shore is why every time the vegetation has been sprayed or scraped off, it 

returns. 

 

In 2000, a report by Dr Alan Jemmett (then Dee Estuary Conservation Officer, now head of 

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service) looked at the Hoylake foreshore and did a report 

to Wirral BC, which judged the continued removal of vegetation to be "unsustainable" on 

ecological and financial grounds. Just the current amount of sand arriving is equivalent to at 

least 11 large lorries daily. With money needed for other matters, surely we should embrace 

the natural opportunity that has developed on our coast. 

 

At Parkgate, well up the Dee where there is less movement of waves, mostly mud was 

deposited, leading to permanent salt marsh. In contrast, Red Rocks Nature Reserve, round the 

corner from Hoylake shore, has been allowed to develop fairly naturally for the last twenty 

years. Here a complex of new salt marsh, reed‐marsh and sand‐dune line have formed and are 

still increasing. In these new habitats natterjack toads sing, rare moths breed and much other 

wildlife is flourishing. A survey this year by Wirral Amphibian and Reptile Group found that 

common and even  natterjack  toads are starting to move into the western end of the new 

Hoylake habitat. Rats and cord‐grass are not major problems at Red Rocks. West Kirby beach by 

the Sailing Centre is kept clear of plants by mechanical methods. 

  

The best comparison to Hoylake, because it likewise faces Liverpool Bay, is in Sefton, all the way 

from Birkdale to Marshside, where coastal sediment has formed wildlife‐rich new habitats. We 

encourage you to walk along the Sefton shore and enjoy the wildlife. New vegetated habitats 

on Wirral’s northern shore will give more access to nature for people, access we know is good 

for mental and physical health. The wading birds and wildfowl will still be there, though it will 

be further to walk from the promenade to see them. There will be many more flowers, insects 

and birds on the new habitats near the promenade, at their best in spring and summer when 

more people visit. 

 

  

North Wirral foreshore is internationally important for wintering birds, with many thousands 

there every year. How would development of salt marsh and sand dune affect them? A joint 

statement by the RSPB, BTO and CAWOS says: 

Page 67



48 
 

“The ongoing changes at Hoylake will be beneficial to birds, offering more protected high‐tide 

roosting sites and alternative feeding areas for waders, as well as a new environment for 

ground feeding finches, wagtails, and pipits. In contrast, reinstating an artificial beach will be 

detrimental to birds.” 

The wintering birds have limited areas to go to roost at high tide because of urban 

development round the Dee. Disturbance to roosting birds is one reason for recent declines in 

some of our wintering bird species, according to Natural England. We can help the roosting 

birds by keeping ourselves, our dogs and our horses from disturbing the birds at high tide in 

autumn and winter. 

  

The previous agreement between Natural England and Wirral Borough Council on the beach 

management has finished. In 2019 Wirral Borough Council declared an Environmental and 

Climate Emergency, as have many other local and national bodies. In the last few years, new 

evidence on the effects of the weed‐killer formerly used on the beach (glyphosate) has 

emerged. It has been shown to reduce invertebrate populations, including those in the beach 

sediments. These invertebrates are the food supply for the wintering birds. The guidance of the 

Government’s ecological advisor, Natural England, is now in favour of letting nature take its 

course (see their guidance to Wirral Borough Council). They do allow the possibility of creating 

a limited amenity beach, as at West Kirby, using mechanical means. There is certainly a need to 

sort the drainage from the promenade onto the beach, especially to find whose wrong 

connections are the source of the sewage‐contaminated drainage. Draining roads, with all their 

dirt, onto a beach should not be acceptable in the 21st century! 

  

Money is tight ‐ is our money best used making the climate and environmental emergencies 

worse? Or could it be used to manage the natural sediments e.g. keeping easy access for RNLI. 

  

Look ahead 50‐100 years. Sea level will continue to rise. Dunes and saltmarsh would protect the 

sea wall. What would our grandchildren want us to do? 

  

For all these reasons, we should allow nature to take its course on Hoylake shore. We are very 

lucky to have more coastal wildlife able to thrive in our peninsula. New coastal habitat is a rarity 

in the UK and we should celebrate it. 

 

Our mission, as Cheshire Wildlife Trust, is to bring wildlife back. We want to see more and 

better‐connected wild spaces and the pressures on the environment reduced, and we work to 

improve the resilience of nature and restore broken ecosystems. We also believe that people’s 

wellbeing and the economy relies on a healthy, natural environment. Coastal processes are 

changing the beach at Hoylake and increasing the diversity of wildlife found there. There needs 

Page 68



49 
 

to be more understanding of the coastal change, habitat development and the value that this 

brings, and we are in favour of further studies to help achieve this. Hoylake beach is designated 

for nature conservation as a Site of Special Scientific Interest. As such, any management of the 

beach requires the written agreement of Natural England.   

  

Wirral Wildlife committee 

Cheshire Wildlife Trust 

 

  

Shoreline Management Plan ‐ www.mycoastline.org.uk 

 

Wirral Coastal Strategy ‐ www.Wirral.gov.uk 

 

Facebook group Hoylake Beach – the Evidence 

https://www.facebook.com/groups/353912892854904/ 

 

Royal Haskoning report and much other data ‐ see: https://haveyoursay.Wirral.gov.uk/hoylake‐

beach‐information 

 

Alan Jemmett's report: 

http://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/report_for_wbc_on_wind_blown_sand 

 

Natural England Research Report NERR094 'Carbon Storage and Sequestration By Habitat: A 

Review of the Evidence' (second edition): 

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5419124441481216 

 

 

   

Page 69



50 
 

Natural England Response 

10th August 2022 

Our ref: 1407221146NG 

Your ref: Hoylake Beach Management Initial Consultation 

Wirral Council PO Box 290 Brighton Street Wallasey CH27 9FQ 

Natural England, Cheshire, Greater Manchester, Merseyside and Lancashire Area Team Natural, 

England, Crewe Business Park, Crewe, Cheshire, CW1 6GJ 

Cheshire2.Lancashire@defra.gov.uk 

 

Dear Wirral Council, 

 

Thank you for your consultation on Hoylake beach management which was received by Natural 

England on 13th July 2022.  

 

Natural England is a non‐departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the 

natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and 

future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  

 

Natural England have chosen to submit their representation in writing to ensure our position is 

clear. For clarity, Natural England refers each answer to the relevant question in the survey. 

 

Question 1: People use Hoylake Beach for lots of reasons. Please choose which reasons are 

important to you.  

• Exercise  

• Walking  

• Walking the dog  

• A place to picnic  

• A place to be close to nature  

• Looking at nice views  

• Looking at birds  

• Family activities  

• Playing on the beach  

• Other (please say below) 

 

Natural England understand that people use our natural environments for many different 

reasons. Natural England can appreciate the value of the beach for all the reasons listed in the 

survey, however as the beach is sensitive consideration must be taken to the conservation 

Page 70



51 
 

objectives of the protected sites. I have provided a link to the conservation objectives of the 

site for your reference: 

 

Special Protection Area (SPA) Conservation Objectives:  Marine site detail 

(naturalengland.org.uk).  

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) Conservation Objectives: European Site Conservation 

Objectives for Dee Estuary SAC ‐ UK0030131 (naturalengland.org.uk) 

 

Question 2: Please choose the most important things Hoylake Beach does for nature.  

 

All statutory bodies have a legal duty to further the conservation and enhancement of SSSIs in 

undertaking their functions. Natural England’s statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 

environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future 

generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development function. This includes focussing 

on the conservation of protected sites, their habitats and species through the appropriate legal 

provisions. Hoylake beach is an important part of the statutory protected sites supporting 

intertidal sediments and developing saltmarsh and dune habitats and a range of species 

including internationally important non‐breeding bird populations. Natural England understand 

the importance of this natural capital in providing ecosystem services including capturing 

windblown sand, providing natural flood defence and capturing carbon. Natural Engand also 

appreciates the value of the beach for people by providing a natural space for people to visit, 

hosting events and the importance of this local space to the local people.  

 

Questions 3: Do you want saltmarsh at Hoylake Beach? 4: Do you want sand dunes at Hoylake 

Beach? & 5: How do you think Hoylake Beach should look? 

 

Natural England supports allowing the beach to develop naturally and allowing natural 

processes to happen. The natural processes allow the establishment and expansion of 

saltmarsh or sand dune habitats and these are part of the protected site interest and provide 

valuable services. Any management of the beach should be consistent with the conservation 

objectives of the site and subject to the necessary regulatory tests and permissions.  

 

Question 6: How do you feel about mud at Hoylake Beach? 

 

Natural England supports allowing the beach to develop naturally and to allow natural 

processes to happen, this includes the presence of mud. Mud habitats provide valuable food 

resources for the important non‐breeding bird populations. Observations indicate that there 

Page 71



52 
 

has been an increase in sand supply resulting in the beach being less muddy and favouring the 

development of sand dune type habitats. 

 

Question 7: How do you feel about getting around in a beach with plants and mud? 

 

Natural England supports providing opportunities for everyone to access nature, including 

Hoylake beach. However, access and use of the beach needs to appropriately consider it’s 

conservation importance. Natural England would like to be involved in ideas and proposals for 

managing access.  

 

Question 8: If the beach is not maintained, how do you feel about people's health? 

 

Natural England mostly agree with option 2: “There are natural hazards at other beaches that 

the council does not manage. Hoylake should be the same.” 

 

Question 9: Visitors and the environment 

 

Natural England mostly agree with option 2: “Visitors are important to me, and I think a natural 

beach would bring more visitors.” The natural development of the beach with associated 

habitats provides a more diverse and interesting experience. The beach still supports a large 

area of open sand that can provide similar experiences to before the recovery of 

saltmarsh/sand dune type habitats The natural beach will provide opportunities for new visitors 

to visit and observe how the beach is developing and the beach provides opportunities for 

education and eco‐tourism.  

 

Question 10: How much do you agree or disagree that we should do as much as we can to make 

Hoylake Beach maintained as it was up to 2019? 

 

Natural England “Disagree a lot” with the statement that we should do as much as we can to 

make Hoylake Beach maintained as it was up to 2019. The habitats that are developing on the 

beach are an important part of the protected sites and clearance of these would be unlikely to 

be compatible with the conservation objectives of the sites through destruction of the habitat 

and alteration of the natural processes. 

 

Question 11: How much do you agree or disagree that we should choose an area of the beach 

that is looked after for people to use? This area would have no plants and people could get to 

the beach from a managed path from the prom. 

Page 72



53 
 

It may be possible to maintain an area of beach for amenity purposes, subject to being assessed 

fully and going through the necessary regulatory tests and processes. It is likely that specific 

surveys of proposed areas would need to provide a current assessment of plants present. 

However, Hoylake beach has a large area of open sand beyond the vegetation, it appears that 

this will increase in height and so be drier, especially if held by the frontline of vegetation – this 

could provide amenity opportunities. There may be opportunities to provide access to areas of 

open sand beyond the vegetation, for example by use of boardwalks.  

 

Question 12: How much do you agree or disagree that we should choose an area of the beach 

to: 

• Have plants.  

• Only be partly looked after.  

• Have a managed path for people to use to get to the beach from the prom? 

 

Natural England partially agrees with all three options, subject to understanding the details and 

an assessment of these.  

 

Question 13: How much do you agree or disagree that we should not look after the beach and 

just make sure there is a way for everyone to get to it from the prom? & 14: How much do you 

agree or disagree that we should support more plants to grow on the beach with no managed 

path from the prom?:  

 

It is unclear what is meant by ‘not looking after the beach’. A positive decision to maintain the 

beach through minimal intervention eg allowing the beach to naturally develop could still be 

considered ‘looking after the beach’. Natural England therefore disagrees with this statement 

based on it’s ambiguity. In reference to whether we should support more plants to grow on the 

beach with no managed path from the prom, Natural England supports allowing the beach to 

develop naturally and to allow natural processes to happen. However, subject to assessments 

there may be scope for managed paths to allow access to the open beach beyond the 

vegetation, this may also limit human pressure on the developing habitats. 

 

Question 15: How much do you agree or disagree that sand should be moved out of the beach, 

which will cost the council money and cause more pollution? 16: How much do you agree or 

disagree that we should manage the sand by taking it out of drains, roads and pavements so it 

doesn't cause damage? This would cost the council money and cause more pollution. 17: How 

much do you agree or disagree that we should manage the increase in sand a little, which 

would mean: • Spending less. • Causing less carbon dioxide to be in the air? & 18: Do you agree 

or disagree that we should try not to spend too much or cause too much pollution? 

Page 73



54 
 

Natural England understands that the management of blown sand is an issue. Natural England 

considers that the beach vegetation provides important ecosystem benefits to Hoylake by 

capturing sand, acting as a natural flood defence and to capture carbon dioxide out of the air. 

 

Natural England is unclear ‐ what is meant by ‘sand should be moved out of the beach’ in 

Question 15? If this means excavating and removing sand from the beach Natural England 

disagrees – this would impact the protected site, very expensive and does not provide a 

sustainable solution. A better option, from Natural England’s perspective, would be to allow the 

dune habitats to develop and trap the sand, this is likely to raise beach levels in front of the 

vegetation and allow the seaward movement of the dune habitats. 

 

With regards to managing the drains to remove sand, Natural England understand’s the 

Council’s need to manage drainage, the Council will need to consider any implications for the 

designated site eg with regard to sustainable water supply to the beach to maintain wetter 

elements of the habitat.  

 

Natural England also suggests that Wirral Council investigates options to return windblown 

sand that has left the beach back to the beach. This may be acceptable subject to the necessary 

assessments and approvals. 

 

Question 19: If you think that not looking after the beach would be bad for people's health, 

please say how here. 

 

Natural England advises on the natural environment and the conservation importance of 

protected sites and their features. It is not our position to comment on health and wellbeing in 

this instance.  

 

Many thanks again for engaging with Natural England early on this consultation.  

 

If you have any queries relating to the content in this letter then please do not hesitate to 

contact me: Cheshire2.Lancashire@defra.gov.uk. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
 

Page 74



 

 

REPORT 

Hoylake Beach Management Plan 

Identification of short-listed options 

Client: Wirral Council 

  

Reference: PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 

Status: Final/00 

Date: 03 November 2022 

Page 75



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 i  

 

 
HASKONINGDHV UK LTD.

 

 

 Honeycomb 

Edmund Street 

Liverpool 

L3 9NG 

Industry & Buildings 

VAT registration number: 792428892 

 

+44 151 2362944 

+44 151 2272561 

info.liv@gb.rhdhv.com 

royalhaskoningdhv.com 

T 

F 

E 

W 
 

Document title: Hoylake Beach Management Plan  
 

Subtitle: Identification of short-listed options  
Reference: PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001  

Status: 00/Final  
Date: 03 November 2022  

Project number: PC2553  
Author(s): Jamie Gardiner  

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Classification 

Project related 
 

   

 
 

  
Unless otherwise agreed with the Client, no part of this document may be reproduced or made public or used for any 
purpose other than that for which the document was produced. HaskoningDHV UK Ltd. accepts no responsibility or 
liability whatsoever for this document other than towards the Client. 
 
Please note: this document contains personal data of employees of HaskoningDHV UK Ltd.. Before publication or any 
other way of disclosing, consent needs to be obtained or this document needs to be anonymised, unless 
anonymisation of this document is prohibited by legislation. 

Page 76



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 ii  

 

Table of Contents 

1 Background 1 

2 Hoylake BMP 1 

2.1 Objectives of the BMP 1 

3 Long List Options Appraisal 3 

3.1 Assessment Methodology 3 

3.1.1 Assessment Criteria 3 
3.1.2 Development of Long List of Potential Options 4 

3.1.2.1 Beach Management Approaches 4 

3.1.2.2 Beach Management Scenarios 4 

3.1.2.3 Option Appraisal Methodology 5 

3.2 Long List of Options 6 

3.3 Long List Options Appraisal 7 

4 Short listed options 14 

 

Table of Tables 

Table 3-1 BMP Assessment Criteria 3 

Table 3-2 Hoylake BMP Long List of Potential Options 6 

Table 3-3 Rationale to determine potential effect of option 8 

Table 3-4 Beach Management Scenario B - Long List Options Appraisal (yellow cell denotes 
taken forward to short list) 10 

Table 3-5 Beach Management Scenario C - Long List Options Appraisal 11 

Table 3-6 Beach Management Scenario D - Long List Options Appraisal (yellow cell denotes 
taken forward to short list) 12 

Table 3-7 Economic Appraisal of Long List of Potential Options (those in bold have been taken 
forward to short list) 13 

 

Table of Figures 

Figure 2-1 Location Plan 2 

 
 

Page 77



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 iii  

 

Appendices 

Appendix A 

Figures - Long List of Options 

 

Page 78



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 1  

 

1 Background 

Hoylake Beach extends approximately 2km from the Red Rocks in the southwest to the RNLI Lifeboat 
Station in the northeast (Figure 2-1).  
  
To support the development of the Beach Management Plan (BMP) for Hoylake Beach, there was a need 
for a better understanding of coastal change (such as changes in the supply of sediment, currents and 
waves) and how habitats will develop (such as saltmarsh and sand dunes) at Hoylake Beach. A 
Geomorphology and Ecology Study was therefore commissioned by Wirral Council to investigate these 
aspects in order to provide an evidence base upon which the BMP can be developed. 
 
The study showed that beach levels at Hoylake Beach will continue to rise over the next 50 years, based 
on how the beach has developed in the past and predicted sea-level rise. The rate of increase in beach 
levels was predicted to outpace sea-level rise and consequently beach levels will rise and migrate seawards. 
 
The BMP is being developed.  This report presents the development and appraisal of the long list of options 
and identifies those options to be taken forward to detailed assessment. 
 

2 Hoylake BMP 

The Hoylake BMP will set out Wirral’s Council’s proposals for the day-to-day management of Hoylake Beach 
over the next five years (to 2027), whilst also setting out measures aligned to longer-term (50 years) 
management of the frontage. It is being developed in consultation with Natural England and informed by 
extensive public consultation. 

2.1 Objectives of the BMP 

The objectives of this BMP take account of the findings of the Hoylake Beach Geomorphology and Ecology 
Study, the views expressed on the management of the Beach (particularly the recent consultation exercise 
carried out on the study) and consultation with Natural England. 
 
The objectives of this BMP are to: 
 

 Not compromise or adversely impact on the integrity of designated sites. 
 Promote biodiversity and contribution to mitigating climate change. 
 Minimise disturbance to wildlife.  
 Maintain and enhance the amenity benefit, wellbeing and health of the local community and visitors. 
 Ensure the safety of users and access across the beach.  
 Contribute to the reduction in the risk of flooding and/or erosion to local property and infrastructure. 
 Provide recommendations on further studies and monitoring to inform future management. 

 
  

Page 79



P
age 80



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 3  

 

3 Long List Options Appraisal 

3.1 Assessment Methodology 

3.1.1 Assessment Criteria 

Using the findings of the Geomorphology and Ecology Study and consultation, assessment criteria have 
been developed. The assessment criteria allow the identification, measurement and comparison of the 
potential environmental effects associated with the different management options.  These assessment 
criteria will help to guide the detailed assessment and focus on the important environmental issues identified 
in the development of the BMP.  The assessment criteria are set out in Table 3-1. 
 
Table 3-1 BMP Assessment Criteria 

Receptor Assessment Criteria 

Population 
and Human 
Health 

Will the option protect and enhance human health through provision of improved coastal erosion 
and flood protection to people and property? 

Will the option reduce the extent of sandy beach? 

Will the option enhance health and safety on the beach? 

Will the option enhance recreation and tourism? 

Will the option limit public access to coastal areas? 

Will the option enhance human health through the provision of an open sandy beach for 
recreational activities?  

Does the option have the potential to increase nuisance (e.g. pests, windblown sand) and 
pollution on the beach? 

Critical 
Infrastructure 
and Material 
Assets 

Will the option result in the windblown sand issues to services, drains and/or transport links? 

Will the option affect beach access to emergency services? 

Biodiversity  

Will the option cause loss or damage to a designated wildlife site? 

Will the option cause loss or damage to a protected habitat? 

Will the option reduce biodiversity? 

Will the option result in increased disturbance to wildlife from recreational activities? 

Will the option reduce the Natural Value Capital of the beach? 

Climatic 
factors 

Does the option contribute to mitigating climate change? 

Water 

Will the option have the potential to significantly alter coastal processes? 

Will the option have adverse impacts upon water quality? 

Will the option have the potential to affect the status of WFD a waterbody? 

Landscape/ 
Seascape  

Will the option avoid adverse effects on and, where appropriate, enhance landscape/seascape 
character? 

 
 

Page 81



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 4  

 

3.1.2 Development of Long List of Potential Options 

3.1.2.1 Beach Management Approaches 

The following Beach Management Approaches (BMAs) have been identified for Hoylake Beach:  
 

 Do Nothing - Hoylake Beach develops naturally with no management. 
 Maintain and Remove - the current extent of vegetation on Hoylake Beach is maintained and its 

seaward expansion is prevented using mechanical means. 
 Do Everything – continued removal of all vegetation using mechanical means. 
 Do Everything (strip) – continued removal of a strip of vegetation immediately seaward of the 

seawall by mechanical means. This option would form part of either the Do Nothing or Maintain 
options. 

 Beach Nourishment - placement of appropriately sized sand to a specified thickness on top of 
the existing vegetation. This would create a sandy beach at a higher elevation than the current 
vegetated beach.  Vegetation would be continually removed, on the nourished area and in-front, 
using mechanical means, if required. 

3.1.2.2 Beach Management Scenarios 

In order to apply the BMAs to Hoylake Beach, four Beach Management Scenarios (BMSs) have been 
developed that divide the frontage up into different Management Areas (MAs), as follows: 
 

1. Scenario A 
MA1a - Whole frontage 

2. Scenario B 
MA1b - RNLI station to Alderley Road Slipway 
MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks 

3. Scenario C 
MA1c - RNLI station to Alderley Road Slipway 
MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap 
MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks 

4. Scenario D 
MA1d - RNLI Station to King’s Gap 
MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks 

 
The whole frontage scenario has been discounted and not considered further, as this scenario would not 
meet the objectives of the BMP. 
 
In applying the BMAs, the character and usage of Hoylake Beach has been taken into account, with Do 
Everything, Do Everything (strip) and Beach Nourishment options being applied only from the RNLI Station 
to King’s Gap as this stretch of the beach is considered to represent the primary recreation and amenity 
section of the beach. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 5  

 

3.1.2.3 Option Appraisal Methodology 

The effect of each option has been considered according to the following symbols, as appropriate, based 
upon the anticipated magnitude of the effect: 
 

Symbol Effect 

+++ 
++ 
+ 
0 
- 
-- 
--- 

Major beneficial effect 
Moderate beneficial effect 
Minor beneficial effect 
Neutral / Not significant / No effect 
Minor adverse effect 
Moderate adverse effect 
Major adverse effect 

 
In order to understand the cumulative effect of an option, that is the combined effect of the Beach 
Management Approaches, across the entirety of Hoylake Beach, the effect of individual options have been 
combined. 
 
For example: 
  

 if the effect of two options is ++/-, the - cancels out one of the +’s and the cumulative effect is + 
 if the effect of two options is ++/+, the +’s combine to +++ 

 
Depending on the result of the cumulative assessment, the following colour coding has been applied: 

 
An economic appraisal has also been carried out on the long list of potential options to compare the likely 
financial implications of taking the options forward. At this stage the appraisal comprises a qualitative 
comparison of the options using the following symbols and associated costs: 
 

£            £0 - £10,000 per annum         
££  £10,001 - £20,000 per annum 
£££      £20,001 - £50,000 per annum            
££££  £50,001 - £100,000 per annum 
£££££  £100,001 - £200,000 per annum  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 6  

 

3.2 Long List of Options 

The application of the BMAs to the BMSs resulted in a long list of 23 potential options, as shown Table 3-2, 
and presented in Appendix A.   
 
Table 3-2 Hoylake BMP Long List of Potential Options 

No Beach MA 
Do 
Nothing 

Maintain 
Do Everything 
(strip) 

Do 
Everything 

Beach 
Nourishment 

1 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

2 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

3 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

4 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

5 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

6 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

7 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

8 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

9 
MA1b - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks      

10 

MA1c - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap      

MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

11 

MA1c - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap      

MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

12 

MA1c - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap      

MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

13 

MA1c - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap      

MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

14 

MA1c - RNLI to Alderley Road Slipway      

MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap      

MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

Page 84



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 7  

 

No Beach MA 
Do 
Nothing 

Maintain 
Do Everything 
(strip) 

Do 
Everything 

Beach 
Nourishment 

15 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

16 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

17 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

18 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

19 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

20 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

21 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

22 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

23 
MA1d - RNLI to King’s Gap       

MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks      

3.3 Long List Options Appraisal 

When determining the potential effect of an option, the following has been taken into account: 
 

 Where Do Everything (strip) has been proposed, the effect is not considered to be as significant as 
the Do Everything option, given its reduced magnitude.  For example, where Do Everything results 
in a major effect, Do Everything (strip) results in a minor effect. 

 The magnitude of effect is affected by the length of beach that an option is applied to.  For example, 
the potential effect of Do Nothing from the RNLI Station to King’s Gap is considered to be greater 
than Do Nothing from the RNLI Station to Alderley Road Slipway. 

 
The long list options appraisal for BMS B can be seen in Table 3-4, for BMS C in Table 3-5 and for BMS D 
in Table 3-6, along with the rationale for determining the potential effect of the options in Table 3-3.  The 
economic appraisal can be seen in Table 3-7. 
 
 

Page 85



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 8  

 

Table 3-3 Rationale to determine potential effect of option 

Receptor Criteria Rationale to determine effect of each option 

Population 
and human 
health 

Will the option protect and enhance human 
health through provision of improved coastal 
erosion and flood protection to people and 
property? 

Do Nothing option allows salt marsh to develop which causes waves to dissipate reducing the risk of coastal 
flooding and erosion. Furthermore, the Do Nothing option allows the development of sand dunes further reducing 
the risk of flooding and erosion. Beach Nourishment raises beach levels; therefore, reducing the risk of coastal 
flooding and erosion to a lesser extent. Do Everything would remove all vegetation, thus increasing wave exposure 
and associated coastal flooding and erosion risk. Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current 
situation. 

Will the option reduce the extent of sandy 
beach? 

Do Nothing option allows salt marsh to develop which would reduce the extent of sandy beach. Beach 
Nourishment and Do Everything would remove all vegetation therefore increasing the sandy beach area. Maintain 
and Remove would result in no change to the current situation. 

Will the option enhance health and safety on 
the beach? 

Do Nothing would affect health and safety as the development of salt marsh creates an uneven surface which is 
more difficult to traverse, particularly for the young and elderly. The development of gullies and creeks over the 
long term would also pose health and safety risks. Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would remove existing 
hazards, and prevent their future development. Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current 
situation. 

Will the option enhance recreation and 
tourism? 

Do Nothing would increase wildlife tourism by improving habitats for a range of wildlife/birds; however, would 
reduce all other tourism and recreation activities due to restricted access through development of salt marsh. Do 
Everything and Beach Nourishment would enhance and maintain the sandy beach which would allow the 
continuation of tourism and recreational activities to take place. Maintain and Remove would result in no change to 
the current situation.  

Will the option limit public access to coastal 
areas? 

Do Nothing would restrict access by salt marsh development as per health and safety. Do Everything and Beach 
Nourishment remove existing hazards, thereby enhancing and maintaining public access. Maintain and Remove 
would result in no change to the current situation.  

Will the option enhance human health through 
the provision of an open sandy space for 
recreational activities? 

Do Nothing would reduce the extent of an open sandy beach and therefore reduce the space available for 
recreational activities on the beach. Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would create and maintain open sandy 
space for recreational activities. Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current situation.  

Does the option have the potential to increase 
nuisance (e.g. pests, windblown sand) and 
pollution on the beach? 

Over the long term Do Nothing could lead to an increase in pests and pollution from trapping of litter. Do 
Everything and Beach Nourishment would create nuisance from windblown sand. Maintain and Remove would 
result in no change to the current situation. 

Critical 
Infrastructure 
and Material 
Assets 

Will the option result in the windblown sand 
issues to services, drains and/or transport 

Do Nothing would lead to a reduction in windblown sand as the development of salt marsh would reduce the sandy 
area of the beach. Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would create additional sandy beach and therefore 
potentially increasing the supply of windblown sand. Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current 
situation. 

Will the option affect beach access to 
emergency services? 

Do Nothing option allows salt marsh to develop, negatively affecting beach access.  Whilst Do Everything and 
Beach Nourishment would prevent this due to the removal of vegetation.  Maintain and Remove would result in no 
change to the current situation. 

P
age 86



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  
 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 9  

 

Receptor Criteria Rationale to determine effect of each option 

Biodiversity 

Will the option cause loss or damage to a 
designated wildlife site?  

Do Nothing benefits the existing designated wildlife sites by allowing the natural development of the foreshore and 
associated habitats and species it supports. Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would remove the existing 
designated/protected habitats through the removal of vegetation. Whilst Maintain and Remove would preserve the 
existing vegetation, it would result in a negative effect on designated sites, given it prevents them from developing 
naturally.  

Will the option cause loss or damage to a 
protected habitat? 

Will the option reduce biodiversity? 
Do Nothing option will allow biodiversity of the beach to increase due to the development of saltmarsh. Do 
Everything and Beach Nourishment would reduce biodiversity through the removal of the existing vegetation. 
Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current situation.  

Will the option result in increased disturbance 
to wildlife from recreational activities? 

Do Nothing would reduce the extent of sandy beach and beach access, thereby reducing disturbance effects.  Do 
Everything and Beach Nourishment would increase disturbance through the removal of the existing vegetation. 
Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current situation. 

Will the option reduce the Natural Value 
Capital of the beach? 

See rationale for ‘Will the option reduce biodiversity’? 

Climatic 
Factors 

Does the option contribute to mitigating 
climate change?  

Do Nothing would contribute to mitigating climate change due to the development of salt marsh that stores carbon. 
Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would reduce the availability of carbon storage, thereby adversely affecting 
climate change. Maintain and Remove would result in no change to the current situation. 

Water 

Does the option have the potential to 
significantly alter coastal processes? Do Nothing, Maintain and Remove, and Do Everything would have no significant effect on coastal processes and 

water quality. Beach Nourishment has the potential to effect water quality, dependent upon the characteristics of 
the material used, and coastal processes. Will the option have adverse impacts upon 

water quality? 

Will the option have the potential to affect the 
status of WFD a waterbody? 

Do Nothing would have a beneficial effect on the WFD, through the natural beach development. Maintain and 
Remove, Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would prevent the natural beach development thus having an 
adverse effect on the WFD. 

Landscape / 
Seascape  

Will the option avoid adverse effects on and, 
where appropriate, enhance 
landscape/seascape character? 

Do Nothing would have a beneficial effect on local landscape and seascape character, through natural beach 
development. Do Everything and Beach Nourishment would have an adverse effect as they would change the 
natural landscape/seascape character preventing it from developing naturally. Maintain and Remove would result 
in no change to the current situation.  

P
age 87



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 10  

 

 
 
 

Table 3-4 Beach Management Scenario B - Long List Options Appraisal (yellow cell denotes taken forward to short list) 

Beach Management Scenario B MA1b = RNLI Station to Alderley Road  MA2b = Alderley Road to Red Rocks  

Beach Management Option 

Option 1 
MA1b = Maintain and 
Remove 
 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 2 
MA1b = Do 
Everything  
 
MA2b = Maintain 
and Remove  

Option 3 
MA1b = Do Everything  
 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 4  
MA1b = Beach 
Nourishment  
 
MA2b = Maintain and 
Remove 

Option 5 
MA1b = Beach 
Nourishment  
 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 6  
MA1b = Maintain and 
Remove / Do 
Everything (strip)  
 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 7  
MA1b = Do Nothing / 
Do Everything (strip)  
 
MA2b = Maintain and 
Remove 

Option 8 
MA1b = Maintain and 
Remove / Do 
Everything (strip)  
 
MA2b = Maintain and 
Remove  

Option 9 
MA1b = Do Nothing / 
Do Everything (strip)  
 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Receptor Criteria 

Population and 
human health 

Will the option protect and 
enhance human health through 
provision of improved coastal 
erosion and flood protection to 
people and property? 

0 / +++  -- / 0 -- / +++ + / 0 + / +++ (+/- = 0) / +++ (++/- = +) / 0 (+/- = 0) / 0 (++/- = +) / +++ 

Will the option reduce the extent 
of sandy beach? 

0 / ---  ++ / 0 ++ / --- ++ / 0 ++ / --- (-/+ = 0) / --- (--/+ = -) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (--/+ = -) / --- 

Will the option enhance health 
and safety on the beach? 

0 / ---  ++ / 0 ++ / --- ++ / 0 ++/--- (-/+ = 0) / --- (--/+ = -) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (--/+ = -) / --- 

Will the option enhance 
recreation and tourism? 

0 / --  ++ / 0 ++ / -- ++ / 0 ++ / -- (-/+ = 0) / -- (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0)/ -- 

Will the option limit public 
access to coastal areas? 

0 / ---  ++ / 0 ++ / --- ++ / 0 ++ / --- (-/+ = 0) / --- (--/+ = -) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (--/+ = -) / --- 

Will the option enhance human 
health through the provision of 
an open sandy beach for 
recreational activities? 

0 / --  ++ / 0 ++ / -- ++ / 0 ++ / - (-/+ = 0) / -- (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / -- 

Does the option have the 
potential to increase nuisance 
(e.g. pests, windblown sand) 
and pollution on the beach? 

0 / --  -- / 0 - / -- -- / 0 -- / -- (-/- = --) / -- (-/- = --) / 0 (-/- = --) / 0 (-/- = --) / -- 

Critical 
Infrastructure 
and Material 
Assets 

Will the option result in the 
windblown sand issues to 
services, drains and/or transport 

0 / +++  -- / 0 -- / +++ -- / 0 -- / +++ (+/- = 0) / +++ (++/- = +) / 0 (+/- = 0) / 0 (++/- = +) / +++ 

Will the option affect beach 
access to emergency services 
(RNLI Station - Alderley Rd area 
only)? 

0 +++ +++ +++ +++ + --- + --- 

Biodiversity 

Will the option cause loss or 
damage to a designated wildlife 
site?  

- / +++  -- / - -- / +++ -- / - -- / +++ (-/- = --) / +++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / +++ 

Will the option cause loss or 
damage to a protected habitat? 

- / +++  -- / - -- / +++ -- / - -- / +++ (-/- = --) / +++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / +++ 

Will the option reduce 
biodiversity? 

0 / +++  -- / 0 -- / +++ -- / 0 -- / +++ (-/- = --) / +++ (++/- = +) / 0 (-/- = --) / 0 (++/- = +) / +++ 

Will the option result in 
increased disturbance to wildlife 
from recreational activities? 

- / +++  -- / - -- / +++ -- / - -- / +++ (-/- = --) / +++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / +++ 

Will the option reduce the 
Natural Value Capital of the 
beach? 

0 / +++  -- / 0 -- / +++ -- / 0 -- / +++ (-/- = --) / +++ (++/- = +) / 0 (-/- = --) / 0 (++/- = +) / +++ 

Climatic 
Factors 

Does the option contribute to 
mitigating climate change?  

 0 / +++  -- / 0 -- / +++ -- / 0 -- / +++ (+/- = 0) / +++ (++/- = +) / 0 (+/- = 0) / 0 (++/- = +) / +++ 

Water 

Does the option have the 
potential to significantly alter 
coastal processes? 

0  0  0  -  -   0 0 0 0 

Will the option have adverse 
impacts upon water quality? 0 0 0 - - 0 0 0 0 

Will the option have the potential 
to affect the status of WFD a 
waterbody? 

- / +++  -- / - -- / +++ -- / - -- / +++ (-/- = --) / +++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / +++ 

Landscape/ 
Seascape  

Will the option avoid adverse 
effects on and, where 
appropriate, enhance 
landscape/seascape character? 

0 / ++  -- / 0 -- / ++ -- / 0 -- / ++ (+/- = 0) / ++ (++/- = +) / 0 (+/- = 0) / 0 (++/- = +) / ++ 

Overall effect of option +10 -13 +8 -12 +7 +1 -2 -17 +16 

P
age 88



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 11  

 

 
 
 

Table 3-5 Beach Management Scenario C - Long List Options Appraisal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Beach Management Scenario C MA1c = RNLI Station to Alderley Road MA2c = Alderley Road to King’s Gap MA3c = Kings Gap to Red Rocks  
Beach Management Option  Option 10 

MA1c = Do Everything 
MA2c = Maintain and Remove 
MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 11 
MA1c = Beach Nourishment 
MA2c = Maintain and Remove 
MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 12 
MA1c = Beach Nourishment  
MA2c = Do Everything 
MA3c = Maintain and Remove 

Option 13 
MA1c = Beach Nourishment  
MA2c = Do Everything  
MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 14 
MA1c = Maintain and Remove/ Do 
Everything (strip)  
MA2c = Maintain and Remove 
MA3c = Do Nothing  

Receptor Criteria   

Population and 
human health 

Will the option protect and enhance human health through 
provision of improved coastal erosion and flood protection 
to people and property? 

--  / + / ++ + / + / ++ + / -- / + + / -- / ++ (+/- = 0) / + / ++ 

Will the option reduce the extent of sandy beach? ++ / - / -- ++ / - / -- ++ / ++ / - ++ / ++ / -- (-/+ = 0) / - / -- 
Will the option enhance health and safety on the beach? ++ / - / -- ++ / - / -- ++ / ++ / - ++ / ++ / -- (-/+ = 0) / - / -- 
Will the option enhance existing recreation and tourism? ++ / - / - ++ / - / - ++ / ++ / - ++ / ++ / - (-/+ = 0) / - / - 

Will the option limit public access to coastal areas? ++ / - / -- ++ / - / -- ++ / ++ / - ++ / ++ / -- (-/+ = 0) / - / -- 
Will the option enhance human health through the 
provision of an open sandy beach for recreational 
activities? 

++ / - / - ++ / - / - ++ / ++ / - ++ / ++ / - (-/+ = 0) / - / -- 

Does the option have the potential to increase nuisance 
(e.g. pests, windblown sand) and pollution on the beach? 

-- / - / - -- / - / - -- / -- / - -- / -- / - (-/- = --) / - / - 

Critical 
Infrastructure and 

Material Assets 

Will the option result in the windblown sand issues to 
services, drains and/or transport 

-- / + / ++ -- / + / ++ -- / -- / + -- / -- / ++ (+/- = 0) / + / ++ 

Will the option affect beach access to emergency 
services? (RNLI- Alderley Rd) 

++ ++ ++ ++ ++ 

Biodiversity 

Will the option cause loss or damage to a designated 
wildlife site?  

-- / - / ++ -- / - / ++ -- / -- / - -- / -- / ++ (-/- = --) / - / ++ 

Will the option cause loss or damage to a protected 
habitat? 

-- / - / ++ -- / - / ++ -- / -- / - -- / -- / ++ (-/- = --) / - / ++ 

Will the option reduce biodiversity? -- / - / ++ -- / - / ++ -- / -- / - -- / -- / ++ (-/- = --) / - / ++ 
Will the option result in increased disturbance to wildlife 
from recreational activities? -- / - / ++ -- / - / ++ -- / -- / - -- / -- / ++ (-/- = --) / - / ++ 

Will the option reduce the Natural Value Capital of the 
beach? 

-- / - / ++ -- / - / ++ -- / -- / - -- / -- / ++ (-/- = --) / - / ++ 

Climatic Factors Does the option contribute to mitigating climate change?  -- / + / ++ -- / + / ++ -- / -- / + -- / -- / ++ (+/- = 0) / + / ++ 

Water 

Will the option have the potential to significantly alter 
coastal processes? 

0 - -  - 0 

Will the option have adverse impacts upon water quality? 0 - - - 0 
Will the option have the potential to affect the status of 
WFD a waterbody? 

-- / - / ++ -- / - / ++ -- / -- / - -- / -- / ++ (-/- = --) / - / ++ 

Landscape/Seascape  
Will the option avoid adverse effects on and, where 
appropriate, enhance landscape/seascape character? 

-- / 0 / ++ -- / 0 / ++ -- / -- / 0 -- / -- / ++ (0/- = -) / 0 / ++ 

Overall effect of option -8 -8 -30 -10 -12 

P
age 89



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 12  

 

 
 
 

Table 3-6 Beach Management Scenario D - Long List Options Appraisal (yellow cell denotes taken forward to short list) 

 
 

Beach Management Scenario D MA1d = RNLI Station to Kings Gap MA2d = Kings Gap to Red Rocks 

Beach Management Option Option 15 
MA1d = Maintain and 
Remove 
 
MA2d = Do Nothing  
 

Option 16  
MA1d = Do 
Everything  
 
MA2d = Maintain 
and Remove 

Option 17 
MA1d = Do 
Everything  
 
MA2d = Do Nothing  
 

Option 18  
MA1d = Beach 
Nourishment  
 
MA2d = Maintain and 
Remove 

Option 19 
MA1d = Beach 
Nourishment  
 
MA2d = Do Nothing 

Option 20  
MA1d = Maintain and 
Remove/Do Everything 
(strip)  
 
MA2d = Do Nothing  

Option 21 
MA1d = Do Nothing/ Do 
Everything (strip)  
 
MA2d = Maintain and 
Remove 

Option 22 
MA1d = Maintain 
and Remove /Do 
Everything (strip)  
 
MA2d = Maintain 
and Remove 

Option 23 
MA1d = Do 
Nothing/Do  
Everything  
(strip)  
 
MA2d = Do Nothing 

Receptor Criteria   

Population 
and human 

health 

Will the option protect and 
enhance human health through 
provision of improved coastal 
erosion and flood protection to 
people and property? 

0 / ++ --- / 0 --- / ++ ++ / 0 ++ / ++ (++/- = +) / ++ (+/- = 0) / 0 (+/- = 0) / 0 (+/- = 0) / ++ 

Will the option reduce the extent 
of sandy beach? 

0 / -- +++ / 0 +++ / -- +++ / 0 +++ / -- (--/+ = -) / -- (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / -- 

Will the option enhance health 
and safety on the beach? 

0 / -- ++ / 0 ++ / -- ++ / 0 ++ / -- (--/+ = -) / -- (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / -- 

Will the option enhance existing 
recreation and tourism? 

0 / - +++ / 0 +++ / - ++ / 0 ++ / - (-/+ = 0) / - (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / - 

Will the option limit public 
access to coastal areas? 

0 / -- +++ / 0 +++ / -- ++ / 0 ++ / -- (--/+ = -) / -- (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / -- 

Will the option enhance human 
health through the provision of 
an open sandy beach for 
recreational activities? 

0 / - +++ / 0 +++ / - ++ / 0 ++ / - (-/+ = 0) / - (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / 0 (-/+ = 0) / - 

Does the option have the 
potential to increase nuisance 
(e.g. pests, windblown sand) 
and pollution on the beach? 

0 / - -- / 0 -- / - -- / 0 -- / - (-/- = --) / - (-/- = --) / 0 (-/- = --) / 0 (-/- = --) / - 

Critical 
Infrastructure 
and Material 

Assets 

Will the option result in the 
windblown sand issues to 
services, drains and/or transport 

0 / ++ --- / 0 --- / ++ --- / 0 --- / ++ (+/- = 0) / ++ (++/- = +) / 0 (+/-=0) / 0 (++/- = +) / ++ 

Will the option affect beach 
access to emergency services? 
(RNLI Station-Alderley Rd) 

0  +++ +++ +++ +++ (0/- = -) / -- (--/+ = -) / 0 (0/+=+) / 0 (--/+ = -) / -- 

Biodiversity 

Will the option cause loss or 
damage to a designated wildlife 
site?  

- / ++ --- / - --- / ++ -- / - -- / ++ (-/- = --) / ++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / ++ 

Will the option cause loss or 
damage to a protected habitat? 

- / ++ --- / - --- / ++ -- / - -- / ++ (-/- = --) / ++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / ++ 

Will the option reduce 
biodiversity? 0 / ++ --- / 0 --- / ++ -- / 0 -- / ++ (-/- = --) / ++ (++/- = +) / 0 (-/- = --) / 0 (++/- = +) / ++ 

Will the option result in 
increased disturbance to wildlife 
from recreational activities? 

- / ++ --- / - --- / ++ -- / - -- / ++ (-/- = --) / ++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / ++ 

Will the option reduce the 
Natural Value Capital of the 
beach? 

0 / ++ --- / 0 --- / ++ -- / 0 -- / ++ (-/- = --) / ++ (++/- = +) / 0 (-/- = --) / 0 (++/- = +) / ++ 

Climatic 
Factors 

Does the option contribute to 
mitigating climate change?  

0 / ++ --- / 0 --- / ++ -- / 0 -- / ++ (+/- = 0) / ++ (++/- = +) / 0 (+/- = 0) / 0 (++/- = +) / ++ 

Water 

Will the option have the potential 
to significantly alter coastal 
processes? 

0 0 0 -- -- 0  0 0 0 

Will the option have adverse 
impacts upon water quality? 0 0 0 -- -- 0 0 0 0 

Will the option have the potential 
to affect the status of WFD a 
waterbody? 

- / ++ --- / - --- / ++ -- / - -- / ++ (-/- = --) / ++ (++/- = +) / - (-/- = --) / - (++/- = +) / ++ 

Landscape/ 
Seascape  

Will the option avoid adverse 
effects on and, where 
appropriate, enhance 
landscape/seascape character? 

0 / ++ -- / 0 -- / ++ -- / 0 -- / ++ (0/- = -) / ++ (++/- = +) / 0 (0/- = -) / 0 (++/- = +) / ++ 

Overall effect of option +7 -18 -1 -13 +2 -9 +2 -18 +15 

P
age 90



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 13  

 

Table 3-7 Economic Appraisal of Long List of Potential Options (those in bold have been taken forward to short list)  

Option Cost 

Option 1 
MA1b = Maintain and Remove 

££ 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 2 
MA1b = Do Everything  

£££ 
MA2b = Maintain and Remove  

Option 3 
MA1b = Do Everything  

££ 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 4  
MA1b = Beach Nourishment  

£££££ 
MA2b = Maintain and Remove 

Option 5 
MA1b = Beach Nourishment  

££££ 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 6  
MA1b = Maintain and Remove / Do Everything (strip)  

££ 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 7  
MA1b = Do Nothing / Do Everything (strip)  

££ 
MA2b = Maintain and Remove 

Option 8 
MA1b = Maintain and Remove / Do Everything (strip)  

£££ 
MA2b = Maintain and Remove  

Option 9 
MA1b = Do Nothing / Do Everything (strip)  

£ 
MA2b = Do Nothing  

Option 10 

MA1c = Do Everything 

££ MA2c = Maintain and Remove 

MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 11 

MA1c = Beach Nourishment 

££££ MA2c = Maintain and Remove 

MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 12 

MA1c = Beach Nourishment  

£££££ MA2c = Do Everything 

MA3c = Maintain and Remove 

Option 13 

MA1c = Beach Nourishment  

££££ MA2c = Do Everything  

MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 14 
MA1c = Maintain and Remove/ Do Everything (strip)  

£££ 
MA2c = Maintain and Remove 

Page 91



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 14  

 

Option Cost 

MA3c = Do Nothing  

Option 15 
MA1d = Maintain and Remove 

££ 
MA2d = Do Nothing  

Option 16  
MA1d = Do Everything  

£££ 
MA2d = Maintain and Remove 

Option 17 
MA1d = Do Everything  

££ 
MA2d = Do Nothing  

Option 18  
MA1d = Beach Nourishment  

£££££ 
MA2d = Maintain and Remove 

Option 19 
MA1d = Beach Nourishment  

££££ 
MA2d = Do Nothing 

Option 20  
MA1d = Maintain and Remove/Do Everything (strip)  

££ 
MA2d = Do Nothing  

Option 21 
MA1d = Do Nothing/ Do Everything (strip)  

£££ 
MA2d = Maintain and Remove 

Option 22 
MA1d = Maintain and Remove /Do Everything (strip)  

£££ 
MA2d = Maintain and Remove 

Option 23 
MA1d = Do Nothing/Do Everything (strip) 

£ 
MA2d = Do Nothing 

4 Short listed options 

Using the findings of the long list appraisal, the short listed options are: 
 

Option 1  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Maintain and Remove   
MA2b Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 

Option 3  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Do Everything  
MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 

Option 5  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Beach Nourishment  
MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 

Option 9  MA1b (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) Do Nothing / Do Everything (strip)  
MA2b (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 

Option 15  MA1d (RNLI Station - King’s Gap) Maintain and Remove   
MA2d (King’s Gap - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 

Option 23  MA1d (RNLI Station - Kings Gap) Do Nothing / Do Everything (Strip)  
MA2d (Kings Gap - Red Rocks) Do Nothing 

 

Page 92



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

03 November 2022   PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001   

 

Appendix A 

Figures - Long List of Options 

 
 
 
 

Page 93



P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



P
age 102



P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



P
age 106



P
age 107



P
age 108



P
age 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



P
age 116



 

 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 01st November 2022 
 
Our ref:  Hoylake Beach Management Options 
 

 
 
 
 
Wirral Council 
PO Box 290 
Brighton Street 
Wallasey 
Natural England CH27 9FQ 
 

 
 
Cheshire, Greater 
Manchester, 
Merseyside and 
Lancashire Area 
Team Natural 
England, Crewe 
Business Park, 
Crewe, Cheshire 
CW1 6GJ 
Cheshire2.Lancashire 
@defra.gov.uk 

 
 
 
Dear Mr Gardiner, 
 
Thank you for providing Natural England with the opportunity to provide comment on Hoylake beach 
management options. 
 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development.    
 
Royal Haskoning DHV Limited and Wirral Borough Council have requested Natural England provide initial 
comments on short-listed beach management options for Hoylake beach. Natural England have reviewed 
the short-listed options and have provided comments within this letter.  
 
Headline comments  
 
After discussion of all six short-listed options, Natural England suggests that Options 1, 2, 5 and 6 would be 
difficult for us to assent due to the extent of habitat loss suggested at this stage. Options 3 and 4 still 
presents challenges but may be an option with refinement. Natural England have provided comment on 
each individual option below.  
 
Presentation comments 
 
 It would be visually helpful if the short-listed options could be highlighted within the long-list of 

options appraisal table. 
 With regards to Map 4 (p17) – Option 1 – Do nothing/Do everything (strip) (RNLI – Alderley Road) / 

Do nothing (Alderley Road – Red Rocks) the map shows existing vegetation (light green) larger 
than exists but should also represent potential vegetation (dark green). 

 Map 5 (p18) – Option 4 – this map has the wrong title, the title reads Maintain (RNLI – Alderley Rd) / 
Do nothing (Alderley Rd – Red Rocks), however it should read Maintain (RNLI – King’s Gap) / Do 
nothing (King’s Gap – Red Rocks). 

 Map 6 (p19) – Option 2 – Do nothing/ Do everything (strip) (RNLI – King’s Gap) / Do nothing (King’s 
Gap – Red Rocks) The map colouring is wrong on this map as existing and potential vegetation 
zones are merged. 

 With regards to terminology, Natural England recommends that the term Maintain should be 
substituted with a term such as “Maintain and Remove” as this describes the option more 
appropriately. 

 
Beach Management Options Discussion 
 

Page 119



 
 
Map 1 (p14) - Option 3 – Maintain (RNLI station – Alderley Road) / Do nothing (Alderley Road – Red 
Rocks) 
 
Natural England have concerns regarding the loss of potential vegetation on the outer side of the existing 
vegetation and the constraints imposed on the development of the natural ecosystem. Build up of sand will 
still continue with this option and it is unclear how this may influence the existing vegetation or contribute to 
windblown sand on the North Parade. From a protected sites perspective, this option will result in a loss of 
potential vegetation but no loss for existing vegetation. It remains unclear if we could support the extent of 
ongoing clearance of the frontal zone between RNLI station and Alderley Road. This highlights the need for 
refinement of the option and to continue ongoing discussions with Natural England.  
 
It is possible that there could be a much more restricted clearance option focussed to ensuring an 
appropriate access from the slipway for RNLI access. It is unclear if vegetation development is impacting 
on RNLI access currently, so we recommend further discussions with the RNLI regarding whether this is 
needed and understand what habitat conditions restrict RNLI access. 
 
Map 2 (p15) – Option 5 – Do everything (RNLI Station – Alderley Road) / Do nothing (Alderley Road – Red 
Rocks) 
 
This option results in a higher degree of loss as we will lose potential vegetation and existing 
vegetation.This could result in a loss of important plant components of the habitat; this includes Shore dock 
(Rumex rupestris) (which is known to be present in this area), as this is a highly protected plant it will 
prevent Wirral Borough Council clearing locations with this species. Wirral Borough Council will need to be 
clear on the locations of Shore Dock before removing vegetation to avoid removal of this species. The 
clearance zone also includes less common wetter areas which are an important component of the habitat. 
Removal of the vegetation is likely to result in increased volumes of sand reaching North Parade and, with 
a limited height difference between the beach and top of the promenade wall, beach levels could quickly 
exceed the promenade level. This is something to consider when assessing the impacts of removing 
existing vegetation. 
 
It is unlikely that Natural England could support the extent of vegetation loss outlined in this option and it 
would need considerable refinement.  
 

Map 3 (p16) – Option 6 – Beach nourishment (RNLI – Alderley Road) / Do nothing (Alderley Road – Red 
Rocks)  
 
There is currently a limited height difference between the beach level and the top of the promenade wall. 
Clearance of vegetation and ‘nourishment’ (adding sand to the upper beach) is likely to increase the 
amount of windblown sand to North Parade – this should be considered carefully including volumes and 
source of sand. Shore dock is known to be present in this area and as it is a highly protected plant, any 
sand smothering and vegetation clearance would have to avoid this species. The upper beach zone is 
already subject to high recreational pressure from walkers/dog walkers, therefore this area already has 
large parches of bare sand, for example see your cover photo. This option would change the zonation and 
remove the important upper transitional habitats across a significant part of the frontage. There is likely to 
be high costs associated with this option which will need to be taken into consideration. There could be 
potential to use windblown sand from the adjacent road for this option, although the amount of sand 
required would need to be calculated to determine if there is enough windblown sand for the area proposed 
to be ‘nourished’.  
 
This option has a high degree of loss from losing both existing and potential vegetation. It is unlikely that 
Natural England could support the extent of vegetation loss outlined in this option and it would need 
considerable refinement. 
 
Map 4 (p17) – Option 1 – Do nothing/Do everything (strip) (RNLI – Alderley Road) / Do nothing (Alderley 
Road – Red Rocks) 
 
This option will result in a strip of existing vegetation being removed, the location of the existing vegetation 
will include removing a significant proportion of the upper transition zone. Shore dock is present in this Page 120



 
 
area, as this is a highly protected plant, Wirral Borough Council would need to be clear on where Shore 
Dock is present and avoid those locations. Managing to avoid only Shore Dock presents a risk of 
highlighting the presence of this species which could encourage illegal 3rd party removal. This option will 
allow vegetation to develop so there will be an overall increase in vegetation potential, however there will 
be a loss of existing vegetation in the upper transition zone. There will need to be refinement of the overall 
vegetation removal option to account for some more important patches of vegetation e.g. wet areas and 
shore dock.  
 
This option will result in a loss of existing vegetation, it is unlikely that Natural England could support the 
loss of existing vegetation outlined in this option.  
 
Map 5 (p18) – Option 4 – Maintain (RNLI – King’s Gap) / Do nothing (King’s gap – Red Rocks) (correct title 
given here) 
 
This option is similar to option 3 but will manage a bigger area. This will result in a larger loss in vegetation 
potential. 
 
Map 6 (p19) – Option 2 – Do nothing/ Do everything (strip) (RNLI – King’s Gap) / Do nothing (King’s Gap – 
Red Rocks)  
 
This option is similar to option 1 but involves more clearance in the upper transition zone. This will result in 
a larger loss of existing vegetation.  
 
This option has a high degree of loss of existing vegetation, it is unlikely that Natural England could support 
the loss of existing vegetation outlined in this option.  
 
General comments from Natural England 
 
 As the statutory adviser and regulator for nature conservation and protected sites, Natural England 

favours options that limit vegetation removal and allow natural development of the beach. 
 We consider natural development provides a range of wider benefits for people and society and do 

not consider it incompatible with wider use and enjoyment of the beach. The public survey evidence 
appears to also support this. 

 NE considers the options that reduce the least amount of vegetation (existing and potential) to be 
the better options, although they could still represent adverse effect on the integrity of the Dee 
Estuary Special Area of Conservation due to the rarity of this habitat (subject to assessment). 

 The short list options will at the next stage need further refinement; for example does an area 
showing clearance mean that whole area would be cleared or can smaller interventions within a 
wider area deliver the same benefits?  

 Natural England would want to see other options included that have less impact, are ‘softer’ (ie 
more sensitive to features of local distinctiveness and more natural in appearance) and are more 
adaptive. Adaptive options could start smaller, prioritising the more important needs and doing the 
minimum required and then monitoring to inform later options.  

 The options may also not adequately account for the dynamism of the foreshore system – how will it 
change and how could options impact on that change or limit the foreshore’s ability to respond to 
changes. 

 Targeted removal to avoid Shore Dock may highlight its presence so increase the risk of illegal 3rd 
party removal. 

 There is no assessment yet of what proportion of the habitats and zones are proposed for removal 
in each option. This will be important to help assess the impact on the protected sites. 

 It is not clear how public access is currently restricted by the vegetation and therefore how much 
vegetation clearance is required. Where there are issues for public access then the least impactful 
interventions should be considered eg limited paths, board walks etc. 

 What is the purpose of removing vegetation in the first instance? There is an amenity value 
associated with the vegetated beach as both the vegetated beach and open sandy area beyond the 
vegetation is regularly used recreationally. If the survey results favour natural processes is there any 
need to remove vegetation at all? Page 121



 
 
 Hoylake beach vegetation is an almost unique and rare habitat and appears to represent a 

transition between saltmarsh and dunes with species indicating both habitats being present, this is a 
highly unusual habitat and adds to the  local importance/distinctiveness. Pioneer/early successional 
and upper transition zones seen at Hoylake are rarer so need to be considered of higher value – 
this needs to be taken into consideration when considering management.  

 There needs to be further discussions with the RNLI – does current vegetation prevent their 
access? Are there distinct areas which must be kept clear for RNLI access? These zones should 
clearly be shown on a map.  

 The area King’s Gap to RNLI is used regularly by walkers/dog walkers so is under high recreational 
pressure currently. Regular footfall will result in control of the vegetation and patches of bare sand 
as already seen at Hoylake. Does any vegetation need to be removed in this instance or could 
smaller targeted interventions work? 

 Costings need to be accounted for – how often would they need to do removal? Over how many 
years? 

 It is important that the impacts of removing vegetation are considered further, as removing 
vegetation will result in only bare sand remaining. 

 We advise that a Habitat Regulations Assessment is interatively developed as the options develop 
this will help ensure developing options are acceptable or how they can be refined. 

 
Many thanks again for engaging with Natural England early on the beach management options.  
 
If you have any queries relating to the content in this letter then please do not hesitate to contact me: 
Cheshire2.Lancashire@defra.gov.uk. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

Cheshire, Greater Manchester, Merseyside and Lancashire Area Team 
 
 

Page 122



Holylake Beach Management Plan
Long list options appraisal
Project related
Jamie Gardiner
21 October 2022

P
age 123



21 October 2022

Overview
 BMP Objectives
 Beach Management Scenarios
 Beach Management Options
 Long List of Options
 Options Appraisal Methodology
 Long List Options Appraisal
 Short Listed Options

2

P
age 124



21 October 2022

BMP Objectives
The objectives of the BMP take account of the findings of the Hoylake Beach Geomorphology and 
Ecology Study, the views expressed on the management of the Beach (particularly the consultation 
exercise carried out on the study and the DAS consultation with Natural England).

The objectives of this BMP are to:

 Not compromise or adversely impact on the integrity of designated sites.
 Promote biodiversity and contribution to mitigating climate change.
 Minimise disturbance to wildlife. 
 Maintain and enhance the amenity benefit, wellbeing and health of the local community and visitors.
 Ensure the safety of users and access across the beach. 
 Contribute to the reduction in the risk of flooding and/or erosion to local property and infrastructure.
 Provide recommendations on further studies and monitoring to inform future management.

3

P
age 125



21 October 2022

Beach Management Scenarios

4

Scenario A
 MA1a - Whole frontage

Scenario B
 MA1b - RNLI station to Alderley Road Slipway
 MA2b - Alderley Road Slipway to Red Rocks

Scenario C
 MA1c - RNLI station to Alderley Road Slipway
 MA2c - Alderley Road Slipway to King’s Gap
 MA3c - King’s Gap to Red Rocks

Scenario D
 MA1d - RNLI station to King’s Gap
 MA2d - King’s Gap to Red Rocks

P
age 126



21 October 2022

Beach Management Options
 Do Nothing - Hoylake Beach develops naturally with no management.

 Maintain - the current extent of vegetation on Hoylake Beach is maintain and its seaward expansion 
is prevented using mechanical means.

 Do Everything – continued removal of all vegetation using mechanical means.

 Do Everything (strip) – continued removal of a strip of vegetation immediately seaward of the 
seawall by mechanical means. This option would for part of either the Do Nothing or Maintain 
options.

 Beach Nourishment - placement of appropriately sized sand to a specified thickness on top of the 
existing vegetation. This would create a sandy beach at a higher elevation than the current 
vegetated beach.  Vegetation would be continually removed, on the nourished area, if required, and 
seawards.

5

P
age 127



21 October 2022

Long List of Options
Whole frontage options discounted as do not meet the BMP objectives.

In applying the beach management options, the character and usage of Hoylake Beach has been taken 
into account, with Do Everything, Do Everything (strip) and Beach Nourishment options being applied 
only from the RNLI Station to King’s Gap as this is considered to represent the amenity section of the 
beach.

Resulting in 23 options

6

P
age 128



21 October 2022

Options Appraisal Methodology
The effect of each option has been considered according to the following symbols, as appropriate, 
based upon the anticipated magnitude of the effect and sensitivity of the receptor:

7

P
age 129



21 October 2022

Options Appraisal Methodology
In order to understand the cumulative effect of the options across the entirety of Hoylake Beach, the 
effect of individual options have been combined. For example:

 if the effect of two options is ++/-, the - cancels out one of the +’s and the cumulative effect is +
 if the effect of two options is ++/+, the +’s combine to +++

Depending on the result of the cumulative assessment, the following colour coding has been applied:

8

P
age 130



21 October 2022

Long List Options Appraisal

9

P
age 131



21 October 2022

Long List Options Appraisal

10

P
age 132



21 October 2022

Long List Options Appraisal

11

P
age 133



21 October 2022

Long List Options Appraisal

12

P
age 134



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options
 Do Nothing / Do Everything (strip) (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) and Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red 

Rocks)

 Do Nothing / Do Everything (Strip) (RNLI Station - Kings Gap) and Do Nothing (Kings Gap - Red 
Rocks)

 Maintain (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) and Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) 

 Maintain (RNLI Station - King’s Gap) / Do Nothing (King’s Gap - Red Rocks)

 Do Everything (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) / Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) 

 Beach Nourishment (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) / Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks)

13

P
age 135



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options 
Maintain (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) and Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) 

14

P
age 136



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options 
Do Everything (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) / Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) 

15

P
age 137



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options 
Beach Nourishment (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) / Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks)

16

P
age 138



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options 
Do Nothing / Do Everything (strip) (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) and Do Nothing (Alderley Rd -
Red Rocks)

17

P
age 139



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options 
Maintain (RNLI Station - Alderley Rd) and Do Nothing (Alderley Rd - Red Rocks) 

18

P
age 140



21 October 2022

Short Listed Options 
Do Nothing / Do Everything (Strip) (RNLI Station - Kings Gap) and Do Nothing (Kings Gap - Red 
Rocks)

19

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT 

Hoylake Beach Geomorphology and 
Ecology Study 

  

Client: Wirral Borough Council 

  

Reference: PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 

Status: Final/01 

Date: 18 February 2022 

Page 143



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 i  

 

 
HASKONINGDHV UK LTD.

 

 

 Honeycomb 

Edmund Street 

Liverpool 

L3 9NG 

United Kingdom 

Industry & Buildings 

VAT registration number: 792428892 

 

+44 151 2362944 

+44 151 2272561 

info.liv@gb.rhdhv.com 

royalhaskoningdhv.com 

T 

F 

E 

W 
 

Document title: Hoylake Beach Geomorphology and Ecology Study  
 

Document short title:    
Reference: PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001  

Status: 01/Final  
Date: 18 February 2022  

Project name: Hoylake Beach Geomorphology and Ecology Study  
Project number: PC2553  

Author(s): David Brew, Alexandra Scullion, Stuart Morris, Jamie Gardiner and Oliver Bull  
 

Drafted by: 
David Brew, Alexandra Scullion, Stuart 
Morris, Jamie Gardiner and Oliver Bull 

  

Checked by: David Brew and Jamie Gardiner   

Date: 18/02/2022   

Approved by: Jamie Gardiner   

Date: 18/02/2022   

    

Classification 

Project related 
 

   

 
 

  
Unless otherwise agreed with the Client, no part of this document may be reproduced or made public or used for any 
purpose other than that for which the document was produced. HaskoningDHV UK Ltd. accepts no responsibility or 
liability whatsoever for this document other than towards the Client. 
 
Please note: this document contains personal data of employees of HaskoningDHV UK Ltd.. Before publication or any 
other way of disclosing, consent needs to be obtained or this document needs to be anonymised, unless 
anonymisation of this document is prohibited by legislation. 

Page 144



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 ii  

 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction 1 

1.1 Background to the study 1 

1.2 This Study 3 

1.3 Study Area 4 

1.4 Structure of this report 4 

2 Coastal Geomorphology and Ecology 7 

2.1 Geomorphological Setting 7 

2.2 Wind 7 

2.3 Offshore Waves 7 

2.4 Nearshore Waves 7 

2.5 Water Levels 9 

2.6 Tidal Currents 9 

2.7 Sediment Sources 9 

2.8 Coastal Sediment Distribution 9 

2.9 Sediment Transport 10 

2.10 Coastal Structures 11 

2.11 Ecology of Hoylake Beach 12 

3 Historic Beach Morphological Change 16 

3.1 Changes between 2002 and 2008 16 

3.2 Changes between 2008 and 2013 16 

3.3 Changes between 2013 and 2018 19 

3.4 Changes between 2018 and 2021 19 

3.5 Changes between 2002 and 2021 19 

3.6 Summary 24 

4 Sea-level Rise 25 

4.1 Relative Sea-level Rise 25 

4.2 Historic Relative Sea-level Rise 26 

4.3 Future Relative Sea-level Rise 27 

5 Future Coastal Change and Potential Limits of Vegetation 30 

5.1 Morphological Change (Both Shoreline Management Scenarios) 30 

5.2 Do Nothing Scenario 31 

5.3 Morphological and Ecological Change for the Do Everything Scenario 37 

Page 145



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 iii  

 

6 Natural Capital Value 38 

7 Flood Risk Assessment 39 

7.1 Sources of Flood Risk 39 

7.2 Do Nothing and Do Everything Scenarios 42 

7.3 Annual Exceedance Probability 42 

8 Opportunities and Constraints 46 

9 Conclusions and Recommendations 47 

9.1 Conclusions 47 

9.2 Recommendations 48 

10 References 48 

 

Table of Tables 

Table 1.1. Assented beach management actions at Hoylake between 1st April 2016 and August 
2019 2 

Table 2.1. Tidal datums at Liverpool between 1991 and 2020 (National Tidal and Sea Level 
Facility, 2021) 9 

Table 2.2. Rare and/or notable plant species 15 

Table 3.1. Accretion rates (m) between 2002 and 2021 within the vegetation zones mapped by 
the NVC survey 24 

Table 4.1. Projected historic changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile 
low, 50th percentile medium and 95th percentile high emissions scenarios using 1990 as the 
starting year 26 

Table 4.2. Projected relative sea-level rise (mm/year) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 
50th percentile medium and 95th percentile high emissions scenarios 26 

Table 4.3. Projected future changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile 
low, 50th percentile medium and 95th percentile high emissions scenarios using 1990 as the 
starting year 27 

Table 4.4. Changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th 
percentile medium and 95th percentile high emissions scenarios using a 2022 baseline 28 

Table 4.5. Changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th 
percentile medium and 95th percentile high emissions scenarios using a 2022 baseline for years 
10, 20 and 50 29 

Table 5.1. Elevation changes applied to the topography to predict future coastal change 30 

Table 5.2. Predicted vegetated areas at years 10, 20 and 50 31 

Table 5.3. Typical saltmarsh zonation 31 

Page 146



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 iv  

 

Table 7.1. Coastal Flood Boundary Dataset (CFBD) return period levels applicable at Hoylake 
(ref point 1886) in metres OD, projected into the future under a medium emissions 50th percentile 
climate change scenario 43 

Table 7.2. Estimated return period of the FZ3 flood extent in 10, 20 and 50 years 45 

Table 8.1. RAG assessment for Do Nothing and Do Everything scenarios at Hoylake 46 

 

Table of Figures 

Figure 1-1. Beach management areas for raking and spraying at Hoylake approved in 2016 
(AECOM, 2016) 2 

Figure 1-2 Study Area 5 

Figure 1-3. Photos taken in 2021 showing vegetation on the upper beach at Hoylake (photos 
taken by Royal HaskoningDHV). 6 

Figure 2-1. Wind rose from Hilbre Island (west of Hoylake) meteorological station for 2005-2012 
(Brown et al., 2013) 8 

Figure 2-2. Wave rose for the Liverpool Bay WaveNet buoy (2002-2017) (Halcrow, 2018) 8 

Figure 2-3. Spatial plot of sediment textures along North Wirral frontage in 2009-2010 (top) and 
2014-2015 (bottom) (Coastal Engineering, 2015) 10 

Figure 2-4. Regional sediment transport in the vicinity of Hoylake Beach (Halcrow, 2010) 11 

Figure 2-5. Sections of seawall measured for elevation using the LiDAR 12 

Figure 2-6. Location of quadrats and vegetation community distribution (source: Ruffino, 2021)
 13 

Figure 2-7. Distribution of dense (black hashed lines) and sparse (red lines) vegetation (source; 
Ruffino, 2021) 14 

Figure 3-1. LiDAR comparison 2002 and 2008 17 

Figure 3-2. LiDAR comparison 2008 and 2013 18 

Figure 3-3. LiDAR comparison 2013 and 2018 20 

Figure 3-4. LiDAR comparison 2018 and 2021 21 

Figure 3-5. LiDAR comparison 2002 and 2021 22 

Figure 3-6 LiDAR comparison 2008 and 2021 23 

Figure 4-1. UKCP18 model grid used to derive sea-level rise projections for Hoylake 25 

Figure 4-2. Changes in relative sea level (m) under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium 
and 95th percentile high emissions scenarios using a 2022 baseline 28 

Figure 5-1. Predicted positions of the dense and sparse vegetation, and HAT in 10 years (2032)
 32 

Figure 5-2. Predicted positions of the dense and sparse vegetation, and HAT in 20 years (2042)
 33 

Figure 5-3. Predicted positions of the dense and sparse vegetation, and HAT in 50 years (2072)
 34 

Page 147



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 v  

 

Figure 5-4. New Green Beach at Birkdale in May 2005, showing initial colonisation by P. 
maritima (Smith and Lockwood, 2021) 35 

Figure 5-5. Proto-dunes forming around P. maritima with Cakile maritima at New Green Beach, 
September 2008 (Smith and Lockwood, 2021) 36 

Figure 7-1. Hoylake Flood Zone 3 40 

Figure 7-2. 3D Images taken from ground-level view function in Google Earth. Locations are 
shown on Figure 7.1. 41 

Figure 7-3 Environment Agency AStGWF Map for the Wirral (Source: Wirral Council, 2011) 41 

Figure 7-4. Extreme still water levels from the Coastal Flood Boundary dataset for Hoylake (blue 
line). Green line indicates the future effect of sea-level rise 44 

Figure 7-5. Estimated future flood risk associated with FZ3, based on sea-level rise under a 
medium emissions climate change scenario. Dashed grey lines indicate 10, 20 and 50 years 
from the present day, and the orange dots indicate the corresponding future return periods 44 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Natural England Advice to Wirral Council Regarding Beach Management 

Appendix B: NVC Survey Report 

Appendix C: Natural Capital Value Assessment 

 

Page 148



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 vi  

 

Acronyms 

AEP Annual Exceedance Probability 

AStGWF Areas Susceptible to Ground Water Flooding 

BMP Beach Management Plan 

CFDB Coastal Flood Boundary Dataset 

DAS Discretionary Advice Service 

EA Environment Agency 

FZ3 Flood Zone 3 

HAT Highest Astronomical Tide 

HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 

HTL Hold The Line 

MHW Mean High Water 

MHWN Mean High Water Neap 

MHWS Mean High Water Spring 

MLWN Mean Low Water Neap 

MLWS Mean Low Water Spring 

NE Natural England 

NVC National Vegetation Classification 

OD Ordnance Datum 

pSPA proposed Special Protection Area 

SAC Special Area of Conservation 

SPA Special Protection Area 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 

SWL Sill Water Level 

 

Page 149



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 1  

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Background to the study 

In 1999, Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council (Wirral Council)), commissioned a study to examine the issue 
of rising beach levels at West Kirby and Hoylake at the northwest corner of the Wirral Peninsula. The 
objectives were to provide advice on long-term coastal change, identify management options and preferred 
management policies, as a basis for public consultation (Jemmett and Smith, 2000). Wirral Council invited 
comment on the suggested options and 20 actions were identified for ongoing management of the beaches 
at West Kirby and Hoylake. None of the actions identified were formally adopted by Wirral Council. 
 
In 2010, Wirral Council applied for and received assent from Natural England to undertake beach 
management at Hoylake Beach for a period of five years. The management comprised: 

 spraying both Spartina anglica and Puccinellia maritima using approved glyphosate herbicide Roundup 
Bio-active Gold; 

 spraying isolated clumps of S. anglica using approved glysophate herbicide Roundup Bio-active Gold 
using a hand-held lance spray; 

 mechanically raking the amenity beach using either a comb rake or a Barber Surf rake; 

 removal of accumulated wind-blown sand, to be recycled within local protected sites including the; 

 Dee Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site; 

 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI; and 

 Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore proposed SPA (pSPA) and pRamsar site1. 

 
In 2016, Wirral Council applied for consent to continue these activities at Hoylake as part of a wider beach 
management proposal that also included the management of beaches at West Kirby, Wallasey and New 
Brighton. They commissioned a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to support the application 
(AECOM, 2016).   
 
In March 2016, Natural England granted assent for a period of five years, beginning 1st April 2016, for the 
specific beach management actions shown in Table 1.1. The beach at Hoylake was selectively sprayed 
with glysophate herbicide, within defined limits (Figure 1-1) to control the growth and spread of S. anglica 
and P. maritima. In August 2019, the spraying of the beach at Hoylake received adverse publicity on social 
media and in the press, and Wirral Council passed a motion ‘Glyphosate Free Wirral’ detailing how it 
intended to minimise glyphosate use except for invasive species management. In November 2019, Wirral 
Council requested Natural England to provide advice under their Discretionary Advice Service (DAS) as to 
how they should define management actions to “ensure that the natural environment is conserved, 
enhanced and managed for the benefit of future generations, whilst contributing to sustainable 
development”.   
 
  

 
1 Now Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA and Ramsar site 

Page 150



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 2  

 

Table 1.1. Assented beach management actions at Hoylake between 1st April 2016 and August 2019 

Hoylake Beach 

Spraying with Roundup glyphosate-based weed killer once per year in August; raking three times a week during April to 
September (inclusive); and removal of wind-blown sand from the seawall as and when it accumulates. 
 
The area to be raked extends from the lifeboat station to Red Rocks in a band 100m wide, 0-100m from the wall. Raking will be 
undertaken using a tractor and comb rake to remove vegetation followed by a tractor and Barber Surf rake. 
 
The area to be sprayed extends from the lifeboat station to Red Rocks, in a band 100m wide, 0-100m from the wall using a tractor 
with a boom and in addition if necessary between 100-120m from the wall with a knapsack sprayer (additional 20m band). 
 
Spraying with Roundup was deemed the best option for managing S. anglica at Hoylake Beach, as physical removal (excavation 
of material) may lead to further spread of the species and, as test digging has shown, leaves the rhizome behind. Rotoburying is 
not possible at this location due to the soft sediment. Smothering techniques and grazing are unsuitable at this location due to its 
use as an amenity beach and burning is not effective. 

 

 

Figure 1-1. Beach management areas for raking and spraying at Hoylake approved in 2016 (AECOM, 2016) 

Page 151



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 3  

 

In 2020, Wirral Council halted both mechanical raking and the use of glyphosate chemicals to control the 
growth of saltmarsh vegetation. Other management actions continued including the removal of wind-blown 
sand from against the seawall. The spread of this sand is partially controlled by fences attached to the 
promenade railings, but it still causes drains to be blocked and is a nuisance on the road and to properties 
on North Parade.  The current consent for these operations expired on 31st March 2021 and Wirral Council 
is separately applying for Natural England assent to continue them for a further 24 months.  
 
Natural England provided advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management in March 2020 (Appendix 
B). Natural England recommended and supported the development of a more holistic Beach Management 
Plan (BMP). This plan would be developed through an inclusive engagement process with a wide range of 
stakeholders that represent a variety of opportunities and constraints such as conservation, economic, legal 
and sustainability. Natural England indicated that there needed to be a better understanding of coastal 
change and habitat development at Hoylake and the value that these would bring.  
 
A wide range of views are present regarding the future management of Hoylake beach including continued 
removal of grasses, using  mechanical operations or alternative methods. Other views however advocate 
for allowing natural succession and the management of natural features and habitats. 
 
Wirral Council wishes to address all the conflicting views and reach a consensus on a way forward for 
managing the beach at Hoylake by producing a new BMP for the frontage.  In order to support development 
of the BMP the Council commissioned this Geomorphology and Ecology study to provide data and 
information to enable informed decisions to be made. 

1.2 This Study 

The overall purpose of this study is to provide an evidence base for preparation of a BMP that defines the 
requirements for future management of the beach at Hoylake for coastal defence, amenity and nature 
conservation. The key elements of this evidence base provided in this report are: 
 

 an overview of historical evolution of the Hoylake frontage and changes in beach morphology; 
 an overview of beach ecology including a National Vegetation Classification (NVC) survey; 
 predictions of future morphological and ecological change using a range of future climate change 

(sea-level rise) scenarios for selected shoreline management scenarios; 
 a Natural Capital Value assessment on the selected shoreline management scenarios; 
 a review of present and future flood risk under the selected shoreline management scenarios; and 
 potential opportunities and constraints of the selected shoreline management scenarios. 

 
To understand the overall implications of future beach management that encapsulates all the potential 
options which the BMP would consider, the following two shoreline management scenarios were developed: 
 

 Do Nothing: allow the shoreline to develop without intervention; and 
 Do Everything: manage the shoreline by continually removing all vegetation. 

 
Future morphological and ecological changes within the study area (see Section 1.3) have been predicted 
over the next 10 (2032), 20 (2042) and 50 years (2072), which is considered a suitable timeframe to inform 
the BMP.  Given the inherent uncertainty with predictions further into the future, it was not considered 
appropriate to extend the study any further into the future.   
 
Climate change projections were extracted from the UK Climate Projections (UKCP18) database. A range 
of projections are available based on three emissions scenarios (low, medium and high) and their confidence 

Page 152



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 4  

 

levels (5%, 50% and 95%). Predicted sea-level rise due to medium emissions (at the 50% confidence level) 
has been applied to each of the future years (2032, 2042 and 2072) in order to predict future changes.  
Whist the actual rise in sea level could be better or worse, depending on how the climate changes, the 
medium emissions (at the 50% confidence level) scenario was considered most appropriate to predict future 
morphological and ecological changes. 

1.3 Study Area 

Hoylake Beach extends from the Red Rocks in the southwest to the RNLI Lifeboat Station in the northeast. 
The beach is approximately 2km long and 2km wide from the seawall to the low water mark of spring tides 
(see Figure 1.2).  A selection of photographs can be seen in Figure 1.3. 

1.4 Structure of this report 

This report is structured as follows: 
 

 Section 1 (this first section) provides the background to the project, study area and the purpose of 
the report. 

 Section 2 provides a coastal geomorphology and ecology review of Hoylake Beach. 
 Section 3 describes historic morphological change of Hoylake Beach. 
 Section 4 provides projections of future sea-level rise. 
 Section 5 outlines predictions of future coastal change and potential limits of vegetation. 
 Section 6 provides a flood risk assessment of Hoylake Beach. 
 Section 7 outlines the opportunities and constraints of the potential future beach management 

scenarios. 
 Section 8 concludes the report and provides recommendations. 
 Section 9 lists the references used to inform this study and report. 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 153



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

Kings Gap

RNLI
station

Red Rocks

Dee 
Estuary

Mersey 
Estuary

Liverpool
Bay

Leasowe
Lighthouse

314000

314000

321000

321000

328000

328000

335000

335000

38
40

00

38
40

00

39
10

00

39
10

00

39
80

00

39
80

00

40
50

00

40
50

00

±

24/01/2022P01 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

Study Area

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0014

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Study Area

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

1-2

Wirral Borough Council

0 2 41 Kilometres

1:100,000

Kings Gap

RNLI
station

Red 
Rocks

0 250 500125 Metres

P
age 154



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 6  

 

 
Photo 1: East of Kings Gap slipway 

 
Photo 2: Isolated patches of vegetation present on upper-

middle beach 

  
Photo 3: Vegetation on upper beach adjacent to North 

Parade 

 
Photo 4: Looking towards the old lifeboat station slipway 

 
Photo 5: Looking towards Kings Gap slipway 

 
Photograph 6: View from Kings Gap slipway towards Red 

Rocks 

 
Photograph 7: Sideview of Kings Gap slipway 

 
Photograph 8: View from Red Rocks towards the RNLI 

station 

Figure 1-3. Photos taken in 2021 showing vegetation on the upper beach at Hoylake (photos taken by Royal HaskoningDHV).  

Page 155



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 7  

 

2 Coastal Geomorphology and Ecology 

2.1 Geomorphological Setting 

Hoylake Beach is located at the northwest corner of the Wirral Peninsula bounded by the Dee Estuary to 
the southwest, the Mersey Estuary to the northeast and Liverpool Bay and the Irish Sea to the northwest 
(see Figure 1.2). Along the inner Dee Estuary, the Wirral Peninsula is characterised by saltmarsh backed 
by a narrow sand beach and low dunes in places (Halcrow, 2018). To the northwest, along the outer reaches 
of the Dee Estuary the coast is dominated by sand, gravel and cobbles which are backed by cliffs (Halcrow, 
2010). The cliffs are up to 18m high and formed of glacial sediment.  Moving towards the estuary mouth, 
the coast between West Kirby and Hilbre Point is comprised of a wide intertidal sandflat backed by dunes. 
The rocks exposed at Hilbre Point and Red Rocks are sandstone (Halcrow, 2018).  
 
As the coast changes orientation to the northeast along north Wirral (encompassing Hoylake), it is 
characterised by sand beaches and large intertidal sand banks. One of the largest features at Hoylake is 
East Hoyle Bank, a sand bank which extends from the mouth of the Dee Estuary to Leasowe Lighthouse 
(Halcrow, 2010). 
 
The Shoreline Management Plan policy for Hoylake Beach is Hold the Line (HTL) for the next three epochs 
(100 years) with the intention to “manage flood and erosion risk by maintaining existing defences and beach 
management. As part of a wider strategy, undertake a more detailed study into risks and the viability of 
maintaining defences” (Halcrow, 2010)  

2.2 Wind 

The prevailing wind direction across the eastern Irish Sea and northwest England coast is from the west to 
southwest sector (Pye and Blott, 2009; Brown et al., 2013) (Figure 2-1). During summer, the wind direction 
is more evenly distributed around the sectors, whereas in winter the dominant wind direction is from the 
southwest, from the Atlantic (Halcrow, 2010). 

2.3 Offshore Waves 

Measured significant wave heights and directions collected between November 2002 and August 2017 at 
the Liverpool WaveNet buoy located approximately 17km offshore from Hoylake Beach in 22m of water are 
presented in Figure 2-2. The wave rose shows that waves up to 4m high approach from the west to west-
northwest, with smaller waves up to 2.5m high approaching with less frequency from the northwest. Brown 
et al. (2010) calculated that the 1 in 100-year extreme wave height at the Liverpool WaveNet buoy, is 7.3m.  

2.4 Nearshore Waves 

The dominant wave direction at Hoylake is from the northwest. However, the largest waves originate from 
the west as these waves are not limited by fetch or water depth. The annual mean significant wave height 
at the shoreline is only about 0.8m, due to the significant attenuation of waves across the wide intertidal 
area, including East Hoyle Bank.  
 

Page 156



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 8  

 

 

Figure 2-1. Wind rose from Hilbre Island (west of Hoylake) meteorological station for 2005-2012 (Brown et al., 2013) 

 

Figure 2-2. Wave rose for the Liverpool Bay WaveNet buoy (2002-2017) (Halcrow, 2018) 

Page 157



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 9  

 

2.5 Water Levels 

The tides in Liverpool Bay are semi-diurnal and macro-tidal. Water levels at Liverpool (Gladstone Dock 
approximately 12km northeast of Hoylake Beach) are presented in Table 2.1. The predicted spring and 
neap tide ranges are 8.27m and 4.29m, respectively (National Tidal and Sea Level Facility, 2021). 

Table 2.1. Tidal datums at Liverpool between 1991 and 2020 (National Tidal and Sea Level Facility, 2021) 

Location 
Predicted Elevation (m OD) 

MLWS MLWN MHWN MHWS HAT 

Liverpool (Gladstone Dock) -3.87 -1.77 2.54 4.46 5.44 

MLWS=Mean Low Water Spring; MLWN=Mean Low Water Neap; MHWN=Mean High Water Neap; MHWS=Mean High Water 
Spring; HAT=Highest Astronomical Tide 

2.6 Tidal Currents 

Tidal currents flow parallel to the North Wirral frontage. The average flood tidal current velocities are higher 
than the average ebb velocities (Pye, 1996). 

2.7 Sediment Sources 

The main source of sediment into inner Liverpool Bay is erosion of geological units deposited during the 
Pleistocene glacial period exposed on the Irish seabed. The sediment is then transported onshore, where 
East Hoyle Bank acts as a major local sediment sink/temporary store immediately offshore from Hoylake 
Beach. Sediment sources from the Mersey and Dee Rivers are very small in comparison to the marine 
sources (Halcrow, 2018). 

2.8 Coastal Sediment Distribution 

Coastal Engineering (2015) analysed and presented the results of particle size analyses conducted on over 
2,200 sediment samples collected during 2014-2015 from intertidal locations within Shoreline Management 
Plan area 22 (Cell 11), which includes North Wirral and the Hoylake frontage (Figure 2-3). The results were 
compared to an earlier survey undertaken in 2009-2010. The results show that North Wirral, including 
Hoylake Beach, is dominated by sand across the beach profile, with muddy sand in places on the upper 
parts of northeast Hoylake Beach in both 2010 and 2014-2015. 
 

Page 158



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 10  

 

 

Figure 2-3. Spatial plot of sediment textures along North Wirral frontage in 2009-2010 (top) and 2014-2015 (bottom) (Coastal 
Engineering, 2015) 

2.9 Sediment Transport 

Three main sediment transport mechanisms occur at Hoylake Beach: waves, currents and wind. These 
mechanisms are described below. 

2.9.1 Waves and Tidal Currents 

Some of the sediment is transported along the coast by waves from southwest to northeast (Halcrow, 2010) 
(Figure 2-4). Although the net direction of sediment transport is wave-driven from southwest to northeast, 
some sand transport can occur in the opposite direction when wind and wave activity is from the northeast 

Page 159



P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d

18 February 2022 PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 11  

(Jemmett and Smith, 2000). Some of the sediment is also transported to Hoylake Beach by strong tidal 
currents at Hilbre Point (Jemmett and Smith, 2000).  

Figure 2-4. Regional sediment transport in the vicinity of Hoylake Beach (Halcrow, 2010) 

2.9.2 Wind 

Hoylake Beach has a shallow slope (1:400), which provides a large surface area for wind to dry intertidal 
sand and transport it landward (Jemmett and Smith, 2000). Wind-blown sand accretion occurs on the upper 
beach at Hoylake (Halcrow, 2018). This accretion against the seawall may be due to the increased sheltering 
of the upper beach from wave action provided by the growth of East Hoyle Bank, and/or increased wind-
blown sand supply from the bank at low tide (Halcrow, 2018). Anecdotal evidence suggests that the seawall 
was 6-10 feet (2-3m) above the beach surface in the 1940s but was 0.6m above the beach in some locations 
in 2016 (Jemmett and Smith, 2000, Halcrow, 2018). The increase in beach levels and concomitant seaward 
movement of the low water mark and extension of East Hoyle Bank is likely to have reduced the importance 
of waves and tidal current transport relative to wind-blown transport (more of the East Hoyle Bank will be 
drier more often).  

2.10 Coastal Structures 

Almost the entire North Wirral frontage is artificially defended by structures including a seawall, revetment, 
offshore breakwaters and rock groynes which have fixed the existing coastal position (AECOM, 2016). Hard 
coastal defences in the area began with the Wallasey Embankment in the 1840s.  Tracing the top of the 
entire seawall, the mean elevation is 6.22m OD. The mean elevations along four sections (so as not to 
include beach entrances/slipways) are (Figure 2-5): 

• Section 1 (south) - 6.80m OD;
• Section 2 - 5.89m OD;
• Section 3 - 6.81m OD; and
• Section 4 (north) - 6.29m OD.

Page 160



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 12  

 

 

Figure 2-5. Sections of seawall measured for elevation using the LiDAR 

2.11 Ecology of Hoylake Beach 

The study area is subject to the following, overlapping, designations:  
 

 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI, designated for features such as non-breeding birds, intertidal 
sediments, and saltmarshes. 

 Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA/Ramsar site, designated for non-breeding birds.  
 Dee Estuary SSSI and SAC, designated for features including intertidal sediments, reefs, saltmarsh 

and sand dunes.   

2.11.1 NVC Survey 

A NVC survey was undertaken to classify and map habitats present within the survey area and to provide a 
conservation assessment of the vegetation communities recorded. Habitats were recorded and classified 
following the standard NVC protocol (Rodwell, 2006; Stace, 2019). A Garmin 62st GPS was used to record 
locations. Maps were produced using QGIS 3.4 Madeira (2018). Nomenclature of higher plant species 
followed Stace (2019).  The findings of the NVC survey are summarised below, with the report provided in 
Appendix B. 

Page 161



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 13  

 

In accordance with the NVC methodology, five or more quadrats were recorded for most vegetation 
communities. However, for vegetation communities which covered smaller areas, fewer quadrats were 
recorded. In this case, each quadrat was analysed separately, and the community was assigned on the 
basis of the components of each quadrat. For very small, fragmentary stands of vegetation, a full species 
list was made, and abundance was noted using the DAFOR scale (D=Dominant; A=Abundant, LF=Locally 
Frequent, F=Frequent, O=Occasional, R=Rare). The whole stand was then compared to the NVC 
descriptions and assigned to a community on this basis. 
 
A total of 103 vascular plant species and one bryophyte species were recorded in the survey area across 
27 quadrats. The location of quadrats is shown on Figure 2-6. Two vegetation communities were identified: 
 

 approximately 10ha of SM13 P. maritima saltmarsh community: a generally species-poor grassland 
dominated by the grass P. maritima (Common Saltmarsh-grass), with associates such as Tripolium 
pannonicum (Sea Aster), annual Salicornia agg (annual Glasswort agg) and Suaeda maritima 
(Annual Sea-blite); and 

 approximately 0.6ha of SM6 S. anglica saltmarsh community at the west end of the site dominated 
by Common Cordgrass S. anglica. 

 

 

Figure 2-6. Location of quadrats and vegetation community distribution (source: Ruffino, 2021) 

 
 
 
 

Page 162



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 14  

 

The NVC survey recorded whether the vegetation was dense or sparse as shown in Figure 2-7. This shows 
a tendency for denser vegetation landward, with sparser vegetation towards the sea. By comparing the 
vegetation boundaries with 2021 elevation data from LiDAR, the mean elevation of the seaward boundaries 
of the dense and sparse vegetation are approximately 4.5m OD and 4.3m OD, respectively.  
 

 

Figure 2-7. Distribution of dense (black hashed lines) and sparse (red lines) vegetation (source; Ruffino, 2021) 

 
In addition to the saltmarsh species which comprise SM13 P. maritima saltmarsh community, and SM6 S. 
anglica saltmarsh community, a number of species present are also associated with strandline and embryo 
dune habitats (Joint Nature Conservation Committee, 2004), including: 
 

 Strandline: Sea rocket Cakile maritima, Prickly saltwort Kali turgidum, and Saltbush Atriplex spp; 
and 

 Embryo dune: Sand couch grass Elymus farctus, Sand ryegrass Leymus arenarius and Marram 
grass Ammophila arenaria.  

 
From a conservation perspective, the vegetation communities on site are of high conservation value:  SM13 
P. maritima saltmarsh community is of importance for conservation at international level, as it is one of the 
vegetation communities included within Annex I Habitat 1330 ‘Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellitalia 
maritimae)’.  This habitat is also the primary reason for selection of the Dee Estuary as an SAC.  At national 
level, Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 lists coastal saltmarsh as a 
habitat of principal importance in England. The NVC survey identified the rare and/or notable plant species 
shown in Table 2.2. 

Page 163



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 15  

 

Table 2.2. Rare and/or notable plant species 

Species Status 

Catabrosa aquatica Classified as vulnerable in England 

Triglochin palustris classified as Near Threatened in England 

Crithmum maritimum Locally Rare in VC58 Cheshire 

Polygonum oxyspermum Locally Rare in VC58 Cheshire 

 
  

Page 164



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 16  

 

3 Historic Beach Morphological Change 

According to Halcrow (2018), the North Wirral frontage has generally been stable or accreting over the last 
20 years with small, isolated, areas of erosion. Historic morphological change along Hoylake Beach has 
been investigated by comparing LiDAR data captured between 2002 and 2021 in a GIS. 

3.1 Changes between 2002 and 2008 

Figure 3-1 shows the elevation difference between the beach in 2002 and 2008. The dominant processes 
across much of the intertidal area were erosion or stability, apart from the upper beach in the northeast (and 
small areas in the southwest), where accretion took place. There is evidence for migration of sand bars 
across the middle-upper beach of the southwest frontage, which manifest as linear bands of erosion and 
accretion oriented parallel to the coast. Accretion occurred along the upper beach of the northeast frontage, 
gradually transitioning to accretion across the entire beach profile at the northernmost extent. A GIS 
calculation of beach change within the dense vegetation area mapped by the 2021 NVC survey describes 
average accretion of about 0.08m over this six-year period (13mm/year). 
 
Wirral Council (2003) observed low beach levels in 2002, evidenced by the toe exposure on the northern 
side of Beach Road. They described a movement of the wrack lines further offshore along the beach 
northeast past Courtenay Road towards Kings Gap, which indicated higher beach levels compared to the 
southwest. In 2008, Wirral Council (2009) described an increase in beach levels along the beach north of 
the Beach Road slipway, which had risen slightly to cover the ‘vertical face supporting the apron to the sea 
wall’. The presence of vegetation on the beach to the east of Beach Road slipway was also noted. At King’s 
Gap, the report noted that there is ‘evidence of windblown sand accumulation against the minor promontory 
of the King’s Gap slipway’. The observations of Wirral Council (2003, 2009) support the LiDAR comparison, 
showing that beach levels were lower in the southwest and raised in the northeast between 2002 and 2008, 
particularly north of Kings Gap slipway. 

3.2 Changes between 2008 and 2013 

Figure 3-2 shows the elevation difference between the beach in 2008 and 2013. In contrast to the 2002 to 
2008 evolution, beach changes between 2008 and 2013 were dominated by little change or accretion across 
the entire area. Accretion was greater in the northeast than the southwest. Sand bar migration, in the form 
of linear accreting areas, is visible on the middle beach. A GIS calculation of beach change within the dense 
vegetation area mapped by the NVC survey describes average accretion of about 0.21m over this five-year 
period (42mm/year). 
 
Wirral Council (2014) noted the alternating form of the beach since 2010, which has been both smooth and 
dry in nature (2011) and at other times holding water due to its rippled (sand bars) nature (2010 and 2012). 
In 2013, a few areas were observed to be holding water ‘where vegetation growth was taking hold’ or ‘in 
scour ponds in front of the defences’. Vegetation growth was observed about 50-75m seaward of the 
shoreline from Beach Road to Kings Gap.  
 

Page 165



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

14/10/2021P02 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

LiDAR comparison 2002 and 2008

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0001

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

3-1

Wirral Borough Council

0 150 30075 Metres

1:6,000

LiDAR comparison: 2002 - 2008
Change in elevation (m)

> 2

1.5 - 2

1.25 - 1.5

1 - 1.25

0.75 - 1

0.5 - 0.75

0.25 - 0.5

0.1 - 0.25

0 - 0.1

-0.1 - 0

-0.25 - -0.1

-0.5 - -0.25

-0.75 - -0.5

-0.1 - -0.75

-1.25 - -1

-1.5 - -1.25

-1.75 - -1.5

-2 - -1.75

< -2.0

Gain

Loss

Change 
+/- 0.1m

20/09/2021P01 JT DB A3 1:6,000

P
age 166



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

14/10/2021P02 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

LiDAR comparison 2008 and 2013

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0002

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

3-2

Wirral Borough Council

0 150 30075 Metres

1:6,000

LiDAR comparison: 2008 - 2013
Change in elevation (m)

> 2

1.5 - 2

1.25 - 1.5

1 - 1.25

0.75 - 1

0.5 - 0.75

0.25 - 0.5

0.1 - 0.25

0 - 0.1

-0.1 - 0

-0.25 - -0.1

-0.5 - -0.25

-0.75 - -0.5

-0.1 - -0.75

-1.25 - -1

-1.5 - -1.25

-1.75 - -1.5

-2 - -1.75

< -2.0

Gain

Loss

Change 
+/- 0.1m

20/09/2021P01 JT DB A3 1:6,000

P
age 167



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 19  

 

3.3 Changes between 2013 and 2018 

Figure 3-3 shows the elevation difference between the beach in 2013 and 2018. Similar to the 2008 to 2013 
period, the beach is dominated by stability or accretion. However, in contrast to 2008 to 2013, accretion was 
dominant along the southwest frontage. Sand bar migration is visible across the middle beach in the 
southwest. Further northeast, the beach was dominated by little change or lower magnitude accretion. A 
GIS calculation of beach change within the dense vegetation area mapped by the NVC survey describes 
average accretion of about 0.05m over this five-year period (10mm/year). 
 
In 2018, Wirral Council (2019) noted that ‘beach levels were higher with scour ponds along the toe of the 
defences between Red Rocks and Beach Road largely filled in’ and ‘an increase in the greening of the 
beach across this section’ (Red Rocks – Beach Road). Between Beach Road and Kings Gap there was 
‘noticeably more growth’ compared to 2017, particularly closer to the shoreline. Beach levels were reported 
as still high (‘there is little freeboard between the beach and the top of the publicly maintained sea wall’) 
between Kings Gap and Hoylake RNLI Lifeboat Station, with some additional vegetation closer to the 
shoreline (Wirral Council, 2019).  

3.4 Changes between 2018 and 2021 

Figure 3-4 shows the elevation difference between the beach in 2018 and 2021. The entire beach is 
dominated by little change or accretion. The migration of sand bars is again visible on the middle to upper 
beach in the southwest. A GIS calculation of beach change within the dense vegetation area mapped by 
the NVC survey describes average accretion of about 0.07m over this three-year period (23mm/year).  
During a shoreline inspection in 2021, vegetation was observed on the upper beach along much of the 
frontage, which had expanded on the upper beach since 2018 (Wirral Council, 2022). 

3.5 Changes between 2002 and 2021 

The overall change in beach topography between 2002 and 2021 is shown in Figure 3-5. Over the entire 
19-year period, the intertidal area was dominated by accretion. Erosion is concentrated along a short 200m 
section north from Red Rocks and small, isolated patches at the toe of the seawall along the southwest part 
of the beach. Movement of sand bars has occurred along the upper-middle beach in the southwest. A GIS 
calculation of beach change within the dense vegetation area mapped by the NVC survey describes average 
accretion of about 0.34m over this 19-year period (18mm/year). Changes between 2008 and 2021 (Figure 
3-6) shows a comparison of beach topography between 2008 and 2021 (pre- and post-glyphosate 
application). The overall pattern of change is similar to 2002-2021, where the beach is dominated by 
accretion. Erosion occurs in small sections at the toe of the seawall, primarily in the southwest. A GIS 
calculation of beach change within the dense vegetation area mapped by the NVC survey describes average 
accretion of about 0.33m over this 13-year period (25mm/year). 
 

Page 168



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

14/10/2021P02 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

LiDAR comparison 2013 and 2018

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0003

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

3-3

Wirral Borough Council

0 150 30075 Metres

1:6,000

LiDAR comparison: 2013 - 2018
Change in elevation (m)

> 2

1.5 - 2

1.25 - 1.5

1 - 1.25

0.75 - 1

0.5 - 0.75

0.25 - 0.5

0.1 - 0.25

0 - 0.1

-0.1 - 0

-0.25 - -0.1

-0.5 - -0.25

-0.75 - -0.5

-0.1 - -0.75

-1.25 - -1

-1.5 - -1.25

-1.75 - -1.5

-2 - -1.75

< -2.0

Gain

Loss

Change 
+/- 0.1m

20/09/2021P01 JT DB A3 1:6,000

P
age 169



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

15/10/2021P02 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

LiDAR comparison 2018 and 2021

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0004

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

3-4

Wirral Borough Council

0 150 30075 Metres

1:6,000

LiDAR comparison: 2018 - 2021
Change in elevation (m)

> 2

1.5 - 2

1.25 - 1.5

1 - 1.25

0.75 - 1

0.5 - 0.75

0.25 - 0.5

0.1 - 0.25

0 - 0.1

-0.1 - 0

-0.25 - -0.1

-0.5 - -0.25

-0.75 - -0.5

-0.1 - -0.75

-1.25 - -1

-1.5 - -1.25

-1.75 - -1.5

-2 - -1.75

< -2.0

Gain

Loss

Change 
+/- 0.1m

20/09/2021P01 JT DB A3 1:6,000

P
age 170



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

15/10/2021P02 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

LiDAR comparison 2002 and 2021

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0005

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

3-5

Wirral Borough Council

0 150 30075 Metres

1:6,000

LiDAR comparison: 2002 - 2021
Change in elevation (m)

> 2

1.5 - 2

1.25 - 1.5

1 - 1.25

0.75 - 1

0.5 - 0.75

0.25 - 0.5

0.1 - 0.25

0 - 0.1

-0.1 - 0

-0.25 - -0.1

-0.5 - -0.25

-0.75 - -0.5

-0.1 - -0.75

-1.25 - -1

-1.5 - -1.25

-1.75 - -1.5

-2 - -1.75

< -2.0

Gain

Loss

Change 
+/- 0.1m

20/09/2021P01 JT DB A3 1:6,000

P
age 171



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

15/10/2021P02 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

LiDAR comparison 2008 and 2021

PC2553-RHD-ZZ-XX-DR-Z-0006

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.

3-6

Wirral Borough Council

0 150 30075 Metres

1:6,000

LiDAR comparison: 2008 - 2021
Change in elevation (m)

> 2

1.5 - 2

1.25 - 1.5

1 - 1.25

0.75 - 1

0.5 - 0.75

0.25 - 0.5

0.1 - 0.25

0 - 0.1

-0.1 - 0

-0.25 - -0.1

-0.5 - -0.25

-0.75 - -0.5

-0.1 - -0.75

-1.25 - -1

-1.5 - -1.25

-1.75 - -1.5

-2 - -1.75

< -2.0

Gain

Loss

Change 
+/- 0.1m

20/09/2021P01 JT DB A3 1:6,000

P
age 172



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 24  

 

3.6 Summary 

Table 3.1 summarises the average accretion rates within the vegetation zones mapped by the NVC survey 
and the area outside those zones (non-vegetated). The comparison of LiDAR data shows that average 
accretion rates along the upper beach where the current dense vegetation is located have varied depending 
on the time series assessed. Shorter-term average accretion rates have ranged from 13mm/year (0.08m) 
between 2002 and 2008, to 42mm/year (0.21m) between 2008 and 2013. Longer-term average rates have 
ranged from 18mm/year (0.34m) between 2002 and 2021 (the longest period assessed) to 25mm/year 
(0.33m) between 2008 and 2021. 

Table 3.1. Accretion rates (m) between 2002 and 2021 within the vegetation zones mapped by the NVC survey 

Years 
Average change (m) within the 
dense vegetation polygon 

Average change (m) within the outer limit 
polygon excluding dense vegetation 

Average change (m) outside 
the vegetation polygons 

2002-2008 0.08 0.05 0.08 

2008-2013 0.21 0.22 0.24 

2013-2018 0.05 0.05 0.04 

2018-2021 0.07 0.06 0.06 

2002-2021 0.34 0.26 0.31 

2008-2021 0.33 0.32 0.32 

  

Page 173



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 25  

 

4 Sea-level Rise 

4.1 Relative Sea-level Rise 

Historic data shows that the global temperature has risen since the beginning of the 20th century and 
predictions are for an accelerated rise, the magnitude of which is dependent on the magnitude of future 
emissions of greenhouse gases and aerosols. To compare relative sea-level rise with the historic beach 
morphological change data derived from LiDAR between 2002 and 2021, and to determine a future climate 
change sea-level allowance for Hoylake in 10, 20 and 50-years’ time, this study uses the data of the UK 
Climate Projections (UKCP18) user interface2 for the model grid cell that covers the coast (Figure 4-1). 
UKCP18 relative sea-level rise estimates use 1990 as their starting year and are based on the IPCC 5th 
Assessment Report. They are available for low (RCP2.6), medium (RCP4.5) and high (RCP8.5) emissions 
scenarios and presented by UKCP18 as central estimates of change (50% confidence level, 50th percentile) 
in each scenario with an upper 95% confidence level (95th percentile) and a lower 5% confidence level (5th 
percentile). 
 

 

Figure 4-1. UKCP18 model grid used to derive sea-level rise projections for Hoylake 

 

 
2 (https://ukclimateprojections-ui.metoffice.gov.uk/ui/home) 

Page 174



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 26  

 

Relative sea-level rise projections using the 5% percentile of the low (RCP2.6) emissions scenario, the 50% 
percentile of the medium (RCP4.5) emissions scenario and the 95% percentile of the high (RCP8.5) 
emissions scenario from the UKCP18 user interface have been used in this assessment. 

4.2 Historic Relative Sea-level Rise 

Table 4.1 describes projected historic changes in relative sea-level at Hoylake using 1990 as the starting 
year. 

Table 4.1. Projected historic changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium and 95th 
percentile high emissions scenarios using 1990 as the starting year 

Year Low emissions 5th percentile (m) Medium emissions 50th percentile (m) High emissions 95th percentile (m) 

1990 0.0 0.0 0.0 

2008 0.017 0.028 0.043 

2010 0.021 0.034 0.053 

2013 0.026 0.045 0.067 

2018 0.038 0.061 0.094 

2020 0.043 0.069 0.105 

2021 0.045 0.073 0.111 

 
Table 4.2 describes the projected rates of relative sea-level rise over the same time periods of analysis as 
the LiDAR data; 2002-2008 (note that 1990-2008 is used as a proxy because data before 2007 were not 
available), 2008-2013, 2013-2018, 2018-2021, 2002-2021 (1990-2021 proxy) and 2008-2021. The data 
shows that the highest projected rate of relative sea-level rise was 5.67mm/year for the 95% percentile of 
the high (RCP8.5) emissions scenario between 2018 and 2021. 

Table 4.2. Projected relative sea-level rise (mm/year) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium and 95th 
percentile high emissions scenarios 

Year 
Low emissions 5th 

percentile (m) 
Medium emissions 50th 

percentile (m) 
High emissions 95th 

percentile (m) 

1990-2008 (proxy for 2002-2008) 17/18 = 0.94 28/18 = 1.56 43/18 = 2.39 

2008-2013 9/5 = 1.80 17/5 = 3.40 24/5 = 4.80 

2013-2018 12/5 = 2.40 16/5 = 3.20 27/5 = 5.40 

2018-2021 7/3 = 2.33 12/3 = 4.00 17/3 = 5.67 

1990-2021 (proxy for 2002-2021) 45/31 = 1.45 73/31 = 2.35 111/31 = 3.58 

2008-2021 28/13 = 2.15 45/13 = 3.46 68/13 = 5.23 

 
As a basis for comparison, Woodworth (2017) used recent mean sea level information from the UK tide 
gauge network along with short records of sea level measurements by the Ordnance Survey in 1859-1860, 
to estimate the average rates of sea-level change around the coast since the mid-19th century. The nearest 
historic data to Hoylake analysed by Woodworth (2017) is at Liverpool Gladstone Dock, for 101 years of 

Page 175



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 27  

 

data between 1858 and 2011. The estimated long-term rate of sea-level rise between 1858 and 2011 was 
1.75mm/year. 
 
Woodworth et al. (1999) reviewed changes in mean sea level around the coast of the UK using data from 
tide gauges. The nearest historic data to Hoylake analysed by Woodworth et al. (1999) is at Liverpool 
Princes Pier. Here, 19 years between 1959 and 1983 had a complete record of mean sea-level, and these 
were used to estimate changes over this period. The estimated medium-term rate of sea-level rise between 
1959 and 1983 was 2.58mm/year. 

4.3 Future Relative Sea-level Rise 

Table 4.3 describes projected future changes in relative sea-level at Hoylake using 1990 as the starting 
year. 

Table 4.3. Projected future changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium and 95th 
percentile high emissions scenarios using 1990 as the starting year 

Year Low emissions 5th percentile (m) Medium emissions 50th percentile (m) High emissions 95th percentile (m) 

1990 0.0 0.0 0.0 

2022 0.047 0.076 0.117 

2030 0.067 0.109 0.170 

2032 0.072 0.117 0.185 

2040 0.091 0.152 0.249 

2042 0.096 0.161 0.267 

2050 0.114 0.200 0.345 

2060 0.134 0.249 0.455 

2070 0.153 0.301 0.583 

2072 0.156 0.311 0.611 

2080 0.169 0.353 0.723 

2090 0.184 0.402 0.877 

2100 0.197 0.452 1.042 

 
Using 2022 as the baseline for geomorphological change, and an assumption that the 32 years of relative 
sea-level rise between 1990 and 2022 has already taken place, then the projected relative sea-level rises 
using a 2022 baseline are shown in Table 4.4 and Figure 4-2.  
  

Page 176



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 28  

 

Table 4.4. Changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium and 95th percentile high 
emissions scenarios using a 2022 baseline 

Year Low emissions 5th percentile (m) Medium emissions 50th percentile (m) High emissions 95th percentile (m) 

2022 0 0 0 

2030 0.020 0.032 0.052 

2032 0.024 0.040 0.068 

2040 0.044 0.075 0.132 

2042 0.049 0.085 0.150 

2050 0.067 0.123 0.228 

2060 0.086 0.173 0.338 

2070 0.105 0.225 0.466 

2072 0.109 0.235 0.493 

2080 0.122 0.277 0.606 

2090 0.137 0.326 0.760 

2100 0.149 0.376 0.925 

 

 

Figure 4-2. Changes in relative sea level (m) under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium and 95th percentile high emissions 
scenarios using a 2022 baseline 

Page 177



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 29  

 

Relative sea-level rises by 2032 (10 years), 2042 (20 years) and 2072 (50 years) for low (RCP2.6) emissions 
5th percentile are estimated to be approximately 0.024m, 0.049m and 0.109m, respectively. These equate 
to average sea-level rises of 2.4mm/year over 10 years, 2.45mm/year over 20 years and 2.18mm/year over 
50 years (Table 4.5). 
 
Relative sea-level rises in 2032 (10 years), 2042 (20 years) and 2072 (50 years) for medium (RCP4.5) 
emissions 50th percentile are estimated to be approximately 0.040m, 0.085m and 0.235m, respectively. 
These equate to average sea-level rises of 4.0mm/year over 10 years, 4.25mm/year over 20 years and 
4.7mm/year over 50 years. 

Table 4.5. Changes in relative sea level (m) at Hoylake under the 5th percentile low, 50th percentile medium and 95th percentile high 
emissions scenarios using a 2022 baseline for years 10, 20 and 50 

Year 

Low emissions 5th percentile Medium emissions 50th percentile High emissions 95th percentile 

Rise (m) 
Rate of rise 
(mm/year) 

Rise (m) 
Rate of rise 
(mm/year) 

Rise (m) 
Rate of rise 
(mm/year) 

2032 0.024 2.4 0.040 4.0 0.068 6.8 

2042 0.049 2.45 0.085 4.25 0.150 7.5 

2072 0.109 2.18 0.235 4.7 0.493 9.86 

 
Relative sea-level rises in 2032 (10 years), 2042 (20 years) and 2072 (50 years) for high (RCP8.5) emissions 
95th percentile are estimated to be approximately 0.068m, 0.150m and 0.493m, respectively. These equate 
to average sea-level rises of 6.8mm/year over 10 years, 7.5mm/year over 20 years and 9.86mm/year over 
50 years. 
 
  

Page 178



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 30  

 

5 Future Coastal Change and Potential Limits of Vegetation 

The future evolution of Hoylake Beach will largely depend on the future beach topography (particularly the 
upper beach where the vegetation has developed) relative to the position of future water (sea) levels. Hence, 
the upper beach topography and historic and future sea levels are the principal issues considered in this 
section to predict how the beach may develop. 

5.1 Morphological Change (Both Shoreline Management Scenarios) 

To predict future geomorphological change requires consideration of how the site has developed historically. 
For the purposes of future prediction, the longest available datasets are used to take account of any shorter-
term anomalies. Hence, a historic accretion rate of 22mm/year (the average of 18mm/year for 2002 to 2021 
and 25mm/year for 2008 to 2021) has been used for extrapolation into the future. 
 
The projected historic rate of relative sea-level rise over the 2008 to 2021 period was between 2.15mm/year 
(low emissions 5th percentile) and 5.23mm/year (high emissions 95th percentile). Even for the high emissions 
scenario, the average accretion rate of 22mm/year is about four times greater than the projected rate of 
relative sea-level rise. This means that historically, accretion has kept pace with and significantly exceeded 
relative sea-level rise and implies that sea-level rise has had a negligible controlling effect on accretion, 
which has been driven predominantly by sediment supply. 
 
Projected future rates of relative sea-level rise for the next 50 years are between 2.18mm/year (low 
emissions 5th percentile) and 9.86mm/year (high emissions 95th percentile) (Table 4.5). Hence, it is likely, 
assuming sediment supply and therefore accretion remains constant into the future (given the very wide 
foreshore fronting Hoylake this is considered to be a robust assumption), that accretion rates on the upper 
beach will continue to exceed rates of relative sea-level rise into the future. 
 
To predict future coastal change, the elevation of the beach was raised using a direct extrapolation of the 
average historical trend (22mm/year). Over 10, 20 and 50 years this equates to 0.22m, 0.44m and 1.1m, 
respectively. Coincident with this accretion would be potential rises in relative sea-level for the three 
emission scenarios over the three time periods. Table 5.1 describes the average changes in elevation over 
10, 20 and 50 years when the nine projected relative sea-level rises have been applied to the three average 
accretion rates. 

Table 5.1. Elevation changes applied to the topography to predict future coastal change 

Year Average accretion (m) Relative sea-level rise scenario Relative sea-level rise (m) Elevation change (m) 

2032 0.22 

Low emissions 5th percentile 0.02 0.20 

Medium emissions 50th percentile 0.04 0.18 

High emissions 95th percentile 0.07 0.15 

2042 0.44 

Low emissions 5th percentile 0.05 0.39 

Medium emissions 50th percentile 0.09 0.36 

High emissions 95th percentile 0.15 0.29 

2072 1.1 

Low emissions 5th percentile 0.11 0.99 

Medium emissions 50th percentile 0.24 0.87 

High emissions 95th percentile 0.49 0.61 

Page 179



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 31  

 

5.2 Do Nothing Scenario 

For the reasons explained in Section 1.2, the medium emissions 50th percentile sea level rise scenario was 
used to predict elevation changes which have then been used to identify the future positions of the dense 
and sparse vegetation boundaries in 10 years (2032, Figure 5.1), 20 years (2042, Figure 5-2) and 50 years 
(2072, Figure 5-3). The current vegetation boundaries at the 4.5m OD and 4.3m OD contours have been 
adjusted to fall along the predicted future 4.5m OD and 4.3m OD contours, respectively. Hence, the 
predicted positions of the vegetation boundaries are a balance between continued sediment accretion at 
the historic rate and the different relative sea-level rises projected for each year for the medium emissions 
50th percentile scenario. The future position of HAT has also been identified using the predicted future 5.4m 
OD contour (denoted by the green line on Figure 5-1 - Figure 5-3) 

5.2.1 Ecological Change  

The predicted positions of the boundaries of the dense and sparse vegetation and HAT for years 10, 20 and 
50 would result in estimated increases in their areas as shown in Table 5.2. 

Table 5.2. Predicted vegetated areas at years 10, 20 and 50 

Habitat 
Area (m2) 

Baseline (2021) Year 10 (2032) Year 20 (2042) Year 50 (2071) 

Dense Vegetation 48,500 105,600 203,600 707,200 

Sparse Vegetation 68,500 123,100 160,400 264,600 

Beach above HAT 0.00 2,100 6,600 52,900 

5.2.1.1 Potential Future Saltmarsh Development 

Saltmarshes are categorised as low, medium or high marsh, depending on the underlying topography and 
characteristic plant assemblages (Table 5.3). 

Table 5.3. Typical saltmarsh zonation 

Saltmarsh Zonation Tidal Range Typical Species Present 

Low Marsh MHWN – MHW Spartina, Salicornia, Suaeda, Puccinellia, Aster and Atriplex 

Middle Marsh MHW – MHWS  Festuca, Juncus and Agrostis 

High Marsh MHSW – HAT  Elymus, Puccinellia and ArmeriaI 

 
Pioneer and low marsh extends from MHWN to Mean High Water (MHW), and is typically characterised by 
species including Spartina, Salicornia, Suaeda, Puccinellia, Aster and Atriplex. Common saltmarsh-grass 
(Puccinellia) is a frequent pioneer species in northwest England on sandy marshes (Environment Agency, 
2007), such as those at Hoylake and has been shown in saltmarsh stabilisation studies to both limit erosion 
and to significantly enhance accretion rates (Langlois et al., 2001). Middle marsh extends between MHW 
and MHWS, where the topography reduces the inundation frequency compared to low marsh. Middle marsh 
is dominated by species such as Festuca, Juncus and Agrostis. Upper marsh is located above MHWS where 
species such as Elymus, Puccinellia and ArmeriaI are generally present. Upper marsh is inundated less by 
sea water than both low and middle marsh and this is reflected in changes in species composition and 
increased diversity (Foster et al., 2013). The distinction between zones is often blurred due to overlapping 
vertical ranges of individual species (Environment Agency, 2007). 
 
 

Page 180



Le g e nd:

Title :

Proje ct:Clie nt:

Drawn: Sca le :Ch e cke d:Da te :R e vision:

Drawing  No:

Size :

British  Na tiona l Grid

Fig u re :

Co-ordina te  syste m:

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

29/11/2021P03 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

Pre dicte d positions of th e  de nse  a nd spa rse  
ve g e ta tion, a nd HAT in 10 ye a rs (2032)

PC2553-R HD-ZZ-XX-DR -Z-0011

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Pre dicte d b ou ndary of de nse  ve g e ta tion for th e
me diu m e missions 50th  pe rce ntile  se a -le ve l rise
sce na rio in 10 ye a rs’ time  (2032)
Pre dicte d b ou ndary of le ss de nse  ve g e ta tion for th e
me diu m e missions 50th  pe rce ntile  se a -le ve l rise
sce na rio in 10 ye a rs’ time  (2032)
De nse  ve g e ta tion b ou ndary ma ppe d by th e  Na tiona l
Ve g e ta tion Su rve y (NVC) 2021 su rve y
Le ss de nse  ve g e ta tion b ou nda ry ma ppe d by th e
Na tiona l Ve g e ta tion Su rve y (NVC) 2021 su rve y
Pre dicte d h ig h e st a stronomica l tide  for th e  me diu m
e missions 50th  pe rce ntile  se a -le ve l rise  sce na rio in 10
ye a rs’ time  (2032)

Sou rce : © Ha skoning  DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Conta ins OS da ta  © Crown copyrig h t a nd da ta b a se  rig h t, 2021.

5-1

Wirra l Borou g h  Cou ncil

0 150 30075 Me tre s

1:6,500
15/11/2021P02 JT DB A3 1:6,500

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

P
age 181



Le g e nd :

Title :

P roject:Clie nt:

Dra wn: Sca le:Che cke d :Da te :Re vis ion:

Dra wing  No:

Size:

Britis h Na tiona l Grid

Fig ure :

Co-ord ina te  s ys te m :

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

±

29/11/2021P 03 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

P re d icte d  pos itions  of the  d e ns e  a nd  s pa rs e  
ve g e ta tion, a nd  HAT in 20 ye a rs  (2042)

P C2553-RHD-Z Z -XX-DR-Z -0012

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

P re d icte d  bound a ry of d e ns e  ve g e ta tion for the
m e d ium  e m is s ions  50th pe rce ntile  s e a -le ve l ris e
s ce na rio in 20 ye a rs ’ tim e  (2042)
P re d icte d  bound a ry of le s s  d e ns e  ve g e ta tion for the
m e d ium  e m is s ions  50th pe rce ntile  s e a -le ve l ris e
s ce na rio in 20 ye a rs ’ tim e  (2042)
De ns e  ve g e ta tion bound a ry m appe d  by the  Na tiona l
Ve g e ta tion Survey (NVC) 2021 survey
Le s s  d e ns e  ve g e ta tion bound a ry m appe d  by the
Na tiona l Ve g e ta tion Survey (NVC) 2021 survey
P re d icte d  hig he s t a s tronom ica l tid e  for the  m e d ium
e m is s ions  50th pe rce ntile  s e a -le ve l ris e  s ce na rio in 20
ye a rs ’ tim e  (2042)

Source : © Ha s koning  DHV UK Ltd , 2021; 
 Conta ins  OS d a ta  © Crown copyrig ht a nd  d a ta ba s e  rig ht, 2021.

5-2

Wirra l Boroug h Council

0 150 30075 Me tre s

1:6,500
15/11/2021P 02 JT DB A3 1:6,500

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

P
age 182



Le g e nd:

Title :

Proje ct:Clie nt:

Drawn: Sca le :Ch e cke d:Da te :R e vision:

Drawing  No:

Size :

British  Na tiona l Grid

Fig u re :

Co-ordina te  syste m :

320300

320300

321000

321000

321700

321700

38
89

00

38
89

00

38
96

00

38
96

00

39
03

00

39
03

00

±

29/11/2021P03 JT DB A3

2 ABBEY GARDENS
GREAT COLLEGE STREET

LONDON
SW1P 3NL

+44 (0)20 7222 2115
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

Pre dicte d positions of th e  de nse  a nd spa rse  
ve g e ta tion, a nd HAT in 50 ye a rs (2072)

PC2553-R HD-ZZ-XX-DR -Z-0013

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
INDUSTRY & BUILDINGS

Pre dicte d bou ndary of de nse  ve g e ta tion for th e
m e diu m  e m issions 50th  pe rce ntile  se a -le ve l rise
sce na rio in 50 ye a rs’ tim e  (2072)
Pre dicte d bou ndary of le ss de nse  ve g e ta tion for th e
m e diu m  e m issions 50th  pe rce ntile  se a -le ve l rise
sce na rio in 50 ye a rs’ tim e  (2072)
De nse  ve g e ta tion bou ndary m a ppe d by th e  Na tiona l
Ve g e ta tion Su rve y (NVC) 2021 su rve y
Le ss de nse  ve g e ta tion bou nda ry m a ppe d by th e
Na tiona l Ve g e ta tion Su rve y (NVC) 2021 su rve y
Pre dicte d h ig h e st a stronom ica l tide  for th e  m e diu m
e m issions 50th  pe rce ntile  se a -le ve l rise  sce na rio in 50
ye a rs’ tim e  (2072)

Sou rce : © Ha skoning  DHV UK Ltd, 2021; 
 Conta ins OS da ta  © Crown copyrig h t a nd da ta b a se  rig h t, 2021.

5-3

Wirra l Borou g h  Cou ncil

0 200 400100 Me tre s

1:7,500
15/11/2021P02 JT DB A3 1:7,500

Hoylake Beach 
Geomorphology and 

Ecology Study

P
age 183



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 35  

 

Vegetation communities (SM13 and SM6) and species associated with pioneer and low marsh are currently 
present at Hoylake, including Common saltmarsh-grass, Sea Aster, annual Glasswort agg, annual Sea-blite 
and Common Cordgrass. The migration of these plant community zones primarily depends on relative sea-
level rise and accretion rates, and the availability of land at a suitable base elevation (Feagin et al, 2010).  
 
Conversely to much of the UKs coastal habitats, which are being lost through a process of coastal squeeze, 
as the low water mark migrates landwards in response to sea-level rise, the beach at Hoylake is predicted 
to accrete by 0.22mm/year, resulting in a low water mark that will be seaward of its current position in future 
years. Therefore, as the future distribution of saltmarsh is largely predetermined by the accretion rate, it is 
likely that in years 10, 20 and 50 that the area suitable for colonisation of pioneer and low, middle, and high 
marsh zones (and comprising species) will increase in extent and migrate seaward (Figure 5-1, Figure 5-2 
and Figure 5-3). 
 
What is less certain is how the zonation of saltmarsh will develop over time, as saltmarsh zones may 
fluctuate in location and land cover due to variations in underlying topography (Davey, 2002). At a finer 
scale, variations in vertical zonation and species composition may also be present should there be variations 
in microtopography (hummocks and hollows) (Mossman et al., 2019; Stribling et al., 2007). 
 
The historic recorded plant communities and coastal evolution between Birkdale and Ainsdale, located on 
the Sefton shoreline between Liverpool and Southport, may have similarities with Hoylake’s common 
saltmarsh-grass dominated vegetation and can be used as an analogy as to how the ecology at Hoylake 
Beach could develop over time. From 1986 onwards, the area between Birkdale and Ainsdale began to be 
vegetated by common saltmarsh-grass, which in turn trapped sand, eventually forming a zone of embryo 
dune, with the area becoming known as ‘Birkdale Green Beach’. This change in habitat from scattered 
common saltmarsh-grass to embryo dune 30-35m wide occurred over a period of two- to three-years, and 
was 0.5-1m in high in five years (Smith and Lockwood, 2021) (Figure 5-4 and Figure 5-5). 
 

 

Figure 5-4. New Green Beach at Birkdale in May 2005, showing initial colonisation by P. maritima (Smith and Lockwood, 2021) 

 

Page 184



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 36  

 

 

Figure 5-5. Proto-dunes forming around P. maritima with Cakile maritima at New Green Beach, September 2008 (Smith and 
Lockwood, 2021) 

5.2.2 Potential Future Sand Dune Development 

The formation of sand dunes requires a supply of dry sand and wind to transport it (Defra, 2007). Onshore 
winds transport sand particles downwind of the strand line, where it accumulates, forming embryo dunes. 
These embryo dunes grow and extend if the accumulation of sand outpaces the rate of erosion. Dune plant 
species, which can tolerate high salinity levels, such as Sand couch, Sea Sandwort Honckenya peploides, 
Sea rocket, Prickly saltwort Salsola kali, Sea mayweed and Orache Spp. are able to colonise these embryo 
dunes. Although not essential for the formation of sand dunes, vegetation can greatly affect the morphology 
and movement of dune systems (Defra, 2007). Behind developing embryo dunes, foredunes can establish. 
With comparatively more vegetation cover than embryo dunes stabilising the foredune, these can stay in 
position for a number of years. Further stages of dune succession can form semi-fixed and fixed dune 
systems, and dune slacks, which support varying plant communities. 
 
At Hoylake, the area of land above HAT is predicted to increase as HAT moves seaward as a result of 
accretion (Table 5.2). Protected from the effects of wave action and erosion, similar habitats to Birkdale 
could begin to develop between HAT and the seawall, particularly given that many of the species associated 
with strandline and embryo dunes are already present.  
 
The oldest areas of habitat above HAT would be nearest to the current seawall, with new embryo and proto-
dune likely to extend seaward as land above HAT increases in area and the interface between saltmarsh 
and early dune systems shifts with changes in season tidal levels over time. How these habitats will develop 
temporally will be influenced by a multitude of abiotic and biotic factors, including disturbance and erosion, 

Page 185



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 37  

 

climatic conditions, changes in soil chemistry and composition, and impacts of species present on their 
environment.  
 
Wind-blown sand accretion would occur on the upper beach at Hoylake, and the presence of sand dune 
vegetation can further increase the accumulation of sand as it is trapped around both living and dead plant 
matter.  Whilst this, and the development of saltmarsh, may reduce wind-blown sand nuisance, sand dune 
development has the potential to result in higher beach levels than that predicted by this study.  Should 
dune height exceed that of the existing sea wall, there is the potential that the dune could migrate landwards, 
affecting local roads and houses. 

5.3 Morphological and Ecological Change for the Do Everything 
Scenario 

For the Do Everything scenario, Hoylake Beach would be managed over 10, 20 and 50 years, so that all 
vegetation is removed, i.e. there would be no ecological change; hence, the morphological development of 
the beach would be similar to the Do Nothing scenario because the rate of accretion would not be 
significantly altered by the management practices (Table 3.1).  
 
The clearing of vegetation (by whatever means is determined) would be completed without removal of the 
sediment. Hence, the future accretion rate for Do Everything would be broadly similar to Do Nothing, and 
the elevation of the beach would rise and expand seaward relative to future sea level. However, the removal 
of sand dune vegetation would reduce the rate of sand accumulated by dune formation, meaning that the 
higher beach levels resulting from dune formation would not occur.  
 
Wind-blown sand nuisance could increase due to the non-vegetated beach providing a larger surface area 
for wind to dry intertidal sand and transport it landward, without the trapping efficiency of the vegetation 
under the Do Nothing scenario. This source of sand and its transport onshore by wind could overtop the 
seawall and enter the areas landward affecting local roads and houses.  
  

Page 186



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 38  

 

6 Natural Capital Value 

A Natural Capital Value assessment was carried out on the shoreline management scenarios by Liverpool 
John Moores University (see Appendix C). 
 
Natural capital is defined as the “elements of nature that directly or indirectly produce value or benefits to 
people, including ecosystems, species, freshwater, land, minerals, the air and oceans, as well as natural 
processes and functions”3. Ecosystem services are defined as being “the aspects of ecosystems utilized 
(actively or passively) to produce human well-being”4. 
 
The major benefits of natural capital to humans include ecosystem services such as: the supply of timber 
from trees, the supply of fish for consumption, erosion control, crop pollination, water filtration, carbon 
storage to reduce the impact of climate change, noise reduction, air pollution reduction and the maintenance 
of greenspaces and biodiversity for the benefit of ecosystems and human recreation, with benefits to mental 
and physical health. Natural capital is therefore critically important for the maintenance of a high quality of 
life for human populations. 
 
In this study, ecosystem service models have been used to examine the change in ecosystem service 
provision from Hoylake Beach in its current state compared to projected future states of the beach caused 
by climate change-induced sea level rise, natural sediment accretion and possible future beach 
management scenarios.   
 
The findings of the Natural Capital Value assessment are as follows: 
 

 Carbon sequestration and storage potential are expected to increase strongly under the Do Nothing 
scenario as vegetation colonises the study area, with an additional 245 tC sequestered every year 
and a 50% increase of current carbon stocks after 50 years.  

 Carbon sequestration and storage potential are expected to decrease slightly under the Do 
Everything scenario, with a 6% lower sequestration capacity and a loss of around 326 tC from 
current carbon stocks.  

 The provision of ecosystem services is broadly predicted to increase under the Do Nothing scenario, 
with green space access, air purification, noise pollution reduction and pollination showing 
increasing capacity over time. 

 The provision of ecosystem services is broadly predicted to decrease under the Do Everything 
scenario, with pollination, noise pollution reduction and air purification showing a decreasing trend 
over time. The exception is access to nature which is expected to increase. 

 
 
  

 
3 Natural Capital Committee. 2014. Towards a Framework for Defining and Measuring Changes in Natural Capital. Working Paper 1, 
Natural Capital Committee. 
 
4 Fisher, B., Turner, R. K., Morling, P. 2009. Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. Ecological Economics, 
68(3): 643-653. 

Page 187



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 39  

 

7 Flood Risk Assessment 

This section assesses the future flood risk at Hoylake due to climate change by determining how the Annual 
Exceedance Probability (AEP) of the flood extent according to the Flood Zone 3 dataset (FZ3) is predicted 
to change into the future for both management scenarios (Do Nothing / Do Everything).  
 
Although detailed flood risk assessments are available (e.g. AECOM, 2016), a review highlights that these 
do not make use of the most recent data (e.g. an update to the Coastal Flood Boundary Dataset has since 
been published by the Environment Agency, 2018) and do not cover the entire Hoylake frontage in detail 
(i.e. overtopping calculations have been performed using a topographic profile that is not representative for 
the whole frontage).  
 
The most consistent and complete overview of the areas in Hoylake with a 1 in 200 (0.5% AEP) or greater 
chance of flooding from the sea each year is presented in the Environment Agency’s FZ3. This dataset was 
initially based on a coarse nationwide model but has since been updated locally with more detailed flood 
modelling. It ignores the presence of flood defences; this implicitly means wave overtopping is not included. 
The reliability of this review is directly linked to the quality of the dataset used. Due to the nature of the FZ3 
dataset, it is not clear from which initial study the flood extent at Hoylake originates, or which water level 
conditions were used to drive the modelling. It is recommended that a detailed flood risk assessment, 
informed by the latest data, focussed locally on Hoylake, is performed as part of any future BMP. 

7.1 Sources of Flood Risk 

For the purpose of this flood risk assessment in the context of beach management, the dominant source of 
tidal flooding at Hoylake is Still Water Level (SWL) flooding. Typically, coastal flooding can be caused by 
either SWL flooding, wave overtopping, or a combination of the two. Although wave run-up and overtopping 
of the seawall at Hoylake is likely to occur, especially along the promenade, it will not be a major source of 
flooding for the area behind the seawall. There is little opportunity for the overtopped volume to accumulate 
behind the defences as the topography is sloping upwards in a landward direction, and the water will flow 
back to the sea instead. Apart from some local areas along the western part of the coast and along North 
Parade, this is the case along the whole frontage, justifying the use of the FZ3 dataset for this study. Figure 
7-1 and Figure 7-2 highlight the areas at risk of flooding from a 1 in 200 year event (FZ3). They show that 
flooding is mainly confined to the frontage just behind the sea wall; however, wave run-up can cause a direct 
hazard or nuisance for the road and its users, and for the lower lying parts of properties.  
 
Groundwater flooding is caused when the water table within the underlying strata rises to above ground 
level, causing flooding to occur at the surface.  The areas most at risk can be low-lying areas or where the 
ground water table is at a naturally shallow depth.  The Environment Agency’s Areas Susceptible to Ground 
Water Flooding (AStGWF) map5 suggests that the coastal fringes to the east and northeast together with 
the northwest of the Wirral could be susceptible to groundwater flooding (see Figure 7.3). However, the 
production of these maps was based on limited geological information and does not take account of 
groundwater rebound following reductions in water abstraction. In addition, the maps show 1km grid squares 
where geological and hydrogeological conditions show that groundwater might emerge but it is likely that 
only isolated locations within the overall susceptible area are actually likely to suffer the consequence of 
groundwater flooding (Wirral Council, 2011). 

 
5 https://data.gov.uk/dataset/f0329412-b46a-49b0-9f30-abef8c4b807e/groundwater-flooding-susceptibility 

Page 188



Legend:

Title:

Project:

Hoylake Beach
 Geomorphological Review

Client:

Drawn: Scale:Checked:Date:Revision:

Drawing No:

Size:

British National Grid

Figure:

Co-ordinate system:

38
88

00

38
88

00
321600320400

321600320400

10/01/2022P01 OB RMB A3

WESTPOINT
PETERBOROUGH BUSINESS PARK

PETERBOROUGH
PE2 6FZ

+44 (0)1733 334455
www.royalhaskoningdhv.com

Hoylake Flood Zone 3

Project code or BIM number

ROYAL HASKONINGDHV
RESILIENCE UK

Flood Zone 3

3D Image Points

Source: © Haskoning DHV UK Ltd, 2021;
 Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right, 2021.
Map data © OpenStreetMap contributors, Microsoft, Esri Community Maps contributors, Map layer by Esri
Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2020

7.1

Wirral Borough Council

0 160 32080 Meters

1:6,554

1

2

3

P
age 189



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 41  

 

 

Figure 7-2. 3D Images taken from ground-level view function in Google Earth. Locations are shown on Figure 7.1. 

 
 

 

Figure 7-3 Environment Agency AStGWF Map for the Wirral (Source: Wirral Council, 2011) 

 
 

Point 1 – South West Point 3 – North East 

Point 2 – Central 

Page 190



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 42  

 

7.2 Do Nothing and Do Everything Scenarios 

The Do Nothing scenario involves leaving the beach to develop naturally without any human interference. 
In this scenario, there is predicted accretion leading to an increase in the vegetated area along the beach 
and development of sand dunes. In the Do Everything scenario, total removal of all vegetation would occur. 
 
In both scenarios the beach has no influence on SWL flooding. In the Do Nothing scenario the developing 
dune system could start to have a flood defence function, should the dunes potentially grow higher than the 
sea wall, reducing the impact of waves. This would however not affect the scale of the flood zone because 
that would require a continuous, uninterrupted row of dunes; any gap in the alongshore arrangement of the 
dunes would lead to a breach, in which case the risk of SWL flooding is similar.   Therefore, in both scenarios, 
changes in future flood risk are expected to be similar, and SWL flooding will continue to be the dominant 
source of tidal flooding. 
 
Although it is not considered as a source of flooding, it is worth noting the potential impact of the changing 
beach on the likelihood and impact of wave overtopping and run-up. The Do Nothing scenario would likely 
decrease the wave impact at the defences due to the extensively vegetated beach, which is known to 
effectively dampen wave energy. The Do Nothing scenario would reduce the direct hazard and nuisance of 
wave run-up on the road, its users and the lower lying parts of properties; however, there is also a risk that 
a developing dune system could form a barrier against any overtopped water flowing back to the sea, and 
could thus enhance flooding in some locations and under certain conditions. 
 
Should the Do Nothing and/or Do Everything scenarios affect groundwater levels, e.g. from changing beach 
levels, this has the potential to affect groundwater flooding behind the sea wall. 

7.3 Annual Exceedance Probability 

The AEP of FZ3 is 0.5%; it has a 200-year return period. For the purposes of this study, and given the nature 
of the flood risk in the area, it was not deemed necessary or appropriate to perform advanced modelling of 
overtopping and 2D flood spreading modelling. Alternatively, a constant SWL flood extent has been selected 
(FZ3). In the future, and assuming no other changes, this same flood extent will occur due to the same high 
sea-level conditions; however, with climate change (sea-level rise) these high sea-level conditions will 
become more likely. Extreme sea levels are expected to become more common and therefore the return 
period of the expected flood extent is expected to reduce. 
 
The change in return period is based on same climate change scenario used in the morphological change 
predictions (medium emissions 50th percent confidence level)6. In accordance with common practice, it was 
assumed that the distribution of extreme sea levels does not change, and that all values in the extreme sea-
level distribution are affected equally by sea-level rise. Therefore, all extreme values taken from the Coastal 
Flood Boundary Dataset (CFDB) of the Environment Agency (2018), can be projected into the future by 
adding sea-level rise. The extreme sea levels from the CFDB at Hoylake (point 1886) are presented in Table 
7.1 alongside their future values.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 It should be noted that current EA guidance is to use the 95th Percentile medium emissions scenario, with appropriate sensitivity 
analysis in flood and coastal erosion risk management considerations.    

Page 191



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 43  

 

Table 7.1. Coastal Flood Boundary Dataset (CFBD) return period levels applicable at Hoylake (ref point 1886) in metres OD, 
projected into the future under a medium emissions 50th percentile climate change scenario 

Return Period 2017 2032 2042 2072 

1 5.33 5.39 5.43 5.58 

2 5.43 5.49 5.53 5.68 

5 5.57 5.63 5.67 5.82 

10 5.67 5.73 5.77 5.92 

20 5.77 5.83 5.87 6.02 

25 5.80 5.86 5.90 6.05 

50 5.88 5.94 5.98 6.13 

75 5.95 6.01 6.05 6.20 

100 5.98 6.04 6.08 6.23 

150 6.03 6.09 6.13 6.28 

200 6.08 6.14 6.18 6.33 

250 6.11 6.17 6.21 6.36 

300 6.13 6.19 6.23 6.38 

500 6.20 6.26 6.3 6.45 

1000 6.29 6.35 6.39 6.54 

10000 6.64 6.70 6.74 6.89 

 
Figure 7-4 (blue line) shows the relationship between the return periods and the extreme water levels. In 
the current situation (point 1), conditions with a 35-year return period cause a 5.8m OD water level. With 
sea-level rise of 0.25m (50 years into the future), these same conditions will cause a 6.02m OD water level 
(point 2). That water level is the current 200-year return period water level (point 3), which would cause the 
FZ3 flood extent.  
 

Page 192



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 44  

 

 

Figure 7-4. Extreme still water levels from the Coastal Flood Boundary dataset for Hoylake (blue line). Green line indicates the future 
effect of sea-level rise 

 
Figure 7-5 shows the application of this approach for a 200-year return period and the chosen sea-level 
rise scenario. In both the Do Nothing and Do Everything scenarios, the return period associated with the 
flood extent in FZ3 will reduce from 200 years to 36 years in 2072. Table 7.2 presents the AEPs in 10, 20 
and 50 years. 
 

 

Figure 7-5. Estimated future flood risk associated with FZ3, based on sea-level rise under a medium emissions climate change 
scenario. Dashed grey lines indicate 10, 20 and 50 years from the present day, and the orange dots indicate the corresponding 
future return periods 

Page 193



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 45  

 

Table 7.2. Estimated return period of the FZ3 flood extent in 10, 20 and 50 years 

Year Return Period (years) 

2017 200 

2032 134 

2042 99 

2072 36 

 
  

Page 194



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 46  

 

8 Opportunities and Constraints 

There is a critical balance to achieve between the need for management and the need to maintain the ability 
of the natural shoreline to adjust to change. This section appraises the opportunities and constraints of the 
Do Nothing and Do Everything scenarios using criteria included in four appraisal elements: 
 

 environment: potential impacts on morphological and ecological systems; 
 flood and coastal erosion risk: issues of flooding and coastal erosion related to sea-level rise; 
 Natural Capital Value: potential impacts to ecosystem services; and 
 beach use: implications for visitors and public access. 

 
The method that was adopted is a RAG (Red, Amber, Green) traffic-light assessment (Table 8.1). For each 
scenario, the table provides the appraisal element and criteria, and columns where the results of the 
appraisal are summarised. The colours represent the following: 
 

 Red shading: approach does not meet defined criterion; 
 Amber shading: approach does meet defined criterion in some aspects, but there are aspects which 

are negative or undesirable; and 
 Green shading: approach fully meets defined criterion. 

Table 8.1. RAG assessment for Do Nothing and Do Everything scenarios at Hoylake 

Element Criteria Do Nothing Do Everything 

Environment 

Working with natural 
processes 

Maintains the evolving nature of the 
coastal landscape 

Significantly alters the natural 
development of the coastal landscape 

Biological diversity and 
longevity 

Increased through the development of 
more complex saltmarsh and sand 
dunes 

Significant decrease from the prevention 
of vegetation growth 

Wind-blown sand 
hazards for adjacent 
road and properties 

Increase if sand dune system develop 
close to the seawall 

Increase due non-vegetated beach 
providing a larger source of wind-blown 
sand 

Flood and 
coastal 
erosion risk 

Flood zone extent Area unchanged Area unchanged 

Flood defence function 
Developing dune system could have a 
flood defence function 

No sand dunes that would perform a 
potential flood defence function 

Wave 
attenuation/dissipation 

Vegetated beach would increase 
attenuation and/or dissipation of waves 

Non-vegetated beach would provide less 
attenuation and/or dissipation of waves 

Natural 
Capital Value 

Carbon sequestration 
and storage potential 

Increase due to vegetation colonisation 
Decrease if vegetation is prevented from 
establishing 

Ecosystem services 
Increase due to increased vegetation, 
green space access, air purification, 
noise pollution reduction and pollination  

Decrease due to prevention of vegetation 
growth, with pollination, noise pollution 
reduction and air purification decreasing. 
Access to nature is expected to increase 

Beach use 

Recreational use Decrease due to reduced beach area  Increase due to maintained sandy beach  

Impact on access to 
and along the coast 

Development of saltmarsh and dunes 
could impede access 

No change to access 

Management zoning  No management zoning in this scenario No management zoning in this scenario 

Page 195



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 47  

 

9 Conclusions and Recommendations 

9.1 Conclusions 

This study has predicted that Hoylake Beach will accrete into the future, based on historical morphological 
change and projected sea-level rise using the medium emissions climate change scenario 50% confidence 
level. The beach accretion is predicted to outpace projected sea-level rise, and consequently beach levels 
will rise and tidal datums, including MHWN, MHWS and HAT, will migrate seawards. 
 
Due to this progressive movement of the tidal datums, if no management takes place (Do Nothing scenario), 
the existing dense and sparse vegetation boundaries (as mapped by an NVC survey in 2021) will also 
migrate seawards, concomitantly increasing their areas across the beach. The predicted seaward 
movement of HAT would create space landward of HAT for development of sand dunes in front of the 
seawall, which would increase in area over time.  
 
For a fully managed system (Do Everything scenario), Hoylake Beach would be managed to remove all 
vegetation. The accretionary evolution of the beach would be similar to the Do Nothing scenario but without 
any vegetation. The vegetation would be cleared without loss of the underlying sediment. Wind-blown sand 
nuisance could increase due to the non-vegetated beach providing a larger surface area for wind to dry 
intertidal sand and transport it landward, without the trapping efficiency of the vegetation under the Do 
Nothing scenario. This source of sand and its transport onshore by wind could overtop the seawall and enter 
the areas landward affecting local roads and houses 
 
However, the presence of sand dune vegetation under the Do Nothing scenario can further increase the 
accumulation of sand as it is trapped around both living and dead plant matter.  Whilst this, and the 
development of saltmarsh, may reduce wind-blown sand nuisance, sand dune development has the 
potential to result in higher beach levels than that predicted by this study.  Should dune height exceed that 
of the existing sea wall, there is the potential that the dune could migrate landwards, affecting local roads 
and houses. 
 
In terms of Natural Capital Value, there are differences depending on the scenario. For Do Nothing, carbon 
sequestration and storage potential would increase, whereas for Do Everything they would decrease. The 
provision of ecosystem services is likely to increase for Do Nothing, whereas there is a predominantly 
decreased provision for Do Everything. The exception is access to nature which is expected to increase. 
 
From a flood-risk perspective, the beach would have no influence on still water level flooding, regardless of 
the scenario.  The Do Nothing scenario would reduce the direct hazard and nuisance of wave run-up on the 
road, its users and the lower lying parts of properties; however, there is also a risk that a developing dune 
system could form a barrier against any overtopped water flowing back to the sea, and could thus enhance 
flooding in some locations. Should the Do Nothing and/or Do Everything scenarios affect groundwater levels, 
e.g. from changing beach levels, this has the potential to affect groundwater flooding behind the sea wall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 196



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 48  

 

9.2 Recommendations 

The following additional studies are considered necessary to support the development of the BMP: 
 

 Before the BMP is developed it is recommended that a botanical survey be carried out in spring, 
summer, and early autumn to ensure that a full list of species growing on the site is generated.   

 Should future beach management include for continuing Green beach development, a yearly 
botanical survey should be repeated to monitor the progress of colonisation.  An NVC survey should 
be repeated in five years, to map the progress of vegetation communities colonising the site and 
document their evolution. 

 Due to the nature of the FZ3 dataset, it is not clear from which initial study the flood extent at Hoylake 
originates, or which water level conditions were used to drive the modelling. It is recommended that 
a detailed flood risk assessment, informed by the latest data, focussed locally on Hoylake, is 
performed as part of any future BMP. 

 A review of groundwater behaviour behind the sea wall and how potential future beach management 
actions could impact on behaviour should be undertaken to inform the BMP.  

 Beach levels and sediment accretion rates should be continued to be monitored to validate the 
assumptions made in this study and to inform future management of the beach. 

 Further investigation of the effects of wind blown sand and sand dune development should be 
undertaken to understand how this could affect future beach levels. 

10 References 

AECOM. (2016). Habitats Regulations Screening Assessment and Application for SSSI Assent Relating to 
Beach Management Operations at Wirral Beaches. March 2016. 
 
Brown, J.M., Souza, A.J. and Wolf, J. (2010). An 11-year validation of wave-surge modelling in the Irish 
Sea, using a nested POLCOMS-WAM modelling system. Ocean Modelling, 33, 118-128. 
 
Brown, J.M., Amoudry, L.O., Mercier, F.M. and Souza, A.J. (2013). Intercomparison of the Charnock and 
COARE bulk wind stress formulations for coastal ocean modelling. Ocean Science, 9, 721-729. 
 
Coastal Engineering. (2015). North West Strategic Monitoring Regional Sediment Analysis and Reporting 
2015. Intertidal Report November 2015.  
 
Davy, A. (2002). Development and Structure of Salt Marshes: Community Patterns in Time and Space. In: 
Weinstein M.P., Kreeger D.A. (eds) Concepts and Controversies in Tidal Marsh Ecology. Springer, 
Dordrecht. 
 
Defra. (2007). Sand dune processes and management for flood and coastal defence. Part 2: Sand dune 
processes and morphology. R&D Technical Report FD1392/TR. 
 
Environment Agency. (2007). Saltmarsh Management Manual – R&D Technical Report SC030220. 
 
Environment Agency. (2018). Coastal Design Sea Levels - Coastal Flood Boundary Extreme Sea Levels 
(2018). Update 22 June 2021. Retrieved from: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/73834283-7dc4-488a-9583-
a920072d9a9d/coastal-design-sea-levels-coastal-flood-boundary-extreme-sea-levels-2018 
 

Page 197



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 49  

 

Feagin, R.A., Luisa Martinez, M., Mendoza-Gonzalez, G. and Costanza, R. (2010). Salt marsh zonal 
migration and ecosystem service change in response to global sea level rise: a case study from an urban 
region. Ecology and Society. Volume 15, 14. 
 
Foster, N.M., Hudson, M.D., Bray, S. and Nicholls, R.J. (2013). Intertidal mudflat and saltmarsh conservation 
and sustainable use in the UK: A review. Journal of Environmental Management, 126, 96-104. 
 
Halcrow. (2010). North West England and North Wales Shoreline Management Plan SMP2. Report to the 
North West and North Wales Coastal Group in July 2010. 
 
Halcrow. (2018). Wirral Coastal Processes Report. Report to Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
Jemmett, A., and Smith, T. (2000). The Beaches at West Kirby and Hoylake – Option for Managing Wind 
Blown Sand and Habitat Change. January 2000. 
 
Joint Nature Conservation Committee. (2004). Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Sand Dune 
Habitats (August 2004). 
 
Langlois, E., Bonis, A. and Bouzillé, J.B. (2001). The response of Puccinellia maritima to burial: A key to 
understanding its role in salt-marsh dynamics? Journal of Vegetation Science, 12. 
 
Mossman, H., Grant, A. and Davy, A. (2019). Manipulating saltmarsh microtopography modulates the effects 
of elevation on sediment redox potential and halophyte distribution. Journal of Ecology, 108. 
 
Pye, K. (1996). Evolution of the shoreline of the Dee Estuary, United Kingdom. In: Nordstrom, K.F. and 
Roman, C.T. (Eds.) Estuarine Shores: Evolution, Environments and Human Alterations. John Wiley & Sons 
Ltd, 14-37. 
Pye, K. and Blott. S. (2009). Potential implications of future sea level rise for estuarine sediment budgets 
and morphology in Northwest England and North Wales. Report to Halcrow Group Limited, Cell Eleven Tidal 
and Sediment Transport Study (CETaSS) Stage 2, October 2009, Swindon, UK. 
 
Rodwell, J.S. (2006). National Vegetation Classification: Users’ Handbook. JNCC. Peterborough. 
 
Ruffino, L. (2021). National Vegetation Classification (NVC) Survey Hoylake Shore. 
 
Stace, C. (2019). New Flora of the British Isles. Fourth Edition. Cambridge University Press. 
 
Smith, P.H. and Lockwood, P.A. (2021). Fifteen years of habitat, floristic and vegetation change on a pioneer 
sand-dune and slack system at Ainsdale, north Merseyside, UK. British & Irish Botany, 3, 232-262. 
 
Stribling, J. M., Cornwell, J.C. and Glahn, O.A. (2007). Microtopography in Tidal Marshes: Ecosystem 
Engineering by Vegetation? Estuaries and Coasts, 30, 1007–1015.  
 
Styles, J. (2021). North Wirral Foreshore [Hoylake] Botanical Survey. 
 
Wirral Borough Council. (2003). Annual Coastal Process Inspection – October 2002. Shoreline Management 
Partnership. 
 
Wirral Council. (2009). Annual Coastal Process Inspection – October 2008. Coastal Engineering UK Ltd. 
 

Page 198



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 50  

 

Wirral Council. (2011). Preliminary Flood Risk ASSESSMENT REPORT 
file:///C:/Users/303543/Box/PC2553%20Hoylake%20Beach%20Ecology%20and%20Geomorphology%20
Study/PC2553%20Hoylake%20Team/PC2553%20%20TECHNICAL%20DATA/Incoming%20Data/Prelimi
nary%20Flood%20Risk%20Assessment%20.pdf 
 
Wirral Council. (2014). Annual Coastal Process Inspection – July 2013. Coastal Engineering UK Ltd. 
 
Wirral Council. (2019). Annual Coastal Process Inspection – July 2018. Coastal Engineering UK Ltd. 
 
Wirral Council. (2022 – in press). Annual Shoreline Inspection - June 2021. Coastal Engineering UK Ltd. 
 
Woodworth, P.L., Tsimplis, M.N., Flather, R.A. and Shennan, I. (1999). A review of the trends observed in 
British Isles mean sea level data measured by tide gauges. Geophysical Journal International, 136, 651–
670. 
 
Woodworth, P.L. (2017). Sea level change in Great Britain between 1859 and the present. Geophysical 
Journal International, 18, 15pp. 
 
  

Page 199



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 51  

 

Appendix A: Natural England Advice to Wirral Council 
Regarding Beach Management 

 
 

  

Page 200



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 

Natural England’s statutory purpose, as set out in the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

Act 2006, is to ensure that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced and managed for the 

benefit of present and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  Our 

role includes providing advice to others, being a regulator and working in partnership with others 

including public bodies. 

The following information forms the basis of Natural England’s advice related to the challenges 

Wirral Council are facing in managing the Wirral coastline. In providing this we recognise the 

environment is dynamic, there are statutory requirements and strong interests and views which are 

often in conflict. It should also be noted that in the intertidal area there may be other statutory 

bodies that may need to be consulted, such as the Environment Agency and Marine Management 

Organisation. 

Natural England’s advice is provided in the following sections: 

 Summary of statutory sites on the Wirral coastline 

 Statutory sites at Hoylake 

 Coastal dynamics 

 Factors driving growth of foreshore vegetation 

 Vegetation control 

 Drainage 

 Wider values and opportunities 

 Issues that could be picked up within a wider plan 

 Ideas for way forward 

Natural England advice is provided from the perspective of its statutory role in giving advice on 

protected sites. 

Summary of statutory sites on the Wirral coastline 

 Nearly the whole of the Wirral coastline is covered by a range of overlapping statutory 

designations including nationally important Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and 

international Special Protection Areas (SPA), Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar 

Wetland sites. 

 The SSSIs of Wirral coastline are: Mersey Estuary, Mersey Narrows, North Wirral Foreshore, Dee 

Estuary and Red Rocks. These sites are all important for their non-breeding birds with some 

important for features including saltmarsh, intertidal sediment communities, sand dunes and 

breeding birds.  

Page 201



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 The SPAs and Ramsar sites are: Mersey Estuary, Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore, 

Dee Estuary and Liverpool Bay (SPA only). These are all important for non-breeding birds with 

Dee Estuary also being important for some breeding birds. 

 The SAC: Dee Estuary, note this extends on to the North Wirral Foreshore. This is important for 

a range of features including its intertidal sediments, reefs, saltmarsh and sand dunes. 

 Information relating to the designated sites including Conservation Objectives, Supplementary 

Advice on Conservation Objectives and the Advice on Operations are available on Natural 

England’s designated sites view system.  Geographic information on the designated sites and 

other information relating the natural environment can be found on the following website:  

magic.defra.gov.uk 

 Wirral Council, Natural England and other public bodies have several statutory conservation 

duties: 

o To further the conservation and enhancement of SSSIs – Section 28G of the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended),  

o Statutory duty to conserve biodiversity - Section 40 of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act). Specific habitats and species are identified, 

through Section 41 (NERC Act 2006) identified as being of principle importance for 

conserving biodiversity. Lists of Priority habitats 

o The Conservations of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (aka the 

Habitat Regulations) includes a duty of competent authorities (as defined in 

Regulation 7) to have regard for the requirements of the Habitats and Wild Birds 

Directive in the exercise of their statutory functions (Regulation 9(3)).  

o Further guidance on public bodies responsibilities for SSSIs can be found from the 

following webpage: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sites-of-special-scientific-

interest-public-body-responsibilities 

Statutory sites at Hoylake (see Annex 1 for some further detail) 

 The foreshore at Hoylake is included in the following statutory sites: North Wirral Foreshore 

SSSI (unit 1 East Hoyle Bank), Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA/Ramsar site and 

Dee Estuary SAC. 

 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI is designated for the following features: aggregations of non-

breeding water birds and especially bar-tailed godwit, dunlin, knot and turnstone, intertidal 

sediments and saltmarshes.  

 Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) Alerts (using WeBS data from 2014/15 to 2018/19) indicate bar-

tailed godwit, knot and turnstone on North Wirral Foreshore SSSI have significant declines 

which would lead to these features and so the site to be in unfavourable condition. 

 Liverpool Bay SPA, a marine site is located off Hoylake but it is below mean low water. 

Coastal dynamics 

 Sea level rise and coastal change are inevitable. Sustainable coastal management needs to take 

account of natural coastal change.  

 Coastal conservation is often about understanding the way in which the physical system 

underpins the presence of individual habitats or species. Management for habitat and species 

features must to take account of coastal dynamics. 

Page 202

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/69/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/69/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/uk-bap-priority-habitats/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sites-of-special-scientific-interest-public-body-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sites-of-special-scientific-interest-public-body-responsibilities


Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 As the coast changes so the mosaic of habitats and species as well as the landscape and its ‘local 

distinctiveness’ will change and evolve. Understanding the reasons for change must be factored 

into management decisions to ensure the best possible outcomes for the natural environment. 

Reasons for change will include the wider geomorphological processes, sources of sediment 

supply, constraints on sediment movements, wider scale sediment dredging or disposal and 

climate change.  

 Development of pioneer vegetation that will eventually develop in to sand dunes or saltmarsh is 

a natural stage in the coastal change process. It is probably not possible to fully predict how the 

habitats will develop, however the situation at this location is likely to be different to that at 

Parkgate eg due to levels of exposure to winds, tides and waves and differences in sediment 

supply. It may be more likely that there is more development of dune habitats than 

saltmarshes. 

 Management of the coastline should focus upon working with coastal processes that enable a 

dynamic environment resilient sea level rise.  

 There is a need to conserve, manage and sustain sediment supplies that feed coastal systems 

and the landscapes and habitats they support.  

 Management interventions such as raking and spraying will impact on the natural development 

of habitats and so geomorphological processes and sediment movement. 

 Sustainable coastal management will need to incorporate adaptation measures in both short 

and long-term.  

 Further information on the geomorphological regime and influences may be obtainable from 

the NW Coastal Group and the Shoreline Management Plan 2 provides information on the 

coastal processes. Appendix C: Baseline Process Understanding indicates a long-term trend of 

sediment accretion for the period of the SMP, potentially leading to a complex of dunes and 

intertidal habitats in front of maintained sea defences, although channel movements and 

offshore sandbank evolution will influence the pattern of habitats.  

 The Dee estuary is currently continuing to import sediment with saltmarshes showing vertical 
accretion. The rate of marsh expansion near the estuary mouth has decreased in recent 
decades but accumulation of windblown sand continues to occur near the Point of Ayr and at 
Hoylake (Halcrow, 2013). Such accretion is important in supporting the function of the 
defences. Moore. et al (2009), however, suggests that the Dee could be reaching a 
morphological equilibrium and the rate of accretion may decrease in the future.  

 The Dee estuary is a drowned, glacially over-deepened valley bounded by Triassic sandstone 

and Carboniferous coal measures, extensively mantled by glacial till and outwash sands and 

gravels. A glacial till forms an eroding cliff along part of the east shore of the estuary near 

Thurstaston. The glacial till overlies Triassic red mudstones and sandstones, with sandstone 

ridges and outcrops. The harder coarse Triassic sandstone reaches the surface to create ridges 

and outcrops in many part of the Wirral. There are three sandstone islands which comprise the 

Hilbre Island Complex, the only natural hard rock coast within the estuary (Natural England, 

2014).  

 The main source of sediment to the estuary is the Irish Sea, although the erosion of the glacial 

till cliffs and the suspended load of the River Dee provide secondary sources (Appendix 2 and 3) 

(Halcrow, 2013).  

Page 203

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/
https://onedrive.live.com/?cid=E5153484C5971E2D&id=E5153484C5971E2D%21252&parId=E5153484C5971E2D%21156&o=OneUp


Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 Planning for any coastal development including critical coastal infrastructure and access routes 

needs to take account of how the coast will respond to the action of coastal processes and sea 

level rise.  

 There is a need to consider the facilitation, migration or adaptation of key natural environment 

assets as the coast evolves.  

 The long term vision in the SMP2 is to maintain protection to assets where necessary but to 
provide more accommodation space where practical to do so. Along the east bank of the Dee 
saltmarsh should be allowed to roll back where possible and undefended cliffs should be 
allowed to erode naturally (Halcrow, 2010b) (Appendix 4).  

 You may need or wish to commission a specific review or advice from coastal geomorphologists 
regarding the geomorphological regimes and influences. 
 

Factors driving growth of foreshore vegetation 

 Coastal habitats should be allowed to establish in line with ‘natural change’ as a dynamic 

response to the changing physical environment. Changes can be long term such as sea level rise 

or short term such as winter storms.  

 At the current time, changes to the physical environment (e.g. accretion and drainage inputs) 

are encouraging vegetation establishment. Physical factors such as sediment type and water 

quality will influencing the speed of establishment and the character of the developing habitats. 

 ‘Natural changes’ to the balance of intertidal sediments and vegetation communities (pioneer 

plants, saltmarsh and embryo-dunes) is acceptable, indeed should be actively allowed.  Beach 

raking to prevent the establishment of foreshore habitats can impact on the natural coastal 

processes and so would generally not be welcome from a ‘Natural change’ perspective.  

 As habitats form naturally in new locations within the statutory designated sites they will 

considered as conservation features of the statutory designated sites and will therefore be 

covered by the sites’ conservation objectives. For example developing pioneer saltmarsh and 

sand dunes on north Wirral foreshore are protected as features of the Dee Estuary SAC. 

 In response to dynamic change Natural England can also consider if the features of SSSIs need 

to be amended to account for developing habitats to ensure their continued protection. Nb - 

North Wirral Foreshore Site of Special Scientific Interest was last revised in 1986. There are 

currently no plans to revise this SSSI. 

Vegetation control  

 Some vegetation control may be acceptable to arrest pioneer establishment in some locations 

subject to adequate assessment and consents and would need to be very targeted, tightly 

controlled and monitored. This would be restricted by the sites conservation objectives in 

seeking to maintain coastal processes and habitat development.  

 Habitats that regularly establish or are able to succeed to more mature forms will have value so 

potential control needs careful consideration. 

 Vegetation control across the whole coast would not be acceptable as this is likely to be 

contrary to the site’s conservation objectives, it is also unlikely to be economic or sustainable.  

 Smaller areas of vegetation control may have scope to be consented but there should be clear 

justifications for requests to control vegetation establishment. It is unlikely that such control 

Page 204



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

could be considered ‘directly connected with or necessary for the conservation management of 

the protected sites’ – the first Habitat Regulations Assessment test.  

 Raking control should only be focused on patches of single species such as the invasive Spartina 

anglica or possibly some limited areas of Puccinellia maritima, rather than raking of large areas 

of beach 

 There needs to be a thorough ecological survey of any areas to be proposed for targeting of 

vegetation control. 

 Mechanical methods of control should be considered as the primary means, herbicide use as a 

last resort  and with clear objectives and practice,  and only requested where supported by 

evidence to demonstrate lack of environmental impact, being used in line with permits from 

Environment Agency and MMO (where required).  

 The application of herbicides on the intertidal is a concern regarding impact on non-target plant 

species, wider impacts on intertidal invertebrates and so to predator species such as shorebirds 

and seabirds, shell fisheries and wider environmental risks. The risks may not be fully known 

and a precautionary approach should be taken and therefore Natural England is currently 

unlikely to support herbicide use. 

 The Council should be clear that only vegetation control that is permitted by itself and other 

consenting bodies will be allowed and action taken by third parties (eg private companies, 

stakeholder groups and members of the public) without adequate consent carries the risk of 

enforcement. 

Drainage 

 Natural England is concerned about the land drainage being discharged to the foreshore along 

the promenade and that it may not be regulated. This is with regard to the quality of the water 

and risks of contamination, the ability to maintain the drainage due to natural accretion, the 

influence this is having on vegetation development and beach amenity.  

 Natural England advises that the water quality should be tested to understand the 

contamination risks, better managed and regulated. 

 Natural England advises that it would be better for the local environment for land drainage/ run 

off to be collected treated and then discharged via a regulated discharge point. There may be 

opportunities for wetland creation landward of Hoylake or further along the coast and these 

areas could receive this treated water. 

Wider values and opportunities 

 The development of pioneer vegetation starts a natural succession that further accretes and 

stabilises sediment, this then develops a vegetation community that becomes more diverse. 

 Pioneer vegetation is likely to lead to development of saltmarsh and/or dunes; this is of 

conservation interest and value. Given the more exposed location Puccinellia patches are more 

likely to lead embryo dunes, these will then develop into dune and slack habitats. This has been 

seen and well recorded between Birkdale and Ainsdale on the Sefton Coast.  

 Natural England recognises that vegetation may be seasonal however where they are allowed 

to persist, sand dune and saltmarsh habitats provide important ‘natural capital assets’ that 

provide valuable ecosystem services. These habitats can develop in front of existing defences. 

Examples of the services include provision of : 

Page 205



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

o Protection of the current defences and communities behind from coastal erosion and 

flooding by providing a barrier and habitat to absorb wave and tidal energy.  

o Carbon storage into vegetation and sediments thus contributing to mitigation for climate 

change and the aspirations of Wirral Council the Liverpool City Region to achieve Net Zero 

Carbon by 2040. 

o Developing habitats to support important biodiversity. 

o Health and wellbeing benefits – there is significant evidence available to show the health 

and wellbeing benefits from people’s interaction with a biodiverse natural environment. 

o Alternative visitor attraction. Development of important natural habitats provide an 

opportunity to develop a sustainably managed visitor economy focussed on the natural 

environment. 

 There is an opportunity to assess the natural capital value of the coastal environment and how 

this might be influenced by coastal change in a range of scenarios. Liverpool John Moores 

University (LJMU) with Nature Connected (the Local Nature Partnership for the Liverpool City 

Region) have completed a Natural Capital Baseline for the Liverpool City Region. LJMU would be 

willing to model a change to this baseline under different management scenarios. This would 

help inform an appropriate and sustainable management solution for the long term. Contact 

details for the lead at LJMU can be supplied. 

Issues that could be picked up within a wider plan 

 Natural England recommends and supports the development of a more holistic beach 

management plan. 

 This plan could be developed through an inclusive engagement process with a wide range of 

stakeholders that presents and accounts for a variety of constraints such as conservation, 

economic, legal and sustainability. 

 A more holistic plan would ideally be inclusive of the range of activities and users on the intertidal 

and coastal zone eg local communities, range of recreational users, shell fisheries, life boat 

operations and land yachting etc. It should also account for improvement in the land drainage on 

to the foreshore and future coastal defence planning. 

 Recreational disturbance is a recognised issue impacting non-breeding birds, especially during 

autumn, winter and early spring. It is known that recreational activities can disturb important 

non-breeding birds that are feeding or roosting on the North Wirral Foreshore (and elsewhere). 

Wirral Council with others currently undertake some work that seeks to manage this disturbance 

eg interpretation events, signage and wardening but more action may be required. A holistic 

beach management plan should incorporate measures to limit and manage recreational 

disturbance. 

 A beach management plan will need to be subject to relevant consents and relevant assessments 

eg a Habitat Regulations Assessment. 

 A range of activities and operations have the opportunity to have an environmental effect in 

combination with each other or cumulatively. This should be considered and this is a good reason 

for having a more holistic inclusive plan. A beach management plan that has been agreed with 

Natural England can be considered for an overarching consent/ assent (to cover all the activities 

within the plan), rather than consent/ assent for individual activities.  

Page 206



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 A wider consideration of the benefits and value that changes to the natural environment can 

have on the area’s socio-economic prosperity eg green tourism, well-being, ecosystem services 

such as coastal protection. 

Ideas for way forward 

 Development of an engagement process/consultation to enable a wider evidenced based debate 

to formulate a holistic beach management plan. 

 It is for Wirral Council to determine the extent of stakeholder engagement or consultation on 

determining proposals or plans for coastal management. However, Natural England would 

recommend that local communities are engaged to understand the options and constraints and 

their views considered in determining sustainable approaches to the management of the coast. 

Although Natural England has an advisory and regulatory role it would also be a stakeholder in an 

engagement/consultation process.  

 There needs to be more understanding of the coastal change, habitat development and the value 

that this brings. 

 If amenity beach provision is required then this needs to be considered in the context of the 

changing coastal environment and how this could be done in a complimentary way. What area of 

amenity beach is required and what locations, how will this be sustainably managed. Are there 

options to where and how the amenity beaches are accessed? For example does an amenity 

beach need to be against the sea defence or could it be further out in front of developed 

habitats? 

  

Page 207



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

Annex 1 Further details regarding designated sites on North Wirral Foreshore  

What are the interest features of the sites? 

SSSI: Saltmarsh development on North Wirral Foreshore has been recognised for some time with the 

1986 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI citation stating: 

“North Wirral Foreshore is located between the outer Dee and Mersey Estuaries. This site is an area 

of intertidal sand and mudflats and embryonic saltmarsh which is of considerable importance as a 

feeding and roosting site for passage and wintering flocks of waders, wildfowl, terns and gulls. 

The embryonic mixed saltmarsh is formed principally from common saltmarsh-grass Puccinellia 

maritima and glasswort Salicornia europaea, together with some common cord-grass Spartina 

anglica.” 

The Favourable Condition Table (FCT) also lists saltmarsh as a notified feature and includes a 2014 

estimate of 12.8 ha. The FCT also notes the SAC dune features but these haven’t been identified for 

the SSSI, although are present close by at Red Rocks SSSI.  

Natural England’s Views About Management document also covers saltmarsh as a notified feature.  

The last recorded condition assessment (23 October 2012) assessed this part of the SSSI as 

Unfavourable Declining due to declines in non-breeding birds – currently considered due to 

recreational disturbance. The condition assessment did not appear to consider the condition of the 

habitat features ie saltmarsh and intertidal sediments. 

Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) Alerts (using WeBS data from 2014/15 to 2018/19) indicate bar-tailed 

godwit, knot and turnstone on North Wirral Foreshore SSSI have significant declines which would 

lead to these features and so the site to be in unfavourable condition. The site requires formal re-

assessment. 

Un-consented damage to the habitats features is likely to lead to an unfavourable condition 

assessment eg through loss of indicator species, habitat structure or habitat area.  

Changes in proportions of habitat types due to ‘natural change’ will be acceptable with regards to 

condition.  

Natural England is required to keep its understanding of interest features under review and this 

could lead to changes to the designation.  

Natural England will consider any proposals with regard to risks to the conservation and 

enhancement of the SSSI features. 

Natural England will consider a review of condition and pressures that may be influencing condition, 

such as bird disturbance, inappropriate vegetation control and inappropriate drainage/water quality 

or wider external effects that may be accelerating change. 

Ramsar: The Ramsar Information Sheet also refers to embryonic saltmarsh:  

Page 208

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/PDFsForWeb/FCT/fct_1003676_f.pdf
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/PDFsForWeb/VAM/1003676.pdf


Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

“The site comprises intertidal habitats at Egremont foreshore on the south bank of the Mersey, man-

made saline and freshwater lagoons at Seaforth on the north bank and the extensive intertidal flats 

at North Wirral Foreshore. ……….. North Wirral Foreshore supports large numbers of feeding waders 

at low tide and also includes important high tide roost sites, it is an area of intertidal sands and 

mudflats with embryonic saltmarsh.”  

Natura 2000: For the SAC, the ‘supporting processes’ will include those that sustain and allow 

development of the Annex I features for which the site is designated. The SPA and the SAC 

conservation objectives both have the caveat ‘subject to natural change’, suggesting that where 

coastal processes are driving the shift in habitats, we would not conclude such changes to result in 

an unfavourable condition assessment. There is no information in the SIP for the relevant N2k sites 

suggesting any major problem from saltmarsh or dune evolution for any of the designated features. 

Map indicating the overlapping designations of the North Wirral Foreshore 

 

  

Page 209



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

Diagram showing sediment movements for Shoreline Management Plan sub-cell 11a 

 

 

Page 210



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 52  

 

Appendix B: NVC Survey Report 

  

Page 211



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

1 
 

 

National Vegetation Classification 

(NVC) Survey  

Hoylake Shore 

 
 

Client: FAO: Jamie Gardiner 

HaskoningDHV UK Limited 

Edmund Street 

Liverpool 

L3 9NG 

Surveyor: Lucia Ruffino MSc,  

Bryn Afon, Byn Du,  

Ty Croes, LL63 5RN 

Telephone 07830177564 

Email: luciaruffino65@gmail.com 

Date of survey: 23rd to 26th August 2021 

Date of report: 14th October 2021 

Version: Final 01 

  

Page 212



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

2 
 

Summary 
 An NVC habitat survey of an area of shore at Hoylake, Wirral was commissioned as part of a wider 

ecological and geomorphological study of the area.  The survey area is approx. 2km long, between 

Red Rocks and the Hoylake Lifeboat station.   

 The site is subject to the following, overlapping designations:  

o North Wirral Foreshore SSSI, designated for features such as non-breeding birds, intertidal 

sediments, and saltmarshes. 

o Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA/Ramsar site, designated for non-breeding 

birds.  

o Dee Estuary SAC, designated for features including intertidal sediments, reefs, saltmarsh and 

sand dunes.   

These designations make this site of particular importance from a conservation perspective. 

 The vegetation at Hoylake shore has recently appeared, as natural processes have caused sand to 

raise the level of the site above mean low water.  This has allowed plants that are salt tolerant to 

form pioneer vegetation on Hoylake shore. 

 The NVC survey recorded two vegetation communities within the survey area: SM13a Puccinellia 

maritima saltmarsh community, sub-community with Puccinellia maritima dominant (the majority of 

the vegetation) and smaller stands of SM6 Spartina anglica saltmarsh community.   

 A total of 103 vascular plant species and 1 bryophyte species were recorded during the NVC survey. 

 From a conservation perspective, the vegetation communities on site are of high conservation 

value:  SM13 Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community is of importance for conservation at 

international level, as it is one of the vegetation communities included within Annex I Habitat 1330 

‘Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellitalia maritimae)’.  This habitat is also the primary reason 

for selection of the Dee Estuary as an SAC.  At national level, Section 41 of the Natural Environment 

and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 lists coastal saltmarsh as a habitat of principal importance 

in England.   

 Many of the species recorded on site are also rare and/or notable, including: Catabrosa aquatica, 

classified as vulnerable in England, Triglochin palustris, classified as Near Threatened in England, 

Crithmum maritimum and Polygonum oxyspermum, both considered Locally Rare in VC58 Cheshire. 

 In view of the high conservation value of the site it is recommended that a thorough botanical 

survey be carried out next year in spring, summer, and early autumn to ensure that a full list of 

species growing on the site is generated.  In addition, a botanical survey should be repeated on a 

yearly basis to monitor the progress of colonisation.  An NVC habitat survey should be repeated in 5 

years, to map the progress of vegetation communities colonising the site and document their 

evolution. 

  

Page 213



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

3 
 

 

Contents 

1.  Introduction ..................................................................................................... 4 

1.1.  Background and site description ....................................................................... 4 

1.2.  Objectives of the NVC survey ........................................................................... 5 

2.  Methodology..................................................................................................... 5 

3.  Results ............................................................................................................ 5 

3.1.  Overview ...................................................................................................... 5 

3.2.  Vegetation extents ......................................................................................... 7 

3.3.  Rare and/or notable species ............................................................................ 9 

3.4.  Non-native invasive species ........................................................................... 10 

3.5.  NVC Maps ................................................................................................... 10 

3.6.  Community descriptions ................................................................................ 14 

3.6.1.  SM13a Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community, sub-community with 

Puccinellia maritima dominant .............................................................................. 14 

3.6.2.  Description of other communities ............................................................. 15 

4.  Discussion ...................................................................................................... 16 

4.1.  Assessment criteria for conservation value of vegetation communities ................. 16 

4.2.  Conservation assessment .............................................................................. 16 

4.3.  Survey limitations ........................................................................................ 16 

5.  Conclusions .................................................................................................... 17 

6.  Recommendations ........................................................................................... 18 

 

 

 

  

Page 214



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

4 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Background and site description 

The client, HaskoningDHV UK Limited, commissioned Lucia Ruffino MSc to carry out an NVC 

habitat survey of an area of shore at Hoylake, Wirral, as part of a wider ecological and 

geomorphological study.  The survey area is approximately 2km long, between Red Rocks 

and the Hoylake Lifeboat station.  The site is subject to the following, overlapping 

designations:  

 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI, designated for features such as non-breeding birds, 

intertidal sediments, and saltmarshes. 

 Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA/Ramsar site, designated for non-

breeding birds.  

 Dee Estuary SAC, designated for features including intertidal sediments, reefs, saltmarsh 

and sand dunes.   

 

Recent natural coastal changes at Hoylake have led to the formation of pioneer vegetation 

within the survey area and Wirral Council have requested a survey of such vegetation to 

inform future management of the area. 

 

 

Figure 1: Survey area: any vegetation between Red Rocks and the Lifeboat station both 

landwards and seawards of the red line. 

Page 215



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

5 
 

1.2. Objectives of the NVC survey 

The aims of the survey are as follows: 

 To classify and map habitats within the survey area in accordance with the National 

Vegetation Classification protocol.   

 To give a conservation assessment of the vegetation communities in order to inform 

future management of Hoylake shore.  

2. Methodology 

An NVC survey was carried out by Lucia Ruffino, between 23rd and 26th August 2021, in good 

weather conditions, with good visibility.  Habitats were recorded and classified following the 

standard NVC protocol1.   

 

A Garmin 62st GPS was used to record locations.  Maps were produced using QGIS 3.4 

Madeira (2018). 

 

Nomenclature of higher plant species follows Stace (2019)2.   

 

In accordance with the NVC methodology, five or more quadrats were recorded for most 

vegetation communities.  However, for vegetation communities which covered smaller areas, 

fewer quadrats were recorded.  In this case, each quadrat was analysed separately, and the 

community was assigned on the basis of the components of each quadrat.   

 

For very small, fragmentary stands of vegetation, a full species list was made, and 

abundance was noted using the DAFOR scale.  The whole stand was then compared to the 

NVC descriptions and assigned to a community on this basis. 

3. Results 

3.1. Overview 

A total of 27 quadrats, 103 vascular plant species and 1 bryophyte species were recorded 

throughout the survey area.  Location of quadrats is shown on the map at Figure 2, overleaf.   

 

 

 
1J. S. Rodwell (2006) National Vegetation Classification: Users’ Handbook. JNCC. Peterborough.  
2 Stace, C (2019) New Flora of the British Isles. Fourth Edition.  Cambridge University Press. 

Page 216



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

6 
 

 
Figure 2: Location of quadrats throughout survey area. 

P
age 217



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

7 
 

A list of all plant species recorded on site and all quadrat data (in Excel format) are collated 

in Appendix 4.  For ease of reference, the whole-site species list is also reproduced in table 

format in Appendix 1 at the end of this report.  In addition, a list of plant species growing 

along the sea wall, and therefore not forming part of the main stand of vegetation, was also 

compiled, and is included in table form in Appendix 1.   

 

It should be noted that annual Salicornia species were not identified to species for the 

purposes of the NVC survey.  Identification to species is not necessary, as original NVC 

surveys only recorded annual Salicornia species as ‘annual Salicornia agg’.  However, at the 

time of the survey a few specimens of Salicornia from the site had anthers showing and were 

therefore identified to species for sake of completeness.  All specimens were identified as S. 

europaea.  

 

Target notes to the NVC survey, together with the relevant maps, are included in Appendix 2.   

 

The main semi-natural vegetation community recorded on site is SM13 Puccinellia maritima 

saltmarsh community, a generally species-poor grassland dominated by the grass Puccinellia 

maritima (Common Saltmarsh-grass), with associates such as Tripolium pannonicum (Sea 

Aster), annual Salicornia agg (annual Glasswort agg), and Suaeda maritima (Annual Sea-

blite).  Approximately 10ha of this vegetation was recorded within the survey area. 

 

Approximately 0.6ha of SM6 Spartina anglica saltmarsh community were also recorded, at 

the western end of the site, by Red Rocks.  These vegetation communities are described in 

more detail at section 3.6 below and photographs are shown in Appendix 2.   

3.2. Vegetation extents 

As vegetation has only recently colonised this site, an aerial photograph sufficiently recent as 

to show the extents of the vegetation was not available.  Therefore, the vegetation extents 

were mapped using a GPS.  It should be noted that not all vegetation within the mapped area 

is dense and continuous.  Vegetation tended to be denser towards the shore and become 

sparser seawards.   

 

The map at Figure 3 below shows the outer limits of vegetation (the red line), i.e. where 

vegetation is present but is sparse.  The hatched black area indicates stands of denser 

vegetation. 

Page 218



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

8 
 

 Figure 3: Vegetation extents map 

P
age 219



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

9 
 

To add to the complexity of the site, a strip of vegetation is also growing along the sea wall, 

clearly separate in nature from the main stand of vegetation on the beach.  As mentioned 

above, a separate species list was created for this strip of vegetation (see Appendix 1).   

3.3. Rare and/or notable species  

No European protected plant species3; Schedule 84 or Section 415 plant species were 

recorded during the survey.   

 

The following rare and/or notable species were recorded during the survey: 

 Catabrosa aquatica: classified as vulnerable (VU) in England6 

 Triglochin palustris: classified as Near Threatened (NT) in England 

 Crithmum maritimum: Locally Rare in VC58 Cheshire7 

 Polygonum oxyspermum: Locally Rare in VC58 Cheshire 

 

The following species which occur on site are also considered scarce in VC58 Cheshire (Kay, 

2015) as they only occur in 4-16 sites in the vicecounty: 

Ammophila arenaria 

Armeria maritima 

Atriplex littoralis 

Beta vulgaris ssp maritima 

Cakile maritima 

Carex extensa 

Catapodium marinum  

Elymus junceiformis 

Juncus gerardii  

Juncus ranarius 

Leymus arenarius  

Parapholis strigosa 

Raphanus raphanistrum ssp maritimus  

Spergularia media 

Triglochin maritima 

 

 
3These are species protected under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. 
4 Species protected under Schedule 8 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 
5 Species included under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 
2006. 
6 Stroh, P A; Leach, S J; August, T A; Walker, K J; Pearman, D A; Rumsey, F J; Harrower, C A; Fay, M 
F; Martin, J P; Pankhurst, T; Preston, C D; Taylor I (2014). A Vascular Plant Red List for England. 
Botanical Society of Britain and Ireland, Bristol 
7 Kay, G M (2015). Cheshire VC58.  County Rare Plant Register 2015. 

Page 220



Version: Final 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

10 
 

The following species recorded on site are also considered of Conservation Importance in 

North West England, and specifically in Wirral8: 

 

Armeria maritima  

Crithmum maritimum 

Puccinellia distans  

Raphanus raphanistrum ssp maritimus 

3.4. Non-native invasive species 

No plant species listed under Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 were 

recorded on this site. 

3.5. NVC Maps 

NVC habitat maps covering the survey area are shown below. 

 

 
8 Regional Biodiversity Steering Group for North West England (1999). Wild About the North West – A 
Biodiversity Audit of North West England. Volume 1 and 2. 
 

Page 221



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

11 
 

 
 

Figure 4: NVC habitat map 1 

P
age 222



Version: Draft 01   NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 
 

12 
 

 
Figure 5: NVC habitat map 2 

P
age 223



Version: Draft 01   NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 
 

13 
 

 
Figure 6: NVC habitat map 3 

P
age 224



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

14 
 

3.6. Community descriptions 

3.6.1. SM13a Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community, sub-community with 

Puccinellia maritima dominant  

This is a low-mid saltmarsh community which can be described as a species-poor 

grassland dominated by the grass Puccinellia maritima.  Other associates, such as 

Tripolium pannonicum, annual Salicornia species, Suaeda maritima are present but they 

are usually at low cover.  On this site, the vegetation fits within SM13a, the sub-

community with Puccinellia maritima dominant. 

 

Although the vegetation on this site is generally a good fit to this sub-community, it 

differs from the national NVC data as follows: Armeria maritima, Atriplex portulacoides, 

Limonium sp and Spergularia media, all recorded in the national NVC data (albeit at low 

frequency and/or cover), are absent from the site quadrats.  Salicornia spp. are under-

represented in the site data, whereas Triglochin palustris, Juncus ranarius, 

Bolboschoenus maritimus and Cotula coronopifolia are recorded here but not recorded in 

the NVC national data.   

 

It should be noted that Armeria maritima is rare on the overall site, as only 1 plant was 

seen during the survey.  Spergularia media was recorded within the overall site but was 

rare.  The same applies to Atriplex portulacoides.  Limonium spp have not been recorded 

at all on this site. 

 

The quadrat data has been summarised in Table 1, which shows the constancy table for 

this vegetation community. 

 

Table 1.  Constancy table for quadrats of SM13a Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh 

community, sub-community with Puccinellia maritima dominant. 

 

Species Constancy Domin range 

Puccinellia maritima  V 5 - 9 
Triglochin palustris IV 2 - 5 
Triglochin maritima III 1 - 4 
Spartina anglica II 1 - 4 
Tripolium pannonicum II 1 - 1 
Lysimachia maritima II 1 - 5 
Juncus ranarius II 1 - 5 
Bolboschoenus maritimus II 1 - 3 
Cotula coronopifolia II 1 - 3 

Page 225



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

15 
 

Species Constancy Domin range 

Suaeda maritima I  1 - 1 
Plantago maritima I 1 - 1 
Salicornia sp. I 1 - 1 
Phragmites australis I 1 - 1 
Atriplex prostrata I 1 - 4 
Spergularia marina I 2 - 5 
Parapholis strigosa I 1 - 3 
Agrostis stolonifera I 3 - 3 
Plantago coronopus I 1 - 1 
Poa annua I 1 - 2 
Carex extensa I 1 - 1 
Ranunculus sceleratus I 1 - 1 
Rumex crispus I 1 - 1 
Taraxacum agg I 1 - 1 
Catabrosa aquatica I 4 - 4 
Elymus repens I 3 - 3 
Atriplex sp seedling I 1 - 1 
Unidentifiable small seedlings 
(monocotyledons) 

   
 

 
   

 
No of species per quadrat - range  1 - 11 
Mean no of species per quadrat 5.04 
No of samples: 24   

 
 

3.6.2. Description of other communities 

Another vegetation community was recorded within the survey area: SM6 Spartina 

anglica saltmarsh community.  Three quadrats were taken in this pioneer saltmarsh 

community, which is dominated by Spartina anglica (Common Cord-grass) with 

associates such as annual Salicornia species, Suaeda maritima and Puccinellia maritima, 

all found at low cover.  Stands of this community were recorded at the southwestern end 

of the site, where the substrate is more silty.  

 

The presence of Bolboschoenus maritimus in stands of SM13a Puccinellia maritima 

saltmarsh community mentioned at paragraph 3.6.1 above could be indicative of future 

development of stands of S21 Scirpus maritimus (now Bolboschoenus maritimus) 

swamp, a plant community frequently found in the higher reaches of saltmarshes, 

furthest away from the sea.  There is already a small, well-developed stand of this 

vegetation at approx. SJ2165 8961.  However, most stands where this species is 

frequent consisted of young, developing plants at the time of survey.  These were 

Page 226



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

16 
 

recorded and described in the target notes (see Appendix 2), so that future development 

of this vegetation can be monitored. 

4. Discussion 

4.1. Assessment criteria for conservation value of vegetation 

communities 

Vegetation communities and habitats are assessed for their conservation value as 

follows: 

 Habitats of importance at international level - referring to habitats listed under 

Annex 1 of the EU Habitats Directive. 

 Habitats of importance at national level - within the framework of the Natural 

Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006, commenting on whether 

they are included within Section 41 as ‘habitats of principal’ in England 

 

In addition, as the vegetation communities surveyed are within an area designated as an 

SAC, a further assessment is made as to whether the communities fall within Annex I 

habitat categories which are a primary reason for selection of the SAC. 

4.2. Conservation assessment 

SM13 Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community is of importance for conservation at 

international level, as it is one of the vegetation communities included within Annex I 

Habitat 1330 ‘Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellitalia maritimae)’.   

 

It should be noted that this habitat is the primary reason for selection of the Dee Estuary 

as an SAC. 

 

At national level, Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) 

Act 2006 lists coastal saltmarsh as a habitat of principal importance in England.   

4.3. Survey limitations 

 As a recent aerial photograph of the area to be surveyed was not available, the 

extents of the vegetation were mapped using a GPS, which has an accuracy of +/- 3 

(rarely 4) metres and therefore the extents shown in Figures 3, 4 and 5 have to be 

considered as being + /- 3m.   

 It is known that scattered plants of Spartina anglica occur a long way seaward of the 

vegetation mapped for the purposes of this survey.  However, for practical reasons, 

Page 227



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

17 
 

the survey was limited to areas where the vegetation forms recognisable stands and 

a note was made of the fact that beyond that point scattered plants of Spartina 

anglica do occur further out and are visible at low tide. 

5. Conclusions  

The vegetation at Hoylake shore has only recently appeared as natural processes have 

caused sand to raise the level of the site above mean low water.  This has allowed plants 

that are salt tolerant to form pioneer vegetation on Hoylake shore. 

 

Hoylake shore is subject to the following, overlapping designations:  

 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI, designated for features such as non-breeding birds, 

intertidal sediments, and saltmarshes 

 Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA/Ramsar site, designated for non-

breeding birds 

 Dee Estuary SAC, designated for features including intertidal sediments, reefs, 

saltmarsh and sand dunes 

 

These designations make this site of particular importance from a conservation 

perspective. 

 

The vegetation communities at Hoylake shore can be classified as saltmarsh vegetation.  

Applying the NVC survey protocol, two vegetation communities have been recorded 

within the survey area: SM13a Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community, sub-

community with Puccinellia maritima dominant (the majority of the vegetation) and 

smaller stands of SM6 Spartina anglica saltmarsh community.   

 

The site can be considered species-rich, with a total of 103 vascular plant species and 1 

bryophyte species recorded during the NVC survey throughout the survey area.   

 

From a conservation perspective, the vegetation on site is of high conservation value: 

 SM13 Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community is of importance for conservation 

at international level, as it is one of the vegetation communities included within 

Annex I Habitat 1330 ‘Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellitalia maritimae)’.  

This habitat is also the primary reason for selection of the Dee Estuary as an SAC. 

 

Page 228



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

18 
 

 At national level, Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

(NERC) Act 2006 lists coastal saltmarsh as a habitat of principal importance in 

England.   

 

Many of the species recorded on site are also rare and/or notable, including: 

 Catabrosa aquatica, classified as vulnerable (VU) in England 

 Triglochin palustris, classified as Near Threatened (NT) in England 

 Crithmum maritimum and Polygonum oxyspermum, both considered Locally Rare 

in VC58 Cheshire 

 

Finally, it should be noted that the vegetation on this site is of a pioneer nature and is 

likely to be subject to change over time, as geomorphological processes continue to 

modify the shore.   

6. Recommendations 

Considering the high conservation value of both the habitats and species at Hoylake 

shore, the following recommendation are made: 

 A thorough botanical survey should be carried out next year in spring, summer, and 

early autumn to ensure that a full list of species growing on the site is generated. 

 A botanical survey should then be repeated on a yearly basis to monitor the progress 

of colonisation. 

 An NVC habitat survey should be repeated in 5 years’ time to map the progress of 

vegetation communities colonising the site and document their evolution. 

 

 

  

Page 229



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

19 
 

References 

 

Kay, G M (2015). Cheshire VC58.  County Rare Plant Register 2015 

https://bsbi.org/wp-content/uploads/dlm_uploads/Cheshire_RDB_2015.pdf Accessed 

12/10/2021 

Regional Biodiversity Steering Group for North West England (1999). Wild About the 

North West – A Biodiversity Audit of North West England. Volume 1 and 2. 

Rodwell, J S (2000). British Plant Communities Volume 5.  Maritime communities and 

vegetation of open habitat.  Cambridge University Press. 

Rodwell, J S (2006) National Vegetation Classification: Users’ Handbook. JNCC. 

Stace, C (2019) New Flora of the British Isles. Fourth Edition.  Cambridge University 

Press. 

Stroh, P A; Leach, S J; August, T A; Walker, K J; Pearman, D A; Rumsey, F J; Harrower, 

C A; Fay, M F; Martin, J P; Pankhurst, T; Preston, C D; Taylor I (2014). A Vascular Plant 

Red List for England. Botanical Society of Britain and Ireland, Bristol. 

 

Page 230



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

20 
 

Appendix 1 

Table A1.1: Whole-site species list, including abundances noted using the DAFOR scale.  

Common name  Taxon  Abundance 

Creeping Bent  Agrostis stolonifera  R 

Marsh Foxtail  Alopecurus geniculatus  R 

Marram  Ammophila arenaria  O 

Barren Brome  Anisantha sterilis  R 

Thrift  Armeria maritima  R 

False Oat‐Grass  Arrhenatherum elatius  R 

Grass‐leaved Orache  Atriplex littoralis  R 

Common Orache  Atriplex patula  R 

Sea‐purslane  Atriplex portulacoides  R 

Spear‐leaved Orache  Atriplex prostrata  F 

Oat  Avena sativa  R 

Sea Beet  Beta vulgaris subsp. maritima  O 

Trifid Bur‐marigold  Bidens tripartita  O 

Sea Club‐rush  Bolboschoenus maritimus  F 

a Cabbage  Brassica sp  R 

a Butterfly‐bush  Buddleja sp  R 

Sea Rocket  Cakile maritima  R 

Shepherd's‐purse  Capsella bursa‐pastoris  R 

Long‐bracted Sedge  Carex extensa  O 

False Fox‐sedge  Carex otrubae  R 

Whorl‐grass  Catabrosa aquatica  O 

Sea Fern‐grass  Catapodium marinum  R 

Red Valerian  Centranthus ruber  R 

Fat‐hen  Chenopodium album  R 

Creeping Thistle  Cirsium arvense  R 

a Scurvygrass  Cochlearia sp  R 

Buttonweed  Cotula coronopifolia  O/LF 

Rock Samphire  Crithmum maritimum  R 

Ivy‐leaved Toadflax  Cymbalaria muralis  R 

Cock's‐foot  Dactylis glomerata  R 

Annual Wall‐rocket  Diplotaxis muralis  O 

Sand Couch  Elymus junceiformis  O 

Common Couch  Elymus repens  O 

Great Willowherb  Epilobium hirsutum  O 

Hoary Willowherb  Epilobium parviflorum  O 

Field Horsetail  Equisetum arvense  R 

Sea‐holly  Eryngium maritimum  R 

Red Fescue  Festuca rubra  R 

Floating Sweet‐grass  Glyceria fluitans  R 

Sunflower  Helianthus annuus  R 

Hoary Mustard  Hirschfeldia incana  R 

Yorkshire‐fog  Holcus lanatus  R 

Page 231



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

21 
 

Common name  Taxon  Abundance 

Wall Barley  Hordeum murinum  R 

Cat's‐ear  Hypochaeris radicata  R 

Common Ragwort  Jacobaea vulgaris  R 

Saltmarsh Rush  Juncus gerardii  R 

Frog Rush  Juncus ranarius  F 

Lyme‐grass  Leymus arenarius  O 

Purple Toadflax  Linaria purpurea  R 

Perennial Rye‐grass  Lolium perenne  O/LF 

Duke of Argyll's Teaplant  Lycium barbarum  R 

Gypsywort  Lycopus europaeus  O 

Sea‐milkwort  Lysimachia maritima  F 

Pineappleweed  Matricaria discoidea  R 

Black Medick  Medicago lupulina  R 

a Watercress  Nasturtium sp  R/LA 

Red Goosefoot  Oxybasis rubra  R 

Long‐headed Poppy  Papaver dubium  R 

Common Poppy  Papaver rhoeas  R 

Hard‐grass  Parapholis strigosa  R 

Pellitory‐of‐the‐Wall  Parietaria judaica  R 

Water‐pepper  Persicaria hydropiper  R 

Redshank  Persicaria maculosa  R 

Reed Canary‐grass  Phalaris arundinacea  R 

Common Reed  Phragmites australis  R 

Buck's‐horn Plantain  Plantago coronopus  O 

Ribwort Plantain  Plantago lanceolata  R 

Greater Plantain  Plantago major  R 

Sea Plantain  Plantago maritima  O 

Annual Meadow‐grass  Poa annua  O/LF 

Knotgrass  Polygonum aviculare  O 

Ray's Knotgrass  Polygonum oxyspermum  O 

Water Bent  Polypogon viridis  R 

Silverweed  Potentilla anserina  R 

a cherry seedling  Prunus sp seedling  R 

Reflexed Saltmarsh‐grass  Puccinellia distans  R 

Common Saltmarsh‐grass  Puccinellia maritima  A 

Creeping Buttercup  Ranunculus repens  R 

Celery‐leaved Buttercup  Ranunculus sceleratus  R 

Sea Radish  Raphanus raphanistrum subsp. maritimus  R 

Clustered Dock  Rumex conglomeratus  R 

Curled Dock  Rumex crispus  O 

Procumbent Pearlwort  Sagina procumbens  R 

a Glasswort  Salicornia sp.  F 

Common Glasswort  Salicornia europaea  R 

a willow seedling  Salix sp (seedling)  O 

White Stonecrop  Sedum album  R 

Groundsel  Senecio vulgaris  O 

Page 232



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

22 
 

Common name  Taxon  Abundance 

Perennial Sow‐thistle  Sonchus arvensis  R 

Smooth Sow‐thistle  Sonchus oleraceus  R 

Common Cord‐grass  Spartina anglica  F 

Lesser Sea‐spurrey  Spergularia marina  O 

Greater Sea‐spurrey  Spergularia media  R 

Common Chickweed  Stellaria media  R 

Annual Sea‐blite  Suaeda maritima  O 

Dandelion  Taraxacum agg.  R 

Sea Arrowgrass  Triglochin maritima  F 

Marsh Arrowgrass  Triglochin palustris  F 

Sea Mayweed  Tripleurospermum maritimum  O 

Sea Aster  Tripolium pannonicum  F 

a Wheat  Triticum sp  R 

Colt's‐foot  Tussilago farfara  R 

a Bulrush  Typha sp (seedling)  R 

   

 Bryophytes   

 Marchantia polymorpha   

Page 233



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

23 
 

Table A1.2: List of species growing along the sea wall and immediately below, clearly not 

forming part of the main stands of vegetation on the beach area.  Abundances refer to 

the whole ‘strip’ of vegetation, and are noted using the DAFOR scale.  Please note: this is 

a sub-set of species which are all included in the whole-site species list at Table A1.1 

above. 

Taxon  Abundance 

Poa annua  F 

Puccinellia maritima  F 

Rumex crispus  F 

Senecio vulgaris  F 

Sonchus oleraceus  F 

Tripleurospermum maritimum  F 

Tripolium pannonicum  F 

Nasturtium sp  O/LA 

Agrostis stolonifera  O/LF 

Lolium perenne  O/LF 

Plantago coronopus  O/LF 

Ammophila arenaria  O 

Atriplex littoralis  O 

Atriplex patula  O 

Atriplex portulacoides  O 

Atriplex prostrata  O 

Beta vulgaris subsp maritima  O 

Bidens tripartita   O 

Buddleja sp (sapling)  O 

Cakile maritima  O 

Capsella bursa‐pastoris  O 

Carex extensa   O 

Catabrosa aquatica  O 

Cochlearia sp  O 

Cotula coronopifolia  O 

Crithmum maritimum  R 

Diplotaxis muralis  O 

Elymus junceiformis  O 

Elymus repens  O 

Epilobium hirsutum  O 

Epilobium parviflorum  O 

Helianthus annuus  O 

Juncus ranarius  O 

Leymus arenarius  O 

Lycopus europaeus  O 

Lysimachia maritima  O 

Parietaria judaica  O 

Persicaria maculosa  O 

Phragmites australis   O 

Page 234



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

24 
 

Taxon  Abundance 

Plantago major  O 

Plantago maritima  O 

Polygonum aviculare  O 

Polygonum oxyspermum  O 

Ranunculus sceleratus  O 

Salix sp (seedlings)  O 

Sonchus arvensis  O 

Stellaria media  O 

Suaeda maritima  O 

Taraxacum agg.  O 

Triglochin maritima  O 

Triglochin palustris  O 

Anisantha sterilis  R 

Arrhenatherum elatius   R 

Avena sativa  R 

Brassica sp  R 

Catapodium marinum  R 

Centranthus ruber  R 

Chenopodium album  R 

Cirsium arvense  R 

Cymbalaria muralis  R 

Dactylis glomerata  R 

Equisetum arvense  R 

Eryngium maritimum  R 

Festuca rubra  R 

Hirschfeldia incana  R 

Holcus lanatus  R 

Hordeum murinum  R 

Hypochaeris radicata  R 

Jacobaea vulgaris  R 

Linaria purpurea  R 

Lycium barbarum   R 

Matricaria discoidea  R 

Medicago lupulina   R 

Oxybasis rubra  R 

Papaver dubium  R 

Papaver rhoeas  R 

Persicaria hydropiper   R 

Polypogon viridis  R 

Prunus sp seedling  R 

Ranunculus repens  R 

Raphanus raphanistrum subsp maritimus  R 

Rumex conglomeratus   R 

Sagina procumbens  R 

Sedum album  R 

Page 235



Version: Draft 01  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

25 
 

Taxon  Abundance 

Triticum sp.  R 

   
Bryophytes   
Marchantia polymorpha   

 

 

 

Page 236



  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

1 
 

 

National Vegetation Classification 

(NVC) Survey  

Hoylake Shore 

APPENDIX 2 – TARGET NOTES 

 

 

Client: FAO: Jamie Gardiner 
HaskoningDHV UK Limited 
Edmund Street 
Liverpool 
L3 9NG 
 

Surveyor: Lucia Ruffino MSc,  
Bryn Afon, Byn Du,  
Ty Croes, LL63 5RN 
Telephone 07830177564 
Email: luciaruffino65@gmail.com 
 

Date of survey: 23rd to 26th August 2021 
 

Date of report: 14th October 2021 
 

Version: Final 01 
 

 

 

Page 237



  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

2 
 

Appendix 2 – Target Notes 

 

TN 
NO 

Eastings Northings Description 

1 320410 388482 Puccinellia maritima is establishing in stand of 
Spartina anglica.  One plant of Armeria maritima is 
present here, with Salicornia sp O and Tripolium 
pannonicum R.  

2 320418 388453 Band of Puccinellia maritima 1m to 1.5m wide.  
3 320566 388558 At this point there is no obvious vegetation seaward 

and only sparse vegetation by sea wall.  
4 320668 388619 Sparse vegetation.  Spartina anglica tussocks, 

Plantago coronopus R, Puccinellia maritima R, 
Triglochin palustre R, Bolboschoenus maritimus 
(young, developing plants) R.  

5 320711 388662 Very sparse vegetation - not exactly a stand or 
community.  Triglochin maritima O, Salicornia sp O, 
Puccinellia maritima O, Tripolium pannonicum R, 
Lysimachia maritima R, Suaeda maritima R, Spartina 
anglica R, Juncus ranarius R, Phragmites australis R.    

6 320747 388702 Stand of dead Puccinellia maritima.  Tussocks of 
Puccinellia maritima appear to have died - not clear 
whether naturally or due to human intervention.  The 
issue seems to be confined to a stretch of the beach 
approximately 220m long northeast and southwest of 
Beach Road.    

7 320906 388855 End of dead Puccinellia maritima.  
8 320886 388850 Small stand of young developing Bolboschoenus 

maritimus.  
9 321180 389173 Stand of Lysimachia maritima 3m x 2m.  
10 321186 389166 Small stand of young developing Bolboschoenus 

maritimus with Triglochin palustris, Puccinellia 
maritima and Triglochin maritima also present.   

11 321189 389162 Small stand of dense Lysimachia maritima (3m x 
1.5m).  Instead of being constant throughout, L 
maritima tends to occur in dense stands in a matrix 
of SM13a.  

TN 
NO 

Eastings Northings Description 

12 321225 389168 Stand of grassier vegetation in SM13a, with 
abundant Poa annua and frequent Lolium perenne.  
Puccinellia maritima is still present, at lower 
abundance.  

13 321269 389252 Small stand of Bolboschoenus maritimus.  
14 321265 389191 On slipway Catabrosa aquatica A, Nasturtium sp (no 

flowers) A.  

Page 238



  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

3 
 

15 321411 389416 Vegetation here is sparser.  Puccinellia maritima F, 
Suaeda maritima R, Spartina anglica R, Atriplex 
prostrata R.  

16 321524 389487 Area with Bolboschoenus maritimus A, Atriplex 
prostrata A, Suaeda maritima O, Elymus repens O, 
Triglochin maritima O, Triglochin palustris O, 
Tripleurospermum maritimum R, Spartina anglica R, 
Beta vulgaris subsp maritima R.  

17 321650 389611 Area with Bolboschoenus maritimus D, Triglochin 
palustris A, Puccinellia maritima F, Juncus ranarius F, 
Tripolium pannonicum F, Triglochin maritima F, 
Juncus gerardii cf O, Cotula coronopifolia R.  This is 
the largest stand of developing Bolboschoenus 
swamp and here B. maritimus is fully grown and 
flowering (approx 60cm high) and vegetation is 
dense.  

 

Page 239



  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

4 
 

 

P
age 240



  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

5 
 

 

P
age 241



  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

6 
 

 

P
age 242



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

 

  

 

Photograph 1: Stand of 

SM13a Puccinellia 

maritima saltmarsh 

community, sub-

community with Puccinellia 

maritima dominant 

(outlined in red).  

Photograph also shows 

strip of vegetation by the 

sea wall which is 

developing separately from 

the main stand of 

saltmarsh vegetation 

(outlined in yellow). 

 

P
age 243



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

 

  

 

Photograph 2: SM13a 

Puccinellia maritima 

saltmarsh community, 

sub-community with 

Puccinellia maritima 

dominant.   

 P
age 244



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

  

 

Photograph 3: SM6 

Spartina anglica saltmarsh 

community at the 

southwestern end of the 

site.   

 

P
age 245



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

 

 

Photograph 4: Young 

developing plants of 

Bolboschoenus maritimus. 

 

P
age 246



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

 

Photograph 5: stand of vegetation with abundant, fully grown Bolboschoenus maritimus in main stand of SM13a Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh 
community – see Target Note 17, Appendix 2.  

  

P
age 247



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

 

  

 

Photograph 6: Dead 

Puccinellia maritima seen 

during the NVC survey.  

Tussocks of Puccinellia 

maritima appear to have 

died - not clear whether 

naturally or due to human 

intervention.  The issue 

seems to be confined to a 

stretch of the beach 

approximately 220m long 

northeast and southwest 

of Beach Road.  See 

Target Note 6, Appendix 2. 

 

P
age 248



 Appendix 3 - Photographs  NVC Survey – Hoylake Shore 

 

 

Photograph 7: Dead 

Puccinellia maritima seen 

during the NVC survey.  

See Target Note 6, 

Appendix 2. 

 

P
age 249



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Quadrat No 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 26 27

Eastings 320344 320344 320837 320914 320981 320995 321045 321089 321153 321195 321181 321234 321289 321295 321346 321363 321357 321389 321429 321478 321506 321706 321626 321557

Northings 388473 388473 388786 388869 388918 389018 389045 389037 389106 389144 389191 389209 389230 389303 389317 389306 389372 389361 389389 389434 389477 389676 389588 389533

Community SM13a

Date 23/08/2021 23/08/2021 23/08/2021 23/08/2021 23/08/2021 23/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 24/08/2021 25/08/2021 26/08/2021 26/08/2021

Species Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

No of 

occurrences

Constancy

Puccinellia maritima  7 8 7 9 7 8 7 5 5 8 9 6 8 5 7 9 6 8 7 8 7 5 6 8 24 V 5 ‐ 9 1 4% I

1‐20% I

Triglochin palustris 3 2 4 3 3 2 5 3 2 5 3 3 4 2 3 5 16 IV 2 ‐ 5 21‐40% II 2 8% I

Triglochin maritima 2 2 1 4 2 3 1 1 2 1 2 11 III 1 ‐ 4 41‐60% III 3 13% I

Spartina anglica 1 2 1 3 4 3 2 7 II 1 ‐ 4 61‐80% IV 4 17% I

Tripolium pannonicum 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 7 II 1 ‐ 1 81‐100% V 5 21% II

Lysimachia maritima 3 3 5 3 1 4 6 II 1 ‐ 5 6 25% II

Juncus ranarius 2 5 1 4 3 3 2 1 3 9 II 1 ‐ 5 7 29% II

Bolboschoenus maritimus 1 2 3 2 3 3 6 II 1 ‐ 3 8 33% II

Cotula coronopifolia 2 3 1 2 2 5 II 1 ‐ 3 9 38% II

Suaeda maritima 1 1 1 1 4 I  1 ‐ 1 10 42% III

Plantago maritima 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1 11 46% III

Salicornia sp. 1 1 1 1 4 I 1 ‐ 1 12 50% III

Phragmites australis 1 1 2 I 1 ‐ 1 13 54% III

Atriplex prostrata 1 4 2 I 1 ‐ 4 14 58% III

Spergularia marina 5 2 2 I 2 ‐ 5 15 63% IV

Parapholis strigosa 1 3 2 I 1 ‐ 3 16 67% IV

Agrostis stolonifera 3 3 2 I 3 ‐ 3 17 71% IV

Plantago coronopus 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1 18 75% IV

Poa annua 2 1 2 3 I 1 ‐ 2 19 79% IV

Carex extensa 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1 20 83% V

Ranunculus sceleratus 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1 21 88% V

Rumex crispus 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1 22 92% V

Taraxacum agg 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1 23 96% V

Catabrosa aquatica 4 1 I 4 ‐ 4 24 100% V

Elymus repens 3 1 I 3 ‐ 3

Atriplex sp seedling 1 1 I 1 ‐ 1

Unidentifiable small seedlings 

(monocotyledons)
3 3

Bare sand % 60% 40% 60% 5% 20% 35% 55% 75% 45% 1% 5% 40% 25% 80% 50% 10% 70% 45% 50% 20% 55% 50% 0 40%

Litter cover Domin (including algae 

fragments and other debris)

2 4 2 3 0 1 3 0 0 3 0 2 0 3 1 0 3 2 0 5
0 5 7 * 0

Vegetation height cm 50 20 10 20 15 15 15 15 10 15 15 15 10 10 15 10 20 20 15 25 20 20 15 20

No of species per quadrat 4 5 4 4 5 3 4 4 8 8 3 6 8 4 7 9 1 3 3 11 4 5 6 2

Mean no of species per quadrat / range 5.04 1 ‐ 11

No of samples: 24

* includes 

standing 

water with 

algae

Domin range

Community:  SM13a Puccinellia maritima saltmarsh community, sub‐community with Puccinellia maritima dominant.  Data differs from NVC data as follows:  Armeria maritima, Atriplex portulacoides, Limonium sp and Spergularia media are absent 

from the site data, while they are recorded in the national NVC data, though at low frequency and/or cover.  Salicornia sp are under‐represented in the site data, whereas Triglochin palustris, Juncus ranarius, Bolboschoenus maritimus and Cotula 

coronopifolia are recorded here but not recorded in the NVC national data.  Armeria maritima is rare on this site (only 1 plant seen during the survey).

Quadrats SM13a

P
age 250



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Species Constancy

Puccinellia maritima  V 5 ‐ 9

Triglochin palustris IV 2 ‐ 5

Triglochin maritima III 1 ‐ 4

Spartina anglica II 1 ‐ 4

Tripolium pannonicum II 1 ‐ 1

Lysimachia maritima II 1 ‐ 5

Juncus ranarius II 1 ‐ 5

Bolboschoenus maritimus II 1 ‐ 3

Cotula coronopifolia II 1 ‐ 3

Suaeda maritima I  1 ‐ 1

Plantago maritima I 1 ‐ 1

Salicornia sp. I 1 ‐ 1

Phragmites australis I 1 ‐ 1

Atriplex prostrata I 1 ‐ 4

Spergularia marina I 2 ‐ 5

Parapholis strigosa I 1 ‐ 3

Agrostis stolonifera I 3 ‐ 3

Plantago coronopus I 1 ‐ 1

Poa annua I 1 ‐ 2

Carex extensa I 1 ‐ 1

Ranunculus sceleratus I 1 ‐ 1

Rumex crispus I 1 ‐ 1

Taraxacum agg I 1 ‐ 1

Catabrosa aquatica I 4 ‐ 4

Elymus repens I 3 ‐ 3

Atriplex sp seedling I 1 ‐ 1

Unidentifiable small seedlings (monocotyledons)

No of species per quadrat ‐ range 1 ‐ 11

Mean no of species per quadrat 5.04

No of samples: 24

Domin range

SM13a Constancy table
Page 251



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Quadrat No 1 9 25

Eastings 320351 320985 320409

Northings 388486 389078 388482

Community SM6 SM6 SM6

Comments 23/08/2021 24/08/2021 26/08/2021

Species Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Domin 

value

Spartina anglica 5 7 7

Suaeda maritima 1

Puccinellia maritima 3 5

Salicornia  sp. 1

Bare sand % 80% 60% 60%

Litter cover Domin (including algae 

fragments and other debris)

3 3 3

Vegetation height cm 40 25 50

No of species per quadrat 2 2 3

Mean no of species per quadrat / range 2.33 2 ‐ 3

No of samples: 3

Community:   SM6 Spartina anglica saltmarsh community.  Data is a good fit with the national 

NVC data.

Quadrats SM6
Page 252



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Eastings Northings Description Label as

320351 388486 Q1 SM6  SM6 23/08/2021

320344 388473 Q2 SM13a SM13a 23/08/2021

320395 388454 Q3 SM13a SM13a 23/08/2021

320837 388786 Q4 SM13a ‐ in dead 

Puccinellia maritima

SM13a 23/08/2021

320914 388869 Q5 SM13a SM13a 23/08/2021

320981 388918 Q6 SM13a SM13a 23/08/2021

320995 389018 Q7 SM13a SM13a 23/08/2021

321045 389045 Q8 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

320985 389078 Q9 SM6 SM6 24/08/2021

321089 389037 Q10 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321153 389106 Q11 SM13a  SM13a 24/08/2021

321195 389144 Q12 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321181 389191 Q13 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321234 389209 Q14 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321289 389230 Q15 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321295 389303 Q16 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321348 389317 Q17 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321363 389306 Q18 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321357 389372 Q19 SM13a  SM13a 24/08/2021

321389 389361 Q20 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321429 389389 Q21 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321478 389434 Q22 SM13a  SM13a 24/08/2021

321506 389477 Q23 SM13a SM13a 24/08/2021

321706 389676 Q24 SM13a SM13a 25/08/2021

320409 388482 Q25 SM6 SM6 25/08/2021

321626 389588 Q26 SM13a SM13a 26/08/2021

321557 389533 Q27 SM13a SM13a 26/08/2021

Quadrat locations
Page 253



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Eastings Northings Description Date TN NO

320410 388482 Puccinellia maritima is establishing in stand of Spartina anglica.  One 

plant of Armeria maritima is present here, with Salicornia sp O and 

Tripolium pannonicum R.

25/08/2021 1

320418 388453 Band of Puccinellia maritima 1m to 1.5m wide. 25/08/2021 2

320566 388558 At this point there is no obvious vegetation seaward and only sparse 

vegetation by sea wall.

25/08/2021 3

320668 388619 Sparse vegetation.  Spartina anglica tussocks, Plantago coronopus R, 

Puccinellia maritima R, Triglochin palustre R, Bolboschoenus maritimus 

(young, developing plants) R 

23/08/2021 4

320711 388662 Very sparse veg ‐ not exactly a stand or community.  Triglochin maritima 

O, Salicornia sp O, Puccinellia maritima O, Tripolium pannonicum R, 

Lysimachia maritima R, Suaeda maritima R, Spartina anglica R, Juncus 

ranarius R, Phragmites australis R.  

23/08/2021 5

320747 388702 Stand of dead Puccinellia maritima.  Tussocks of Puccinellia maritima 

appear to have died ‐  not clear whether naturally or due to human 

intervention.  The issue seems to be confined to a stretch of the beach 

approximately 220m long northeast and southwest of Beach Road.  

23/08/2021 6

320906 388855 End of dead Puccinellia maritima 23/08/2021 7

320886 388850 Small stand of young developing Bolboschoenus maritimus. 23/08/2021 8

321180 389173 Stand of Lysimachia maritima 3m x 2m 24/08/2021 9

321186 389166 Small stand of young developing Bolboschoenus maritimum with 

Triglochin palustris, Puccinellia maritima and Triglochin maritima also 

present

24/08/2021 10

321189 389162 Small stand of dense Lysimachia maritima (3m x 1.5m).  Instead of being 

constant throughout, L maritima tends to occur in dense stands in a 

matrix of SM13a. 

24/08/2021 11

321225 389168 Stand of grassier vegetation in SM13a, with abundant Poa annua and 

frequent Lolium perenne.  Puccinellia maritima is still present, at lower 

abundance.

24/08/2021 12

321269 389252 Small stand of Bolboschoenus mar 24/08/2021 13

321265 389191 On slipway Catabrosa aquatica A, Nasturtium sp (no flowers) A. 14

321411 389416 Vegetation here is sparser.  Puccinellia maritima F, Suaeda maritima R, 

Spartina anglica R, Atriplex prostrata R.

24/08/2021 15

321524 389487 Area with Bolboschoenus maritimum A, Atriplex prostrata A, Suaeda 

maritima O, Elymus repens O, Triglochin maritima O, Triglochin palustris 

O, Tripleurospermum maritimum R, Spartina anglica R, Beta vulgaris 

subsp maritima R.

24/08/2021 16

321650 389611 Area with Bolboschoenus maritimum D, Triglochin palustris A, 

Puccinellia maritima F, Juncus ranarius F, Tripolium pannonicum F, 

Triglochin maritima F, Juncus gerardii cf O, Cotula coronopifolia R.  This 

is the largest stand of developing Bolboschoenus swamp and here B 

maritimum is fully grown and flowering (approx 60cm high) and 

vegetation is dense.

25/08/2021 17

Target notes

Page 254



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Taxon Abundance Taxon Abundance

Poa annua F Triglochin palustris O

Puccinellia maritima F Anisantha sterilis R

Rumex crispus F Arrhenatherum elatius  R

Senecio vulgaris F Avena sativa R

Sonchus oleraceus F Brassica sp R

Tripleurospermum maritimum F Catapodium marinum R

Tripolium pannonicum F Centranthus ruber R

Nasturtium sp O/LA Chenopodium album R

Agrostis stolonifera O/LF Cirsium arvense R

Lolium perenne O/LF Cymbalaria muralis R

Plantago coronopus O/LF Dactylis glomerata R

Ammophila arenaria O Equisetum arvense R

Atriplex littoralis O Eryngium maritimum R

Atriplex patula O Festuca rubra R

Atriplex portulacoides O Hirschfeldia incana R

Atriplex prostrata O Holcus lanatus R

Beta vulgaris subsp maritima O Hordeum murinum R

Bidens tripartita  O Hypochaeris radicata R

Buddleja sp (sapling) O Jacobaea vulgaris R

Cakile maritima O Linaria purpurea R

Capsella bursa‐pastoris O Lycium barbarum  R

Carex extensa  O Matricaria discoidea R

Catabrosa aquatica O Medicago lupulina  R

Cochlearia sp O Oxybasis rubra R

Cotula coronopifolia O Papaver dubium R

Crithmum maritimum R Papaver rhoeas R

Diplotaxis muralis O Persicaria hydropiper  R

Elymus junceiformis O Polypogon viridis R

Elymus repens O Prunus sp seedling R

Epilobium hirsutum O Ranunculus repens R

Epilobium parviflorum O Raphanus raphanistrum subsp maritimus R

Helianthus annuus O Rumex conglomeratus  R

Juncus ranarius O Sagina procumbens R

Leymus arenarius O Sedum album R

Lycopus europaeus O Triticum sp. R

Lysimachia maritima O

Parietaria judaica O Bryophytes

Persicaria maculosa O Marchantia polymorpha

Phragmitis australis  O

Plantago major O

Plantago maritima O

Polygonum aviculare O

Polygonum oxyspermum O

Ranunculus sceleratus O

Salix sp (seedlings) O

Sonchus arvensis O

Stellaria media O

Suaeda maritima O

Taraxacum agg. O

Triglochin maritima O

Vegetation along sea wall

Page 255



Appendix D Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Common name Taxon Abundance

Creeping Bent Agrostis stolonifera R

Marsh Foxtail Alopecurus geniculatus R

Marram Ammophila arenaria O

Barren Brome Anisantha sterilis R

Thrift Armeria maritima R

False Oat‐Grass Arrhenatherum elatius R

Grass‐leaved Orache Atriplex littoralis R

Common Orache Atriplex patula R

Sea‐purslane Atriplex portulacoides R

Spear‐leaved Orache Atriplex prostrata F

Oat Avena sativa R

Sea Beet Beta vulgaris subsp. maritima O

Trifid Bur‐marigold Bidens tripartita O

Sea Club‐rush Bolboschoenus maritimus F

a Cabbage Brassica sp R

a Butterfly‐bush Buddleja sp R

Sea Rocket Cakile maritima R

Shepherd's‐purse Capsella bursa‐pastoris R

Long‐bracted Sedge Carex extensa O

False Fox‐sedge Carex otrubae R

Whorl‐grass Catabrosa aquatica O

Sea Fern‐grass Catapodium marinum R

Red Valerian Centranthus ruber R

Fat‐hen Chenopodium album R

Creeping Thistle Cirsium arvense R

a Scurvygrass Cochlearia sp R

Buttonweed Cotula coronopifolia O/LF

Rock Samphire Crithmum maritimum R

Ivy‐leaved Toadflax Cymbalaria muralis R

Cock's‐foot Dactylis glomerata R

Annual Wall‐rocket Diplotaxis muralis O

Sand Couch Elymus junceiformis O

Common Couch Elymus repens O

Great Willowherb Epilobium hirsutum O

Hoary Willowherb Epilobium parviflorum O

Field Horsetail Equisetum arvense R

Sea‐holly Eryngium maritimum R

Red Fescue Festuca rubra R

Floating Sweet‐grass Glyceria fluitans R

Sunflower Helianthus annuus R

Hoary Mustard Hirschfeldia incana R

Yorkshire‐fog Holcus lanatus R

Wall Barley Hordeum murinum R

Cat's‐ear Hypochaeris radicata R

Common Ragwort Jacobaea vulgaris R

Saltmarsh Rush Juncus gerardii R

Frog Rush Juncus ranarius F

Lyme‐grass Leymus arenarius O

Purple Toadflax Linaria purpurea R

Perennial Rye‐grass Lolium perenne O/LF

Duke of Argyll's Teaplant Lycium barbarum R

Gypsywort Lycopus europaeus O

Sea‐milkwort Lysimachia maritima F

Pineappleweed Matricaria discoidea R

Site species list
Page 256



Appendix D Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore NVC Survey

Common name Taxon Abundance

Black Medick Medicago lupulina R

a Watercress Nasturtium sp R/LA

Red Goosefoot Oxybasis rubra R

Long‐headed Poppy Papaver dubium R

Common Poppy Papaver rhoeas R

Hard‐grass Parapholis strigosa R

Pellitory‐of‐the‐Wall Parietaria judaica R

Water‐pepper Persicaria hydropiper R

Redshank Persicaria maculosa R

Reed Canary‐grass Phalaris arundinacea R

Common Reed Phragmites australis R

Buck's‐horn Plantain Plantago coronopus O

Ribwort Plantain Plantago lanceolata R

Greater Plantain Plantago major R

Sea Plantain Plantago maritima O

Annual Meadow‐grass Poa annua O/LF

Knotgrass Polygonum aviculare O

Ray's Knotgrass Polygonum oxyspermum O

Water Bent Polypogon viridis R

Silverweed Potentilla anserina R

a cherry seedling Prunus sp seedling R

Reflexed Saltmarsh‐grass Puccinellia distans R

Common Saltmarsh‐grass Puccinellia maritima A

Creeping Buttercup Ranunculus repens R

Celery‐leaved Buttercup Ranunculus sceleratus R

Sea Radish Raphanus raphanistrum subsp. maritimus R

Clustered Dock Rumex conglomeratus R

Curled Dock Rumex crispus O

Procumbent Pearlwort Sagina procumbens R

a Glasswort Salicornia sp. F

Common Glasswort Salicornia europaea R

a willow seedling Salix sp (seedling) O

White Stonecrop Sedum album R

Groundsel Senecio vulgaris O

Perennial Sow‐thistle Sonchus arvensis R

Smooth Sow‐thistle Sonchus oleraceus R

Common Cord‐grass Spartina anglica F

Lesser Sea‐spurrey Spergularia marina O

Greater Sea‐spurrey Spergularia media R

Common Chickweed Stellaria media R

Annual Sea‐blite Suaeda maritima O

Dandelion Taraxacum agg. R

Sea Arrowgrass Triglochin maritima F

Marsh Arrowgrass Triglochin palustris F

Sea Mayweed Tripleurospermum maritimum O

Sea Aster Tripolium pannonicum F

a Wheat Triticum sp R

Colt's‐foot Tussilago farfara R

a Bulrush Typha sp  (seedling) R

Bryophytes

Marchantia polymorpha

Site species list
Page 257



Appendix 4 Vegetation Data Hoylake Shore  NVC Survey

Community  Area m2 Area ha

SM13a 107860.69 10.79

SM6 6006.58 0.60

Areas
Page 258



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

18 February 2022   PC2553-ZZ-XX-RP-Z-0001 53  

 

Appendix C: Natural Capital Value Assessment 

 
 
 

Page 259



 

 

 

 

 

Ecosystem service modelling assessment for Hoylake Beach 

Authors: Luke Bentley, Sandra Angers‐Blondin, Colm Bowe (Liverpool John Moores University) 

8th February 2022 

Context 

Natural capital is defined as the “elements of nature that directly or indirectly produce value or benefits 

to people, including ecosystems, species, freshwater, land, minerals, the air and oceans, as well as 

natural processes and functions”1. Ecosystem services are defined as being “the aspects of ecosystems 

utilized (actively or passively) to produce human well‐being”2. 

The major benefits of natural capital to humans include ecosystem services such as: the supply of timber 

from trees, the supply of fish for consumption, erosion control, crop pollination, water filtration, carbon 

storage to reduce the impact of climate change, noise reduction, air pollution reduction and the 

maintenance of greenspaces and biodiversity for the benefit of ecosystems and human recreation, with 

benefits to mental and physical health. Natural capital is therefore critically important for the 

maintenance of a high quality of life for human populations. 

In this study, we use ecosystem service models to examine the change in ecosystem service provision 

from Hoylake Beach in its current state compared to projected future states of the beach caused by 

climate change‐induced sea level rise, natural sediment accretion and possible future beach 

management scenarios. 

Methodology 

Natural capital baseline 

EcoservR is a natural capital mapping toolkit that measures ecosystem services from a habitat map 

generated from national datasets which are openly accessible to the public or available under public 

 
1 Natural Capital Committee. 2014. Towards a Framework for Defining and Measuring Changes in Natural Capital. Working Paper 1, Natural Capital 

Committee. 
2 Fisher, B., Turner, R. K., Morling, P. 2009. Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. Ecological Economics, 68(3): 643‐653. 

Page 260



sector agreements. The tool is a modernised version of Ecoserv‐GIS, which was originally developed at 

the Durham Wildlife Trust in 2013 but had become obsolete.  

The original documentation for Ecoserv‐GIS contains literature reviews and step‐by‐step explanations 

for the data processing of the natural capital baseline and ecosystem service models3, which have been 

summarised in this document.  

The baseline map used for this exercise is an updated version of the Liverpool City Region Natural 

Capital Baseline4 which draws on the following datasets to derive an ecological habitat classification: 

 OS MasterMap Topography  

 OS MasterMap Greenspace  

 OS Open Greenspace 

 CORINE Land Cover 2018 

 National Forest Inventory 2019 

 Priority Habitat Inventory 

 Crop Map of England 2019 

 Digital terrain model (5‐m resolution) 

 Hedgerows 

The baseline (habitat) map was manually updated with the extents of dense and less dense saltmarsh as 

recorded during a NVC habitat survey in 2021, to reflect the current coastal habitats at Hoylake beach 

more accurately. 

Mapping scenarios 

The natural capital baseline (habitat map) was modified based on the predictions for future vegetation 

and tideline locations in 10, 20 and 50 years’ time under a medium emissions 50th percentile sea‐level 

rise UKCP18 scenario. This was carried out on two hypothetical shoreline management scenarios: a “do 

nothing” scenario where the shoreline is left to develop naturally, and a “do everything” scenario 

whereby the shoreline is kept free of all vegetation. All analyses were undertaken for the area of beach 

accretion and potential management (white box, Figure 1). 

For the “do nothing” scenario, the predicted extent of dense and less dense saltmarsh (at t = 10y, 20y 

and 50y) were merged onto the baseline map to reflect projected changes in the landscape (Figure 1B). 

Furthermore, all sandy ground between the high astronomical tide line and the sea wall was converted 

to sand dunes (open dunes for t = 10 and t = 20, grassy dunes for t = 50) to reflect natural succession if 

no vegetation controls were applied. 

For the “do everything” scenario, the area classified as saltmarsh and sand dune in the “do nothing” 

scenario are classified as intertidal sand / mudflat habitat to reflect the outcome of intensive 

management designed to remove vegetation on the beach (Figure 1C).

 
3 Winn, J.P., Bellamy, C.C. & Fisher, T. 2018. EcoServ‐GIS: a toolkit for mapping ecosystem 

services. Scottish Natural Heritage Research Report No. 954. https://www.nature.scot/doc/naturescot‐research‐report‐954‐ecoserv‐gis‐v33‐toolkit‐
mapping‐ecosystem‐services‐gb‐scale  

4 Holt, A., Rouquette, J., Bowe, C., Busdieker, K., Angers‐Blondin, S. 2020. Baseline natural capital assessment for the Liverpool City Region. 

Page 261



 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1. Current habitat baseline for Hoylake beach (A) and predicted evolution over time under “do nothing” (B) and “do everything” (C) scenarios. The white box denotes the region 
within which beach accretion and potential management will occur in the future, and all results are reported for this area. 

P
age 262



Modelling ecosystem service provision 

Carbon sequestration 

Vegetation captures CO2 through photosynthesis. Carbon sequestration refers to the net rate (amount 

of carbon per unit area and per unit of time) of uptake. Creating and maintaining natural sinks of carbon 

is important in tackling climate change.  

Semi‐natural habitats are assigned a carbon (C) sequestration value (tons C (tC) per ha per year) 

representing the amount of carbon that is drawn down or released annually per unit area. Negative 

values represent sequestration (sinks) and positive values represent emission (sources). These values 

are averages taken from the scientific literature, and do not consider habitat condition, land 

management, or the specific soil type at the location. The model does not consider emissions from built‐

up areas. 

Average values for carbon sequestration capacity in coastal habitats are presented in Table 1. A rate of 

sequestration for less dense saltmarsh of 70% the rate of denser marsh was assumed.  

Table 1. Carbon storage and sequestration values for coastal habitats 

Habitat  Carbon storage  
(tC ha‐1) 

Carbon sequestration  
(tC ha‐1 y‐1) 

Source 

Intertidal sediments   11.9  ‐2.0  Gregg et al. 20215, Armstrong 
et al. 2020 6 

Salt marsh, less dense  39.1  ‐3.6  Ford et al. 20197, Gregg et al. 
2021 

Salt marsh, dense  40.8  ‐5.2  Ford et al. 2019, Gregg et al. 
2021 

Sand dunes, open  0.01  ‐2.18  Gregg et al. 2021 
Sand dunes, grassy  6.01  ‐2.18  Gregg et al. 2021 

 

Carbon storage 

Part of the carbon drawn up by vegetation accumulates in plant tissues and is incorporated into the soil 

over time.   

Semi‐natural habitats are assigned a carbon storage value (tC per ha) representing the amount of carbon 

that can be stored by this vegetation type and the top 30cm of soil. These values are averages taken 

from the scientific literature, and do not consider habitat condition, land management, or the specific 

soil type at the location.  

 
5 Gregg, R., Elias, J. L., Alonso, I., Crosher, I.E. , Muto, P., and Morecroft, M.D. 2021. Carbon storage and sequestration by habitat: a review of the 

evidence (second edition) Natural England Research Report NERR094. Natural England, York. 
6 Armstrong, S., Hull, S., Pearson, Z., Wilson, R. and Kay, S. 2020. Estimating the Carbon Sink Potential of the Welsh Marine Environment. NRW, Cardiff, 

74p 
7 Ford, H., Garbutt, A., Duggan‐Edwards, M., Harvey, R., Ladd, C., and Skov, M. W. 2019. Large‐scale predictions of salt‐marsh carbon stock based on 

simple observations of plant community and soil type. Biogeosciences, 16(2), 425‐436. 

Page 263



Average values for carbon storage capacity (Table 1) in saltmarshes were obtained from a study in Wales 

with similar saltmarshes and for which carbon stock and root density measurements were available. We 

used the values for Puccinellia maritima communities (the dominant community at Hoylake) and 

extracted the linear prediction of carbon stock using the 25th and 75th percentile of root density (for less 

dense and dense saltmarsh, respectively) from a linear regression.  

Carbon storage was only estimated for the T3 –50 year time period. This was due to the uncertainty of 

the rate of carbon accumulation over the other time periods.  

Air purification 

Air pollution is a major health concern. Vegetation can trap particulate matter and other airborne 

pollutants and therefore improve air quality locally. 

This model assigns scores (0‐100) to habitat types based on their relative capacity to trap pollutants and 

improve air quality. Taller, denser vegetation (especially evergreen) scores the highest. Therefore the 

best habitats for this service are woodland (especially coniferous), with scrubland and other semi‐

natural habitats scoring lower. Built‐up areas are considered to have a score of 0. Because the benefits 

that a habitat provides may be felt a certain distance away from the habitat itself, focal statistics sum 

the scores at A) a short (20 m) and B) local (100 m) range. The two are then combined (summed) to 

produce the final capacity map. Patches smaller than 100m2 are removed as they are unlikely to provide 

the service to any meaningful extent. 

Access to nature 

Access to greenspaces is important for physical and mental wellbeing. People are more likely to visit 

sites close to their place of residence and are more attracted to greenspaces with a higher perceived 

naturalness.  

This model extracts pavements and greenspace features deemed publicly accessible from the habitat 

map, and supplements them with Public Rights of Way, Open Country and Registered Common Land 

(CRoW Act 2000), Local Nature Reserves and National Nature Reserves locations. Naturalness scores are 

assigned to each habitat so that “wilder” or more complex habitats are rated as more attractive. 

Because the benefits that a habitat provides may be felt a certain distance away from the habitat itself, 

focal statistics sum the scores at a local (300m) range. Patches smaller than 500m2 are removed as they 

are unlikely to provide the service to any meaningful extent. 

High and equal naturalness scores were assumed for saltmarsh and sandflats, as both habitats are 

attractive to people for various reasons (recreation, exercise, wildlife watching, etc). It was assumed 

that there were no access restrictions in place for either saltmarsh or sandflats under either scenario. In 

practice, some areas might not be accessible to the public for safety reasons, or future management 

plans may set aside areas for conservation, which may limit access provision. 

Pollination 

Wild pollinators can contribute to the pollination of crops, and form part of a place’s biodiversity.  

This model provides a probability of pollinators visiting based on the proximity of suitable habitats. Core 

habitats (semi‐natural grasslands, heathlands, scrub, hedgerows, gardens) and edge habitats 

Page 264



(woodlands; suitable for nesting when within 20m of core habitats) are selected from the habitat map. 

Distances to habitats are calculated (up to 668m which is considered the maximum flight distance) and 

converted to a visitation probability score (which decreases with increasing distance to habitats). For 

this study saltmarsh and sand dunes are assumed to be core habitats.  

Noise regulation 

Major roads, railways, airports, and industrial areas can create substantial amounts of noise, which in 

turn is an environmental health hazard. Vegetation can dampen and block noise, improving conditions 

for people living near noise sources. 

This model assigns relative scores (0‐100) to habitat types based on their relative capacity to reduce 

noise. Built‐up areas are considered to have a score of 0. Because the benefits that a habitat provides 

may be felt a certain distance away from the habitat itself, focal statistics sum the scores at A) a short 

(30m) and B) local (300m) range. The two are then combined (summed) to produce the final capacity 

map. Patches smaller than 500m2 are removed as they are unlikely to provide the service to any 

meaningful extent. 

Climate regulation 

Heat waves pose risk to human health, especially in urban areas where a heat island effect may develop. 

Landscape features which provide shade or are able to absorb heat can help mitigate this effect. 

This model assigns relative scores (0‐100) to habitat types based on their relative capacity to cool down 

their surroundings. Areas with trees (shade) and bodies of water are especially good at this. Because the 

benefits that a habitat provides may be felt a certain distance away from the habitat itself, focal 

statistics sum the scores at a local (300m) range. Because smaller patches will have less of an impact on 

their surroundings than large patches, a series of buffers are then used as masks to constrain the cooling 

scores around the features that provide them (< 2ha: 20m | 2‐5ha: 40m | 5‐10ha: 80m | > 10ha: 100m). 

Results 

Habitat change 

Under the ‘do nothing’ scenario, sand is predicted to progressively give way to saltmarsh and sand dune 

habitats (Table 2).  

Under the ‘do everything’ scenario, the area of sand is predicted to remain the same, as vegetation is 

continually removed (Table 3).  

 

 

 

 

Page 265



Table 2. Change in area in hectares of the four habitat types under the ‘do nothing’ scenario at t = 10, 20 and 50 
years. 

      Area (ha) (and change from baseline) 

Habitat  Baseline  t1  t2  t3 

Sand / mud flats  183.36  171.99  (‐11.38)  158.02  (‐25.34)  92.62  (‐90.74) 

Salt marsh, less dense  6.85  12.31  (+5.46)  16.04  (+9.19)  26.46  (+19.60) 

Salt marsh, dense  4.85  10.56  (+5.72)  20.36  (+15.52)  70.72  (+65.87) 

Sand dunes  0.00  0.21  (+0.21)  0.66  (+0.66)  5.29  (+5.29) 
 

Table 3. Change in area in hectares of four important habitat types under the ‘do everything’ scenario at t = 10, 20 
and 50 years. 

      Area (ha) (and change from baseline) 

Habitat  Baseline  t1  t2  t3 

Sand / mud flats  183.36  195.06  (+11.70)  195.07  (+11.71)  195.08  (+11.72) 

Salt marsh, less dense  6.85  0.00  (‐6.85)  0.00  (‐6.85)  0.00  (‐6.85) 

Salt marsh, dense  4.85  0.00  (‐4.85)  0.00  (‐4.85)  0.00  (‐4.85) 

 

Change in ecosystem services 

Carbon sequestration 

Under the “do nothing” scenario, the carbon sequestration rate is predicted to increase progressively 

over time as the vegetation communities develop, and to be 59% higher (additional 245 tC per year) in 

50 years compared to the current‐day baseline (Table 4, Figure 2).  

Table 4. Predicted current and future annual rate of carbon sequestration (tC per year) by the main habitat types 
at Hoylake beach under a “do nothing” scenario. (t1= after 10 years, t2= after 20 years, t3= after 50 years) 

   Carbon sequestration (tonnes C / year) 

Habitat  Baseline  t1  t2  t3 

Sand / mud flats  363.1  340.5  312.9  183.4 

Saltmarsh  50.0  99.5  163.9  463.0 

Sand dune  NA  0.5  1.4  11.5 

Total  413.1  440.5  478.2  658.0 
 

 

Page 266



 

Figure 2. Predicted current and future annual rate of carbon sequestration (tC per year) by the main habitat types 
at Hoylake beach under a “do nothing” scenario. (t1= after 10 years, t2= after 20 years, t3= after 50 years) (NB: 
sand dunes are present at t1 and t2, but in such a small proportion that their contribution is very small compared 
to the other main habitats) 

Under the “do everything” scenario, the carbon sequestration rate is predicted to decrease after the 

removal of saltmarsh, and then to remain constant. The future annual rate is expected to be around 6% 

lower (‐27 tC/year) than the current‐day baseline (Table 5, Figure 3).  

Table 5. Predicted current and future annual rate of carbon sequestration (tC per year) by the main habitat types 
at Hoylake beach under a “do everything” scenario. (t1= after 10 years, t2= after 20 years, t3= after 50 years). 

   Carbon sequestration (tonnes C / year) 

Habitat  Baseline  t1  t2  t3 

Sand / mud flats  363.1  386.2  386.2  386.3 

Saltmarsh  50.0  0  0  0 

Total  413.1  386.2  386.2  386.3 
 

 

Figure 3. Predicted current and future annual rate of carbon sequestration (tC per year) by the main habitat types 
at Hoylake beach under a “do everything” scenario. (t1= after 10 years, t2= after 20 years, t3= after 50 years). 

Page 267



Carbon storage potential  

Carbon storage refers to the stock of carbon locked in vegetation and soils over longer periods of time 

(at least 30 years in our models). Based on the final habitat map (landscape in 50 years’ time) and 

assuming the habitats have by then reached a relatively mature state, carbon stocks have been 

predicted to increase by 2406 tonnes under the “do nothing” scenario, a 91% increase from the present 

stock (Table 6). Under the “do everything” scenario, a decrease of 326 tonnes has been predicted, 

translating into a loss of 12% of baseline stocks (Table 7).  

Table 6. Projected carbon storage beyond t3 (50 years) under a “do nothing” scenario. 

   Carbon storage (tC) 

Habitat  Baseline  Long‐term (50+ years) 

Sand / mud flats  2182.0  1102.2 

Saltmarsh  465.6  3919.6 

Sand dune  0  31.8 

Total  2647.6  5053.6 

 

Table 7. Projected carbon storage beyond t3 (50 years) under a “do everything” scenario. 

   Carbon storage (tC) 

Habitat  Baseline  Long‐term (50+ years) 

Sand / mud flats  2182.0  2321.4 

Saltmarsh  465.6  0 

Total  2647.6  2321.4 

 

Other ecosystem services 

The provision of ecosystem services generally increased over time under the ‘do nothing’ scenario 

(Table 8). In particular, there were large score increases for the air purification, noise pollution 

reduction, green space access and pollination ecosystem services. Climate amelioration (cooling effect) 

had no change in score. 

Table 8. Change in average ecosystem service score of five important ecosystem services under the ‘do nothing’ 
scenario at t = 10, 20 and 50 years. For each service, score maps were rescaled to a 0‐100 range before calculating 
the average score over the study area, with 100 being the highest capacity.  

   Average ES score (and change from baseline) 

Ecosystem service  Baseline  t1  t2  t3 

Green space access  4.85  9.04  (+4.19)  14.65  (+9.80)  44.23  (+39.38) 

Air purification  6.28  11.78  (+5.50)  18.53  (+12.25)  50.81  (+44.52) 

Climate amelioration  0.00  0.00   (0)  0.00   (0)  0.00   (0) 

Noise pollution  7.07  11.27  (+4.20)  16.90  (+9.83)  46.86  (+39.79) 

Pollination  55.38  60.94  (+5.56)  67.58  (+12.20)  89.53  (+34.16) 

 

Page 268



The provision of ecosystem services predominantly decreased under the ‘do everything’ scenario (Table 

9). Green space access was the only service with a projected increase, while scores decreased for air 

purification, noise pollution reduction and pollination. Climate amelioration (cooling effect) had no 

change in score. 

Table 9. Change in average ecosystem service score of six important ecosystem services under the ‘do everything’ 
scenario at t = 10, 20 and 50 years. For each service, score maps were rescaled to a 0‐100 range before calculating 
the average score over the study area, with 100 being the highest capacity.  

   Average ES score (and change from baseline) 

Ecosystem service  Baseline  t1  t2  t3 

Green space access  4.85  9.04  (+4.19)  14.65  (+9.80)  44.23  (+39.38) 

Air purification  6.28  1.45   (‐4.84)  1.45   (‐4.84)  1.45   (‐4.84) 

Climate amelioration  0.00  0.00   (0)  0.00   (0)  0.00   (0) 

Noise pollution  7.07  3.48   (‐3.60)  3.48   (‐3.60)  3.48   (‐3.60) 

Pollination  55.38  46.02   (‐9.35)  46.02   (‐9.35)  46.02   (‐9.35) 

 

Air purification change under a ‘do nothing’ scenario is provided in the following figure (Figure 4), giving 

an example of how ecosystem service scores spatially change over the study area. As expected, scores 

increase over the new saltmarsh habitat that establishes under a ‘do nothing’ scenario, leading to an 

overall increase in air purification capacity for Hoylake beach. 

Take‐away messages 

 Carbon sequestration and storage potential are expected to increase strongly if areas of 

vegetation increase and it further colonises the site, with an additional 245 tC sequestered every 

year and a near doubling of current carbon stocks after 50 years.  

 Carbon sequestration and storage potential are expected to decrease slightly if vegetation is 

prevented from establishing, with a 6% lower sequestration capacity and a loss of around 326 tC 

from current carbon stocks.  

 The provision of ecosystem services is broadly predicted to increase if areas of vegetation 

increase and it further colonises the site, with green space access, air purification, noise 

pollution reduction and pollination showing increasing capacity over time. 

 The provision of ecosystem services is broadly predicted to decrease if vegetation is prevented 

from establishing, with pollination, noise pollution reduction and air purification showing a 

decreasing trend over time. The exception is access to nature which is expected to increase. 

 

 

Page 269



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4. Change in air purification capacity score at (A) t1, (B) t2 and (C) t3. Greens denote an increase in air purification capacity, while reds denote a decrease. 

P
age 270



 

 

 

Royal HaskoningDHV is an independent, international engineering and project management consultancy 
with over 138 years of experience. Our professionals deliver services in the fields of aviation, buildings, 
energy, industry, infrastructure, maritime, mining, transport, urban and rural development and water.  
 
Backed by expertise and experience of 6,000 colleagues across the world, we work for public and private 
clients in over 140 countries. We understand the local context and deliver appropriate local solutions.  
 
We focus on delivering added value for our clients while at the same time addressing the challenges that 
societies are facing. These include the growing world population and the consequences for towns and 
cities; the demand for clean drinking water, water security and water safety; pressures on traffic and 
transport; resource availability and demand for energy and waste issues facing industry.  
 
We aim to minimise our impact on the environment by leading by example in our projects, our own 
business operations and by the role we see in “giving back” to society. By showing leadership in 
sustainable development and innovation, together with our clients, we are working to become part of the 
solution to a more sustainable society now and into the future. 
 
Our head office is in the Netherlands, other principal offices are in the United Kingdom, South Africa and 
Indonesia. We also have established offices in Thailand, India and the Americas; and we have a long
standing presence in Africa and the Middle East. 

 

royalhaskoningdhv.com 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 

Natural England’s statutory purpose, as set out in the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

Act 2006, is to ensure that the natural environment is conserved, enhanced and managed for the 

benefit of present and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  Our 

role includes providing advice to others, being a regulator and working in partnership with others 

including public bodies. 

The following information forms the basis of Natural England’s advice related to the challenges 

Wirral Council are facing in managing the Wirral coastline. In providing this we recognise the 

environment is dynamic, there are statutory requirements and strong interests and views which are 

often in conflict. It should also be noted that in the intertidal area there may be other statutory 

bodies that may need to be consulted, such as the Environment Agency and Marine Management 

Organisation. 

Natural England’s advice is provided in the following sections: 

 Summary of statutory sites on the Wirral coastline 

 Statutory sites at Hoylake 

 Coastal dynamics 

 Factors driving growth of foreshore vegetation 

 Vegetation control 

 Drainage 

 Wider values and opportunities 

 Issues that could be picked up within a wider plan 

 Ideas for way forward 

Natural England advice is provided from the perspective of its statutory role in giving advice on 

protected sites. 

Summary of statutory sites on the Wirral coastline 

 Nearly the whole of the Wirral coastline is covered by a range of overlapping statutory 

designations including nationally important Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and 

international Special Protection Areas (SPA), Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar 

Wetland sites. 

 The SSSIs of Wirral coastline are: Mersey Estuary, Mersey Narrows, North Wirral Foreshore, Dee 

Estuary and Red Rocks. These sites are all important for their non-breeding birds with some 

important for features including saltmarsh, intertidal sediment communities, sand dunes and 

breeding birds.  

Page 273



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 The SPAs and Ramsar sites are: Mersey Estuary, Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore, 

Dee Estuary and Liverpool Bay (SPA only). These are all important for non-breeding birds with 

Dee Estuary also being important for some breeding birds. 

 The SAC: Dee Estuary, note this extends on to the North Wirral Foreshore. This is important for 

a range of features including its intertidal sediments, reefs, saltmarsh and sand dunes. 

 Information relating to the designated sites including Conservation Objectives, Supplementary 

Advice on Conservation Objectives and the Advice on Operations are available on Natural 

England’s designated sites view system.  Geographic information on the designated sites and 

other information relating the natural environment can be found on the following website:  

magic.defra.gov.uk 

 Wirral Council, Natural England and other public bodies have several statutory conservation 

duties: 

o To further the conservation and enhancement of SSSIs – Section 28G of the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended),  

o Statutory duty to conserve biodiversity - Section 40 of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act). Specific habitats and species are identified, 

through Section 41 (NERC Act 2006) identified as being of principle importance for 

conserving biodiversity. Lists of Priority habitats 

o The Conservations of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) (aka the 

Habitat Regulations) includes a duty of competent authorities (as defined in 

Regulation 7) to have regard for the requirements of the Habitats and Wild Birds 

Directive in the exercise of their statutory functions (Regulation 9(3)).  

o Further guidance on public bodies responsibilities for SSSIs can be found from the 

following webpage: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sites-of-special-scientific-

interest-public-body-responsibilities 

Statutory sites at Hoylake (see Annex 1 for some further detail) 

 The foreshore at Hoylake is included in the following statutory sites: North Wirral Foreshore 

SSSI (unit 1 East Hoyle Bank), Mersey Narrows and North Wirral Foreshore SPA/Ramsar site and 

Dee Estuary SAC. 

 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI is designated for the following features: aggregations of non-

breeding water birds and especially bar-tailed godwit, dunlin, knot and turnstone, intertidal 

sediments and saltmarshes.  

 Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) Alerts (using WeBS data from 2014/15 to 2018/19) indicate bar-

tailed godwit, knot and turnstone on North Wirral Foreshore SSSI have significant declines 

which would lead to these features and so the site to be in unfavourable condition. 

 Liverpool Bay SPA, a marine site is located off Hoylake but it is below mean low water. 

Coastal dynamics 

 Sea level rise and coastal change are inevitable. Sustainable coastal management needs to take 

account of natural coastal change.  

 Coastal conservation is often about understanding the way in which the physical system 

underpins the presence of individual habitats or species. Management for habitat and species 

features must to take account of coastal dynamics. 

Page 274

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/MagicMap.aspx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/69/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1981/69/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/uk-bap-priority-habitats/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sites-of-special-scientific-interest-public-body-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/sites-of-special-scientific-interest-public-body-responsibilities


Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 As the coast changes so the mosaic of habitats and species as well as the landscape and its ‘local 

distinctiveness’ will change and evolve. Understanding the reasons for change must be factored 

into management decisions to ensure the best possible outcomes for the natural environment. 

Reasons for change will include the wider geomorphological processes, sources of sediment 

supply, constraints on sediment movements, wider scale sediment dredging or disposal and 

climate change.  

 Development of pioneer vegetation that will eventually develop in to sand dunes or saltmarsh is 

a natural stage in the coastal change process. It is probably not possible to fully predict how the 

habitats will develop, however the situation at this location is likely to be different to that at 

Parkgate eg due to levels of exposure to winds, tides and waves and differences in sediment 

supply. It may be more likely that there is more development of dune habitats than 

saltmarshes. 

 Management of the coastline should focus upon working with coastal processes that enable a 

dynamic environment resilient sea level rise.  

 There is a need to conserve, manage and sustain sediment supplies that feed coastal systems 

and the landscapes and habitats they support.  

 Management interventions such as raking and spraying will impact on the natural development 

of habitats and so geomorphological processes and sediment movement. 

 Sustainable coastal management will need to incorporate adaptation measures in both short 

and long-term.  

 Further information on the geomorphological regime and influences may be obtainable from 

the NW Coastal Group and the Shoreline Management Plan 2 provides information on the 

coastal processes. Appendix C: Baseline Process Understanding indicates a long-term trend of 

sediment accretion for the period of the SMP, potentially leading to a complex of dunes and 

intertidal habitats in front of maintained sea defences, although channel movements and 

offshore sandbank evolution will influence the pattern of habitats.  

 The Dee estuary is currently continuing to import sediment with saltmarshes showing vertical 
accretion. The rate of marsh expansion near the estuary mouth has decreased in recent 
decades but accumulation of windblown sand continues to occur near the Point of Ayr and at 
Hoylake (Halcrow, 2013). Such accretion is important in supporting the function of the 
defences. Moore. et al (2009), however, suggests that the Dee could be reaching a 
morphological equilibrium and the rate of accretion may decrease in the future.  

 The Dee estuary is a drowned, glacially over-deepened valley bounded by Triassic sandstone 

and Carboniferous coal measures, extensively mantled by glacial till and outwash sands and 

gravels. A glacial till forms an eroding cliff along part of the east shore of the estuary near 

Thurstaston. The glacial till overlies Triassic red mudstones and sandstones, with sandstone 

ridges and outcrops. The harder coarse Triassic sandstone reaches the surface to create ridges 

and outcrops in many part of the Wirral. There are three sandstone islands which comprise the 

Hilbre Island Complex, the only natural hard rock coast within the estuary (Natural England, 

2014).  

 The main source of sediment to the estuary is the Irish Sea, although the erosion of the glacial 

till cliffs and the suspended load of the River Dee provide secondary sources (Appendix 2 and 3) 

(Halcrow, 2013).  

Page 275

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/
https://onedrive.live.com/?cid=E5153484C5971E2D&id=E5153484C5971E2D%21252&parId=E5153484C5971E2D%21156&o=OneUp


Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 Planning for any coastal development including critical coastal infrastructure and access routes 

needs to take account of how the coast will respond to the action of coastal processes and sea 

level rise.  

 There is a need to consider the facilitation, migration or adaptation of key natural environment 

assets as the coast evolves.  

 The long term vision in the SMP2 is to maintain protection to assets where necessary but to 
provide more accommodation space where practical to do so. Along the east bank of the Dee 
saltmarsh should be allowed to roll back where possible and undefended cliffs should be 
allowed to erode naturally (Halcrow, 2010b) (Appendix 4).  

 You may need or wish to commission a specific review or advice from coastal geomorphologists 
regarding the geomorphological regimes and influences. 
 

Factors driving growth of foreshore vegetation 

 Coastal habitats should be allowed to establish in line with ‘natural change’ as a dynamic 

response to the changing physical environment. Changes can be long term such as sea level rise 

or short term such as winter storms.  

 At the current time, changes to the physical environment (e.g. accretion and drainage inputs) 

are encouraging vegetation establishment. Physical factors such as sediment type and water 

quality will influencing the speed of establishment and the character of the developing habitats. 

 ‘Natural changes’ to the balance of intertidal sediments and vegetation communities (pioneer 

plants, saltmarsh and embryo-dunes) is acceptable, indeed should be actively allowed.  Beach 

raking to prevent the establishment of foreshore habitats can impact on the natural coastal 

processes and so would generally not be welcome from a ‘Natural change’ perspective.  

 As habitats form naturally in new locations within the statutory designated sites they will 

considered as conservation features of the statutory designated sites and will therefore be 

covered by the sites’ conservation objectives. For example developing pioneer saltmarsh and 

sand dunes on north Wirral foreshore are protected as features of the Dee Estuary SAC. 

 In response to dynamic change Natural England can also consider if the features of SSSIs need 

to be amended to account for developing habitats to ensure their continued protection. Nb - 

North Wirral Foreshore Site of Special Scientific Interest was last revised in 1986. There are 

currently no plans to revise this SSSI. 

Vegetation control  

 Some vegetation control may be acceptable to arrest pioneer establishment in some locations 

subject to adequate assessment and consents and would need to be very targeted, tightly 

controlled and monitored. This would be restricted by the sites conservation objectives in 

seeking to maintain coastal processes and habitat development.  

 Habitats that regularly establish or are able to succeed to more mature forms will have value so 

potential control needs careful consideration. 

 Vegetation control across the whole coast would not be acceptable as this is likely to be 

contrary to the site’s conservation objectives, it is also unlikely to be economic or sustainable.  

 Smaller areas of vegetation control may have scope to be consented but there should be clear 

justifications for requests to control vegetation establishment. It is unlikely that such control 

Page 276



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

could be considered ‘directly connected with or necessary for the conservation management of 

the protected sites’ – the first Habitat Regulations Assessment test.  

 Raking control should only be focused on patches of single species such as the invasive Spartina 

anglica or possibly some limited areas of Puccinellia maritima, rather than raking of large areas 

of beach 

 There needs to be a thorough ecological survey of any areas to be proposed for targeting of 

vegetation control. 

 Mechanical methods of control should be considered as the primary means, herbicide use as a 

last resort  and with clear objectives and practice,  and only requested where supported by 

evidence to demonstrate lack of environmental impact, being used in line with permits from 

Environment Agency and MMO (where required).  

 The application of herbicides on the intertidal is a concern regarding impact on non-target plant 

species, wider impacts on intertidal invertebrates and so to predator species such as shorebirds 

and seabirds, shell fisheries and wider environmental risks. The risks may not be fully known 

and a precautionary approach should be taken and therefore Natural England is currently 

unlikely to support herbicide use. 

 The Council should be clear that only vegetation control that is permitted by itself and other 

consenting bodies will be allowed and action taken by third parties (eg private companies, 

stakeholder groups and members of the public) without adequate consent carries the risk of 

enforcement. 

Drainage 

 Natural England is concerned about the land drainage being discharged to the foreshore along 

the promenade and that it may not be regulated. This is with regard to the quality of the water 

and risks of contamination, the ability to maintain the drainage due to natural accretion, the 

influence this is having on vegetation development and beach amenity.  

 Natural England advises that the water quality should be tested to understand the 

contamination risks, better managed and regulated. 

 Natural England advises that it would be better for the local environment for land drainage/ run 

off to be collected treated and then discharged via a regulated discharge point. There may be 

opportunities for wetland creation landward of Hoylake or further along the coast and these 

areas could receive this treated water. 

Wider values and opportunities 

 The development of pioneer vegetation starts a natural succession that further accretes and 

stabilises sediment, this then develops a vegetation community that becomes more diverse. 

 Pioneer vegetation is likely to lead to development of saltmarsh and/or dunes; this is of 

conservation interest and value. Given the more exposed location Puccinellia patches are more 

likely to lead embryo dunes, these will then develop into dune and slack habitats. This has been 

seen and well recorded between Birkdale and Ainsdale on the Sefton Coast.  

 Natural England recognises that vegetation may be seasonal however where they are allowed 

to persist, sand dune and saltmarsh habitats provide important ‘natural capital assets’ that 

provide valuable ecosystem services. These habitats can develop in front of existing defences. 

Examples of the services include provision of : 

Page 277



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

o Protection of the current defences and communities behind from coastal erosion and 

flooding by providing a barrier and habitat to absorb wave and tidal energy.  

o Carbon storage into vegetation and sediments thus contributing to mitigation for climate 

change and the aspirations of Wirral Council the Liverpool City Region to achieve Net Zero 

Carbon by 2040. 

o Developing habitats to support important biodiversity. 

o Health and wellbeing benefits – there is significant evidence available to show the health 

and wellbeing benefits from people’s interaction with a biodiverse natural environment. 

o Alternative visitor attraction. Development of important natural habitats provide an 

opportunity to develop a sustainably managed visitor economy focussed on the natural 

environment. 

 There is an opportunity to assess the natural capital value of the coastal environment and how 

this might be influenced by coastal change in a range of scenarios. Liverpool John Moores 

University (LJMU) with Nature Connected (the Local Nature Partnership for the Liverpool City 

Region) have completed a Natural Capital Baseline for the Liverpool City Region. LJMU would be 

willing to model a change to this baseline under different management scenarios. This would 

help inform an appropriate and sustainable management solution for the long term. Contact 

details for the lead at LJMU can be supplied. 

Issues that could be picked up within a wider plan 

 Natural England recommends and supports the development of a more holistic beach 

management plan. 

 This plan could be developed through an inclusive engagement process with a wide range of 

stakeholders that presents and accounts for a variety of constraints such as conservation, 

economic, legal and sustainability. 

 A more holistic plan would ideally be inclusive of the range of activities and users on the intertidal 

and coastal zone eg local communities, range of recreational users, shell fisheries, life boat 

operations and land yachting etc. It should also account for improvement in the land drainage on 

to the foreshore and future coastal defence planning. 

 Recreational disturbance is a recognised issue impacting non-breeding birds, especially during 

autumn, winter and early spring. It is known that recreational activities can disturb important 

non-breeding birds that are feeding or roosting on the North Wirral Foreshore (and elsewhere). 

Wirral Council with others currently undertake some work that seeks to manage this disturbance 

eg interpretation events, signage and wardening but more action may be required. A holistic 

beach management plan should incorporate measures to limit and manage recreational 

disturbance. 

 A beach management plan will need to be subject to relevant consents and relevant assessments 

eg a Habitat Regulations Assessment. 

 A range of activities and operations have the opportunity to have an environmental effect in 

combination with each other or cumulatively. This should be considered and this is a good reason 

for having a more holistic inclusive plan. A beach management plan that has been agreed with 

Natural England can be considered for an overarching consent/ assent (to cover all the activities 

within the plan), rather than consent/ assent for individual activities.  

Page 278



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

 A wider consideration of the benefits and value that changes to the natural environment can 

have on the area’s socio-economic prosperity eg green tourism, well-being, ecosystem services 

such as coastal protection. 

Ideas for way forward 

 Development of an engagement process/consultation to enable a wider evidenced based debate 

to formulate a holistic beach management plan. 

 It is for Wirral Council to determine the extent of stakeholder engagement or consultation on 

determining proposals or plans for coastal management. However, Natural England would 

recommend that local communities are engaged to understand the options and constraints and 

their views considered in determining sustainable approaches to the management of the coast. 

Although Natural England has an advisory and regulatory role it would also be a stakeholder in an 

engagement/consultation process.  

 There needs to be more understanding of the coastal change, habitat development and the value 

that this brings. 

 If amenity beach provision is required then this needs to be considered in the context of the 

changing coastal environment and how this could be done in a complimentary way. What area of 

amenity beach is required and what locations, how will this be sustainably managed. Are there 

options to where and how the amenity beaches are accessed? For example does an amenity 

beach need to be against the sea defence or could it be further out in front of developed 

habitats? 

  

Page 279



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

Annex 1 Further details regarding designated sites on North Wirral Foreshore  

What are the interest features of the sites? 

SSSI: Saltmarsh development on North Wirral Foreshore has been recognised for some time with the 

1986 North Wirral Foreshore SSSI citation stating: 

“North Wirral Foreshore is located between the outer Dee and Mersey Estuaries. This site is an area 

of intertidal sand and mudflats and embryonic saltmarsh which is of considerable importance as a 

feeding and roosting site for passage and wintering flocks of waders, wildfowl, terns and gulls. 

The embryonic mixed saltmarsh is formed principally from common saltmarsh-grass Puccinellia 

maritima and glasswort Salicornia europaea, together with some common cord-grass Spartina 

anglica.” 

The Favourable Condition Table (FCT) also lists saltmarsh as a notified feature and includes a 2014 

estimate of 12.8 ha. The FCT also notes the SAC dune features but these haven’t been identified for 

the SSSI, although are present close by at Red Rocks SSSI.  

Natural England’s Views About Management document also covers saltmarsh as a notified feature.  

The last recorded condition assessment (23 October 2012) assessed this part of the SSSI as 

Unfavourable Declining due to declines in non-breeding birds – currently considered due to 

recreational disturbance. The condition assessment did not appear to consider the condition of the 

habitat features ie saltmarsh and intertidal sediments. 

Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) Alerts (using WeBS data from 2014/15 to 2018/19) indicate bar-tailed 

godwit, knot and turnstone on North Wirral Foreshore SSSI have significant declines which would 

lead to these features and so the site to be in unfavourable condition. The site requires formal re-

assessment. 

Un-consented damage to the habitats features is likely to lead to an unfavourable condition 

assessment eg through loss of indicator species, habitat structure or habitat area.  

Changes in proportions of habitat types due to ‘natural change’ will be acceptable with regards to 

condition.  

Natural England is required to keep its understanding of interest features under review and this 

could lead to changes to the designation.  

Natural England will consider any proposals with regard to risks to the conservation and 

enhancement of the SSSI features. 

Natural England will consider a review of condition and pressures that may be influencing condition, 

such as bird disturbance, inappropriate vegetation control and inappropriate drainage/water quality 

or wider external effects that may be accelerating change. 

Ramsar: The Ramsar Information Sheet also refers to embryonic saltmarsh:  

Page 280

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/PDFsForWeb/FCT/fct_1003676_f.pdf
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/PDFsForWeb/VAM/1003676.pdf


Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

“The site comprises intertidal habitats at Egremont foreshore on the south bank of the Mersey, man-

made saline and freshwater lagoons at Seaforth on the north bank and the extensive intertidal flats 

at North Wirral Foreshore. ……….. North Wirral Foreshore supports large numbers of feeding waders 

at low tide and also includes important high tide roost sites, it is an area of intertidal sands and 

mudflats with embryonic saltmarsh.”  

Natura 2000: For the SAC, the ‘supporting processes’ will include those that sustain and allow 

development of the Annex I features for which the site is designated. The SPA and the SAC 

conservation objectives both have the caveat ‘subject to natural change’, suggesting that where 

coastal processes are driving the shift in habitats, we would not conclude such changes to result in 

an unfavourable condition assessment. There is no information in the SIP for the relevant N2k sites 

suggesting any major problem from saltmarsh or dune evolution for any of the designated features. 

Map indicating the overlapping designations of the North Wirral Foreshore 

 

  

Page 281



Natural England advice to Wirral Council regarding beach management 
01 March 2020 

 

Diagram showing sediment movements for Shoreline Management Plan sub-cell 11a 

 

 

Page 282



HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

BACKGROUND

The assent for the current beach management operations at Hoylake Beach, comprising the 
removal of wind blown sand that builds up against the sea wall and blocks outfalls, expires at the 
end of March 2021. Spraying of the beach with herbicide and mechanical raking of the beach 
between the Lifeboat station and Red Rocks, to manage the growth of spartina angelica, which had 
previously received assent from Natural England for a period of 5 years from April 2016, has already 
ceased as a result of the Executive Member Decision of March 2020. 

Advice has been received from Natural England ahead of the development of a new beach 
management plan which indicates the likely permissible operations for beach management whilst 
also accepting the wishes for both a more natural approach to management and also for the 
retention and future use of an amenity beach. Natural England also advised on the development of 
a baseline study of the existing ecology present at the beach combined with an assessment of how 
the beach has changed using existing monitoring data and also how it is likely to evolve taking into 
account the likely ecological changes and those associated with climate change. Understanding the 
likely beach response will allow various management options to be tested to determine their impact 
on the natural environment, land drainage and on flood risk as that increases with sea level rise. 

Wirral’s Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee approved the development of 
a Communications and Engagement Strategy (CES) for Hoylake Beach Management at its 
December 2020 meeting. The final recommendation requires the Strategy to be developed with a 
Working Group established with cross party representation from Committee Members

Any stakeholder engagement process is intended to build trust and understanding between all 
parties involved with the aim of being inclusive, transparent and appropriate in its methods and 
application.

ESTABLISH ENGAGEMENT METHOD & GOVERNANCE

This draft CES seeks to establish the following to enable effective engagement on the development 
of the Hoylake Beach Management Plan (HBMP).

 Hoylake Beach Information on the haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk website. The “haveyoursay” 
portal provides an ideal location to host and publicise the various stages of engagement and 
consultation. The portal provides a platform to host existing data and evidence relating to the 
project and tools, such as Ideas Board and Interactive Mapping that lend themselves 

Page 283

https://haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk/


HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

engagement and consultations on future management (see New Brighton Masterplan and 
Council Budget 2021-22 for examples). The portal will allow opportunities, constraints, 
timescales and deliverables to be clearly set out.

 Steering Group. The future management of Hoylake Beach cuts across and impacts on 
many different Council services:

o Parks & Countryside (Christine Smyth)
o Flood & Coastal Risk Management (Neil Thomas)
o Highways (Brian Smith)
o Waste & Recycling (Mike Cockburn)
o Tourism & Communities (TBC)
o Communications & Marketing (TBC)
o Neighbourhoods & Engagement (Fergus Adams)

Establishment of a Steering Group with officer representation, identified above, will ensure 
all service objectives and impacts are fully considered during the development of the HBMP. 
The Steering Group will work with the Political Working Group and inform statutory bodies of 
progress.

 Political Working Group. The December 2020 Environment, Climate Emergency and 
Transportation Committee recommended a cross party working group review the CES prior 
to the approval by the next Committee. It is proposed that this group is established to review 
all consultation methods, materials, and consultation outputs prior to formal approval by the 
Committee.

STAGE 1 – DEFINE CONSTRAINTS AND EVIDENCE BASE
CONSTRAINTS
Any future HBMP will need to be subject to a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA). In order for 
the HBMP to receive assent from Natural England the management activities considered in the HRA 
need to align with the Natural England’s objectives for North Wirral Foreshore Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI)
Wirral Council has used Natural England’s Discretionary Advisory Service (DAS) to identify the 
constraints within which any future beach management at Hoylake must be implemented.
The DAS provides a steer for future beach management. The DAS should be set out as the 
framework within which the Council is looking to develop a HBMP at all stages of consultation.

Objective: Inform and educate to build a wider understanding of the regulations that apply.
Timescale: DAS complete

EVIDENCE BASE
Procure an Ecology and Geomorphology Study (EGS) for Hoylake Beach. The EGS will include an 
ecological survey of Hoylake Beach which will identify and map what species are growing where. 
The EGS will also use existing data to look at how Hoylake Beach has changed, how that change 

Page 284



HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

is impacted by the ecology at Hoylake Beach and continuing natural coastal processes and also 
how Hoylake Beach will change when considering future climate change scenarios. The outputs of 
the EGS will be used to identify whether management options are sustainable.

Objective: Improve understanding of the current and likely future evolution of Hoylake Beach
Timescale: To be procured April 2021 once the Procurement Brief & Specification has Committee 
Approval.

STAGE 2 – ESTABLISH PROJECT SITE AND PUBLICISE ENGAGEMENT
PROJECT SITE
Establish the Hoylake Beach Management Project site on HaveYourSay.
Populate the site with the data and evidence collected to date. Identify reasons for undertaking 
public engagement on beach management, identify how the future HBMP must work (from Natural 
England’s DAS) and publicise the survey and EGS, the outputs of which will be used to inform the 
future HBMP. The Project Site will also provide information on:

 Overall timeframe for the Project
 The objectives of each stage of engagement and consultation
 What will be delivered

Objective: To provide the basis for obtaining different views on future management 
requirements and arrangements.
Timescale: To be established in April 2021 once the Communication & Engagement Strategy has 
Committee Approval.

PUBLICISE ENGAGEMENT
Use Communications & Marketing to promote the Project Site.
Contact those bodies with a statutory responsibility eg Natural England, Environment Agency to 
make sure they are aware of the project.
Project Site to allow comments to be submitted at this stage. Comments would not be publicly 
visible.

Objectives: To promote the Project Site, raise awareness of the coastal processes causing change 
and the legal constraints future beach management must operate within. Ensure the development 
of the HBMP is an inclusive and transparent process and that the public are kept informed of 
progress.
Timescale: April 2021 once the Communication & Engagement Strategy has Committee Approval 
and Project Site established.

STAGE 3 – PUBLISH ECOLOGY & GEOMORPHOLOGY STUDY
PROJECT SITE

Page 285



HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

Following review by the Steering Group publish a non-technical summary and more detailed 
technical report of the EGS on the Project Site. 

Objective: To publish the evidence base that will be used to inform development of the HBMP
Timescale: November 2021
STAGE 4 – INITIAL CONSULTATION
CONSULTATION - SEEKING YOUR VIEWS ON HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
Identifying the framework set by the DAS, existing data and the findings of the EGS and using the 
tools available on the Project site, and promoted through Communications & Marketing, the first 
phase of consultation will seek a wide range of views from key stakeholders and the wider public, 
on the future management of Hoylake Beach. By setting within the regulatory and evidential 
framework there is an opportunity to manage expectations of consultees by clearly setting out how 
the ideas and options identified will be taken forward. 

Objective: To gather all views on the future of Hoylake Beach and inform development of a series 
of SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Timely) objectives for future 
management. 
Timescale: December 2021 – February 2022.
Output: Long list of potential management options, screened against the DAS and appraised 
against the findings of the EGS and definition of Objectives for Future Management
Approval: Pre-consultation approval required on consultation methods, questions and supporting 
information.

STAGE 5 – OBJECTIVES FOR FUTURE MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES
Based on the outputs of the initial consultation a series of objectives for the future management of 
Hoylake Beach can be established.  The Objectives for Future Management can be published on 
the Project Site so that the transparent process continues and consultees can see how their views 
are being used to shape the future management options. The future management options can be 
tested against the objectives prior to further consultation.
Objective: maintain transparent process and demonstrate how views are considered and taken 
forward.
Timescale: March 2022
Output: Objectives for the future management of Hoylake Beach
Approval: Political approval required to agree objectives, both through the Political Working Group 
and Committee.

STAGE 6 – DEVELOP SHORT LIST OF MANAGEMENT OPTIONS
Page 286



HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

SHORT LIST
Following review of all screened in options and ideas from the first phase of consultation into a long 
list, a short list of management options will be developed to identify options that are sustainable 
when screened against the findings of the EGS and the objectives for future management of the 
beach at Hoylake.
The Short List of options will be subject to further consultation to identify a preferred management 
option. Ideally no more than 4 management options to be identified so that the consultation is clear 
and unambiguous.

Timescale: June 2022
Output: Short List of Options for further public consultation
Approval: Committee approval to consult on the Short List of Options required

STAGE 7 – CONSULT ON SHORT LISTED OPTIONS FOR FUTURE MANAGEMENT 
CONSULTATION 
Using the Project Site and tools and promoted by Communications & Marketing consult on the 
options for the future management of Hoylake Beach.
Objective: to identify a preferred approach for the future management of Hoylake Beach
Timescale: July 2022 – September 2022
How: Using project website and possibly through live online Q&A sessions
Output: Preferred option for Hoylake Beach Management Plan, recognising that this may be a 
hybrid of all options put forward.

STAGE 8 – APPROVAL OF HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT PLAN
COMMITTEE APPROVAL
Using the evidence of the initial and subsequent consultation, the scientific evidence bases of the 
EGS and the constraints as set out in Natural England’s DAS, present the proposals for the future 
HBMP to Environment, Climate Emergency and Transportation Committee. 
Once approved publish the HBMP on the Project Site
Timescale: October 2022-December 2022
Output: Approval of the draft HBMP and approval to develop an HRA for submission to Natural 
England in order to gain assent for implementation of the HBMP.

STAGE 9 – HABITAT REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT & NATURAL ENGLAND ASSENT
HABITAT REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT
Undertake an HRA against the methods of implementing the management of Hoylake Beach as set 
out in the HBMP. Upon completion and following approval by Working Group and/ or Committee 
submit to Natural England.

Page 287



HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT
COMMUNICATION & ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY

NATURAL ENGLAND
NE review the HRA for HBMP and issue assent notice.

Timescale: January 2023 – March 2023
Output: HRA for submission

STAGE 10 – DELIVER HOYLAKE BEACH MANAGEMENT PLAN
Manage Hoylake Beach in accordance with the HBMP and any conditions imposed by Natural 
England
Update Project Site with HBMP.

Timescale: April 2023 onwards

Page 288



P
age 289



P
age 290



 

 

 

  

 

ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 30 November 2022  
 

REPORT TITLE: POLLINATOR STRATEGY 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee approved the Council’s 
Environment & Climate Emergency Policy in March 2021 since then officers have been 
putting arrangements in place and taking action, to progress the Policy’s objectives and 
commitments.  
 
This report seeks the approval and endorsement of the Wirral Pollinator Strategy, which 
supports the Council’s biodiversity commitment within the policy, ‘Transforming our Open 
Spaces and Enhancing Biodiversity'. This strategy has been developed to raise awareness 
of the plight of pollinators and to ensure the Council and its local residents, businesses and 
landowners are provided with information to help us all protect and increase our pollinator 
populations.  
 
Wirral Council is committed to helping to conserve the UK’s pollinators by ensuring the 
council considers the needs of pollinators in the delivery of its duties and activities. This 
strategy is designed to ensure the needs of pollinators are enshrined across the breadth of 
Council work and to increase awareness of pollinators across our local community. 
 
This report is a key decision and affects all wards of the borough. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is recommended to 
approve the Wirral Pollinator Strategy.  
 
 
  

Page 291

Agenda Item 7



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 
 

1.1 The Council recognises the importance of the natural environment and the role that it 
can play in tackling climate change. This Committee participated in the development 
of the Environment & Climate Emergency Policy and set the commitments the 
Council should make in response to the Council’s 2019 declaration of an 
environment and climate emergency. When approving the Environment and Climate 
Emergency Policy, Committee confirmed its commitment to Biodiversity. 

 
1.2 Insect pollinator species have experienced national declines 

 Half of our 27 bumblebee species are in decline 

 Three of these bumblebee species have already gone extinct 

 Two-thirds of our moths are in long term decline. 

 Across Europe 38% of bee and hoverfly species are in decline 

 71% of our butterflies are in decline 

 Some studies show that since 1970, flying insect biomass has reduced by 
possibly three-quarters, so we may only have a quarter as many flying insects 
as 50 years ago. 

 
1.3 The most significant factors leading to the decline in pollinator numbers include: 

 Habitat loss – the loss and degradation of habitats which provide food, 
shelter, and nesting sites for pollinators. The loss of wildflower-rich 
grasslands is one of the most important issues. Over 3 million hectares of 
these habitats have been lost in England alone since the 1930s, the loss 
being attributed to more intensive farming and urban/industrial development.  

 Pesticides – the use of pesticides is having harmful effects on pollinators 
including honeybees, wild bees, and butterflies. Wider effects throughout 
ecosystems are also of concern and pesticides have been implicated in other 
declines such as farmland birds and soil organisms. 

 Climate Change – long term changes can deprive pollinators of food supplies 
at times when they need them, increase their exposure to parasites and 
diseases, or change habitats so that they are no longer suitable.  

 
1.4 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy seeks to address the decline in pollinators and 

supports Wirral Councils commitment to addressing the Climate Emergency. In 
particular this strategy recognises the importance of the natural environment and 
biodiversity and seeks to deliver the Environment and Climate Emergency Policy 
Statement (2020) in particular in relation to ‘Biodiversity – Transforming our open 
spaces and enhancing biodiversity’. As such, if approved, the Wirral Pollinator 
Strategy will sit alongside the Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy (2020-2030) 
and the two together will seek to increase biodiversity locally. 

 
1.5 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy sets out five broad aims that the Council and its 

partners will work together to deliver: 
1. Ensure the needs of pollinators are represented in local plans, policy, and 

guidance for regeneration and economic development. 
2. Protect, increase, and enhance the amount of pollinator habitat in Wirral to 

prevent extinctions and improve the status of any locally threatened species 
3. Increase awareness of pollinators and their habitat needs across local residents, 

Page 292



 

 

community and voluntary groups, businesses, and other landowners 
4. Increase the contribution to pollinator conservation of all land under the 

ownership of, or managed by the Council 
5. Improve our knowledge and understanding of pollinators in our local area 

 
1.6 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy has been developed to raise awareness of the plight of 

pollinators and to ensure the Council and its local residents, businesses and 
landowners are provided with information to help us all protect and increase our 
pollinator populations. This strategy is designed to ensure the needs of pollinators 
are enshrined across the breadth of Council work and to increase awareness of 
pollinators across our local community. 

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
2.1 This report introduces the Wirral Pollinator Strategy which is a part of the response 

to increasing biodiversity in the approved Environment & Climate Emergency Policy. 
The Council has declared an environment and climate emergency, recognising the 
urgent need for action to address and plan for the changes to the environment and 
climate. Therefore, the alternative of not making the necessary environment and 
biodiversity interventions would not address the Council’s declared emergency.   
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 The Council has been developing its support for pollinators for some time with Parks 
& Countryside Services implementing an initial action plan in 2018, to review 
established mowing regimes and consider adopting the practices of ‘Plantlife’s Road 
Verge and Wildlife Management Guidelines.’ 

 
3.2  In 2019, Council resolved to develop its support of pollinators through a series of 

pollinator pilot sites across the borough. The two initial pilot sites identified were 
grass verges at the corner of Plymyard Avenue and Eastham Rake.  

 
3.3  In Spring 2020 the Covid-19 pandemic and full lockdown resulted in a delay in 

starting the grass cutting season of approximately 8 weeks. This meant that the 
grass across the borough had been allowed to grow much longer than in previous 
years, which in turn enabled certain native wildflowers to grow and prosper in the 
unmaintained verges. This unexpected outcome of the lockdown generated a lot of 
positive public feedback, people wanted to see an expansion of rewilded areas to 
enhance wildlife and supported a reduction in grass cutting. As a result, people were 
encouraged to send in requests for locations to be considered for inclusion in an 
expanded number of sites for reduced maintenance.  

 
3.4 A number of initiatives that have been implemented to date including: - 

 Rewilding on several amenity greenspaces and highway grass verges. 

 A reduction in the frequency of grass maintenance on all general grass areas 
in parks and public open spaces, including ‘No Mow May’. 

 The designation of some highway verges as Pollinator sites, with a 
management plan to promote wildflower grown. 

 Developed a pilot ‘Bee Bus Shelter’ in order to introduce Pollinators into urban 
areas, working in partnership with the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority. 

Page 293



 

 

These initiatives have been intended to reduce the amount of disturbance to habitats 
which promote pollinators, provide opportunities for amenity greenspaces to be used 
in different ways to support re-wilding and reduce the cost of maintaining these 
areas. 

 
3.5 Wirral Council has had success in promoting pollinators being recognised in 2020 for 

its work in this area with a Bees’ Needs Champions Awards for the Meadow 
Restoration Project at Wirral Country Park. Bees play a part in every aspect of the 
ecosystem, they support the growth of trees, flowers, and other plants, which serve 
as food and shelters for creatures large and small, Bees contribute to complex, 
interconnected ecosystems that allow a diverse number of different species to co-
exist.  

 
3.6 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy seeks to build upon these initiatives and incorporate 

the feedback received from a range of consultations with members, partners, and 
residents to provide a holistic response to support our pollinators. The public 
consultation highlighted strong support for: - 

 Increasing the number of areas that support pollinators and consider all of its 
land and assets when thinking about pollinators (including buildings, other 
structures and urban spaces). 

 reduce the impact, where possible, of pesticides on pollinators 

 needs to do more to educate people on the importance of pollinators, 
reflecting the feeling from residents that they needed more information on 
what they could do in their local area to help increase and support pollinators. 

 Involving more volunteer groups and supporting them in pollinator 
conservation work 

 Monitoring the number of pollinators to track changes to pollinator populations 

 Considering pollinators and their habitats in all future planning (new 
developments, Local Plan, new policies). 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 There are no revenue implications arising from this report, many of the actions put 

forward to deliver this strategy may be achieved at low or no cost. Effectively 
engaging with residents, Friends Groups and other volunteers can raise awareness 
and deliver upon a wide range of actions and these opportunities do need to be 
maximised. 
 

4.2 However, there are some aspects of this strategy that will require financing for 
instance: - 

 The purchase of updated flail mower machinery to manage longer grass land 
(for which Capital has already been agreed), 

 The provision of seeds and plants and clearing areas in order to develop 
further Pollinator sites or allotments, and 

 In developing or using different approaches to weed control. The use of 
Glyphosate continues to be the cheapest form of weed control with 
alternatives costing significantly more to adopt. 

 
4.3 Wirral Council is committed to addressing the Climate Emergency and as a part of 

this increasing Biodiversity. To deliver upon this strategy, where additional funds 
may be required, Wirral Council will seek support from National Initiatives in order to 

Page 294



 

 

obtain grant funding and were necessary seek additional support from Council funds 
such as the Climate Emergency Budget or Capital in order to deliver upon the 
highest priority objectives and actions of this strategy. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 The Council has a statutory duty to keep roadside verges cut to a reasonable height 

to maintain sightlines for road users.  
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 The Council’s biodiversity commitments do have resource implications and will 

require changing work practices, new skills and competencies for the workforce and 
investment in new machinery to address these. It is also essential that the Council 
delivers an effective public awareness campaign to ensure that residents understand 
the changes that are occurring to their local environment and how they can 
contribute and get involved. Community participation in the initiatives and campaigns 
that will drive biodiversity is essential. All the actions involved in promoting 
biodiversity require public involvement and ownership to succeed. 

 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1  There is a risk that too long grass will hinder sightlines for vehicles along the road 

network. This risk is mitigated against by careful site selection and by cutting edge 
borders surrounding long grass. 
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Changes to the Wirral grass maintenance and the introduction of re-wilding and 

pollinator areas formed a part of Wirral Councils budget for 2021/22, consultation 
was undertaken between November 2020 and January 2021. There proposals were 
supported by residents when balanced again other reductions in services. 

  
8.2 Wirral Council’s website detailed the new grass maintenance regime, including ‘No 

Mow May’. Area put forward for re-wilding or pollinator designation were also 
published. Through this web page residents were able to raise issues with the sites 
selected. In addition, elected members have been very active during 2021/22 in 
putting forward alternative areas for consideration. These schemes were also 
featured in Wirral View. 

  
8.3 An Operational Review of the implementation of the 2021/22 Pollinator Pilots was 

presented to the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee for 
comment on 20th January 2022. 

  
8.4 A joint Wirral Council / Wirral Wildlife workshop was held on 14 February 2022 with 

Members of the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee to 
discuss Wirral Councils approach to Pollinators to inform the initial development of 
this strategy. 

 
8.5 Further consultation was held with all elected members being invited to attend 

Pollinator Strategy Ward meetings with officers from Parks & Countryside in July 

Page 295



 

 

2022 to take part in the consultation and to shape both this strategy and to review 
both past and proposed future Re-Wilding & Pollinator sites. 
 

8.6 Public consultation was undertaken on the development of the Wirral Pollinator 
Strategy (September 2022) via a survey on the ‘Have Your Say’ webpage and paper 
copies were available upon request. A copy of the results of the Survey are provided 
as an Appendix to this report.  
 

8.7 Briefly in relation to the eight questions posed the following responses were 
received: - 

 81.4% of respondents strongly agreed that ‘the council should increase the 
number of areas that support pollinators to thrive’, and 7.6% strongly disagreed.  

 85.3% strongly agreed that ‘the council should reduce the impact, where 
possible, of pesticides on pollinators. 5.9% strongly disagreed. 

 67.8 % feel aware of what they can do in their local area to help increase and 
support pollinators. 11.7% do not feel aware. 

 62.4% strongly agree that ‘the council needs to do more to educate people on the 
importance of pollinators. In total, 87.1% agreed and 4.7% disagreed.  

 94.1% of respondents feel aware of what they can do in their local area to help 
increase and support pollinators. However, 3.5% do not feel aware. 

 64% strongly agree that ‘The council should look to involve more volunteer 
groups and support them in the pollinator conservation work’, 3.5% strongly 
disagree.  

 87.0% believe ‘the council should monitor the number of pollinators to track 
changes to pollinator populations. However, 5.9% strongly disagreed, and 0.6% 
disagreed.  

 95.8% of respondents agreed that ‘the council should consider pollinators and 
their habitats in all future planning’, with 3.5% disagreement.  

 
8.8 When asked if there was anything else that the respondents would like to tell us 

about pollinators, the most common category of response was that there was a need 
for education about pollinators. Respondents also believed the council should create 
an effective plan for pollinators to thrive and that the council should take a holistic 
view when creating a Pollinator Strategy, for it to be a success.  
 

8.9 When asked to provide any concerns regarding the increase of pollinators, 56% did 
not have any concerns. However, some were concerned that some maintenance 
would still be needed. 4.5% of respondents believed that a Pollinator Strategy alone 
is not enough, and that more action should be taken to benefit the environment due 
to its importance. However, another concern was that a Pollinator Strategy may be 
misinterpreted by the public and lead to opposition from residents. There was also a 
concern that without proper planning, a Pollinator Strategy may be ineffective. 

 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken, as a part of the development 

of the Wirral Pollinator Strategy and details the potential positive and negative 
impacts arising. Through working closely with residents and elected members Wirral 
Council has been able to mitigate many of the negative impacts from individual 
schemes, such as rewilding. This has been achieved by swopping rewilding areas, 
for a similar size area of land within the same Ward or developing mown walkways 

Page 296



 

 

and edge mowing as required. Wirral Council has also worked with residents who 
wish to maintain amenity greenspace themselves.  

 
9.2 The Equality Impact Assessment is available via this link: 

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments   

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Since the 1930’s the UK has lost 97% of its ancient wildflower meadows. Roadside 

verges in the UK support around 700 species of wildflowers. Wildflowers provide a 
vital habitat for pollinator species such as bees, butterflies, moths, and other insects. 
Not only do flowering plants provide nectar and pollen for declining pollinators 
species (especially bees), but wildflowers also provide an important food source and 
refuge for many other insects. For instance, Dandelions are in the top five of road 
verge wildflower species that support the highest number of invertebrates, 
supporting 107 species. 

 
10.2 The Council’s Environment & Climate Emergency Policy Statement sets out the 

Council’s commitment to enhancing biodiversity, which will have a positive impact on 
the environment. The Policy Statement sets out the tangible carbon offset and 
sequestration benefits from the delivery of strategies such as the Wirral Pollinator 
Strategy. 

 
10.3 By utilising Wirral’s roadside verges and green spaces Wirral council can provide an 

environment in which a diverse range of plant species to thrive which provide 
habitats for pollinator species. This in turn which in support all wildlife from the 
bottom to the top of food chain. 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Wirral is facing stark economic, social and health inequalities. The Wirral Plan is 

committed to addressing this. With Community Wealth Building at its heart, the Wirral 
Plan sets out how to tackle this and makes a major contribution to improving the 
economic, social and health outcomes of the borough. 

 
11.2 Objective 2 of the Community Wealth Building Strategy 2020-2025 is to Create a 

Generative Economy. Which is ‘An economy with a built-in tendency to be to be 
socially fair and ecologically stable.’ The Wirral Pollinator Strategy seeks to increase 
the wildlife value of roadside verges, parks, and open spaces, to provide food, 
shelter, and nesting sites for pollinator species in addition to supporting a wider 
range of wildlife including plants, mammals, and birds. The increase in biodiversity 
will contribute to the ecological stability and the social and environmental wellbeing 
of Wirral. 

 
 REPORT AUTHOR: 
  Matthew Humble 
  (Strategic Manager – Parks & Countryside) 
  Parks & Countryside Services 
  Email: matthewhumble@wirral.gov.uk  
 

Page 297

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
mailto:matthewhumble@wirral.gov.uk


 

 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A – Wirral Pollinator Strategy 
Appendix B – Results of Public Consultation on the Wirral Pollinator Strategy 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
The National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other pollinators in England (November 
2014) - The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
Supporting document to the National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other pollinators in 
England (November 2014) - The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
National Pollinator Strategy: Implementation Plan (November 2015) - The Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
National Pollinator Strategy: Implementation Plan, 2018-2021 (December 2018) - The 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other pollinators in England - Evidence 
statements and Summary of Evidence ‘Management and Drivers of Change of Pollinating 
Insects and Pollination Services (January 2019) – The Department for Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
The good verge guide: a different approach to managing our waysides and verges (2016) 
Plantlife 
 
Road Verges and their potential for pollinators: A review of costs, benefits, and 
management options (2019) Buglife 
 
Environment and Climate Emergency Policy Statement (March 2021) – Wirral Council 
 
Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy (2020-2030) – Wirral Council 
 
Road, Verge and Wildlife Management Guidelines (2019) - Plantlife 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
This report is being considered by the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee in accordance with Sections A, B and E of its Terms of Reference; 
 

(a) in co-ordinating the response to cross-cutting sustainability issues such as 
reducing carbon emissions, air quality issues, climate change response, improving 
resource efficiency and developing sustainable energy; 
 
(b) in relation to all highways matters and as highway authority, street authority, 
bridge authority, including but not limited to public open spaces, street furniture on 
the highway and open spaces or parts of open spaces immediately adjacent to the 
highway; 

  

Page 298



 

 

(e) in respect of parks, open spaces, countryside management, allotments, 
playgrounds and cemeteries, including arboricultural, gardening and warden 
services. 
 

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 
 

Council Meeting  Date 

Environment, Climate Emergency & Transport 
Committee  
Operational Evaluation – Pollinator Pilot 

15th November 2021 

Environment, Climate Emergency & Transport 
Committee  
Progress update on Biodiversity actions 

14th June 2021 

Environment, Climate Emergency & Transport 
Committee  
Environment & Climate Emergency Policy 

16th March 2021 

Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Update of Pollinators Action Plan   

28th November 2019 

Full Council 
Notice of Motion on Pollinators 

15th July 2019 

 

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



0 
 

 

WIRRAL POLLINATOR STRATEGY 
2022 – 2030 

 

 

 

  

Page 301



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Contents         Page 
 
1.0 Executive Summary       2 
 
2.0 Background - The Importance of Pollinators   4 
2.1 What are Pollinators?       4 
2.2 Pollinators under threat      6 
2.3 What Pollinators need      6 
2.4 The National Pollinator Strategy (England)   8 
2.5 Wirral’s response to the Climate Emergency   8 
 
3.0 Wirral’s Pollinator Strategy      11 
3.1 Key principles of the Strategy     11 
3.2 Commitment from the Wirral Council    11 
3.3 Our vision        11 
3.4 Aims         11 
3.5 Pollinator actions to date      12 
3.6 Delivering the Pollinator Strategy     14 
3.7 What do we mean by      18 
3.8 Financing the Strategy      20 
 
4.0 Consultation on the Strategy     21 
4.1 Working with partners and partners initiatives   22 
 
5.0 Local Authority Duties and obligations    23 
5.1 Other relevant policies for Local Authorities    23 

 
6.0 References        25 
 
 
 
  

Page 302



2 
 

1.0 Executive Summary 
 
1.1 Insect pollinator species have experienced national declines 

 Half of our 27 bumblebee species are in decline 

 Three of these bumblebee species have already gone extinct 

 Two-thirds of our moths are in long term decline. 

 Across Europe 38% of bee and hoverfly species are in decline 

 71% of our butterflies are in decline 

 Some studies show that since 1970, flying insect biomass has reduced 
by possibly three-quarters, so we may only have a quarter as many 
flying insects as 50 years ago. 

 
1.2 The most significant factors leading to the decline in pollinator numbers 

include: 

 Habitat loss – the loss and degradation of habitats which provide 
food, shelter, and nesting sites for pollinators. The loss of wildflower-
rich grasslands is one of the most important issues. Over 3 million 
hectares of these habitats have been lost in England alone since the 
1930s, the loss being attributed to more intensive farming and 
urban/industrial development.  

 Pesticides – the use of pesticides is having harmful effects on 
pollinators including honeybees, wild bees, and butterflies. Wider 
effects throughout ecosystems are also of concern and pesticides 
have been implicated in other declines such as farmland birds and soil 
organisms. 

 Climate Change – long term changes can deprive pollinators of food 
supplies at times when they need them, increase their exposure to 
parasites and diseases, or change habitats so that they are no longer 
suitable.  

 
1.3 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy seeks to address the decline in pollinators and 

supports Wirral Councils commitment to addressing the Climate Emergency. 
This strategy recognises the importance of the natural environment and 
biodiversity and seeks to deliver the Environment and Climate Emergency 
Policy Statement (2020) – Biodiversity – Transforming our open spaces and 
enhancing biodiversity. As such the Wirral Pollinator Strategy sits alongside 
the Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy (2020-2030) and the two 
together seek to increase biodiversity locally. 

 
1.4 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy sets out five broad aims that the Council and its 

partners will work together to deliver: 
 Ensure the needs of pollinators are represented in local plans, policy, and 

guidance for regeneration and economic development. 
 Protect, increase, and enhance the amount of pollinator habitat in 

Wirral to prevent extinctions and improve the status of any locally 
threatened species 

 Increase awareness of pollinators and their habitat needs across local 
residents, community and voluntary groups, businesses, and other 
landowners 

 Increase the contribution to pollinator conservation of all land under the 

Page 303



3 
 

ownership of, or managed by the Council 
 Improve our knowledge and understanding of pollinators in our local area 

 
1.5 The Wirral Pollinator Strategy has been developed to raise awareness of the 

plight of pollinators and to ensure the Council and its local residents, 
community and voluntary groups, businesses and landowners are provided 
with information to help us all protect and increase our pollinator populations. 
This strategy is designed to ensure the needs of pollinators are enshrined 
across the breadth of Council work and to increase awareness of pollinators 
across our local community. 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 304



4 
 

2.0 Background - The Importance of Pollinators 
  

Pollinators are an essential component of our environment. Our native 
pollinators include bumblebees and other bees (250 species), butterflies and 
moths, flies, beetles, and wasps. In all there are over 4000 species of insect 
in the UK that carry out pollination of our native wild plants and our food 
crops. Insect pollination is extremely important to the UK economy, with 
estimated values of £691 million annually. Without pollinators we would 
struggle to grow many vegetables and fruits including apples, pears, 
strawberries, beans, and peas. 

  
However, bee and pollinator health and declining populations have been 
increasingly highlighted as a cause for concern in the UK and globally. The 
main areas of concern for pollinators are land-use intensification, habitat 
destruction and fragmentation, disease, the use of agrochemicals, and climate 
change, although the importance of each of these and the extent to which 
they are inter-related is less well known. 

  
2.1 What are Pollinators?  
  

Insect pollinators including all types of bees, some wasps, butterflies, moths 
and hoverflies, some beetles, and flies.  

  
Bees and wasps visit flowers to collect pollen and nectar to feed themselves 
or their developing young. Flowering plants have evolved to take advantage of 
this by offering nectar to insects most likely to carry their pollen to another 
plant.  

  
The honeybee is the main managed pollinator of crops. Modern honeybee 
hives are sometimes moved from crop to crop, and beekeepers may charge 
for the pollination services provided whilst also harvesting the honey and 
other products. Crops which benefit from this include orchards and soft fruits 
(rose family) oil seed rape and other seed brassicas (cabbage family) and 
peas and beans (legumes).  

  
Bumblebees and solitary bees are also important pollinators that are essential 
to the maintenance of wild plant populations and to commercial crop 
production, particularly orchard and soft fruits and protected crops such as 
tomatoes. Pollinator kits are available for use in commercial glasshouses that 
use either non-native or UK origin bumblebees produced outside the UK. The 
queens are usually held captive, and the colonies destroyed at the end of the 
growing season, however many escape and can spread disease to wild 
populations.  

  
Wasps often feed on nectar whilst on the lookout for other insects to prey 
upon, many of which are crop pests. 

  
Butterflies and moths pollinate plants to various degrees by the action of the 
adult feeding on nectar. They are not major pollinators of UK food crops but 
are pollinators of many wildflowers. 

Page 305



5 
 

  
Hoverflies are abundant on flowers for much of the year and the adults feed 
on nectar and pollen, carrots and apples being examples of crops that benefit 
from hoverfly pollination. However, the larvae eat a much more varied diet 
that often includes other insects. For this reason, predatory species of 
hoverfly are utilised as part of Integrated Pest Management (IPM) as 
biological control agents. 
 
Beetles: some beetles eat pollen and in moving from flower to flower are 
pollinators, especially of wildflowers. 

 

 

Page 306



6 
 

2.2 Pollinators under threat 
  

Our pollinators are in trouble 
 Half of our 27 bumblebee species are in decline 
 Three of these bumblebee species have already gone extinct 
 Two-thirds of our moths are in long term decline. 
 Across Europe 38% of bee and hoverfly species are in decline 
 71% of our butterflies are in decline 
 Some studies show that since 1970, flying insect biomass has reduced 

by possibly three-quarters, so we may only have a quarter as many 
flying insects as 50 years ago. 

 
The most significant factors leading to the decline in pollinator numbers 
include: 

  
1. Habitat loss – The most significant cause of decline is the loss and 

degradation of habitats which provide food, shelter, and nesting sites for 
pollinators. The loss of wildflower-rich grasslands is one of the most 
important issues. Over 3 million hectares of these habitats have been 
lost in England alone since the 1930s, the loss being attributed to more 
intensive farming and urban/industrial development.  

2. Pesticides – There is growing evidence that the use of pesticides is 
having harmful effects on pollinators including honeybees, wild bees, 
and butterflies. Wider effects throughout ecosystems are also of 
concern and pesticides have been implicated in other declines such as 
farmland birds and soil organisms. The use of neonicotinoids is of 
particular concern. These are systemic pesticides which can be applied 
as a seed dressing (the preferred delivery mechanism) or spray and 
have a high toxicity to insects. 

3. Climate Change – long term changes can deprive pollinators of food 
supplies at times when they need them, increase their exposure to 
parasites and diseases, or change habitats so that they are no longer 
suitable. There may be gains as well as losses but a resilient network of 
good pollinator habitat across the area is needed for them to be able to 
adapt and take advantage of changes. 

 
2.3 What Pollinators need 
  

Pollinators need food in the form of pollen and nectar foraged from a variety 
of flowering plant species, and diverse vegetation structure. Many plants and 
trees can provide these food resources, including many so called ‘weeds’ 
such as dandelions and thistles. Continuity of nectar and pollen supplies 
throughout the season is vital. In addition to flowers, many pollinators need 
other food resources to support their different life stages – for example 
butterfly and moth caterpillars need particular plants to feed on. 

  
All pollinators need flowering semi-natural habitats such as wildflower 
meadows, hedgerows and woodland edges, and agricultural landscapes 
which include unimproved grassland, hay meadows, clover rich grasslands, 

Page 307



7 
 

orchards, and arable crops. However, many of these habitats and land uses 
are declining or in short supply. 

  
Although most honeybees have their shelter provided for them, other species 
need shelter such as log piles, rough grassland, hedges and dense shrubs, or 
dry-stone walls.  
 
Food and shelter can be provided in gardens, parks, road verges, and any 
other open area. Pollinators are relatively easy to provide for, for example by 
planting or retaining appropriate plant species such as common knapweed in 
wildflower meadows, red clover in pasture, hawthorn and bramble in 
hedgerows and woodlands and cosmos in bedding areas 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 308



8 
 

2.4 The National Pollinator Strategy (England) 
  

The UK Government’s National Pollinator Strategy for England (2014) sets 
out a 10-year plan to help pollinating insects survive and thrive across 
England. The Strategy outlines actions to support and protect the many 
pollinating insects which contribute to our food production and the diversity 
of our environment. It is a shared plan of action which looks to everyone to 
work together and ensure pollinators’ needs are addressed as an integral 
part of land and habitat management. 

  
The Strategy looks to local authorities to take a lead across many of their 
work areas and duties, including their role in local planning and also as 
managers of public and amenity spaces, brownfield sites, schools, car 
parks, roadside verges, and roundabouts. 

 
In taking action across these five areas, Defra aims to achieve the following 
outcomes: 
 More, bigger, better, joined-up, diverse and high-quality flower-rich 

habitats (including nesting places and shelter) supporting our 
pollinators across the country. 

 Healthy bees and other pollinators which are more resilient to climate 
change and severe weather events. 

 No further extinctions of known threatened pollinator species. 
 Enhanced awareness across a wide range of businesses, other 

organisations, and the public of the essential needs of pollinators. 
 Evidence of actions taken to support pollinators. 

 
2.5 Wirral’s response to the Climate Emergency 
  

Wirral Council declared an Environment and Climate Emergency at a meeting 
of full Council on 15th July 2019. As a local authority, we can have a positive 
influence through how we organise our operations and services; the 
regulations and policies we set; the goods and services we buy; the 
investments we make; and the example we set to others. Tackling the 
ecological and climate crisis presents major opportunities locally to improve 
quality of life, health, well-being, and the economy.  

  
Wirral Council is committing to acting to: 
 Achieve ‘net zero’ carbon emissions associated with our activities by 2030 

and to promote wider action to help reach ‘net zero’ emissions for Wirral 
as a whole no later than 2041. 

 Identify risks and prioritise nature- based solutions to build resilience to 
climate change. 

 Become a ‘Carbon Literate’ organisation. 
 Promote sustainable regeneration and green investment, with a brownfield 

first development strategy in the Local Plan. 
 Reduce unnecessary travel through planning and the use of information 

technology. 
 Facilitate modal shift from fossil fuelled vehicle use to active travel, public 

transport, and ultra-low carbon vehicles (e.g., electric vehicles). 

Page 309



9 
 

 Manage our use of energy, water, and resources as efficiently as possible. 
 Promote sustainable resource use more widely, to encourage the 

transition to a less wasteful ‘circular economy’. 
 Make use of cleaner renewable energy to meet our energy needs. 
 Promote a wider shift to non-fossil fuel clean energy sources. 
 Manage at least 30% of land in Wirral for the benefit of wildlife by 2030 (in 

line with Government commitments). 
 Ensure a 20% ‘net gain’ in biodiversity across all council land 
 Increase tree planting to double Wirral’s tree canopy cover. 
 Increase the number of parks and open spaces achieving green flag 

status. 
 
Wirral Council seeks to progress its ambitions by ensuring that consideration 
of the environment and climate emergency is integral to its function, decision-
making, service delivery and resource allocation; by learning from and 
working constructively with others; and by showing leadership and 
encouraging wider action. We will: 

  
 Embed sustainable decision making and ways of working in all areas of 

council activity. 
 Monitor progress on the impact of the Council’s actions and seek to 

achieve continual improvement. 
 Provide training and briefings for councillors and employees about the 

environment and climate emergency. 
 Communicate progress regularly and publicly. 
 Encourage learning and innovation within and between organisations. 
 Support positive engagement with partner organisations and residents. 
 Develop and deliver the Council’s Environment and Climate Emergency 

Action Plan. 
 Support the delivery of the ‘Cool2’ Wirral Climate Change Strategy. 
 Deliver the Wirral Tree Woodland and Hedgerow Strategy. 
 Further the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity through the 

development of a local nature recovery strategy for Wirral. 
 Develop a Wirral walking and cycling implementation plan. 
 Help deliver the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 

transport plan objectives to decarbonise travel and the LCRCA local 
journeys strategy. 

 Develop a Wirral electric vehicle strategy. 
 Review and update the Environment and Climate Emergency Policy 

Statement on an annual basis from the date of implementation (March 
2021). 

 
The Wirral Council 2025 Plan underline’s our ambitions concerning the 
environment and climate emergency. The authority’s Chief Executive, 
directors, and managers have responsibility to incorporate environment and 
climate emergency issues into business planning and day-to-day procedures 
and practices in dialogue with staff. Councillors have responsibility for shaping 
policy, taking decisions, and scrutinising progress. All elected members and 
employees have a role in helping to put this policy into practice. 

  

Page 310



10 
 

Biodiversity 
  

A key strand of Wirral Councils commitment to addressing the Climate 
Emergency recognising the importance of the natural environment and 
biodiversity. The Council and its partners will develop biodiversity through: 

  
A Tree, Woodland, and Hedgerow Strategy, to double canopy cover, has 
already been adopted and addresses: - 
 Establish a nature recovery network for Wirral to identify where tree 

planting, habitat restoration, recreation and management opportunities can 
bring the strongest environmental benefits for biodiversity, flood 
attenuation and mitigation of climate change. 

 Rewild verges and hedgerows to connect and enhance the wider 
ecological network. 

 Require all development proposals to deliver an overall 10% net gain for 
biodiversity calculated using a biodiversity metric. 

 Planting over 200,000 trees in Wirral by 2030. 
 Work with partner organisations through the Tree Woodland and 

Hedgerow Strategy Advisory Board and engage with local and national 
stakeholders. 

 
Transforming our open spaces and enhancing biodiversity 
 Proactively support pollinators through a Pollinator Strategy, this strategy. 
 Commit to phasing out the use of Glyphosate and other harmful chemicals 

on our estate. 
 Invest in ‘blue/green’ infrastructure including re wilding verges and 

hedgerows to create wildlife corridors. 
 Uphold our allotment policy and support for local food production. 
 Protect and enhance our natural assets, obtaining further green and blue 

flag awards and improve the ratings of our SSSIs. 
 Increase the biodiversity value of our parks and green spaces by wildlife-

friendly management and habitat creation, supported by public and staff 
education. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 311



11 
 

3.0 Wirral’s Pollinator Strategy 
  

This Pollinator Strategy seeks to address the decline in Pollinators and 
supports Wirral Councils commitment to addressing the Environment and 
Climate Emergency. This strategy recognises the importance of the natural 
environment and biodiversity and seeks to deliver the Environment and 
Climate Emergency Policy Statement (2020) – Biodiversity – Transforming our 
open spaces and enhancing biodiversity. As such this Pollinator Strategy sits 
alongside the Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy (2020-2030) and the 
two together seek to increase biodiversity locally. 
 

3.1 Key principles of the Strategy 
  

This strategy has been developed to raise awareness of the plight of 
pollinators and to ensure the Council and its local residents, businesses and 
landowners are provided with information to help us all protect and increase 
our pollinator populations. This strategy is designed to ensure the needs of 
pollinators are enshrined across the breadth of Council work and to increase 
awareness of pollinators across our local community. 

  
3.2 A Commitment from the Wirral Council 
  

Wirral Council is committed to helping to conserve the UK’s pollinators by 
ensuring the council will consider the needs of pollinators in the delivery of its 
duties and work. Wirral Council will seek to protect and increase the amount 
and quality of pollinator habitat and manage its greenspace to provide greater 
benefits for pollinators. We will ensure local people are provided with 
opportunities to make Wirral more pollinator friendly. 

  
3.3 Our vision: Our local environment will be rich in flower-rich habitats, helping 

support sustainable pollinator populations and making places more attractive 
for people to live and work in 

  
3.4 Aims: The Council and its partners will work together to: 
  

 Ensure the needs of pollinators are represented in local plans, policy, and 
guidance for regeneration and economic development. 

 Protect, increase, and enhance the amount of pollinator habitat in 
Wirral to prevent extinctions and improve the status of any locally 
threatened species 

 Increase awareness of pollinators and their habitat needs across local 
residents, community and voluntary groups, businesses, and other 
landowners 

 Increase the contribution to pollinator conservation of all land under the 
ownership of, or managed by the Council 

 Improve our knowledge and understanding of pollinators in our local area 
 
 
 
 

Page 312



12 
 

3.5 Pollinator actions to date 
 

The Council recognises the importance of the natural environment and the 
role that it can play in tackling climate change. Insect pollinator species have 
experienced national declines, in part due to the loss and fragmentation of 
habitat space.  
 
Wirral Council has been developing a number of pollinator friendly initiatives 
for some time with Parks & Countryside Services implementing an initial 
action plan in 2019, to review established mowing regimes and consider 
adopting the practices detailed in Road Verge and Wildlife Management 
Guidelines (2019) by Plantlife.  
 
Wirral Council has had some early success in promoting pollinators, being 
recognised in 2020 for its work in this area with a Bees’ Needs Champions 
Awards for the Meadow Restoration Project at Wirral Country Park. Bees play 
a part in every aspect of the ecosystem, they support the growth of trees, 
flowers, and other plants, which serve as food and shelters for creatures large 
and small, Bees contribute to complex, interconnected ecosystems that allow 
a diverse number of different species to co-exist.  
 
An unexpected consequence of the COVID-19 Pandemic has also contributed 
to progressing plans for pollinators. In Spring 2020 the COVID-19 pandemic 
and full lockdown resulting in Parks & Countryside staff being redeployed to 
support essential services and the response to the pandemic led to an 8-week 
delay in commencing the grass cutting at the start of the season. This meant 
that the grass across the borough had been allowed to grow much longer than 
in previous years, which in turn enabled certain native wildflowers to grow and 
prosper in the unmaintained verges.  
 
This unexpected outcome of the lockdown generated a lot of positive public 
feedback, people wanted to see an expansion of rewilded areas to enhance 
wildlife and supported a reduction in grass cutting. As a direct result a number 
of key initiatives have started, including:- 
 
1. Rewilding of amenity greenspaces and highway grass verges - In 

2021/22 729,412m2 (7.3 Hectares) of amenity space and highway verges 
were identified as rewilding sites, meaning that they would no longer be 
mown regularly, apart from edges and footpaths, in order that they provide 
habitats for pollinators and insects. These areas only received one cut, 
during the autumn to prevent areas becoming unmanageable. 

2. Pollinator areas - In 2021/22 59 areas were identified as being potentially 
pollinator friendly. Designated Pollinator sites are left to grow and were 
managed to encourage the development of the naturally occurring 
wildflowers identified. 

3. Reduced frequency of grass maintenance - In 2021/22 a reduced 
maintenance regime was put in place across on all general grass areas in 
parks and public open spaces. This reduced the number of cuts per year 
from 14 to 10. In 2022/23 a further reduction from 10 cuts per year to 8 
was put in place. 

Page 313



13 
 

4. ‘No Mow May’ - In 2021/22 Wirral Council took part in Plantlife’s National 
Campaign of ‘No Mow May’ to both raise awareness of the importance of 
not cutting grassed areas during May and to allow for pollinators to 
increase their numbers during the month of May. This continued in 
2022/23 with all general grass areas in parks and public open spaces 
remaining uncut during the period. 

5. ‘Bee Bus Shelter’ – In November 2022 Wirral Council developed a pilot 
‘Bee Bus Shelter’ in order to introduce Pollinators into urban areas, 
working in partnership with the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. 

 

 
 
The initiatives have reduced the amount of disturbance to habitats which 
promote pollinators, provided opportunities for amenity greenspaces to be 
used in different ways to support re-wilding / pollinators and reduce the cost of 
maintenance. 
 
In addition to these important initiatives, which are directly related to this 
Pollinator Strategy, it is important to note that over 11 Hectares of open space 
has also been identified and set aside for Tree Planting. This has supported 
the Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy in its first two years of delivery 
and allowed for 45,000 trees to be planted in several locations towards its 
200,000-tree target. 
 
In total, including the Tree Planting initiatives, just over 18 Hectares of land 
has been used to support biodiversity initiatives, or to put this into context the 
equivalent of four 18-hole golf courses. In addition, grass cutting maintenance 
on all general grass areas in parks and public open spaces has been reduced 
by just under 43%.   

Page 314



14 
 

3.6 Delivering the Pollinator Strategy 
 
To deliver the aims of this strategy Wirral Council will deliver on the following 
objectives and actions. 
 
Aim 1:  To ensure the needs of pollinators are represented in local plans, 
policy, and guidance for regeneration and economic development. 
 

 Increase the protection afforded to pollinator habitats and the species 
they support by ensuring appropriate recognition in local plans and 
policies  

o Carry out a review of existing surveys and biodiversity mapping 
to identify key pollinator habitats present in the area 

o Take forward a review, and where required revise current 
polices to take account of the needs of pollinators 

o Ensure existing pollinator-friendly habitats are protected 
wherever possible in new development, using the mitigation 
hierarchy.  
 

 Increase the profile of habitats of value to pollinators in biodiversity 
asset, green infrastructure, and other maps 

o Survey habitats, including brownfield, parks, verges etc. to 
assess their importance for pollinators 

o Review and revise biodiversity asset maps to recognise 
importance of pollinator habitats. 

o Work with the Liverpool City Region in preparing Nature 
Improvement Areas and Nature Recovery Areas (under the 
Environment Act 2021) considering the needs of pollinators. 
Corridors, steppingstones and other networks are very important 
to enable pollinators to breed and move. 

 
 Recognise and capitalise on opportunities to create pollinator friendly 

habitats as part of new development 
o Raise awareness of and promote the creation of pollinator 

friendly features with developers 
o Use Section 106 agreements to ensure greenspaces in new 

developments are made pollinator friendly 
o Ensure Biodiversity Net Gain includes measures to promote 

pollinator-friendly habitats and their management. 
  

Page 315



15 
 

 
Aim 2: To protect, increase and enhance the amount of pollinator habitat in 
Wirral and prevent any extinction and improve the status of any locally 
threatened species. 

 
 Increase the value of Local Wildlife Sites for pollinators 

o Where appropriate ensure the needs of pollinators are 
considered in the management of Local Wildlife Sites which are 
owned or managed by the Council 

o Provide information on the needs of pollinators to other owners 
/managers of Local Wildlife Sites 

 
 Increase the value of parks and other greenspace for pollinators 

o Identify areas of parkland which will benefit from Re-Wilding, 
Pollinator designation or Tree and hedgerow planting.  

o Work with local communities to develop a balanced approach to 
park management to support a range of uses and wildlife 
benefits 

o Reduce grass cutting of public green space  
o Invest in suitable machinery for cutting long grass at end of 

season. 
 

 Reduce the impact of pesticides on pollinators and other wildlife 
o Review use of pesticides and neonicotinoids (including seed 

dressing, plants, and turf) and aim to reduce their use by the 
Council 

o Provide all tenants with advice on pollinator-friendly 
horticulture including information on the harmful effects of 
neonicotinoid pesticides. 

 

 
  

Page 316



16 
 

 
Aim 3: To increase awareness of pollinators and their habitat needs across 
local residents, community and voluntary groups, businesses, and other 
landowners 

 
 Increase awareness of pollinators in the local community and within 

local businesses 
o Provide information on pollinator friendly gardening activities to 

residents and local allotment holders 
o Create pollinator friendly flower beds and shelter features in 

parks and link these to interpretation about pollinators 
o Promote pollinators to local business forums and individual 

businesses to help biodiversity and improve the local 
environment 

 
 Increase the number of young people who understand the value of their 

local pollinators 
o Encourage local schools to develop wildflower areas in school 

grounds 
o Develop a pollinator award for schools 

 

  

Page 317



17 
 

 
Aim 4: To increase the contribution to pollinator conservation of all land under 
the ownership of, or managed by the Council 

 
 Make council owned land and buildings more pollinator friendly 

o Designate areas of land as ‘Rewilding’ or ‘Pollinator’ and 
manage these areas to promote and support pollinators 

o Increase pollinator friendly planting in flowerbeds around Council 
offices etc  

o Explore and increase the use of green roofs and/or pollinator 
nesting features, installing these on new Council buildings and 
publicise this work as good practice. 

o Increase the number of Allotments in the borough and educate 
allotment holders about pollinator-friendly practices where 
necessary. 

 
 Increase the area of pollinator habitats on local greenspace managed 

by local groups 
o Work with and support ‘friends of groups’ to manage and create 

pollinator habitats 
o Explore transferring Council land to the community for 

community allotments or other community growing facilities. 
 
 

Aim 5: To improve our knowledge and understanding of pollinators in our 
local area 

 
 Establish effective monitoring of work being carried out in our area 

o Carry out a brief review of achievements annually and publicise 
success to local communities 

o Encourage staff and contractors to feedback on actions they 
take for pollinators and provide an award for best practice 

 
 Increase information on the status of pollinators 

o Encourage local people to support national pollinator monitoring 
schemes 

o Continue to support the ‘No Mow May’ initiative to raise 
awareness amongst residents. 

o Workforce plan to upskill and involve employees to deliver the 
Pollinator Strategy. 

o Inform and educate residents and partners on the need for 
greater biodiversity. 

 
 
 
  

Page 318



18 
 

3.7 What do we mean by 
 

A number of different terms are used to describe different initiatives outlined in 
this strategy, this section outlines what is meant by these different terms. 
 
Tree, Woodland & Hedgerow Strategy 
 

 Planting trees and hedgerows in appropriate locations on both Council 
and private land to increase tree cover and promote biodiversity. 

 
Reduced Grass Cutting 

 The frequency Wirral Council cuts grass has been reduced. From April 
2022 the frequency of grass cutting has been reduced to 8 cuts per 
year. 

 Key areas where growth would be inappropriate continued to be 
maintained as normal, these included, cemeteries, sports pitches & 
bowling greens, play areas, ornamental gardens, and highway verges. 

 As a part of this reduced maintenance, Wirral Council observes ‘No 
Mow May’, a national campaign led by Plantlife.  

 
Re-Wilding 

 These areas, predominantly drawn from amenity greenspaces and 
highway verges, are allowed to grow to provide a habitat for 
Pollinators. 

 Re-Wilding areas receive a mown edge border of 1.5m cut and/or 
pathways to maintain access and sightlines throughout the year, in line 
with reduced grass cutting maintenance. 

 These areas will receive a whole area cut, in the Autumn, each year to 
prevent low value growth and allow for future uses. 

 Rewilding areas may be re-purposed as potential areas for tree 
planting schemes, allotments (considering that allotments can and do 
add to biodiversity), pollinator sites or could be maintained by 
community groups. 

 Wirral Council is guided by Plantlife’s 2019 guidance - Road, Verge 
and Wildlife Management Guidelines. 

 
Pollinator Sites 

 These areas are similar to Re-Wilding areas in that they are 
predominantly drawn from amenity greenspaces and highway verges. 
However, these sites have been identified as having a higher 
prevalence of naturally occurring wildflowers that support pollinators 
and are therefore more valuable from a biodiversity perspective. 

 These areas are managed to promote and encourage the naturally 
occurring pollinators identified. Currently three different management 
approaches are applied, dependent of the type of wildflowers that is 
most prevalent: - 

o Spring flowers - no spring cut, mow only after mid-June, 
remove cuttings if possible 

o Hay-meadow regime - no spring cut, mow after mid-July, 
remove cuttings if possible. 

Page 319



19 
 

o Summer flowers - mow in March, leave unmown till 
September, remove cuttings, or cut up small 

Wirral Council is guided by Plantlife’s 2019 guidance - Road, Verge 
and Wildlife Management Guidelines. 

 Pollinator sites do receive a mown edge border of 1.5m cut and/or 
pathways to maintain access and sightlines. 

 In order to raise public awareness of the sites most have had signs 
installed to inform residents of their purpose. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 320



20 
 

3.8 Financing the Strategy 
 

Many of the actions put forward to deliver this strategy may be achieved at 
low or no cost. Effectively engaging with residents, Friends Groups and other 
volunteers can raise awareness and deliver upon a wide range of actions and 
these opportunities do need to be maximised. 
 
However, there are some aspects of this strategy that will require financing 
for instance: - 

 The purchase of updated flail mower machinery to manage longer 
grass land, 

 The provision of seeds and plants and clearing areas in order to 
develop further Pollinator sites or allotments, and 

 In developing or using different approaches to weed control. The use 
of Glyphosate continues to be the cheapest form of weed control with 
alternatives costing significantly more to adopt. 

 
Wirral Council is committed to addressing the Climate Emergency and as a 
part of this increasing Biodiversity. To deliver upon this strategy, where 
additional funds may be required, Wirral Council will seek support from 
National Initiatives in order to obtain grant funding and were necessary seek 
additional support from Council funds such as the Climate Emergency 
Budget or Capital in order to deliver upon the highest priority objectives and 
actions of this strategy. 
 

  

Page 321



21 
 

4.0 Consultation on the Strategy 
  

Changes to the way Wirral carries out grass maintenance and the introduction 
of re-wilding and pollinator areas formed a part of Wirral Councils budget for 
2021/22, consultation was undertaken between November 2020 and January 
2021. There proposals were supported by residents when balanced again 
other reductions in services. 

  
Wirral Council’s website detailed the new grass maintenance regime, 
including ‘No Mow May’. Area put forward for re-wilding or pollinator 
designation were also published. Through this web page residents were able 
to raise issues with the sites selected. In addition, elected members have 
been very active during 2021/22 in putting forward alternative areas for 
consideration. These schemes were also featured in Wirral View. 

  
An Operational Review of the implementation of the 2021/22 Pollinator Pilots 
was presented to the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee for comment on 20th January 2022. 

  
A joint Wirral Council / Wirral Wildlife workshop was held on the 14 February 
2022 with Members of the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee to discuss Wirral Councils approach to Pollinators to inform the 
initial development of this strategy. 
 
Further consultation was held with all elected members being invited to attend 
Pollinator Strategy Ward meetings with officers from Parks & Countryside in 
July 2022 to take part in the consultation and to shape both this strategy and 
to review both past and proposed future Re-Wilding & Pollinator sites. 
 
Public consultation was undertaken on the development of the Wirral 
Pollinator Strategy (September 2022) via a survey on the ‘Have Your Say’ 
webpage and paper copies were available upon request. Results indicated 
strong support for a number of statements which underpin the strategy which 
included: 
 
 81.4% of respondents strongly agreed that ‘the council should increase the 

number of areas that support pollinators to thrive’, and 7.6% strongly 
disagreed.  

 85.3% strongly agreed that ‘the council should reduce the impact, where 
possible, of pesticides on pollinators. 5.9% strongly disagreed. 

 67.8 % feel aware of what they can do in their local area to help increase 
and support pollinators. 11.7% do not feel aware. 

 62.4% strongly agree that ‘the council needs to do more to educate people 
on the importance of pollinators. In total, 87.1% agreed and 4.7% 
disagreed.  

 94.1% of respondents feel aware of what they can do in their local area to 
help increase and support pollinators. However, 3.5% do not feel aware. 

 64% strongly agree that ‘The council should look to involve more volunteer 
groups and support them in the pollinator conservation work’, 3.5% 
strongly disagree.  

Page 322



22 
 

 87.0% believe ‘the council should monitor the number of pollinators to 
track changes to pollinator populations. However, 5.9% strongly disagreed, 
and 0.6% disagreed.  

 95.8% of respondents agreed that ‘the council should consider pollinators 
and their habitats in all future planning’, with 3.5% disagreement.  

 
When asked if there was anything else that the respondents would like to tell 
us about pollinators, the most common category of response was that there 
was a need for education about pollinators. Respondents also believed the 
council should create an effective plan for pollinators to thrive and that the 
council should take a holistic view when creating a Pollinator Strategy, for it to 
be a success.  
 
When asked to provide any concerns regarding the increase of pollinators, 
56% did not have any concerns. However, some were concerned that some 
maintenance would still be needed. 4.5% of respondents believed that a 
Pollinator Strategy alone is not enough, and that more action should be taken 
to benefit the environment due to its importance. However, another concern 
was that a Pollinator Strategy may be misinterpreted by the public and lead to 
opposition from residents. There was also a concern that without proper 
planning, a Pollinator Strategy may be ineffective. 
 

4.1 Working with partners and partners initiatives 
  

Where possible the Council will join forces and participate in other local, 
regional, or national pollinator programmes or projects. More joined up 
collaborative action for pollinators will help ensure a future for these 
especially important species.  

  
Parks and Countryside Services are continuing to identify and promote 
suitable pollinator sites in parks and open spaces across Wirral with officers 
exploring how they can further work with residents, councillors, and partners 
such as Friends of Parks Groups and Wirral Wildlife Trust.  

  
Representatives from Wirral Wildlife, Merseyside Environmental Advisory 
Service (MEAS) and New Ferry Butterfly Park have been consulted with in 
the development of this strategy. 

 
 
  

Page 323



23 
 

5.0 Local Authority Duties and obligations 
  

Local authorities have a Duty to conserve biodiversity in exercising their 
functions under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (NERC) 
2006. This Biodiversity Duty requires all local authorities to make biodiversity 
an integral part of policy and decision making. This includes the restoration 
and enhancement of pollinator populations and habitats. 

  
In November 2021 the long-awaited Environment Act (2021) was enacted. 
The Act brought in new and additional obligations on Public Authorities 
including: 

 An enhanced biodiversity duty on Local Authorities to conserve and 
enhance biodiversity within exercising their functions on their own 
estate 

 Local Authorities to produce a five-yearly Biodiversity Reports on 
action taken and impacts  

 Introduction of Local Nature Recovery Strategies across England led 
by a responsible body – the LCR Mayoral Combined Authority 

 Mandatory 10% Biodiversity Net Gain for all new development 
(November 2023) 

In the Liverpool City Region preparatory work on a Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy is underway and once complete this overarching strategy will 
establish priorities and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s 
recovery and provide wider environmental benefits. 

  
Regarding biodiversity net gain, England is halfway through a two-year 
transition phase towards mandatory net gain. The LCR Local Planning 
Authorities, including Wirral, are in the final stages of preparing an interim 
BNG Information Note.  

  
This pollinator strategy can be regarded as a district-level delivery plan for 
the Local Nature Recovery Strategy and forms part of Wirral Council’s 
response to its enhanced biodiversity duty. 
 
Developing and implementing a Local Pollinator Strategy will help to 
demonstrate local authorities’ commitment to biodiversity and help to fulfil 
their legal duty whilst also contributing toward delivery of key objectives 
outlined in the National Pollinator Strategy. ‘ 

  
In addition, the Council has a statutory duty to keep roadside verges cut to a 
reasonable height to maintain sightlines for road users.  

  
5.1 Other relevant policies for Local Authorities 
  

The Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 1994 (Section 37) which 
requires development plans “to include policies encouraging the 
management of features of the landscape which are of major importance for 
wild flora and fauna. 

  

Page 324



24 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) paragraphs 174 and 179 
requires planning authorities to minimise impacts on biodiversity and 
geodiversity by ensuring planning policies: 
 Plan for biodiversity at a landscape-scale across local authority 

boundaries 
 Promote the preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority habitats, 

ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species 
populations, linked to national and local targets, and identify suitable 
indicators for monitoring biodiversity in the plan. 

  

Page 325



25 
 

6.0 References 
 
The National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other pollinators in England 
(November 2014) - The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 
UK 
 
Supporting document to the National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other 
pollinators in England (November 2014) - The Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
National Pollinator Strategy: Implementation Plan (November 2015) - The 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
National Pollinator Strategy: Implementation Plan, 2018-2021 (December 
2018) - The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other pollinators in England - 
Evidence statements and Summary of Evidence ‘Management and Drivers of 
Change of Pollinating Insects and Pollination Services (January 2019) – The 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK 
 
The good verge guide: a different approach to managing our waysides and 
verges (2016) Plantlife 
 
Road Verges and their potential for pollinators: A review of costs, benefits, 
and management options (2019) Buglife 
 
Environment and Climate Emergency Policy Statement (March 2021) – Wirral 
Council 
 
Tree, Hedgerow and Woodland Strategy (2020-2030) – Wirral Council 
 
Road, Verge and Wildlife Management Guidelines (2019) - Plantlife 
 

 

Page 326



 

 

Wirral Pollinator Strategy 
Consultation Report 

 

 
 

 

 

  
Consultation: 1 September – 3 October 2022 

Report: 6 October 2022  

Page 327



2 

 

Contents 
1.0 Executive Summary ................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Key Findings ...................................................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Methodology ............................................................................................................................. 6 

2.1 Questionnaire ....................................................................................................................... 6 

2.2 Mapping Tool ....................................................................................................................... 7 

2.3 Analysis of Respondents ...................................................................................................... 8 

2.4 Interpretation of Results ...................................................................................................... 8 

2.5 Communication .................................................................................................................... 8 

3.0 Results ....................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 The Questionnaire ................................................................................................................ 9 

3.2 The Mapping Tool .............................................................................................................. 20 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic ................................................................................................ 24 

4.1 Demographics ..................................................................................................................... 24 

4.2 Have your say - Site Traffic ................................................................................................. 29 

5.0 Appendix 1 Mapping Tool Detail ............................................................................................ 30 

 

 

  

Page 328



3 

 

1.0 Executive Summary 
Wirral Council is seeking to produce a Pollinator strategy that addresses the decline in 

pollinators and supports the local commitment to tackle the declared climate emergency. The 

Pollinator Strategy Consultation is to be developed with the “ambition to increase the number 

of pollinators, make space for them in our green and open spaces, protect pollinator habitats 

and provide information on the importance of doing this.”  

The consultation sought the views of Wirral residents and other stakeholders to support with 

the direction of the strategy and gather comments and ideas. These findings will be considered 

at the November 2022 meeting of the Environment, Climate Emergency Committee. 

  

Page 329



4 

 

1.1 Key Findings  

 The Pollinator engagement generated 172 responses. 

 81.4% of respondents strongly agreed that the council should increase the number of 

areas that support pollinators to thrive, and 7.6% strongly disagreed. (Question 1) 

 85.3% strongly agreed that the council should reduce the impact, where possible, of 

pesticides on pollinators. 5.9% strongly disagreed. (Question 2) 

 67.8 % feel aware of what they can do in their local area to help increase and support 

pollinators. 11.7% do not feel aware. (Question 3)  

 62.4% strongly agree that the council needs to do more to educate people on the 

importance of pollinators. In total, 87.1% were in agreement and 4.7% were in 

disagreement. (Question 4) 

 94.1% of respondents feel aware of what they can do in their local area to help increase 

and support pollinators. However, 3.5% do not feel aware. (Question 5)  

 64% strongly agree that “The council should look to involve more volunteer groups and 

support them in the pollinator conservation work.” 3.5% strongly disagree. (Question 6) 

 87.0% believe the council should monitor the number of pollinators to track changes to 

pollinator populations. However, 5.9% strongly disagreed, and 0.6% disagreed. 

(Question 7) 

 95.8% of respondents agreed that the council should consider pollinators and their 

habitats in all future planning, with 3.5% disagreement. (Question 8) 

 When asked if there was anything else that the respondents would like to tell us about 

pollinators, the most common category of response was that there was a need for 

education about pollinators. Respondents also believed the council should create an 

effective plan for pollinators to thrive and that the council should take a holistic view 

when creating a pollinator strategy, for it to be a success. Additionally, many would like 

to see a rewilding process to allow pollinators to thrive. (Question 9) 

 When asked to provide any concerns regarding the increase of pollinators, 56% did not 

have any concerns. However, some were concerned that some maintenance would still 

be needed. 4.5% of respondents believed that a pollinator strategy alone is not enough, 

and that more action should be taken to benefit the environment due to its importance. 

However, another concern was that a pollinator strategy may be misinterpreted by the 

public and lead to opposition from residents. There was also a concern that without 

proper planning, a pollinator strategy may be ineffective. (Question 10) 

Page 330



5 

 

 The mapping tool received 48 submissions from 19 individuals. Nine of Wirral’s wards 

received recommendations. A site located at 80 School Lane, Wallasey, CH45 8PU, 

received a recommendation from two individuals.  

 

  

Page 331



6 

 

2.0 Methodology 
Through the Pollinator strategy consultation people were asked to tell us about their views on 

pollinators and what we can do to further look after them in Wirral.  

The consultation was carried out between 1 September – 3 October 2022. The approach used 

was an on online public consultation through the ‘Have your say’ consultation portal at 

www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk with a page dedicated to the Pollinator strategy Consultation. 

Useful information provided on the site included links to maps of the current Pollinator and 

Rewilding sites, photo examples of pollinator sites and an informative video.  

An online questionnaire was provided for residents to engage with. Respondents were also able 

to request paper copies, help completing the questionnaire, or submit additional comments via 

a dedicated email address, which was published on the ‘Have your say’ website alongside the 

online tool.  

Additionally, residents were able to identify areas that they would like to see transformed into 

pollinator friendly sites, by placing pins on the mapping tool provided. Once a pin had been 

placed, the mapping tool allowed people to leave detail regarding their pin, through a comment 

or an optional photo. 

Following the consultation, the feedback will be considered at a meeting of the Environment, 

Climate Emergency Committee in November 2022.  

2.1 Questionnaire 

The consultation questionnaire was developed around understanding stakeholder views on the 

following five key areas: 

 Pollinator habitats and the threat of potential extinction of species.   

 Awareness of pollinators and support for their habitats.   

 Pollinator conservation on council land.   

 Knowledge and understanding of pollinators.   

 Addressing the needs of pollinators in local plans, policy making and guidance.   

To enable further understanding, and in-depth analysis, respondents were invited to provide 

free-text comments to expand on their ideas or concerns. Survey takers were also asked if they 

would like to adopt council land for a conservation project or volunteer as part of the pollinator 

strategy. 

Page 332

https://wirralcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Team-0401/Shared%20Documents/General/2020%20EngagementHQ/Budget%2021%2022/www.haveyoursay.wirral.gov.uk


7 

 

Following closure of the consultation, the responses to each of the direct questions were 

collated and the responses included in this report. For the free-text comment questions, a text 

coding approach was used based on the reoccurring themes. This data was then collated and 

summarised in the report.  

2.2 Mapping Tool 

The mapping tool was developed to allow local stakeholders to identify areas that could be 

transformed into pollinator friendly sites. To enable this collaboration, respondents were able 

to explore Wirral on a map, with the ability to navigate using a mouse or by inputting an 

address and zoom in close enough to identify sites. Instructions were provided to help 

respondents use this tool. 

The map used a hybrid satellite / street view, which allowed for the identification of areas 

through local landmarks such as roads, while the photo realism of the satellite aided 

respondents to select the appropriate piece of land. Once a pin had been placed, respondents 

were able to add a comment, and optionally add an image. To increase collaboration, the map 

shows the pins of previous submissions for all viewers. 

 

 

Figure 1: Mapping tool - Two pins from separate respondents recommending a Pollinator site. 
This screenshot has been taken at maximum zoom. The highlighted pin has attached a photo 
alongside a comment. 

 

Page 333



8 

 

2.3 Analysis of Respondents 

Respondents to the online tools were provided with the option to provide demographic 

information about themselves. It must be noted that this is an option and that not all 

respondents included this information. This data allows the demographic results to be included 

in this report to enable analysis of the scope of responses and representation from different 

demographic groups.   

2.4 Interpretation of Results 

In terms of the results, it is important to note that: 

 The public consultation is not representative of the overall population but provides 

information on the opinion of those residents who engaged. 

 For specific tools where percentages do not add up to 100, this may be due to rounding, 

or the question is multi-coded. All free-text questions and ideas that offered 

respondents the option to provide written feedback could have covered multiple 

themes. Therefore, with free-text responses being categorised using a coding system, 

some comments will be multi-coded and therefore add up to more than 100 percent. 

2.5 Communication 

The consultation was promoted through the council’s corporate digital communication 

channels. This included: 

 Organic social media (video and photographic content shared across Facebook, 

Instagram and Twitter) 

 Media release issued to local print and digital media (covered in Birkenhead News and 

Wirral Globe) 

 Wirral View news article  

 Resident Email (inclusion in 4 editions)  

 Resident Email – Environment and Climate Emergency 

Page 334



9 

 

3.0 Results 
3.1 The Questionnaire 

The questionnaire was responded to by 172 people. All responses came through the online 

portal, no paper copies were requested. No questions were mandatory so respondents could 

choose which questions to respond to.    

3.1.1 Question 1: The council should increase the number of areas that support pollinators to 

thrive  

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. 172 

people responded to this question. 81.4% of respondents strongly agreed with the statement, 

and in total 90.1% were in agreement that the council should increase the number of areas that 

support pollinators to thrive. However, 7.6% strongly disagreed.  

 

Figure 2: Chart displaying results to “The council should increase the number of areas that 
support pollinators to thrive” 

The council should increase the number of areas that 
support pollinators to thrive  

Total % 

Strongly agree 140 81.4% 

Agree 15 8.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 4 2.3% 

Disagree 0 0.0% 

Strongly disagree 13 7.6% 

Total 172 100.0% 

Table 1: Table displaying the results to “The council should increase the number of areas that 
support pollinators to thrive” 

81.4% 

8.7% 
2.3% 0.0% 

7.6% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

The council should increase the number of areas that support 
pollinators to thrive  

Page 335



10 

 

3.1.2 Question 2: The council should reduce the impact, where possible, of pesticides on 

pollinators (this refers to how pesticides are applied and used) 

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. The 

most common response was ‘strongly agree’, selected by 85.3% of the 170 respondents to this 

question. In total, 91.2% of respondents were in agreement with the statement. However, 5.9% 

strongly disagreed that the council should reduce the impact, where possible, of pesticides on 

pollinators. In total, 7.1% disagreed with the statement. 

 

Figure 3: Chart displaying results to “The council should reduce the impact, where possible, of 
pesticides on pollinators (this refers to how pesticides are applied and used)” 

The council should reduce the impact, where possible, 
of pesticides on pollinators (this refers to how 
pesticides are applied and used) 

Total % 

Strongly agree 145 85.3% 

Agree 10 5.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 3 1.8% 

Disagree 2 1.2% 

Strongly disagree 10 5.9% 

Total 170 100.0% 

Table 2: Table displaying the results to “The council should reduce the impact, where possible, of 
pesticides on pollinators (this refers to how pesticides are applied and used)” 

85.3% 

5.9% 
1.8% 1.2% 

5.9% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

The council should reduce the impact, where possible, of pesticides on 
pollinators (this refers to how pesticides are applied and used) 

Page 336



11 

 

3.1.3 Question 3: I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help increase and support 

pollinators  

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. 171 

individuals responded to this question, and the most common answer was ‘agree,’ selected by 

36.8% of respondents. In total, 67.8% believed that they were aware of what they can do in 

their local area to help increase and support pollinators. However, 2.9% strongly disagreed, and 

in total 11.7% disagreed (disagreed or strongly disagreed) with the statement. The number of 

respondents who neither agreed or disagreed (20.5%) in response was noticeably high. 

 

Figure 4: Chart displaying results to “I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help 
increase and support pollinators” 

I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help 
increase and support pollinators  

Total % 

Strongly agree 53 31.0% 

Agree 63 36.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 35 20.5% 

Disagree 15 8.8% 

Strongly disagree 5 2.9% 

Total 171 100.0% 

Table 3: Table displaying the results to “I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help 
increase and support pollinators” 

31.0% 

36.8% 

20.5% 

8.8% 

2.9% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help increase and support 
pollinators  

Page 337



12 

 

3.1.4 Question 4: The council needs to do more to educate people on the importance of 

pollinators 

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. 170 

people responded to this question; the most common answer was ‘strongly agree’ (62.4%). In 

total, 87.1% agreed that the council should do more to educate people on the importance of 

pollinators. However, 4.1% strongly disagreed and 0.6% disagreed. Additionally, 8.2% neither 

agreed or disagreed.  

 

Figure 5: Chart displaying results to “The council needs to do more to educate people on the 
importance of pollinators” 

The council needs to do more to educate people on the 
importance of pollinators 

Total % 

Strongly agree 106 62.4% 

Agree 42 24.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 14 8.2% 

Disagree 1 0.6% 

Strongly disagree 7 4.1% 

Total 170 100.0% 

Table 4: Table displaying the results to “The council needs to do more to educate people on the 
importance of pollinators” 

 

62.4% 

24.7% 

8.2% 

0.6% 
4.1% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

The council needs to do more to educate people on the importance of 
pollinators 

Page 338



13 

 

3.1.5 Question 5: I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help increase and support 

pollinators  

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. Of the 

172 who responded to this question, 83.1% strongly agreed and 11% agreed, indicating that 

94.1% of respondents feel aware of what they can do in their local area to help increase and 

support pollinators. However, 2.9% strongly disagreed and 0.6% disagreed. 

 

Figure 6: Chart displaying results to “I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help 
increase and support pollinators” 

The council should consider all of its land and assets 
when thinking about pollinators (including buildings, 
other structures and urban spaces ) 

Total % 

Strongly agree 143 83.1% 

Agree 19 11.0% 

Neither agree nor disagree 4 2.3% 

Disagree 1 0.6% 

Strongly disagree 5 2.9% 

Total 172 100.0% 

Table 5: Table displaying the results to “I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help 
increase and support pollinators” 

 

83.1% 

11.0% 

2.3% 0.6% 2.9% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

I feel aware of what I can do in my local area to help increase and support 
pollinators  

Page 339



14 

 

3.1.6 Question 6: The council should look to involve more volunteer groups and support them 

in the pollinator conservation work 

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. The 

most common answer was ‘strongly agree,’ selected by 64.0% of the 172 respondents. 26.7% 

agreed that the council should look to involve more volunteer groups and support them in the 

pollinator conservation work. However, 3.5% strongly disagreed with the statement and 0.6% 

disagreed.  

 

Figure 7: Chart displaying results to “The council should look to involve more volunteer groups 
and support them in the pollinator conservation work” 

The council should look to involve more volunteer 
groups and support them in the pollinator conservation 
work 

Total % 

Strongly agree 110 64.0% 

Agree 46 26.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 5.2% 

Disagree 1 0.6% 

Strongly disagree 6 3.5% 

Total 172 100.0% 

Table 6: Table displaying the results to “The council should look to involve more volunteer 
groups and support them in the pollinator conservation work” 

64.0% 

26.7% 

5.2% 
0.6% 

3.5% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

The council should look to involve more volunteer groups and support 
them in the pollinator conservation work 

Page 340



15 

 

3.1.7 Question 7: The council should monitor the number of pollinators to track changes to 

pollinator populations 

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. The 

most popular answer, selected by 59.4% of the 170 respondents was ‘Strongly agree,’ followed 

by ‘agree,’ selected by 27.6% of respondents. In total, 87.0% believe the council should monitor 

the number of pollinators to track changes to pollinator populations. However, 5.9% strongly 

disagreed, and 0.6% disagreed.  

 

Figure 8: Chart displaying results to “The council should monitor the number of pollinators to 
track changes to pollinator populations” 

The council should monitor the number of pollinators 
to track changes to pollinator populations 

Total % 

Strongly agree 101 59.4% 

Agree 47 27.6% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 6.5% 

Disagree 1 0.6% 

Strongly disagree 10 5.9% 

Total 170 100.0% 

Table 7: Table displaying the results to “The council should monitor the number of pollinators to 
track changes to pollinator populations” 

 

59.4% 

27.6% 

6.5% 

0.6% 

5.9% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

The council should monitor the number of pollinators to track changes to 
pollinator populations 

Page 341



16 

 

3.1.8 Question 8: The council should consider pollinators and their habitats in all future 

planning (new developments, Local Plan, new policies) 

Respondents selected one option indicating their level of agreement with the statement. 170 

individuals responded to this question and only 3.5% were in disagreement, 2.9% strongly 

disagreed and 0.6% disagreed. However, the majority of respondents were in agreement with 

the statement (95.8%), with 82.9% strongly agreeing, and 12.9% agreeing.  

 

Figure 9: Chart displaying results to “The council should consider pollinators and their habitats in 
all future planning (new developments, Local Plan, new policies)” 

The council should consider pollinators and their 
habitats in all future planning (new developments, Local 
Plan, new policies) 

Total % 

Strongly agree 141 82.9% 

Agree 22 12.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 1 0.6% 

Disagree 1 0.6% 

Strongly disagree 5 2.9% 

Total 170 100.0% 

Table 8: Table displaying the results to “The council should consider pollinators and their 
habitats in all future planning (new developments, Local Plan, new policies)” 

 

 

82.9% 

12.9% 

0.6% 0.6% 2.9% 

Strongly agreeAgreeNeither agree nor
disagree

DisagreeStrongly disagree

The council should consider pollinators and their habitats in all future 
planning (new developments, Local Plan, new policies) 

Page 342



17 

 

3.1.9 Question 9: Is there anything else that you would like to tell us about pollinators? 

This was a free text question; respondents could type a statement in response. To analyse 

responses, a tagging system was used to split the statements into themes. Each statement 

could reflect multiple themes. The Chart below displays the top 10 themes, and the top seven 

themes are analysed in further detail below. 

 

Figure 10: Top 10 response categories 

Need for education 

The belief from many respondents was that the general population is unaware of importance of 

pollinators. As a result, the public may be taking actions which harm pollinators without 

realising, or that the average resident does not care about pollinators. Examples given include, 

the popularity of low maintenance artificial grass / plants, and the excessively cutting grass for 

the benefit of looking ‘clean and tidy.’ There was a general desire from respondents for the 

council to raise awareness of the role pollinators play in our ecosystem. 

 

 

 

 

11.4% 

11.4% 

10.9% 

10.9% 

8.1% 

7.6% 

5.7% 

4.3% 

3.3% 

2.8% 

Need for education

Planning

Holistic approach

Allow rewilding

In favour of long grass

Against dewilding

Against Pesticide / weed killer use

Pollinators are important

Polinator friendly building infrastructure

Maintence needed

Is there anything else that you would like to tell us about pollinators? 

Page 343



18 

 

Planning 

There was a strong belief that for pollinators to thrive, appropriate planning is needed. For an 

effective pollinator strategy to be implemented, respondents felt the council should sufficiently 

research and find suitable sites. For example, sites near busy roads would not be appropriate 

due to the pollution levels in the area. Additionally, once suitable sites had been selected, many 

cited the idea of creating travel corridors for pollinators to move between areas. Furthermore, 

some were concerned that long grass would not sufficiently increase pollinator number, and to 

there should be an emphasis on wildflowers. Furthermore, to help increase pollinator numbers 

in urban environments many commented their support for pollinator friendly building 

infrastructure. More generally, many respondents believe the council should move to protect 

greenbelt and prevent new building developments in areas which may harm pollinator habitats. 

One comment suggested that the subtle vibrations from building sites can prevent bees from 

communicating and destroy colonies.   

 

Holistic approach 

Respondents believed that a successful pollinator strategy would need to take a holistic 

approach, rather than viewing pollinators in isolation. The full food chain should be considered, 

and to support pollinators enough food for these insects needs to be available. Similarly, the 

council would need to make suitable arrangements for the increase in pollinator predators, 

such as small birds. Pollinators and their predators would then need appropriate shelter, 

particularly in the winter, and therefore, respondents suggested also planting trees in addition 

to wildflowers. Furthermore, many respondents would like to see appropriate plants and trees 

being supported / planted. For example, some would like to see native plants and not just the 

best-looking flowers. 

 

Allow rewilding / in favour of long grass / against de-wilding / against pesticide & weed killer 

use 

These categories have been grouped together as they are interlinked. Many respondents would 

like to see nature take its course, meaning allowing all plants to grow more. This means, less 

regular grass cutting, and allowing native plants, many of which are considered weeds, to grow. 

There was strong support for increasing no mow May to take place throughout the summer 

months, and in general allowing grass to grow longer. Similarly, people were against de-wilding, 

such as the maintenance of grass verges, hedges, and trees. There was strong opposition to the 

use of pesticides and other weed killing chemicals.  

 

Page 344



19 

 

3.1.10 Question 10: Do you have any concerns about increasing the number of pollinators and 

pollinator habitats?  

This was a free text question; respondents could type a statement in response. To analyse 

responses, a tagging system was used to split the statements into themes. Each statement 

could reflect multiple themes. The Chart below displays the top 7 themes, and the top five 

themes are analysed in further detail below. 

 

Figure 11: Top 7 response categories 

No 

57.3% of respondents did not have any concerns about increasing the number of pollinators 

and pollinator habitats.  

Maintenance Needed 

In general, there was support for less regular maintenance, but also a belief that maintenance is 

still needed for tidy looking neighborhood and to prevent trip hazards. For example, some 

believed maintenance is required before and after pollinator season.  

Not enough 

4.5% believed that a pollinator strategy alone is not enough, and that more action should be 

taken to benefit the environment due to its importance. 

 

 

57.3% 

8.2% 

4.5% 

4.5% 

4.5% 

2.7% 

1.8% 

1.8% 

No

Maintence needed

Not enough

Misinformation / perception

Planning

Seek advice

Public anti-action

Cost cutting

Do you have any concerns about increasing the number of pollinators and 
pollinator habitats?  

Page 345



20 

 

Misinformation / perception 

Some respondents were concerned that a pollinator strategy may be perceived as an excuse for 

the council to cut cost of maintenance, and as a result may not be supported by some in the 

community, who as a result may take opposing action, such as maintaining council grass verges. 

Planning 

There was a concern that without proper planning, a pollinator strategy may be ineffective.  

 

 

3.2 The Mapping Tool 

The mapping tool allowing respondents to recommend pollinator sites received 48 submissions 

from 19 individuals. All submission details are included in Appendix 1.  

Nine of Wirral’s wards received recommendations, with Oxton (18.8%), Eastham (18.8%) and 

Liscard (14.4%) receiving the greatest number of pollinator site recommendations. 

 

Figure 12: The wards of recommended pollinator sites. 

A site located at 80 School Lane, Wallasey, CH45 8PU, received a recommendation from two 

individuals.  

 

18.8% 

18.8% 

14.6% 

10.4% 

10.4% 

8.3% 

8.3% 

4.2% 

2.1% 

2.1% 

2.1% 

Oxton

Eastham

Liscard

Bebington

Hoylake and Meols

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Birkenhead and Tranmere

Prenton

Clatterbridge

Wallasey

Upton

Reccomended pollinator sites by Ward  

Page 346



21 

 

 

 

Page 347



22 

 

 

Figure 13 : Recommended Pollinator sites map illustrating where pins were 
placed. The green and amber circles show the number of sites in that area, pink 
pins indicate one site each. 

Page 348



23 

 

 

 

  

Page 349



24 

 

4.0 Demographics and Site Traffic 
4.1 Demographics 

Registration was required to engage in the online Pollinators Consultation. The registration 

form included questions regarding demographics including gender, age group, ethnicity, and 

sexual orientation, however not all questions in the registration form were compulsory and 

respondents could choose to select ‘prefer not to say’ or skip the question. The demographics 

results are summarised below.  The same questions were included on the paper-copy 

questionnaires. 

Most of the respondents (82.4%) classed themselves as local residents. 

Figure 14: Who are you registering as? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

82.4% 

9.8% 
3.6% 2.1% 1.6% 0.5% 

A local
resident

A member of
a voluntary or

community
organisation

An employee
of Wirral
Council

Other An elected
Member of

Wirral Council

A local
Business

Are you registering as? 

Page 350



25 

 

The gender of respondents was 58.1% female, 41.3% male, with 0.6% preferring not to say. 

Figure 15: Gender of respondents 

The age group profile is illustrated with the most common age groups were 55-64 years 
(29.1%), followed by 65-74 years (23.0%).  Under 25’s only made up 0.6% of respondents. 

 

Figure 16: Age group of respondents 

 

 

 

 

0.0% 0.6% 

6.7% 

15.8% 

19.4% 

29.1% 

23.0% 

5.5% 

Under 16 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Age Group 

Female 
58.1% 

Male 
41.3% 

Prefer not to say 
0.6% 

Are you registering as? 

Page 351



26 

 

90.9% of respondents were white British, 3.6% of respondents were of a non-white ethnicity.  

Figure 17: Ethnicity of respondents 

79.3% of respondents were heterosexual, 3.7% were gay/ lesbian, 3.7% bisexual and 13.4% 

preferred not to say. 

 

Figure 18: Sexual orientation of respondents 

 

90.9% 

4.2% 

1.2% 

1.2% 

0.6% 

0.6% 

0.6% 

0.6% 

White - English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British

White - Any other White background

White - Irish

Asian or Asian British - Indian

Black or Black British - Caribbean

Asian or Asian British - Chinese

Mixed - Any other Mixed background

Mixed - White and Asian

Which of these groups do you consider you belong to?  

Heterosexu
al 

79.3% 
GayLesbian 

3.7% 

Bisexual 
3.7% 

Prefer not 
to say 
13.4% 

What is your sexual orientation? 

Page 352



27 

 

6.7% of respondents said they had a disability, 4.0% preferred not to say, and 89.3% said they 

did not have a disability.              

  

No 
89.3% 

Yes 
6.7% 

Prefer not to 
say 

4.0% 

Do you have a disability? 

Figure 19: Disability status of respondents 

Page 353



28 

 

Each of the 22 Wirral Wards had some representation. Of the 165 responses from Wirral 

residents, the most represented Ward was Hoylake and Meols (11.9%), followed by 

Clatterbridge (8.2%) and New Brighton (8.2%). The least represented ward was Leasowe and 

Moreton East (0.6% of responses). Additionally, 5 responses came from outside Wirral, 3 from 

Liverpool and two from Cheshire.  

 

 

Figure 20: Wirral Ward representation 

  

11.9% 

8.2% 

8.2% 

7.5% 

6.3% 

6.3% 

5.7% 

5.7% 

5.7% 

4.4% 

3.8% 

3.8% 

3.1% 

3.1% 

3.1% 

3.1% 

2.5% 

1.9% 

1.9% 

1.9% 

1.3% 

0.6% 

Hoylake and Meols

Clatterbridge

New Brighton

Heswall

Liscard

Greasby, Frankby and Irby

Bebington

Oxton

Pensby and Thingwall

Upton

Moreton West and Saughall Massie

Bidston and St. James

Eastham

Wallasey

Birkenhead and Tranmere

Bromborough

Prenton

West Kirby and Thurstaston

Claughton

Seacombe

Rock Ferry

Leasowe and Moreton East

Ward of Respondents 

Page 354



29 

 

4.2 Have your say - Site Traffic 

Reviewing the site activity, visits, and how people visit the site can be useful to evaluate if 

people are aware of the site, as well as to ensure engagement activities are deployed 

effectively, and to a wide range of different people – enhancing public engagement in the 

future. 793 visited the Pollinator strategy consultation page of the Have Your Say site, of these 

185 visited multiple project pages and 60 viewed a photo. 172 people in total completed the 

questionnaire. 

These figures cannot be viewed as definitive as they are based on site tracking through 

‘cookies’ and there are a number of factors that can impact on this. These include that cookies 

may be disabled or deleted, individuals may access the site multiple times through different 

devices or different browsers. However, the figures can be used to gauge how much interest 

has been generated in individual projects through the rate of engaged participants. 

The route that people access the site is known as the traffic source. The ‘Have your say’ portal 

allows analysis to be carried out on traffic source, and if they lead to engagement in the site 

tools such as the questionnaire. This analysis allows a greater understanding of which 

communication and promotional tools to use to optimise engagement. 

For this project a range of traffic sources have been reviewed and summarised in the table 

below. Most visits to the site were either direct visits where people typed the internet address 

into their web browser (506 visits) or links clicked from social media sites (127). Direct visits 

generated a rate of engagement of 26.3%, meaning 26.3% of these visits resulted in completion 

of the survey. Social media visits had an engagement rate of 16.5%. 

 

TRAFFIC 
CHANNEL 

AWARE 
VISITS 

INFORMED VISITS 
(%) 

ENGAGED VISITS 
(%) 

DIRECT 506 292 (57.7%) 133 (26.3%) 

SOCIAL 127 58 (45.7%) 21 (16.5%) 

EMAIL 82 39 (47.6%) 10 (12.2%) 

SEARCH ENGINE 29 8 (27.6%) 3 (10.3%) 

.GOV SITES 1 1 (100%) 0 (0%) 

REFERRALS 34 23 (67.6%) 14 (41.2%) 

Table 9: Site traffic sources 

  

 

Page 355



30 

 

5.0 Appendix 1 Mapping Tool Detail 
Mapping Tool Named Sites 

Address Comment 

41 Monks Way, Bebington, 
Wirral, CH63 3HZ, United 
Kingdom. 

Strips of wildflowers around the edge of the field would be 
good. Field is used by dog walkers and kids playing though 
some grass cut would be beneficial to everyone.  

66 Brimstage Road, 
Bebington, Wirral, CH63 2PG, 
United Kingdom. 

Verges along Brimstage Rd in between Clatterbridge 
roundabout and old Clatterbridge road 

Rock Ferry By-Pass, 
Birkenhead, Birkenhead, 
CH42 1AE, United Kingdom. 

Central reservation where it does not impact safety 

B5136, Bebington, Wirral, 
CH63 7PR, United Kingdom. 

Verges around roundabout where safety is not impacted 
upon 

The Green, Raby, Wirral, 
CH63 4JW, United Kingdom. 

Large grass verge on Willowbrow Road opposite J 
assamine Cottage. Adjoining access to public footpath. 
Already showing signs of wild geranium and frequented by  
butterflies and bees. 

2 Berwick Close, Wirral, CH46 
6ES, United Kingdom. 

Lots of south facing land here. 

14 Brunsfield Close, Wirral, 
CH46 6HE, United Kingdom. 

Area of land exposed to full sun would make ideal 
pollinator site. 

471 Hoylake Road, Wirral, 
CH46 6HB, United Kingdom. 

Small area of grass could be used as pollinator friendly 
site. 

29 Carr House Lane, Wirral, 
CH46 6EN, United Kingdom. 

Small area here could be used as pollinator site. 

80 School Lane, Wallasey, 
CH45 8PU, United Kingdom. 

This is a neglected site with mostly grass and a couple of 
trees that would be perfect for planting to encourage 
polinators! 

Park Drive, Birkenhead, 
Prenton, CH43 4TS, United 
Kingdom. 

I meant Birkenhead Park, both the Upper and lower parks, 
rather than Park Drive 

69 Grampian Way, 
Bebington, Wirral, CH62 8AP, 
United Kingdom. 

Grampian field has benefited from the grass not being cut 
(apart from a diagonal strip across it) It would be greatly 
improved if wild flowers were planted. 

4 Europa Boulevard, 
Birkenhead, Birkenhead, 
CH41 4PP, United Kingdom. 

This car park is under utilised and generally looks a mess. 
Its appearance would be greatly improved from the left 
hand side and the edges of the right side, top and bottom,  
being sown with flowers, bushes and plants that will 
attract pollinators. 

Page 356



31 

 

91 Priory Wharf, Birkenhead, 
Birkenhead, CH41 5EG, 
United Kingdom. 

Whole area of Priory Wharf would benefit from wilding 
and trasforming into a nature park. Birkenhead downtown 
area is bereft of parkland and green spaces 

2 Europa Boulevard, 
Birkenhead, Birkenhead, 
CH41 4PE, United Kingdom. 

The areas planted in Europa Boulevard this year have been 
brilliant, with brightly coloured wildflowers and an 
increase in pollinators seen here. Can the Council reduce 
the amount of mown strips please? This will improve even 
further the lovely wild area in the middle of the urban 
centre of Birkenhead. 

Tunnel Road, Birkenhead, 
Birkenhead, CH41 5DD, 
United Kingdom. 

Planting here will enhance the planned new park for 
Birkenhead.  Can we keep the park as friendly as possible 
to pollinators by retaining trees, areas of brash and long 
grass, as well as wildlower plantings? 

Tunnel Road, Birkenhead, 
Birkenhead, CH41 5DD, 
United Kingdom. 

See previous comment re Tunnel Road 

Hamilton Square, Hamilton 
Sq., Birkenhead, England 
CH41 5AS, United Kingdom. 

Hamilton Square could have a wild area as part of its 
overall layout 

9 Massey Pk, Birkenhead, 
Birkenhead, CH41 4JY, United 
Kingdom. 

Any areas like this can be used for rewilding, then we can 
have more biodiversity in the urban area. It would be even 
better if they can be linked up to provide continuous 
foraging corridors for insects and birds 

6 Hillburn Drive, Birkenhead, 
Birkenhead, CH41 7DF, 
United Kingdom. 

Gaultby Park recently suffering the loss of its poplar trees 
could benefit from succession planting of trees and 
hedging together with a pollinator area 

169 Carr Bridge Road, 
Birkenhead, Wirral, CH49 
9DL, United Kingdom. 

Carr Bridge Road open grassland areas, would benefit 
from further tree plantings, which would help to prevent 
flooding, and waterlogging, and then rewilding in different 
areas, to attract insects 

80 School Lane, Wallasey, 
CH45 8PU, United Kingdom.  

This is a wonderful area with many pollinators, wildlife 
and plant life that depend on eachother. More help with 
pollinators would greatly help all species.  

262 New Chester Road, 
Bebington, Wirral, CH62 4RQ, 
United Kingdom. 

Roundabout at Chester end of New Ferry By Pass 

330 New Chester Road, 
Birkenhead, Birkenhead, 
CH42 1LE, United Kingdom. 

Roundabout at Birkenhead end of New Ferry By Pass and 
both sides of the by pass 

M53, Hooton, Ellesmere Port, 
CH65 1AP, United Kingdom. 

ALL ROUNDABOUTS IN SHROPSHIRE ARE PLANTED WITH 
WILD FLOWERS. I SUGGEST THE A41/M53 ROUNDABOUT 
AT EATHAM AS SUITABLE. 

Page 357



32 

 

67 Allport Road, Bebington, 
Wirral, CH62 6ES, United 
Kingdom. 

The Common Allport Road/ Allport Lane crossroads, 
already been wilded  

Eastham Country Park, 
Wirral, England CH62 0AU, 
United Kingdom. 

This area of Eastham woods has already been earmeked 
as another wood with small trees planted. Addition of 
wildflowers would add to diversity 

181 Allport Road, Bebington, 
Wirral, CH62 6AD, United 
Kingdom. 

The flowerbeds by the shops in Allport Road look 
neglected and full of weeds. Turn thisover to a mass 
planting of Lavender to add colour in the summer and 
attract pollinators. Only need cutting back once a year, 
after flowering. 

73 Allport Lane, Bebington, 
Wirral, CH62 7HR, United 
Kingdom. 

The Bradmoor in Bromborough Village. Can no longer be 
used for football, grass allowed to grow, add wildflowers. 

107 Allport Road, Bebington, 
Wirral, CH62 6AB, United 
Kingdom. 

This area of Allport Road, by Westminster Drive looks 
great when the daffodils are flowering, however, not 
pollen generators, can a greater spread of earlier 
flowering bulbs and wildflowers be introduced? 

Upton Road, Birkenhead, 
Wirral, CH49 0TB, United 
Kingdom. 

Grass verge near the bus stop could be ideal 

51 Prenton Farm Road, 
Birkenhead, Prenton, CH43 
3BN, United Kingdom. 

Keep more of the park unmowed for longer 

Duck Pond Lane, Birkenhead, 
Prenton, CH43 5UY, United 
Kingdom. 

The bank here serves very little purpose. Much better as a 
wildflower meadow  

2 Felton Dev Off 96 Storeton 
R D, Wirral, CH46 6HQ, 
United Kingdom. 

A wild flower meadow should be seeded here along the 
hedgerow 

25 Gilroy Road, West Kirby, 
Wirral, CH48 5HP, United 
Kingdom. 

This nature reserve should be given protected status and 
the verges and hedgerows along the paths leading from 
Newhall Farm, Hoylake out to Gilroy Road should be left 
as pollinator sites with the hedges properly managed, 
currently they are chopped with utter disregard for 
blossom and fruiting cycles or birds nesting in the hedges 

Leasowe Lighthouse, 
Lingham Lane, Wirral, 
England CH46 4TA, United 
Kingdom. 

If not already a protected pollinator site, this area and the 
path s from the lighthouse to Meols, should be. Stuffed 
full of wildflowers, well established and beautiful spaces 

Lifeboat Slipway, Hoylake, 
Wirral, CH47 3AL, United 
Kingdom. 

untouched for the past year and over the past summer, 
full of a wide variety of wildflowers, this green should be 
left as a pollinator site, perhaps with information boards 

Page 358



33 

 

for visitors 

8 Dee Lane, West Kirby, 
Wirral, CH48 0QH, United 
Kingdom. 

Sandlea Park (now reverted to its name of Sandlea 
Gardens)  is an oasis of greenery in a busy town centre 
which enhances the wellbeing of residents and visitors.  
There is an established volunteer group, Friends of 
Sandlea Gardens that would be willing and able to help 
with a pollinator project. 

Coastal Drive, Wallasey, 
CH45 2NJ, United Kingdom. 

All of the coastal rough ground on Kings Parade in front of 
the red noses (Cliff Heights) New Brighton up to Sandcliffe 
Road 

27 Tower Promenade, 
Wallasey, CH45 2PP, United 
Kingdom. 

Rough Ground south of the pumping station and north of 
the black pearl site 

Coastal Drive, Wallasey, 
CH45 2NJ, United Kingdom. 

Coastal Drive on rough ground in  front of red noses 

Coastal Drive, Wallasey, 
CH45 3QW, United Kingdom. 

Coastal Drive on rough ground around shelter/old toilet 
block. A section of this could be used,despite it being used 
for the car rally stage and circus events.  

10 Silverbeech Road, 
Wallasey, CH44 0BS, United 
Kingdom. 

Grass adjacent to rose garden Central Park Wallasey. 

68 Earlston Road, Wallasey, 
CH45 5DZ, United Kingdom. 

A section of the grass field to the rear of Wallasey Central 
Library, Earlston Rd. This would be a good education site. 

47 Heathfield Road, 
Bebington, Wirral, CH63 3BZ, 
United Kingdom. 

Small grassed area at end of Heathfield Road, not used for 
anything.  Would make great area for pollinators. 

66 Manor Road, Hoylake, 
Wirral, CH47 9RL, United 
Kingdom. 

Suitable for pollinators 

2 Pearson Road, Birkenhead, 
Birkenhead, CH42 5LA, 
United Kingdom. 

We cleared the end of this former housing site and asked 
the mowers not to spray weedkiller. It has since grown up 
with many bushes etc and the whole grassy site would be 
suitable for a pollinator site. 

St Catherine's Hospital, 
church road, Birkenhead, 
England CH42 0LQ, United 
Kingdom. 

The garden at st Catherine’s church within the Health 
Centre already has more than 100 different plant species 
most of them bee and butterfly friendly. The Health centre 
have started to make their site more flower friendly - 
there is quite a large area of grass within the area -it could 
easily be filled with more insect friendly flowers. 

Table 10: Address and comment of each pollinator site recommendation. 

 

Page 359



34 

 

Mapping tool image submissions 

 

Figure 21 : 80 School Lane, Wallasey, CH45 8PU. “This is a neglected site with mostly grass and a 
couple of trees that would be perfect for planting to encourage pollinators!” 

 

 

Figure 22: 8 Dee Lane, West Kirby, Wirral, CH48 0QH. Sandlea Park (now reverted to its name of 
Sandlea Gardens) is an oasis of greenery in a busy town centre which enhances the wellbeing of 
residents”  

Page 360



 

 

 

  

 

ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

Wednesday, 30 November 2022  
 

REPORT TITLE: WEED CONTROL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee approved the Council’s 
Weed Control Measures Options appraisal in September 2021 for a one-year contract with 
a further one-year extension. This report seeks approval for the one-year extension to allow 
time for officers to further investigate and action alternative methods of weed control. It is 
proposed that the extension to the current weed control contract will run from January 2023 
until December 2023.   
 
This updated report provides Committee with an overview of the appraisal exercise 
undertaken to consider options for future weed control across the borough.   
 
Weed control is carried out across all 22 Wards and this report has been classed as a Key 
Decision and as such included on the Council’s Forward Plan. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency & Transport Committee is recommended to: 
 

(1) Agree to extend the current weed control contract with ManCoed Ltd at a cost of 

£260,000 for one-year. 

(2) Note the progress and endorse the continued exploration of alternative options 

for weed control, including the provision of an ‘in house’ multi-disciplinary service, 

and agree that a further report including options and costs be presented to a 

future committee. 

 

  

Page 361

Agenda Item 8



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1.1 The Council recognises the importance of reducing the use of Glyphosate and the 
need to identify alternative methods of weed control to assist with this reduction. 
There is currently no other identifiable viable method of weed control which is 
financially sustainable therefore officers will require more time to continue searching 
for other alternatives that can be used. By extending the weed control contract by 
one year this offers the opportunity to further explore the marketplace, identify new 
and innovative approaches to weed control including alternative methods to the use 
of Glyphosate, and put in place a plan to adopt this alternative approach. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 In March 2021 a working group made up of officers from a range of service areas 
considered several methods for weed control including Glyphosate, Acetic Acid 
(Vinegar Based), Foam (Heat) & Community involvement via hand weeding. The 
outcome of these investigations was reported to the Environment, Climate 
Emergency and Transport Committee in September 2021. The Committee agreed 
that a contract for Weed Control, using Glyphosate, be put out to tender for one year 
with the option to extend for a further year if required. Committee directed that to 
take up the option of extending this contract for a further year that officers return to 
the Committee for consideration of this request.  

 
2.2 In addition, the Committee asked that officers continue to explore alternative options 

for weed control. The Committee was particularly interested that officers develop an 
‘In House’ service that could provide the weed control service and address a number 
of other issues, such as alleyway clearances. The Council has continued to identify 
alternative weed control measures as part of the objective and commitment to 
reducing the use of Glyphosate, once a viable and affordable alternative is found. 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Wirral Council made a commitment on 15th July 2019 to phase out the use of 

Glyphosate and reduce the amount used until a viable and affordable alternative is 
found. Since the resolution of 2019, officers have been exploring alternative weed 
control methods. 

 
3.2 The outcome of these investigations was reported to the Environment, Climate 

Emergency and Transport Committee in September 2021, at that time the conclusion 
was that there was currently no available alternative that has both the same 
effectiveness and comparable cost to Glyphosate. 

 
3.3 Officers carried out a competitive tender exercise seeking an external provider for 

Weed Control based on a 1 year contract with the option to extend for a further year 
from October 2021. The successful applicant for this contract was ManCoed Ltd, 
who was awarded the contract in March 2022. Regular contract monitoring has taken 
place over the past year with ManCoed Ltd who have responded to issues raised 
and carried out remedial work when required. Based on ManCoed’s performance to 

Page 362



 

 

date officers believe that a contract extension with this provider is warranted, 
particularly given that any alternative option would take time to mobilise. 

 
3.4 Officers have carried out further investigations which has included using alternative 

chemicals as a replacement for Glyphosate for weed control and the use of 
machinery. The results of these investigations and relevant costs are provided 
below.  

 
3.5 Previous trials of weed control methods concluded that Glyphosate remains the most 

effective and affordable method of treating weeds on the scale required for the 
delivery of the Weed Control Contract. In considering a chemical alternative the 
Council has been made aware of ‘Nomix Dual’. This has been compared against the 
current use of Glyphosate provided as an ‘In House’ option. Nomix Dual is a product 
that reduces the Glyphosate usage by 53%. Officers visited Chorley Council, were 
Nomix Dual, is being used as a replacement for Glyphosate. Officers from Chorley 
Council reported that this had been their first season using Nomix and the results so 
far have been positive. 

 
3.6 The residual element of Nomix Dual has provided longer lasting control and reduced 

overall weed population in treated areas. The equipment has taken operatives some 
getting used too but, after a few teething issues, has worked well. Chorley Council 
stated that in their experience Nomix had been quick to respond when they had 
experienced any technical issues and have been on hand to provide advice as 
required. They report that the Nomix system has provided greater weed control when 
compared to the glyphosate free alternative methods they had in place previously 
such as hot air kits and manual removal. The option of using this method of spraying 
in conjunction with Weed Ripper machinery would assist in reducing the use of 
Glyphosate even further. Officers are keen to explore the effectiveness of this 
approach before committing to any one option. 

 
3.7 The costs of Nomix Dual are compared, the table below, against the cost of using 

Glyphosate within an ‘In-House’ provided services.  
 

Options 2023 
 
Revenue Costs 

‘In house’ 
 

Glyphosate  

‘In House’  
 

Nomix Dual  

Staff Costs – Weed Spraying (40 weeks) £202,070 £202,070 

Supplies & Materials - Weed Spraying £141,330 £138,000 

Weed Spraying – Total £343,400 £340,070 

Staff Costs – Alleyway Clearance and 
other tasks (12 weeks) 

£60,600 £60,600 

Total Service Cost £404,000 £400,670 

 

Page 363



 

 

 The current contract cost of weed control, spraying Glyphosate, is currently 
£260,000 therefore both ‘in house’ options would be between £80,070 to £83,400 
more expensive than the current contract. Considerations have not just focused on 
weed spraying but also additional tasks such as alleyway clearance work and the 
use of machinery for which a full-time team would be required (eg:52 weeks per 
year). This increases the difference between the current weed control contract and 
an ‘in-house’ service to between £140,670 and £144,000. While this appears more 
expensive the Council currently pays additional money for alleyway clearance and 
other work to contractors which might be used to fund this service, due to this being 
funded by grant further work is required to quantify what contribution could be made 
towards this difference. It is also the case that if machinery can be used effectively to 
control weeds this could reduce the cost of material for weed spraying reducing the 
funding gap further. Further financial breakdowns are provided at Appendix 1 & 2. 

 
3.8 There would also be a Capital cost for the equipment required to carry out weed 

spraying as detailed in the table below. 
 

Options 2023 
 
Capital Costs 

‘In house’ 
 

Glyphosate  

‘In House’  
 

Nomix Dual  

Cost of equipment – Weed Spraying £146,500 £149,965 

 
3.9 Officers have also explored the option of Weed Removal machinery for weed control. 

This brings the benefit of allowing weed control to be undertaken throughout the 
year, whereas chemical applications cannot be used in rain or high winds confining 
chemical weed control to the spring and summer months. Officers from Parks & 
Countryside along with officers from Waste and Recycling attended a demonstration 
of a weed machine manufactured by Avant provided by ManCoed, the current weed 
control contractor, see Appendix 3. This demonstration took place within an open 
alleyway in Meols. The machine removed the weeds using a steel brush but left the 
debris in situ, although there was an attachable implement which could be fixed to 
the machine once weed removal was complete to collect debris which was not 
demonstrated. The clearance of the debris by hand took some time. The Avant 
machine worked well in this area, which was a contained alleyway, but there were 
concerns around its use on or near the public highway due to flying stones and grit 
which could cause damage to any passing vehicles/pedestrians as no guard was 
present.  

 
3.10 Officers also scheduled and observed a demonstration of a weed machine 

manufactured by Hako, see Appendix 3, the demonstration was provided by the 
council’s waste contractor Biffa which took place on the open highway in Beechwood 
and Seacombe Promenade. Although similar in size to the Avant machine this Hako 
machine carried out the clearance of weeds, brushed, and collected the debris in 
one pass. This machine was also fitted with a suitable guard to prevent flying stones 
and grit and is therefore thought more suitable for further trials needed or on the 
public highway. The costs of the two machines are compared in the table below: 

 
 
 

Page 364



 

 

Capital Costs for weed machinery 
Avant 

machine 
Hako 

machine 

Per Machine approx. £60,000 £55,000 

 
3.11 Officers would wish to progress with trialling this type of weed machine further and 

look in more detail at using Nomix Dual. Officers will also continue to review the 
marketplace of other potential solutions.  

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The current cost of the weed control contract is £260,000 per year and this provides 

for three weed treatments per year across the borough.  
 
4.2 In relation to future options officers are currently reviewing existing revenue contracts 

to identify if these funds and tasks could be re-assigned to a potential in house 
service. The intention being to seek to ensure that an ‘in house’ option is cost neutral 
to the council.  

 
4.3 In relation to Capital cost for weed spraying vehicles and machinery this is currently 

estimated to be in the region of £150,000. In addition, at least two weed machines 
would be required at an estimated cost of £110,000. A Capital Bid would be required 
for these monies if an ‘In House’ service was to progress. The estimated useful life of 
these vehicles is between 7 and 10 years. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 Since January 2021 the United Kingdom has taken responsibility for its own 

regulatory decisions and rules regarding weed removal by departing from the EU. 
The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) remains the national regulator for the UK, 
via its specialist Chemical Regulation Division (CRD). The Plant Protection Products 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 states that active 
substances which were due to expire in the EU within 3 years of the end of the 
transition period will be granted a 3-year extension under the new regime. This 
means that glyphosate is approved for 5 more years in Great Britain until at least 15 
December 2025.  

 
5.2 The control of weeds on the highway and pedestrian areas is a statutory duty for the 

council, as detailed in S41 of the Highways Act (1980) which includes the control of 
weeds and the Weeds Act (1959). 

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 ICT: there are no additional ICT implications. 
 
6.2 Staffing: There are no staffing implications arising directly from this report. However, 

when considering alternative options for weed control including the provision of an 
in-house service, there will be staffing and resource implications. This will be the 
subject of a further report next year. 

 

Page 365



 

 

6.3 Assets: There are no asset implications arising directly from this report. However, as 
with Staffing implications, these will need to be considered as a part of 
considerations for alternative options for weed control, including the provision of an 
in-house service. The purchase of specialist spraying equipment would be required 
along with suitable vehicles and trailers for the weed control provision for an ‘in-
house’ service. This will be the subject of a further report next year. 

 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 There are risks to the Council and residents if weeds are not controlled. Uncontrolled 

weed growth can lead to damage to the highway infrastructure leading to costly 
repair and maintenance bills. To reduce the financial risks to the council of these 
repairs regular weed control is required. 

 
7.2 There is also the risk to public safety if weeds are not controlled as these may cause 

trip hazards leading to residents being injured and subsequent claims. By controlling 
weed growth, the Council reduces the risk of these trip hazards from occurring. 

 
7.3 Due to these risks the Council has a statutory duty to control weeds on the highway 

and pedestrian areas as detailed in S41 of the Highways Act (1980) and the Weeds 
Act (1959). 

 
7.4 A one-year extension to the current weed control contract would allow for further 

investigations to be undertaken into alternatives and the development of a project to 
be put in place mitigating these risks to the highway, pathways, alleyways, and car 
parks.   

 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 The trials conducted to date have not involved public engagement and consultation, 

but purely a review of the function of the alternative methods trialled. 
 
8.2 It is recognised that elected members and key stakeholders will need to engage and 

consulted as a part of any future decision-making process on this issue. 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment was not undertaken as part of this update report. 

Clearly as trials progress and more information is available to inform a future 
approach to weed control an Equality Impact Assessment will be completed at the 
earliest opportunity. 

 
9.2 Any changes to weed control operations would need to be subject of such a review 

as weed growth can blight communities and reduce the safety of some groups. 
 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Through the Environment and Climate Emergency Declaration of July 2019, the 

Council resolved to eradicate the use of Glyphosate in Council operations. The 
Council’s Environment & Climate Emergency Policy Statement also sets out the 
Council’s commitment to reducing the use of chemicals and to promoting 

Page 366



 

 

biodiversity. The Council has used Glyphosate as part of weed control operations 
across the authority for many years and continues to do so under licence. However, 
there is concern about the use of pesticides such as Glyphosate and their 
detrimental impact on the environment and potentially on people’s health. The 
Council recognises the need to control weeds and the risks involved in not 
undertaking control measures or such measures being inadequate. 

 
10.2 This report provides an update on the progress of finding alternatives methods of 

weed control to reduce or cease the use of Glyphosate. Some promising alternatives 
have been identified but further time is required to properly evaluate these alternative 
methods of weed control. 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Wirral is facing stark economic, social and health inequalities. The Wirral Plan is 

committed to addressing this. With Community Wealth Building at its heart, the Wirral 
Plan sets out how to tackle this and makes a major contribution to improving the 
economic, social and health outcomes of the borough.  

 
11.2 This report supports two key Community Wealth Building aims, including:  

 Local Employment – creation of local employment and training opportunities 

through both the Councils existing contract arrangements as well as seeking to 

explore a directly provided service.  

 Green and Sustainable – By investigating alternative methods of weed control to 

protect the environment, minimising waste and energy consumption and using 

resources efficiently. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR:  
  Steven Henderson  
  Grounds Maintenance & Technical Support Manager 
  stevenhenderson@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Financial breakdown of in-house provision using Glyphosate  
Appendix 2: Financial breakdown of in-house provision using Nomix-Dual 
Appendix 3: Avant & Hako Weed ripper machine before & after photographs 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
This report is being considered by the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee in accordance with Sections A, B and E of its Terms of Reference; 
 

(a) in co-ordinating the response to cross-cutting sustainability issues such as 
reducing carbon emissions, air quality issues, climate change response, improving 
resource efficiency and developing sustainable energy; 
 
(b) in relation to all highways matters and as highway authority, street authority, 
bridge authority, including but not limited to public open spaces, street furniture on 

Page 367

mailto:stevenhenderson@wirral.gov.uk


 

 

the highway and open spaces or parts of open spaces immediately adjacent to the 
highway; 
 
(e) in respect of parks, open spaces, countryside management, allotments, 
playgrounds, and cemeteries, including arboricultural, gardening and warden 
services. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Progress report on future alternatives to Glyphosate for Weed Control (28th November 
2019) 
 
Update on the exercise to trial alternatives to glyphosate in the use of weed control (3rd 
December 2020)  
 
Manufacturer’s method statements and instructions for the weed control methods trialled. 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 

7th September 2021 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 

3rd December 2020 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 28th November 2019 

Full Council 15th July 2019 

  
 

Page 368



Appendix 1: Financial breakdown for full in-house provision using Glyphosate. 

 

To run an in-house operation based on 3 sprays per year going forward we would 

have to start from scratch using the latest measurement. This would incur a heavy 

cost in the first year see table below. 

 

Revenue 

 

1st year resourcing/setting up 

Required Individual 
cost 

Total costs 

1 x supervisor F Grade 
(full time) To carry out 
monitoring and admin 
work 

£32,563 
Inc on costs 

£32,563 

6 x GMO E Grade Quad 
bike operatives (full time) 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£172,602 

2 x GMO E Grade (foot 
soldiers) 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£57,534 

Diesel for vehicles x 
based on 75 litres @ 
£1.90 per ltr per vehicle 
per wk. based on 52 wks. 

£7,410 
per vehicle 
per year 

5 vehicles 
£37,050 

Petrol for Quad Bikes 
based on 35 litres @ 
£1.60 per ltr per week on 
40 weeks 

£2,240 
Per quad 
per year 

7 Quads 
£15,680 

Chemical (Glyphosate) Approx £60 
per 5 Litres 

Calculations  
 
Chemical rate = 3.6 Litres will cover 1 
Hectare, 1 Hectare= 10,000 Sqm  
 
Area to be treated 4,896,168 Sqm, 
three treatments will be needed. 
 
4,896,168/10,000 x3.6=1762Litres  
 
1762 x 3 sprays= 5287 Litres  
 
Costs  
 
5287 Litres  
Chemical is purchased in 5litre 
containers at a cost of £60. 
 
5287L / 5L= 1058 containers  
 
1058 x £60  
= £63,480  

Page 369



Water required (approx.) £1.70 per 
cubic metre 

Water costs 
75 litres of water required for every ltr of 
Chemical. 
Each spray requires 1762 ltr of 
Chemical = 1762 x 75 = 132,150 litres 
of water per spray 
3 sprays x 132,150 = 396,450 litres of 
water required in total 
There are 1,700 litres of water to cubic 
metre of water. 
 
396,450/1,700 = 233 cubic metres of 
water 
233 x £1.70 
 
£396 

40mm Standpipe (hire) / 
keys and bars 

£452.00 per 
year 

£452  

28mm /Tap / bayonet 
outlet 

£252.00 per 
year 

£252  

P.P.E. – suits, mask, 
gloves, coats, trousers etc 

£1,812 per 
person year 

9 operatives 
£16,308 

Training courses PA1, 
PA2 & PA6 

£801.00 
Per 
operative 

Pesticide PA1 and PA6 is a 2-day 
training course, followed by a half day 
NPTC assessment. Can accommodate 
up to 6 candidates on the course. 
 
The cost of this 2-day course is 
£200+VAT per person and the NPTC 
assessment is an additional £200 per 
person, VAT exempt. So, a total of 
£400 per person ex VAT. 
 
 
Pesticide PA2 is a 1-day training 
course, again followed by a half day 
NPTC assessment. Can accommodate 
up to 6 candidates on the course. 
 
The cost of this course is £125+VAT 
per person and the NPTC assessment 
is an additional £125 per person, VAT 
exempt. So, a total of £250 per person 
ex VAT. 
 
 
Sit astride ATV training is a Lantra 
accredited 1 day course for a maximum 
of 4 candidates. Candidates are 
assessed for competence as part of the 

Page 370



training day. 
 
The cost of the course is £575+VAT for 
the 1-day course with up to 4 
candidates, plus Lantra fee of £31+VAT 
per person. So, with 4 candidates, the 
total cost of the course is £606 ex VAT. 
 
£7,213 

Admin costs – printing of 
plans etc 

£500 per 
year 

 
£500.00 

   
Total cost / outlay 
£404,030 
 

 

Costs for years below are using year 1 costs – a % would have to be added each 

year to allow for inflation potentially.  

 

2nd 3rd 4th & 5th years (vehicles and quads would require changing in year 6) 

Required Individual 
cost 

Total costs 

1 x supervisor F Grade 
(full time) To carry out 
monitoring and admin 
work 

£32,563 
Inc on costs 

£32,563 

6 x GMO E Grade Quad 
bike operatives (full time) 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£172,602 

2 x GMO E Grade (foot 
soldiers) Full time 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£57,534 

Diesel for vehicles x 
based on 75 litres @ 
£1.90 per ltr per vehicle 
per wk. based on 52 wks. 

£7,410 
per vehicle 
per year 

5 vehicles 
£37,050 

Petrol for Quad Bikes 
based on 35 litres @ 
£1.60 per ltr per week on 
40 weeks 

£2,240 
Per quad 
per year 

7 Quads 
£15,680 

Chemical (Glyphosate) Approx £60 
per 5 Litres 

Calculations  
 
Chemical rate = 3.6 Litres will cover 1 
Hectare, 1 Hectare= 10,000 Sqm  
 
Area to be treated 4,896,168 Sqm, 
three treatments will be needed. 
 
4,896,168/10,000 x3.6=1762Litres  
 
1762 x 3 sprays= 5287 Litres  

Page 371



 
Costs  
 
5287 Litres  
Chemical is purchased in 5litre 
containers at a cost of £29. 
 
5287L / 5L= 1058 containers  
 
1058 x £60  
= £63,480 + Vat  
 

Water required (approx.) £1.70 per 
cubic metre 

Water costs 
75 litres of water required for every ltr of 
Chemical. 
Each spray requires 1762 litres of 
Chemical = 1762 x 75 = 132,150 litres 
of water per spray 
3 sprays x 132,150 = 396,450 litres of 
water required in total 
There is 1,700 litres of water to a cubic 
metre of water. 
 
396,450/1,700 = 233 cubic metres of 
water 
233 x £1.70 
 
£396 

40mm Standpipe (hire) / 
keys and bars 

£452.00 per 
year 

£452 

28mm /Tap / bayonet 
outlet 

£252.00 per 
year 

£252 

P.P.E. – suits, mask, 
gloves, coats, trousers etc 

£1,812 per 
person year 

9 operatives 
£16,308 

Training courses PA1, 
PA2 & PA6 

£801.00 
Per 
operative 

Allow for up to 2 new starters. 
£1,602 

Admin costs – printing of 
plans etc 

£500 per 
year 

£500 

  Total cost 
£398,419  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital costs 

Page 372



 

1 x small belingo van for 
supervisor 

£10,500 
Inc yr. 
approx. 
Maintenance 

£10,500 

3 x LWB enclosed vans £17,000 
Inc yr. 
approx. 
Maintenance 

£51,000 

1 x SWB enclosed van 
(foot soldiers) 

£10,500 
Inc yr. 
approx. 
Maintenance 

£10,500 

3 x Long trailers 3.5T (to 
carry 2 quads each 

£5,000 
Per trailer 

£15,000 

7 x Quad bikes fully 
equipped with spraying kit 

£8,500 
 per Quad 

£59,500 

  Total cost 
£146,500 

 

 

1st Year  

Revenue = £404,030  

Capital    = £146,500 

Total       = £550,530 

 

 

Page 373



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2: Financial breakdown for full in-house provision using Nomix Dual 

 

1st year resourcing/setting up. 

Required Individual 
cost 

Total costs 

1 x supervisor F Grade 
(full time) To carry out 
monitoring and admin 
work 

£32,563 
Inc on costs 

£32,563 

6 x GMO E Grade Quad 
bike operatives (full time) 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£172,602 

2 x GMO E Grade (foot 
soldiers) full time 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£57,534 

Diesel for vehicles x 
based on 75 litres @ 
£1.90 per ltr per vehicle 
per wk. based on 52 wks. 

£7,410 
per vehicle 
per year 

5 vehicles 
£37,050 

Petrol for Quad Bikes 
based on 35 litres @ 
£1.60 per ltr per week on 
40 weeks 

£2,240 
Per quad 
per year 

7 Quads 
£15,680 

Chemical (Nomix Dual) 
 
 

 
 
£30.00 per 
Ltr (Dual) 
 
£13.00 per 
Ltr (Nomix 
G) 
 
£6.00 per 
Ltr 
(Universal 
Cleaner)  

Calculations  
 
Costs  
1500 Litres of Dual   
Chemical is purchased in 1 litre 
containers at a cost of £30.00 per ltr 
 
1500L / 1L= 1500 containers  
 
1500 x £30.00  
= £45,000  
In addition, you will need to use Nomix 
G. 
 
1180 Litres of Nomix G (in 1 ltr 
containers) 
1180L / 1L = 1180 containers 
1180 x £13.00 
= £15,340  
 
£45,000 + £15,340 =£60,340 
 

Tank Cleaner £6.00 per 
Litre 

Universal tank Cleaner required for 
Genesis Units. 
150 litres required per year 
 
150/£6.00  
= £900 

Page 375



P.P.E. – suits, mask, 
gloves, coats, trousers etc 

£1,812 per 
person year 

9 operatives 
£16,308 

Training courses PA1, 
PA2 & PA6 

£801.00 
Per 
operative 

Pesticide PA1 and PA6 is a 2-day 
training course, followed by a half day 
NPTC assessment. Can accommodate 
up to 6 candidates on the course. 
 
The cost of this 2-day course is 
£200+VAT per person and the NPTC 
assessment is an additional £200 per 
person, VAT exempt. So, a total of 
£400 per person ex VAT. 
 
 
Pesticide PA2 is a 1-day training 
course, again followed by a half day 
NPTC assessment. Can accommodate 
up to 6 candidates on the course. 
 
The cost of this course is £125+VAT 
per person and the NPTC assessment 
is an additional £125 per person, VAT 
exempt. So, a total of £250 per person 
ex VAT. 
 
 
Sit astride ATV training is a Lantra 
accredited 1 day course for a maximum 
of 4 candidates. Candidates are 
assessed for competence as part of the 
training day. 
 
The cost of the course is £575+VAT for 
the 1-day course with up to 4 
candidates, plus Lantra fee of £31+VAT 
per person. So, with 4 candidates, the 
total cost of the course is £606 ex VAT. 
 
£7,213 

Admin costs – printing of 
plans etc 

£500 per 
year 

 
£500.00 

   
Total cost / outlay 
£400,690 
 

 

 

Costs for years below are using year 1 costs – a % would have to be added each 

year to allow for inflation potentially.  

 

Page 376



2nd 3rd 4th & 5th years (vehicles and quads would require changing in year 6) 

Required Individual 
cost 

Total costs 

1 x supervisor F Grade 
(full time) To carry out 
monitoring and admin 
work 

£32,563 
Inc on costs 

£32,563 

6 x GMO E Grade Quad 
bike operatives (full time) 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£172,602 

2 x GMO E Grade (foot 
soldiers seasonal x 40 
weeks) 

£28,767 
Inc on costs 

£57,534 

Diesel for vehicles x 
based on 75 litres @ 
£1.90 per ltr per vehicle 
per wk. based on 52 wks. 

£7,410 
per vehicle 
per year 

5 vehicles 
£37,050 

Petrol for Quad Bikes 
based on 35 litres @ 
£1.60 per ltr per week on 
40 weeks 

£2,240 
Per quad 
per year 

7 Quads 
£15,680 

Chemical (Nomix Dual) 
 

 
 
£30.00 per 
Ltr (Dual) 
 
£13.00 per 
Ltr (Nomix 
G) 
 
£6.00 per 
Ltr 
(Universal 
Cleaner)  

Calculations  
 
Costs  
1500 Litres of Dual   
Chemical is purchased in 1 litre 
containers at a cost of £30.00 per ltr 
 
1500L / 1L= 1500 containers  
 
1500 x £30.00  
= £45,000  
In addition, you will need to use Nomix 
G. 
 
1180 Litres of Nomix G (in 1 ltr 
containers) 
1180L / 1L = 1180 containers 
1180 x £13.00 
= £15,340  
 
£45,000 + £15,340 =£60,340 
 
 

Tank Cleaner £6.00 per 
Ltr 

Universal tank Cleaner required for 
Genesis Units. 
150 ltrs required per year 
 
150/£6.00  
= £900 

Page 377



P.P.E. – suits, mask, 
gloves, coats, trousers etc 

£1,812 per 
person year 

9 operatives 
£16,308 

Training courses PA1, 
PA2 & PA6 

£801.00 
Per 
operative 

Allow for up to 2 new starters. 
£1,602 

Admin costs – printing of 
plans etc 

£500 per 
year 

£500 

  Total cost 
£395,079 
 

 

Capital costs 

 

 

1 x small belingo van for 
supervisor 

£10,500 
Inc yr. 
approx. 
Maintenance 

£10,500 

3 x LWB enclosed vans £17,000 
Inc yr. 
approx. 
Maintenance 

£51,000 

1 x SWB enclosed van 
(foot soldiers) 

£10,500 
Inc yr. 
approx. 
Maintenance 

£10,500 

3 x Long trailers 3.5T (to 
carry 2 quads each 

£5,000 
Per trailer 

£15,000 

7 x Quad bikes fully 
roadworthy 

£7,000 
 per Quad 

£49,000 

7 x Genesis units to go on 
Quad Bike (specialist unit 
to enable to spray Nomix) 

£1,995  
per unit 

£13,965 

  Total Cost = £149,965 

 

 

1st Year 

Revenue = £400,690  

Capital    = £149,965 

Total       = £550,655 

 

Page 378



Appendix 3: Avant & Hako Weed Removal Machines Demonstration 

 

School Lane Alleyway Meols using Avant Weed Removal Machine ( Mancoed) 

 

      

                                                                                

 

  

Page 379



Before 

 

 

After 

 

  

Page 380



Seacombe Walkway using Hako weed Removal machine (Biffa) 

       

 

          

 

Page 381



 

 

 

 

 

Page 382



 

 

Page 383



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY, 30 NOVEMBER 2022  

REPORT TITLE: Update - Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy 

REPORT OF: Director of Neighbourhood Services 

 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee commissioned a review of 
allotment provision across Wirral as a part of the Environment Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees work programme in 2019/20. The findings and recommendations from the 
Scrutiny Review were the subject of a report to Committee on October 2020. 
 
This Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy reviews Wirral Council’s Allotment provision with 
the overall intention of providing allotments throughout the borough, in the most cost-
effective manner. 
 
Following on from the initial Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy, agreed at Committee in 
January 2022, this report provides an update on progress against recommendations.  
 
The Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy seeks to deliver on the following priorities from 
the Wirral Plan 2021-26: 

 Safe and Pleasant Communities, 

 A Sustainable Environment, 

 An Inclusive Economy, 

 Active and Healthy Lives 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is recommended to note 
the update report and the progress made. 

 
 

Page 385

Agenda Item 9



SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1 In 2019/20, Members identified a number of issues relating to the current provision of 

Council allotments across the Borough, including the number of available plots, 
waiting lists and areas of particular pressure. The key objectives set out at the start 
of the review were to:- 

 fully understand existing capacity within allotment provision across the 
Borough, and how it can be maximised and/or expanded at current sites to 
provide improved access for all Wirral residents, 

 to engage with allotment users and representatives of current allotment 
societies to recognise issues currently faced and how these might be 
addressed, and  

 to contribute to a series of recommendations to ensure the effective 
management and provision of allotment sites across Wirral.  

The outcome of this review informed the development of the Wirral Allotments 
Partnership Strategy. 

 
1.2 The Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy was agreed by the Environment, Climate 

Emergency and Transport Committee in January 2022. The Committee asked, at that 
time, that regular updates be provided as to the progress of delivering the Strategy. 
This report provides an update on: - 

 Number of prospective tenants on waiting list. 

 Update on Capital Programme:- 
o New site under development 
o Raised beds 

 Allotment Working Group. 

 Wirral Allotment Discount Scheme. 

 A site identified for further Allotment development. 

 Unlettable Plots. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 This report provides an update on the progress of the strategy in addressing the 
issues considered by a Task & Finish Scrutiny Review on the Allotment Provision on 
Wirral commissioned by the Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee as a part 
of its annual work programme. As such no other options have been considered. 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
3.1 In the January 2022 Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee, a 

request was made for regular updates on key issues around Allotment Strategy 
targets. The following information sets out the points of ongoing work and 
progression and challenges. 

 
3.2 Number of prospective tenants on waiting list: as of 1st November 2022, there 

are 1581 people on the waiting list. It should be noted that 90% of applications to the 
waiting lists express an interest in two different sites. Applicants are then given the 
option of taking a plot on the first available site where a plot becomes available. 

 
 
 
 

Page 386



Waiting List Numbers 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 01/11/2022 

Total Individuals on 
the waiting list 

800 900 1000 1500 1581 

 
3.3 Capital Programme: site under development: This has been a challenging 

process with the extension to the Mosslands site, in Wallasey, requiring planning 
permission to be sought and granted.  While planning permission has now been 
granted, the process took 18 months to complete; some of this delay compounded 
by the impact of Covid. Furthermore, Covid has impacted upon the tendering 
process including costs such as the increased price of materials. Procurement 
processes and staffing resources have also impacted on the process. Moving this 
forward has also included consultation with the allotment community.  Work on the 
extension to the Mosslands Allotment site has now begun.  The work will include a 
number of elements including fencing, road lay-out, residential property boundaries 
and drainage work.  The boundary issues on the residential side of the extension, as 
one of the requirements of planning permission, includes engagement with the 
property owners and this is currently underway. This will bring in approximately 
twenty new allotment plots at the site.  A final decision is to be made on the option of 
having a number of half plots to increase availability and access to allotments. It is 
anticipated that these new allotments will be available for late March 2023. 

 
3.4 Capital Programme: raised beds: The raised beds at Bebington Road Allotment 

site have been renovated and brought back into Council management. This has 
been positively received with 28 let with only 5 remaining raised beds remaining to 
be let. The intention is that as plots become available across other allotment sites, 
the option to consider conversion to raised beds will be made, taking into account 
their location within the allotment site. 

 
3.5 Allotment Working Group: This group has been established to improve 

communication between the Council and the Allotment Community. Membership is 
made up of Site Secretaries, Officers of the Council and appropriate other 
representatives, such as the North West Allotment Forum.  The Working Group was 
established in June 2021 and the first items of business were reviews of both the 
Site Secretaries Agreement and the Tenancy Agreement. A Terms of Reference has 
been established, provided as an appendix to this report. The initial focus areas for 
the group was consulting with the Allotment Site Secretaries around the potential 
proposal for Site Secretaries to hold a greater autonomy in the day to day 
management of allotments. The majority of Site Secretaries did not want to have 
more autonomy in their role. Site Secretaries were keen to see improved processes 
in both the vacating of plots by previous tenants and the issuing of plots to new 
tenants. As are result new Allotment Site Secretaries Agreement and Tenancy 
Agreement documents have been updated and will shortly be ready for issue, 
subject to final sign-off by Legal. The Working Group has also considered the Wirral 
Allotment Discount Scheme, details of which are provided in the following section of 
this report. The next area of focus for the group will be to review the ‘How It All 
Works’ document, which is presently being consulted upon with the Working Group. 
The ‘How It All Works’ document is key in setting out arrangements to improve the 
process for inspections and the role these play in removing tenants who have not 
been able to maintain their plots to the appropriate standard. The Allotment Working 
Group initially met on a quarterly basis, to enable members to consider and take 
feedback from other tenants. Since May 2022, it was agreed that the Working Group 
would meet monthly following on from the consultation undertaken. Other topics of 
discussion with the Allotment Working Group has included Water Usage, Fires on Page 387



Allotments, Unlettable Plots, and the Allotments Annual Competition. 
 
3.6 Wirral Allotment Discount Scheme: Members of the Environment, Climate 

Emergency and Transport Committee commented upon the current Allotment 
Discount Scheme, when the Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy was presented to 
Committee in January 2022. In particular that the Discount Scheme provided a 50% 
discount to those who were over the age of 60 rather than on a person’s ability to 
pay for an allotment plot. It was note that the current age threshold of 60 for a 
discount did not appear to reflect the current State Pension Age. The Discount 
Scheme therefore formed an area for consideration for the Allotment Working Group; 
it was noted by the group that any amendments would need to be cost neutral. Initial 
discussions focused on amending the Discount Scheme so that the current discount 
rate of 50% would apply to those claiming benefits or in receipt of a State Pension 
(e.g.: being over the age of 66 currently). Under this proposal approximately 150 
allotment holders would cease to receive a discount, as they were aged between 60 
and 65 years of age. The Allotment Working Group felt that they could not support 
this change due to the number of existing plot holders that would cease to be eligible 
for a discount. An alternative compromise proposal was put forward that the Discount 
Scheme would include allotment holders who were over 60 and those claiming 
benefits, however in order for the Discount Scheme to remain cost neutral, that the 
Discount be reduced for all from 50% to 45%. At the October 2022 Working Group 
meeting, this was felt to be a workable compromise and members of the working 
group asked that this be put to the next Allotment Site Secretaires meeting for 
comment. At the time of writing this report we are awaiting feedback on this proposal 
from Site Secretaries. 

 
3.7 Sites Identified for Further Development: the following sites have been identified 

as sites for development to increase the number of available plots. 

 Dawson Road Allotments: extension to the site; planning permission will be 
required and work on this starting shortly. It is estimated that will provide an 
additional 32 plots  

 Central Park – this will be an extension to the present Love Lane Allotments 
site.  The proposed section of the park was previously part of the Love Lane 
site but twenty years ago was taken out of use due to low demand at the time 
for allotment plots. This will require planning permission. It is estimated that 
this will provide an additional 28 plots  

A review of all sites continues to be undertaken to identify further potential sites. 
 
3.8 Unlettable Plots: So far this year, 16 unlettable plots have been brought back into 

use across Wirral from a total of 63 plots. This leaves a further 47 unlettable plots 
which we plan to clear and bring into use by the end of March 2023. The 63 
unlettable plots have included some plots which, whilst technically not on the 
unlettable list, have seen frequent changes of tenant.  Following assessment, the 
condition of these particular plots was deemed to be acting as a barrier for 
maintaining a regular tenant. 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 Capital bids for increasing allotment provision are likely to be required. 
 
4.2 If there is significant increase in allotment infrastructure and/or increase in new 

allotment sites, then the present revenue budget will come under greater pressure. 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

Page 388



 
5.1 Where the Council believes that there is a demand for allotments it has a statutory 

duty under the Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908, Section 23(1), to provide a 
“sufficient number of allotments and shall let such allotments to persons resident in 
the borough, district or parish and desiring to take the same.” 

 
5.2 The Council is required to consider allotment provision as part of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  In consideration of the NPPF requirement to 
‘promote healthy and safe communities’ planning policies and decisions should aim 
to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which “enable and support healthy 
lifestyles, especially where this would address identified local health and well-being 
needs”, for example through the provision of safe and accessible green 
infrastructure, access to healthier food, and allotments. 
 

5.3 If the Council identifies a need for allotments (for example, as part of an open spaces 
and recreation needs study informing the local plan) then they can either identify land 
for use as allotments in the local plan or require developers to provide allotments on 
suitable sites through section 106 agreements as part of the open space 
requirements through the local plan policy. 

 
5.4 Alternatively, if the council has land available in its ownership that could be used for 

allotments, it can make them into allotments without further reference to the local 
plan having followed all due process. 

 
5.5 Wirral Council seeks to manage the borough’s allotments and if possible, to increase 

the number of useable allotments where required, in accordance with the following 
legislation, guidance and strategies: 

 Allotments Acts 1908, 1925 and 1950. 

 National Planning Policy Framework. 

 A Place to Grow (2010) and Growing in the Community, 2nd Edition, 2009. 

 Wirral Council Plan. 
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 An increase in number or size of some allotment sites, will be the subject to capital 

bids. Although Section 106 agreements and grant funding will also be sought. 
 
6.2 An increase in the number of allotment sites may also require increased 

administration, although the intention is to build upon the current IT solutions in place 
in order mitigate this. 

 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1  If insufficient increase in allotment provision is made, there may be an increase in 

complaints from customers on waiting lists and a risk of legal challenge if there is a 
breach of the Council’s statutory duty. 
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 The Wirral Allotments Partnership Strategy has been created with significant input 

from Elected Members, through the Scrutiny Review commissioned by the 
Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee as a part of its work programme in 
2019/20. The findings and recommendations from the Scrutiny Review were the 
subject of a report to Committee on October 2020. 

Page 389



 
8.2 In addition a working group with representatives of allotments site secretaries, 

allotments societies and allotment plot holders have also been involved and 
contributed to the development and delivery of the Wirral Allotment Partnership 
Strategy. 

 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The Wirral Allotments Partnership Strategy seeks to address any negative equality 

implications. An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken, as a part of the 
development of the strategy, to identify both positive and negative implications which 
arise.  

 
9.2 The Equality Impact Assessment is available via this link: 

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments   

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Allotments provide an important opportunity for local cultivation of food and 

associated learning and can thus play a useful role in our local response to the 
climate emergency. Through the Cool 2 strategy residents will be encouraged to 
grow their own food and the Council will facilitate this through the provision of 
allotment sites and access to advice and support.  

 
10.2 Changing to a lower energy intensity diet e.g., consumption of local and seasonal 

food, is recognised as a way to limit our climate impacts as set out in the new climate 
strategy for Wirral, Cool 2.  
 

10.3 Allotments provide an important opportunity for composting. Compost not only helps 
the allotments to grow and flourish, but it is also contributes to a cleaner 
environment. It reduces the need for bonfires, cuts down on waste going to landfill 
and requires less manufactured and packaged products. 

 
10.4 Wirral Council actively promotes composting and offer free “Get Composting!” 

workshops to beginners as well as a range of subsidised compost bins and food 
caddies. Visit www.wirral.gov.uk/composting for more information.  

 
10.5 Allotments enable plots to house bees, Beekeeping will not only lead to healthy and 

vibrant plants but ensure that bees continue to play their critical role in our 
ecosystem, Bee keeping can be a very positive activity, helping with pollination and 
providing honey. All plot holders are encouraged to grow suitable plants to support 
pollinators and exercise restraint in the use of pesticides.  

 
10.6 Pollinators like bees play a key role in one out of every three bites of food we eat. 

Without them, many plants we rely on for food would die off, Bees are responsible for 
the production of many seeds, nuts, berries, and fruit, which serve as a vital food 
source for wild animals.  

 
10.7 Bees play a part in every aspect of the ecosystem, they support the growth of trees, 

flowers, and other plants, which serve as food and shelters for creatures large and 
small, Bees contribute to complex, interconnected ecosystems that allow a diverse 
number of different species to co-exist. Wirral Council was recognised last year for 

Page 390

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/composting


its work in this area with a Bees’ Needs Champions Awards for the Meadow 
Restoration Project at Wirral Country Park. 

 
10.8 Increasing the provision of allotments, bee keeping, and composting is recognized to 

contribute to a cleaner environment. 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Wirral is facing stark economic, social and health inequalities. The Wirral Plan is 

committed to addressing this. With Community Wealth Building at its heart, the Wirral 
Plan sets out how to tackle this and makes a major contribution to improving the 
economic, social and health outcomes of the borough.  

 
11.2 There have been a number of studies undertaken around the benefits of maintaining 

an allotment for individuals and communities, as well as how sites impact on the local 
area and natural environment; with results detailing reductions in depression and 
anxiety, improved social functioning and even increased opportunities for vocational 
development, amongst other benefits 

 
11.3 Wirral Allotments Partnership Strategy, sets out Wirral Council’s commitment to 

providing allotments which help achieve the following important aims: 

 Enhance people’s health and wellbeing 

 Contribute to nature conservation and the sustainability of the environment 

 Help increase people’s pride in the places where they live  

 Achieve objectives in a cost-effective manner 
This commitment is reinforced within Wirral’s Council Plan which sets out an ambition 
for all our residents to have a good quality of life and ensure levels of inequality are 
reduced. 

 
REPORT AUTHORS:  
 

Anthony Bestwick 
Assistant Senior Manager 
Email: anthonybestwick@wirral.gov.uk 

 
APPENDICES 
 
Terms of Reference Allotment Working Group 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Wirral Council Allotments Partnership Strategy 
 
Wirral Council Site Secretary Agreement 2015 
 
The King’s Fund ‘Gardens and Health; Implications for policy and practice’ 
publication 2016 
 
Allotment Provision Scrutiny Review Report 
 
Allotment Provision Scrutiny Review Scoping Document 
 
State of the Market Survey: Local Authority Allotment Services 
 

Page 391

mailto:anthonybestwick@wirral.gov.uk


Wirral Council - Sports & Physical Activity Strategy briefing to the Tourism, 
Communities, Culture & Leisure Committee, 23 November 2020. 
 
Wirral Council - Environment and Climate Emergency Policy (2021) 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
This report is being considered by the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee in accordance with Sections A and E of its Terms of Reference; 
 

(a) in co-ordinating the response to cross-cutting sustainability issues such as 
reducing carbon emissions, air quality issues, climate change response, improving 
resource efficiency and developing sustainable energy; 
 
(e) in respect of parks, open spaces, countryside management, allotments, 
playgrounds and cemeteries, including arboricultural, gardening and warden 
services. 
 

 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 
 

Council Meeting  Date 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy 

20 January 2022 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
Allotment Provision Scrutiny Review 

22 October 2020 

Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Allotment Provision in the Borough 

30 January 2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 392



 
Terms of Reference – Allotments Working Party  

 
Background: 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee on Thursday, 20th 
January 2022 approved the Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy (2021-26). The 
Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy seeks to address the recommendations from 
the all-party Allotments Subgroup of the committee which concluded in October 
2020. One of the key recommendations being to improve communication. To 
achieve this, it was agreed to set up a Working Party which would look at a number 
of issues and give Council Officers feedback to help develop draft documents on 
particular issues which could then be taken out to wider consultation.  Feedback 
would then be used to develop final guidance and policies on those issues 
discussed. 
 
The Allotment Subgroup identified a number of Recommendations that could be 
addressed by an Allotments Working Party, once established, to assist in updating 
guidance and policy and, where appropriate, supporting documents. 
 
The recommendations from the Allotment Subgroup were: - 

 
Recommendation 1: Establish a cross-party and cross-committee working 
group, in consultation with internal and external stakeholders including Wirral 
Allotment Society and Wirral Site Secretaries group.  
 
In order to prioritise the increased provision of allotment plots and inform the 
updated Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy, a working group should be 
created with membership comprised of Members of the Council from across 
policy and service committees, departmental officers, external stakeholders 
and local partners.  
 
Recommendation 2: That the Wirral Site Secretary Agreement 2015 be 
amended to allow for increased autonomy and delegated decision-making 
relating to site management.  
 
The existing Site Secretary Agreement, and if necessary individual Allotment 
Site Action Plans, should be revised as soon as practicable to provide 
enhanced authority for site secretaries; specifically relating to the issue of Plot 
Improvement Notices to expedite the Termination of Agreement process as 
much as possible so that the plot can be re-let quickly. 
 
Recommendation 3: Re-categorise rental fees for new and existing plots.  
 
Research and consultation should be undertaken to look at current rental fees 
and, where reasonable, potential increases to non-concessionary rents for 
new plots with improved facilities and according to plot size - with the 
agreement that any additional income raised from rent payments be 
reinvested into increased allotment provision across the Borough.  
 

Page 393



Recommendation 4: Increase existing provision of accessible plots across 
Wirral by 2025.  
 
Explore all opportunities to improve infrastructure and create raised beds to 
make allotment gardening more accessible for those with disabilities or 
mobility problems, including engagement with organisations such as Wirral 
Evolutions to seek out vacant space and further utilisation of existing sites to 
increase the number of accessible plots.  
 
Recommendation 5: Increase allotment provision across the Borough by 
1000 plots by 2025.  
 
This recommendation should be achieved by; Improved engagement with 
Planning Officers to ensure that Wirral’s Local Plan protects existing allotment 
sites and actively encourages developers to provide opportunities for 
allotments and community food growing spaces within all major new 
developments. Any Council-owned land and that managed by registered 
providers and local partners appropriate for allotment gardening, is identified 
and brought into use. Section 106 agreements identified as suitable for 
allotment site creation or expansion are recognised and acted on. In addition, 
the Panel endorses the current review of allotment plot sizes and encourages 
the creation of half plots and raised beds where possible, as well as 
championing the continued pursuit of capital investment opportunities to 
support increased allotment provision. 

 
Membership of Working Group 
 
To enable the Group to undertake business in an effective manner, it was agreed 
that the Working Group would consist of:- 

 Chair of the Wirral Allotments Site Secretaries 

 A member of the Northwest Allotments Association 

 5 Site Secretaries or site representative (tenant) (selection is by invitation of 
expressions of interest from all Site Secretaries.  Where there are more than 5 
interested individuals, then selection will be by simple ballot amongst all Site 
Secretaries). 

 As appropriate, any other persons who bring knowledge or expertise on a 
particular topic. 

 
The Working Group will be supported by the following Council Officers: - 

 Strategic Manager - Parks and Countryside 
 Assistant Senior Manager, Parks and Countryside 
 One Area Manager, Parks and Countryside 
 Parks Support Administrator 

 
Frequency of Meeting 
 
The Working Group will meet on a monthly basis and more frequently if needed, to 
take forward the business of the Working Group. Meetings can be facilitated either 
on-line via the appropriate on-line portal, or face to face. 
 

Page 394



Once the Working Group has worked through all the Recommendations and they 
have come to conclusion, if appropriate, the Working Group can continue if it is felt 
that this mechanism continues to positively support the ongoing development of 
Allotments throughout Wirral. 
 

Page 395



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY, 30 NOVEMBER 2022 

 

REPORT TITLE: ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND 

TRANSPORT PERFORMANCE REPORT 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF NEIGHBOURHOODS 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 

This report provides a performance report in relation to Environment and Climate 
Emergency, and Highways and Infrastructure. The report was designed based on 
discussion with Members through working group activity in 2021. Members requests have 
been incorporated into the report presented at this Committee meeting. Monitoring the 
performance of environment, climate emergency and transport activity and services 
supports the delivery of the Wirral Plan. 

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough.  

This is not a key decision. 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is recommended to note 
the content of the reports and highlight any areas requiring further clarification or action. 
 

Page 397

Agenda Item 10



 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 
1.1 To ensure Members of the Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 

Committee have the opportunity to monitor the performance of the Council and 
partners in relation to environment and climate emergency, highways, and 
infrastructure. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 There are other ways of presenting this report, however, as this report has been 
developed in line with Member’s requirements, there are no other options to be 
considered.  
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 Regular monitoring of performance will ensure public oversight and enable Members 
to make informed decisions in a timely manner. The performance dashboard has 
been developed in line with Member requests and covers a wide range of service 
areas and resource deployment. The dashboard and the measures set out within it 
will be further developed over time and have clear linkage to Council strategies and 
the Wirral Plan.   
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 The financial implications associated with the performance of the Directorate are 
included within the Financial Monitoring Report reported to this Committee. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1  There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 There are none arising from this report. 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Information on the key risks faced by the Directorate and the organisation and the 

associated mitigations and planned actions are included in the Directorate and 
Corporate Risk Registers. There are no further specific risk implications relating to 
this report, which is a general performance position update. 
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Neighbourhood services carry out a range of consultation and engagement with 

service users and residents to work to optimise service delivery and outcomes for 
residents. 

 
 
 

 

Page 398



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 
This report has no direct implications for equalities.  

 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The performance report and the dashboard facility will be a significant support to 

Committee’s scrutiny of the progress being made against the Council’s Environment 
& Climate Emergency Policy and the Cool Wirral Climate Change Strategy. 

 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1   There are a number of social value implications, outlined in the performance report, 

including tree planting, waste collection, LED lighting, and CO2 reduction, which all 
contribute towards the Council’s Environment and Climate Emergency agenda. 

 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Nancy Clarkson 
  Head of Intelligence 
  email:  nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee Performance 
Report 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Data sources including ‘Symology,’ Oracle and bespoke service-specific asset systems. 
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
This report is being considered by the Environment, Climate Change and Transport 
Committee in accordance with Section 5.2 (part j) of its Terms of Reference, providing a 
view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in relation to the 
Committee’s functions. 
 
 
 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 
 

Council Meeting  Date 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee 

21 July 2022 
20 October 2021 

 
 

Page 399

mailto:nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee

Performance Report

October 2022

This PDF may not be suitable to view for people with disabilities, users of assistive technology or mobile phone devices. If you 
need an accessible copy of this document please contact carolynkirchin@wirral.gov.uk

P
age 401



£26.75M
Current Revised Budget

£7.24M
Actual YTD

27.06%
% of Revised Budget Spent

Proportion of Budget Spent

0% 100%
27.06%
Proportion of Budget Spent

£0.00M £26.75M
£7.24M

£26.08M
Original Programme

Including Adjustments and Slippage to next yearIncluding Adjustments and Slippage from last year

Month

September 2022 

Area

All 

Total Capital Spent Year To Date

Highways & Infrastructure

Parks & Environment

Leisure, Libraries & Customer Enagagement

£5,718,612

£10,215,624

£5,277,388

£4,015,998

Actual YTD Left to Spend

Neighbourhood  Capital Spend
 

P
age 402



£11.65M
Current Revised Budget

£1.44M
Actual YTD

12.33%
% of Revised Budget Spent

Proportion of Budget Spent

0% 100%
12.33%
Proportion of Budget Spent

£0.00M £11.65M
£1.44M

£6.06M
Original Programme

Including Adjustments and Slippage to next yearIncluding Adjustments and Slippage from last year

Month

September 2022 

Area

All 

Total Capital Spent Year To Date

Highway Maintenance
Traffic Signal LED Upgrade

Combined Authority Transport Plan (CATP)
Bridges excluding Dock Bridge

Town Link Viaduct
Street Lighting Column - Replacement or Upgrade
Street Lighting -Illuminated Lighting and Signage

Coronation Park Sustainable Drainage
Dock Bridges replacement

Tower Road National Productivity Investment Fund (NP…
Key Route Network (LGF3) - Operate Key Roads / Rout…

Lyndale Ave Parking & Safety Measures
Modernisation of CCTV System

Removal of remaining analogue CCTV circuits-21-22
Highways Asset Management System - procurement o…

Coastal Defence - Meols Feasibility Study
Northbank West Cycle Scheme

STEP

£6,522,000
£982,000
£879,000

£580,000
£332,000

£870,000
£294,000
£222,000
£210,000
£193,000
£166,000
£125,000
£120,000
£79,000
£49,000
£30,000

Actual YTD Left to Spend

Highways  Capital Spend
 

Values show Total Budget

P
age 403



Neighbourhood Service Requests Received (12 months rolling)

54,701
12 Months Requests

3,861
Current or Selected Month

4,435
Previous Month

-12.9%
% Change from last month

Neighbourhoods Service Requests by Date (last 12 months)

October 2021 November 2021 December 2021 January 2022 February 2022 March 2022 April 2022 May 2022 June 2022 July 2022 August 2022 September 2022

5,537

3,8613,660

5,327

3,751

5,242

3,757

4,435

5,213 5,129

4,108

4,681

Top 10 Neighbourhoods Requests (last 12 months)

Missed Green Bin Missed Brown Bin Missed Grey Bin Streetscene: Fly
Tipping

Waste Bin Delivery Pavement Defects Bulky Item (ERIC)
Collection

Street Lighting Street Cleansing Road Defects

6,970
6,527

5,962

3,822
3,186 2,853 2,721 2,610 2,324 1,993

P
age 404



Highways Service Requests Received (12 months rolling)

13,914
12 Months Requests

1,196
Current or Selected Month

1,224
Previous Month

-2.3%
% Change from last month

Neighbourhoods Service Requests by Date (last 12 months)

October 2021 November 2021 December 2021 January 2022 February 2022 March 2022 April 2022 May 2022 June 2022 July 2022 August 2022 September 2022

1,165 1,196

1,617

965

1,257

974 1,064

1,107
1,224

1,073 1,079
1,193

Top 10 Neighbourhoods Requests (last 12 months)

Pavement Defects Street Lighting Road Defects Trees Vehicle Crossing Gullies Road Marking
Repair

Street Seats Pavements ST- Highway
Enquiry & Search

2,853
2,610

1,993 1,937

1,034

413 348 288 252 209

P
age 405



Highways Streetworks Income (Data available 1quarter in arrears)

Streetworks Enforcement Income Streetworks Service Provision Income

Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) 
Income

14,360.00
2020-21

46,460.00
2021-22

If a utility works without a valid 
Permit, or breaches any of the 

agreed ‘Conditions’ on a granted 
Permit / ‘rules’ of the Permit 
Scheme, then they may have 

committed a statutory offence, 
but may discharge their legal 

liability, by the payment of an FPN

20540
Q1 2022-23

2.24
% Diff 2020-21

Recorded Quarterly

S74 Overrun Charges

8,800.00
2020-21

15,550.00
2021-22

0.77
% Diff 2020-21

If a Utility ‘overruns’ an agreed 
duration, then they may be 

subject to s74 ‘Overrun Charges’,
 depending upon the reasons for

 the ‘overrun’

Recorded Quarterly

6875
Q1 2022-23

Defect Inspection Fees. 
Annual

10,006.50
2020-21

15,558.50
2021-22

0.55
% Diff 2020-21

For any defects identified, the 
Council can carry out further 

inspections (i.e. Defect 
Inspections) to check the quality 

of ‘remedial works / repairs’

Recorded Annually

Income from Inspections Permit Fee Income

631,961.90
2020-21

131,650.00
2020-21

132,750.00
2021-22

546,375.00
2021-22

-0.14
% Diff 2020-21

0.01
% Diff 2020-21

152400
2022-23

Each year, the Council 
undertakes an agreed number of
 random inspections on Utility 

Works to check performance and
 compliance etc. These 

inspections are chargeable, 
irrespective whether they Pass / 

Fail

Fees for the processing & 
approval of Permit applications 

to ‘book road space’

Annual Static Figure Recorded Quarterly

138833
Q1 2022-23

P
age 406



Highways Protect the safety of road users                                                                  
Barcharts colours compare each year to target (Blue: Excellent, Green: Good, Amber: Acceptable, Red: Poor)

Excellent >98%, Good >=96%<=98%, Acceptable >98%<90% Excellent <1%, Good = Reducing, Acceptable = same as previous year

Reducing legal exposure and liability for 
Insurance Claims

Road Safety - Claims repudiated

2018 2019 2020

97.5%

100.0%

98.0%

100.0%

% of road casualties that resulted in serious 
or fatal injuries (KSI's)

Road Safety - % Casualties KSIs

18.2%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

20.2%
18.2%

14.5%

18.5%17.9%

Next update October 2022

P
age 407



People Killed and Seriously Injured on the Road (KSIs) 
Data provided by Merseyside Police

KSIs 2021

100
Pedestrian

Motorcyclist

Pedal Cyclist

Car & Taxi Driver

Car & Taxi Passenger

Bus & Coach Passenger Inc. Minibus

Goods Vehicle Driver

32

30

17

24

10

1

22

23

29

14

10

1

1

Period 2015-19 Average 2021

Pedestrian

Motorcyclist

Pedal Cyclist

Car & Taxi Driver

Car & Taxi Passenger

Bus & Coach Passenger Inc. Minibus

Goods Vehicle Driver

28%

26%

15%

21%

9%

1%

22%

23%

29%

14%

10%

1%

1%

Period 2015-19 Average 2021

KSIs 2105-19 Average

114

Comparison period 2015 
to  2019. Merseyside 
Police have chosen this 
period because Covid 19 
restrictions during 2020 
significantly reduced 
journeys made

P
age 408



Highways Condition of Council’s highways using evidence-based process                  
Barcharts colours compare each year to target (Blue: Excellent, Green: Good, Amber: Acceptable, Red: Poor)

Invest in improvements in the condition of Wirral Council’s highways using a robust evidence-based process
Use condition data to manage planning and delivery of long term works programmes in line with the Asset Management Strategy

*Excellent <2%, Good >=2% <30, Acceptable >=3% <4% *targets 
proposed by Wirral Council HIAM Board

*Excellent <20%, Good >=20% <30%, Acceptable >=30% <40% 
*targets set by LCRCA

*Excellent <2%, Good >=2% <30, Acceptable >=3% <4% *targets 
proposed by Wirral Council HIAM Board

*Excellent <20%, Good >=20% <30%, Acceptable >=30% <40% 
*targets set by LCRCA

*Excellent <10%, Good >=10% <20%, Acceptable >=20% <30% 
*targets proposed by Wirral Council HIAM Board

 *Excellent <20%, Good >=20% <30%, Acceptable >=30% <40% 
*targets set by LCRCA

Excellent >=90%, Good <90% >=80%, Acceptable <80% >=65% Excellent >50%,  Good, >=50% <30%, Acceptable >=30% >10%

A Roads in poor condition

4.4%

2017 2018 2020 2021

1.0%
2.0% 1.9%

4.4%

B & C Roads in poor condition

7.3%

2017 2018 2020 2021

1.0% 2.0% 1.3%

7.3%

Unclassified Network in poor condition

13.8%

2017 2018 2020 2021

6.0%
9.0% 9.0%

13.8%

Condition bridges/structures

86.2%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

83.5% 83.7% 83.3% 83.6% 86.2%

Street light columns replaced in programme

109.0%

2019 2020 2021

7.0%

58.0% 109.0%

P
age 409



Highways Strategic Aim - Investment in replacement of aged Traffic Signals will 
reduce occurrence of faults and help ensure a safe and an accessible highway 
network                                                                      
Barcharts colours compare each year to target (Blue: Excellent, Green: Good, Amber: Acceptable, Red: Poor)

 Excellent =Year on year 5% improvement, Good = year on year 1% improvement, Acceptable = Baseline 2017 level

Use condition data to manage the planning and delivery of long term 
works programmes in line with the Asset Management Strategy

% of traffic signals within their prescribed design life

56.0%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

70.0%

56.0%

68.0%65.0% 64.0%

P
age 410



Highways Strategic Aim - Provide a customer focused service                                              

Barcharts colours compare each year to target (Blue: Excellent, Green: Good, Amber: Acceptable, Red: Poor)

Excellent >4% national average, Good >=4% national average, Acceptable <=-4% national average

National average = 53% 2017, 51% 2018, 52% 2019, 50% 2020, 45% 2021

Satisfaction rating based on response public surveys in relation to 
"highways maintenance"

Road User Satisfaction - Highway Maintenance

45.0%

0%

20%

40%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

51.0%
45.0%44.0%45.0%47.0%

P
age 411



Wirral Council Carbon Budget  

Data Source: Carbon Accounting Tool produced by Local Partnerships to help local authorities establish baseline greenhouse gas emissions over a single reporting year.

Emissions Type Scope

 

Emissions(tCO2e)
2019-20 Baseline

Emissions(tCO2e)
2020-21

Emissions(tCO2e)
2021-22

Percentage change
from baseline

Total Emissions (Gross) All Scopes 13,656 9,424.39 10,621.99 -22.2%

Authority's Fleet Scope 1 (direct emissions) 600 268.32 469.77 -21.7%

Heating Scope 1 (direct emissions) 5,995 4,367.77 5,222.63 -12.9%

Electricity Scope 2 (energy indirect) 5,924 4,159.65 4,347.52 -26.6%

Staff Travel Scope 3 (other indirect) 482 156.38 146.73 -69.6%

Transmission & Distribution Losses Scope 3 (other indirect) 503 357.77 384.81 -23.5%

Water Scope 3 (other indirect) 152 114.50 50.53 -66.7%

When measuring and reporting on greenhouse gas or carbon emissions, people talk about Scopes 1, 2, 3
 

Scope 1 is direct greenhouse gas emissions from sources owned or controlled by the organisation, for example emissions burning directly in boilers and vehicles.
Organisations have direct control over these emissions.

Scope 2 accounts for emissions of purchased electricity consumed by the organisation. Organisations can impact their Scope 2 emissions by using less power and
choosing to purchase clean energy rather than from fossil fuel sources.

Scope 3 includes indirect emissions from wider supply chains (often reaching international jurisdictions), emissions from the use of local authority services, contracted out
services and investments. Councils will have a strong influence over some of these emissions (eg contracted out services and investments) and less over others.

P
age 412



Wirral Council Carbon Budget Emissions (tCO2e) 2021-22 compared to 2019-20 Baseline 

Heating

5,223
Baseline: 5,995 (-13%)

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

5995

4368

5223

Authority's Fleet

470
Baseline: 600 (-22%)

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

600

268

470

Scope 1 (direct emissions)

Electricity

4,348
Baseline: 5,924 (-27%)

Scope 2 (energy indirect) Scope 3 (other indirect)

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

5924

4160

4348

All Scopes

Staff Travel

147
Baseline: 482 (-70%)

All Scopes

10,622
Baseline: 13,656 (-22%)

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

482

156

147

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

13656

9424

10622

Transmission & Distribution

385
Baseline: 503 (-23%)

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

503

358

385

Water

51
Baseline: 152 (-66%)

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

152

115

51

This is annual data. 
Next update Autumn 2023

Data Source: Carbon Accounting Tool produced by Local Partnerships to help local authorities establish baseline greenhouse gas emissions over a single reporting year.

P
age 413



Wirral Council Carbon Budget Baseline 2019-2020 Emissions (tCO2e) 
 

Trajectory reflects what COULD be possible if everyone delivers on the Climate Emergency Action Plan by 2022

Source: Wirral Council Climate Emergency Action Plan: Establishing a baseline, carbon budget, emissions reduction trajectory and priority areas for action, 
Local Partnerships October 2020

P
age 414



Water (cubic metres)

13
Previous Year: 21 (-37%)

Council Energy Usage YTD (Apr-Sep) 2022-22. Compared to last year 

20

40

Av.

Work will be undertaken to show the impact on Council's ambition on trajectory to reach net zero emissions by 2030

Gas & Electricity (kWh)

1,809
Previous Year: 2,049 (-12%)

1K

2K
Av.

Gas, Electricity & Water (Tonnes CO2e)

1,822
Previous Year: 2,070 (-12%)

1K

2K
Av.

Business Mileage YTD

679,111
Previous Year: 574,220 (+18%)

0.2M

0.3M

Av.

Business Mileage - Schools YTD

16,431
Previous Year: 9,720 (+69%)

0K

5K Av.

Apr 2020..................................................................................Mar 2022Apr 2020..................................................................................Mar 2022 Apr 2020..................................................................................Mar 2022

Apr 2020..................................................................................Sep 2022 Apr 2020..................................................................................Sep 2022

Water, Gas and Electrical available 2 quarters in arrears. Q1 2022-23 expected December

Fleet Vehicle Fuel Usage (Diesel Litres) YTD

142,914
Previous Year: 147,883 (-3%)

40K

50K Av.

Apr 2020..................................................................................Sep 2022

P
age 415



Prints YTD

363,190
Previous Year: 285,291 (+27%)

Council Office Paper Usage YTD (Apr-Sep) 2022-22. Compared to last year 

0M

2M
Av.

Photocopies YTD

1,436,583
Previous Year: 1,128,919 (+27%)

0.0M

0.5M

Av.

Prints and Photocopies YTD

1,799,773
Previous Year: 1,414,210 (+27%)

0M

2M
Av.

Jan 2019............................................................................................Sep 2022 Jan 2019............................................................................................Sep 2022

Each count relates to printed 'side' of paper. Volumes relate only to devices controlled by PaperCut software. Does not include Print Division which 
deals with large volume printing, e.g. Revenues & Benefits or specialist printers such as the Wide Format plotter used for maps/planning or desktop 
printers for some work areas such as Registrars

Jan 2019......................................................................................Sep 2022

Colour

436,030
Previous Year: 91,147 (+378%)

0.0M

0.1M

0.2M

Av.

Jan 2019................................................................................................Sep 2022

Monochrome

1,364,008
Previous Year: 1,323,062 (+3%)

0M

2M
Av.

Jan 2019................................................................................................Sep 2022

P
age 416



MS Teams Calls Participation (Activity)

224,751
Q2 2021-22: 241,571 (-7%)

Council MS Teams Activity Q2 (Jul-Sep) 2022-23. Compared to same Qtr last year

200K

250K Av.

1.4M

1.6M
Av.

MS Teams Meeting Participation (Activity)

68,876
Q2 2021-22: 69,866 (-1%)

70K

80K

Av.

MS Teams Chat Messages (Activity)

1,390,832
Q2 2021-22: 1,502,409 (-7%)

MS Teams Calls Participation (Users)

7,210
Q2 2021-22: 7,235 (-0%)

7,200

7,400

7,600

7,800

Av.

MS Teams Chat Messages (Users)

7,512
Q2 2021-22: 7,504 (+0%)

7,400

7,600

7,800

Av.

MS Teams Meeting Participation (Users)

7,225
Q2 2021-22: 7,225 (+0%)

7,200

7,400

7,600

7,800

Av.

Oct 2020....................................................................................Sep 2022 Oct 2020....................................................................................Sep 2022 Oct 2020.................................................................................Sep 2022

Oct 2020.................................................................................... Sep 2022 Oct 2020...................................................................................Sep 2022 Oct 2020.................................................................................Sep 2022

P
age 417



Total Emissions 2020

1018.6
2019: 1,123.1 (-9.3%)

Wirral Borough Emissions Estimates (kt CO e) 2020 2

1000

1500

2000

2005 2010 2015 2020

Data combines UK's Greenhouse Gas Inventry with data from a number of other sources, including local energy consumption statistics. They show 
"territorial" emissions, meaning they occur within the Borough of Wirral's borders.
Data shows emissions allocated on an "end-user"basis where emissions are distributed according to the point of energy consumption.

Industry 2020

139.4
2019: 148.2 (-5.9%)

Commercial 2020

95.1
2019: 109.5 (-13.1%)

Public Sector 2020

35.1
2019: 39.2 (-10.6%)

Domestic 2020

445.4
2019: 463.7 (-4%)

Transport 2020

300.6
2019: 359.5 (-16.4%)

Source https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics

100

200

300

2005 2010 2015 2020
0

200

2005 2010 2015 2020

0

100

2005 2010 2015 2020

500

1000

2005 2010 2015 2020
300

400

2005 2010 2015 2020

P
age 418



Wirral 2020

3.1
2019: 3.5 (-9.4%)

Emissions Estimates per 1000 Capita (kt CO e) 2020 2

4

5

6

7

CO
2e

 e
m

iss
io

ns
 p

er
 1

00
0 

ca
pi

ta

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Wirral North West England National

Data combines UK's Greenhouse Gas Inventry with data from a number of other sources, including local energy consumption statistics. They show 
"territorial" emissions, meaning they occur within the Borough of Wirral's borders.
Data shows emissions allocated on an "end-user"basis where emissions are distributed according to the point of energy consumption.

Source https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics

North West 2020

3.8
2019: 4.2 (-9.4%)

England 2020

3.7
2019: 4.1 (-10.4%)

National 2020

3.8
2019: 4.3 (-10.2%)

P
age 419



Refuse KG per h/hold 2022-23

138
2021-22: 152 (-9%)

16K
18K
20K
22K
24K

Av.

Fly-tipping (t) 2022-23

332
2021-22: 409 (-19%)

Wirral Waste (Household, Fly-tipping, Street Cleansing)
Data is one quarter in arrears. Latest available verified data is Q1 2022-23

Garden Waste (t) 2022-23

4,139
2021-22: 4,597 (-10%)

Street Cleansing (t) 2022-23

1,757
2021-22: 2,088 (-16%)

Recycling (t) 2022-23

5,994
2021-22: 6,815 (-12%)

Refuse (t) 2022-23

20,667
2021-22: 22,712 (-9%)

Recycling KG per h./hold 2022-23

39
2021-22: 45 (-13%)

Recycling Rate Q1 2022-23

33.4%
Q1 2021-22: 34.1% (-0.7%)

200

400 Av.

0K

5K Av.

1K

2K

3K
Av.

6K

8K Av.

40

60
Av.

30

35 Av.

16K
18K
20K
22K
24K

Av.

Apr 2019                                                                  Jun 2022

Apr 2019                                                               Jun 2022Apr 2019                                                                  Jun 2022Apr 2019                                                                 Jun 2022

Apr 2019                                                                 Jun 2022Apr 2019                                                                 Jun 2022Apr 2019                                                               Jun 2022

Apr 2019                                                                Jun 2022

Red line indicates April 2020 to indicate start of 
Covid Pandemic

P
age 420



Wirral Tree Strategy June 2022

Trees Planted Years 1 & 2

45,559
Target Years 1 & 2

42,000
Performance against target

8.5%

Trees individually inspected since surveyors started in
early 2021

30,386

Parks sites inspected this year

220

Dangerous or unstable trees felled over 4 years

3,509

Individual items of proactive tree maintenance works
identified and ordered since start of contract (Apr 2020)

9,771

The Tree, Hedgerow & Woodland Strategy requires 21,000 trees be planted every year to meet the 210,000 target by 2030. 
Tree planting season is October through to the end of March. Q2 not yet available. Date available not supplied.

According to Local Partnerships CEAP, carbon sequested from tree planting
222 (tCO2e) by 2030

Veteran trees tested for decay with arborsonic
equipment

179

Woodland compartments captured within the inventory

627
Tree groups captured within the inventory

1,915

P
age 421



Wirral Tree Strategy Years 1 and 2.  Who is tree planting.

Tree Planting Total to date
 

Mersey Forest

Schools

Other Community Woodland

Hedgerow

Urban Tree Challenge Fund

Ground Control

Garden Waste Subcriber scheme

Streets/Parkland

Free trees initiative

Orchards

Combined Authorities funding

16,172

12,171

7,381

4,685

1,946

1,520

1,000

466

136

73

9

The Tree, Hedgerow & Woodland Strategy requires 21,000 trees be planted every year to meet the 210,000 target by 2030. 

P
age 422



100%
Target: 100%

 Man Coed Tree Contract Performance Indicators

Provide response to emergency call outs 
within one hour

Carry out tree works in specified time frame (1
 hour, 24 hours, 4 weeks, 12 weeks)

Provide quotations within 10 working days of 
request

Provide details of any accidents or near 
misses within 3 hours

Provide written response to a complaint or FOI 
submitted to council in 3 working days

Invoice within one month days of completion 
of batch / site

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

68%
Target: 90%

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

96% 85%

64%

85% 88%

70%

83% 82% 79%
71%

90%
Target: 90%

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
90% 90% 90% 90%

100%
Target: 100%

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100%
Target: 90%

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

100%
Target: 90%

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

September 2022

P
age 423



90%
Target: 90%

 Man Coed Tree Contract Performance Indicators

Provide written prior notification to properties
 immediately adjacent to trees inc. cyclical 
pollarding regime at least 2 weeks before 

works commences

One unannounced safety visit to site per week 
to check compliance safety procedure No. of post completion inspections carried out

Parks Spend Highways Spend

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 90% 90%

100%
Target: 90%

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 100%

87

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

5 5
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10

30
20

5 6 6

£339,450

20
21

-0
4

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

£14,934

£31,661

£19,838

£9,562
£18,664

£10,693
£18,455

£12,231

£31,780
£23,139

£15,874

September 2022

£361,176
20

21
-0

4
20

21
-0

5
20

21
-0

6
20

21
-0

7
20

21
-0

8
20

21
-0

9
20

21
-1

0
20

21
-1

1
20

21
-1

2
20

22
-0

1
20

22
-0

2
20

22
-0

3
20

22
-0

4
20

22
-0

5
20

22
-0

6
20

22
-0

7
20

22
-0

8
20

22
-0

9

£10,153
£17,829

£7,522
£21,500

£11,571
£24,744

£9,962

£24,298
£11,954

£30,711

£49,881

£20,609

£37,917

No. of defects picked up

1

20
21

-0
5

20
21

-0
6

20
21

-0
7

20
21

-0
8

20
21

-0
9

20
21

-1
0

20
21

-1
1

20
21

-1
2

20
22

-0
1

20
22

-0
2

20
22

-0
3

20
22

-0
4

20
22

-0
5

20
22

-0
6

20
22

-0
7

20
22

-0
8

20
22

-0
9

1

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 424



 

 

  

 

ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT Committee 

WEDNESDAY, 30 November 2022 
 

Report Title: 2022-23 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring for 

quarter TWO (1 JUL – 30 SEP) 

Report of: DIRECTOR OF NEIGBOURHOODS 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the financial monitoring information for the Environment, Climate 
Emergency and Transport Committee as at quarter 2 (1 Jul – 30 Sep) of 2022-23. The 
report provides Members with an overview of budget performance, including progress on 
the delivery of the 2022-23 saving programme and a summary of reserves to enable the 
Committee to take ownership of the budgets and provide robust challenge and scrutiny to 
Officers on the performance of those budgets.  
 
Managing a budget requires difficult decisions to ensure that a balanced position can be 
presented. Regular Member engagement, which this report forms part of, is considered 
essential in delivering effective governance and financial oversight.  
 
At the end of Quarter 2, there is a forecast adverse position of £2.434m on the Committees 
net revenue budget, of £63.907m. This position is based on activity to date, projected 
trends in income and expenditure and potential mitigation to offset areas of adverse 
variance. 
 
This matter affects all Wards within the Borough and is not a key decision. 
 
The report contributes to the Wirral Plan 2021-2026 in supporting the organisation in 
meeting all Council priorities. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport committee is recommended to: 
 

1. Note the forecast revenue position presented at Quarter 2. 
 

2. Note the progress on delivery of the 2022-23 savings programme at Quarter 2. 
 

3. Note the forecast level of reserves at Quarter 2. 
 

4. Note the forecast capital position presented at Quarter 2. 
 

Page 425

Agenda Item 11



 

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1.1 It is vitally important that the Council has robust processes in place to manage 
and monitor the in-year financial position, to ensure it delivers a balanced position at 
the end of the year 

 
1.2  Regular monitoring and reporting of the revenue budgets and savings achievements 

enables decisions to be taken in a timely manner, which may produce revenue 
benefits and will improve financial control of Wirral Council. 

 
1.3  This report presents timely information on the Quarter 2 financial position for 

2022/23. 
 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 The Policy & Resources Committee has previously determined the budget 

monitoring process to follow and this report details the agreed course of action. 
 
2.2 In striving to manage budgets, available options have been evaluated to maintain a 

balance between service delivery and a balanced budget. 
  
 
3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
3.1 As at the end of September 2022 (Quarter 2), the forecast outturn position for the 

Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is £2.434m adverse 
against a budget of £63.907m.  £0.560m of this relates to an adjustment for the 
proposed 2022/23 pay award and similar adjustments are being made to other 
Directorates to reflect this. This is mitigated in part by £0.097m relating to the 
proposed National Insurance reduction from November. 

 
3.2 The Directorate continues to recover from the impact of COVID-19 and all services 

that were operating in a limited capacity in 2021/22 have now reopened. However, 
income generation has not yet returned to pre pandemic levels in Quarter 2 due to 
footfall and usage in some areas being less than it was in 2019/20, which is in line 
with the national position.  In addition, the ongoing cost of living pressures have 
adversely impacted income generation and energy costs and there is a risk of further 
impact in Quarters 3 and 4. 

 
3.3 The 2022/23 budget incorporates £1.734m of savings. Work commenced to achieve 

these savings following agreement at Budget Council in February.  As at Quarter 2, 
the Committee has achieved approximately half of these savings.  However, there 
are risks and pressures associated with some of these areas such as income 
generation. 

Page 426



 

 

TABLE 1 2022/23 Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee – 
Service Budget & Forecast Outturn 

  Budget Forecast Variance 
Adverse/ 

Favourable 

    
 

(+ Fav / - Adv)   

  £000 £000 £000 %   

    

  

    

Environment (including Parks 
and Open Spaces) 

7,700 8,034 -334 -4% Adverse 

Highways Management and 
Infrastructure 

5,193 6,300 -1,107 -18% Adverse 

Recycling and Waste 28,426 29,542 -1,116 -4% Adverse 

Transport Levy 22,587 22,464 123 1% Favourable 

    
  

    

    

  

    

Total Surplus/ (Deficit) 63,907 66,340 -2,434 -4% Adverse 

            

 
 
3.4 Highways and Infrastructure: An adverse variance of £1.107m is forecast for 

2022/23.  This is made up of the following variances: 

 £0.179m adverse variance relates to the adjustment for the proposed pay 
award. 

 £0.571m adverse variance relates to a shortfall in car parking income as 
ticket sales are approximately 75% of pre pandemic levels due to an 
increase in hybrid working and changes in customer behaviour. 

 £0.5m adverse variance relates to Car Parking charges at the proposed 
new sites which has not yet been implemented. This is pending a further 
report being brought to Members for proposed charges in new locations 
which will be informed by the strategic parking strategy but based upon the 
need to efficiently manage parking and traffic within the borough and 
recover the costs of the service. 

 This is mitigated in part by a £0.143m favourable variance due to 
additional income in relation to fees from utility companies for temporary 
traffic order road closures. 

 
 
3.5 To mitigate the overall adverse variance, several remedial actions have been 

identified and are being actioned. These are included in the Table 2, section 3.10 of 
the report above and in summary are: 

 £0.572m use of the carried forward Covid tranche funding planned for the 
expected continuing reduction in car parking income due to lower than pre-
pandemic levels of footfall.  As this is one-off funding, plans are in 
development to fully mitigate any recurrent shortfall in 23/24 and will be 
brought forward in that year  

 There are mitigations of £0.05m relating to employee buy back of annual 
leave, with opportunities for further mitigation if employees choose to buy 
back a proportion of their leave in year. 

 

Page 427



 

 

 
3.6  Parks & Environment: An adverse variance of £1.450m is forecast for 2022/23.  

£0.381m relates to the adjustment for the proposed pay award. £0.965m is due to 
overall increases in the borough wide waste collection and disposal costs, which is 
linked to rises in inflation and the Consumer Price Index (CPI) rate.   

 
3.7 The remaining adverse variance of £0.030m relates to a shortfall in income due to 

enforcement fines associated with litter and dog fouling.  This reflects the Council’s 
current policy relating to education and encouragement of behaviour change.   

 
3.8 Parks and Tree Management is forecasting and adverse variance of £0.243m. This 

is due to inflationary increases and changes to specifications following a review of 
the contract.  This is mitigated in part through utilising the remaining reserve relating 
to this area. The service will aim to mitigate the remaining adverse variance within 
Parks through maximising income generating opportunities and reviewing 
expenditure on planned preventative maintenance and through favourable variances 
relating to Regulatory Services. There will be an ongoing pressure in 2023/24 in 
relation to Tree Management as this area has previously been funded through use of 
reserves which will be fully utilised in 2022/23. 

 
3.9 Regulatory Services is reporting a favourable variance of £0.169m.  This is due to 

employees, as the service has faced challenges in recruiting and retaining staff due 
to current market demand. To address this the service has appointed apprentices in 
Quarter 2 who will be trained in these roles and fill the skills gaps.  Some employee 
costs are funded through COVID-19 grants as they continue to complete work on the 
outgoing COVID-19 response which has resulted in a favourable variance in 
2022/23. This funding will end during the year and will not present any recurrent 
pressures into 2023/24. 

 
3.10 Transport Levy: A favourable variance of £0.123m is reported at Quarter 2.  This is 

due to are reduction in overall charges from Liverpool City Region. 
 
 

Page 428



 

 

TABLE 2 2022/23 Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee – 

Subjective Budget & Forecast Outturn 

  Budget Forecast Variance 
Adverse/ 

Favourable 

    
 

(+ Fav / - Adv)   

  £000 £000 £000 %   

    
  

    

Income -17,641 -17,774 133 -1% Favourable 

    
  

    

Expenditure:   
  

    

Employee 15,253 14,970 283 2% Adverse 

Non Pay 66,295 69,144 -2,850 -4% Adverse 

Total Expenditure 81,547 84,114 -2,567 -3% Adverse 

    
  

    

    
  

    

Total Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

63,907 66,340 -2,434 -4% Adverse 

            

 

Budget Virements  
3.11 There have been no budget virements in quarter 2 
 
 

 
Progress on delivery of the 2022-23 savings programme. 

3.12 In terms of savings, £1.555m of the £1.734m savings targets are either delivered or 
on track to be delivered. Representing 90% of the total savings target with a further 
10% or £0.179m anticipated to be delivered. The table below summarises this 
progress by Directorate: 
 

TABLE 3: SUMMARY OF PROGRESS ON DELIVERY OF 2022-23 SAVINGS 

Committee Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Environment, 
Climate 
Emergency and 
Transport 

£1.734m £1.555m £0.179m £0.000m £0.179m  £1.218m 

  
3.13 For savings rated as Amber, an equal amount of temporary in-year mitigation has 

been identified to cover any shortfalls which may occur. For saving rated as red, a 
bid will need to be made from the £3m contingency fund set up for non-achieved 
savings at the end of the year.   

 
3.14 Full details on the progress on specific savings can be found in Appendix 1. 

Page 429



 

 

 
Earmarked Reserves 

3.15 Earmarked reserves represent money that has been set aside for a clearly defined 
purpose, and which is available to meet future expenditure in that area. The use of 
earmarked reserves is only permitted with the approval of the Section 151 officer. 

 
TABLE 4: SUMMARY OF EARMARKED RESERVES 

Committee 
Opening 
Balance    

£000 

Forecast 
Use of 

Reserve 
£000 

Forecast 
Contribution 
to Reserve 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

£000 

Environment, Climate Emergency 
and Transport 

1,345 -1,225 600 720 

 
3.16 Appendix 2 provides the full list of all earmarked reserves. 
 
 
  
 
Capital Monitoring 
3.17 Capital budgets are the monies allocated for spend on providing or improving non-

current assets, which include land, buildings and equipment, which will be of use or 
benefit in providing services for more than one financial year. 

 
TABLE 5: 2022/23 Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee – 
Capital Budget & Forecast Outturn 
 

Capital 
Programme 

2022/23   2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Budget Forecast Variance   Budget Budget Budget Budget 

£000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 £000 

Buildings 900 200 700   540 0 0 0 

CCTV 79 79 0   0 0 0 0 

Climate 
Emergency 

0 125 -125   0 0 0 0 

Flood 
Prevention 

11,361 11,968 -607   1,588 0 0 0 

Leisure 0 0 0   3,200 0 0 0 

Parks 6,985 1,912 5,073   5,073 0 0 0 

Roads and 
Bridges 

3,594 8,819 -5,225   200 0 0 0 

Street Lighting 1,364 1,164 200   200 0 0 0 

Travel and 
Transport 

3,505 3,821 -316   2,155 0 0 0 

Tree Strategy 530 530 0   34 0 0 0 

 Total 28,318 28,618 -300   12,990 0 0 0 

 
 

Page 430



 

 

3.18  Table 5 summarises the forecast expenditure against Capital Budgets.  A full 
breakdown of each Capital Scheme with details can be found in Appendix 3.  The 
favourable variance of £0.300m relates to an adverse variance within Roads and 
Bridges and Travel and Transport.  These relate to increases in Combined Authority 
Transport, Traffic Signal Updates and Highway Maintenance.  This is mitigated by a 
favourable variance within Parks which has been slipped into 2023/24. 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 This is the Quarter 2 budget monitoring report that provides information on the 

forecast outturn for the Council for 2022/23. The Council has robust methods for 
reporting and forecasting budgets in place and alongside formal Quarterly reporting 
to Policy & Resources and Service Committees, the financial position is routinely 
reported at Directorate Management Team meetings and corporately at the Strategic 
Leadership Team (SLT). In the event of any early warning highlighting pressures and 
potential overspends, the SLT take collective responsibility to identify solutions to 
resolve these to ensure a balanced budget can be reported at the end of the year. 

 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is a 
statutory responsibility of the Council. Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 
2003 impose duties on the Council in relation to how it sets and monitors its budget.  
These provisions require the Council to make prudent allowance for the risk and 
uncertainties in its budget and regularly monitor its finances during the year.  The 
legislation leaves discretion to the Council about the allowances to be made and 
action to be taken.     
 

5.2 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 
Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 
the report of the chief finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates 
made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves.  

 

5.3 It is essential, as a matter of prudence that the financial position continues to be 

closely monitored. In particular, Members must satisfy themselves that sufficient 

mechanisms are in place to ensure both that savings are delivered and that new 

expenditure is contained within the available resources. Accordingly, any proposals 

put forward must identify the realistic measures and mechanisms to produce those 

savings.  

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 At this time, there are no additional resource implications as these have already 

been identified for the proposals agreed and submitted.  However, where the budget 
is unbalanced and further proposals are required, then there will be resource 

Page 431



 

 

implications, and these will be addressed within the relevant business cases 
presented to the Committee. 

 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 The Council’s ability to maintain a balanced budget for 2022/23 is dependent on a 

static financial position.  This is an impossible scenario due to estimated figures 
being provided in the calculation for the 2022/23 budget, albeit the best estimates 
that were available at the time, plus any amount of internal and external factors that 
could impact on the budget position in year.  Examples of which are the significant 
emerging inflationary and cost of living pressures, new legislation, increased 
demand, loss of income, increased funding, decreased funding, inability to recruit to 
posts, ongoing impact of the pandemic etc 

 
7.2 A robust monitoring and management process for the 2022/23 budget is in place.  If 

at any time during the year an adverse position is forecast, remedial action must be 
agreed and implemented immediately to ensure the budget can be brought back to 
balanced position. 

 
7.3 The risk of this not being able to be achieved could mean that the Council does not 

have enough funding to offset its expenditure commitments for the year and 
therefore not be able report a balanced budget at the end of the year.  This could 
result in the Section 151 Officer issuing a Section 114 notice. 

 
7.4 A key risk to the Council’s financial plans is that funding and demand assumptions in 

particular can change as more information becomes available. Significant inflation 
and cost of living pressures have already impacted the quarter 1 forecast position. 
and the impact of these pressures will be reviewed and considered in the MTFP as 
part of routine financial management.  

 
 
8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Consultation has been carried out with the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) in arriving 

at the governance process for the 2022/23 budget monitoring process and the 
2022/23 budget setting process. This report will also be shared and reviewed by the 
Independent Panel. 

   
8.2 Since the budget was agreed at Full Council on 28 February, some proposals may 

have been the subject of further consultation with Members, Customer and 
Residents.  The details of these are included within the individual business cases or 
are the subject of separate reports to the Committee 
 
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

Page 432



 

 

 
9.2 At this time, there are no further equality implications as these have already been 

identified for the proposals agreed and submitted.  However, where the budget is 
unbalanced and further proposals are required, then there may be equality 
implications associated with these, and these will be addressed within the relevant 
business cases presented to the Committee. 

 
 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 This report has no direct environmental implications, however due regard is given as 

appropriate in respect of procurement and expenditure decision-making processes 
that contribute to the outturn position. 

 
 
11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS  
 
11.1  In year activity will have incorporated community wealth implications. Consideration 

would have taken account of related matters across headings such as the following:  
 

 Progressive Procurement and Social Value  
How we commission and procure goods and services. Encouraging 
contractors to deliver more benefits for the local area, such as good jobs, 
apprenticeship, training & skills opportunities, real living wage, minimising 
their environmental impact, and greater wellbeing. 

 

 More local & community ownership of the economy  
Supporting more cooperatives and community businesses.  
Enabling greater opportunities for local businesses.  
Building on the experience of partnership working with voluntary, community 
and faith groups during the pandemic to further develop this sector. 

 

 Decent and Fair Employment  
Paying all employees a fair and reasonable wage.  

 

 Making wealth work for local places 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Sarah Cox 
  (Senior Finance Business Partner) 
  email:  sarahcox@wirral.gov.uk  
APPENDICES 
APPENDIX 1 – Progress on the delivery of the 2022-23 Saving Programme 
APPENDIX 2 – Earmarked Reserves 
APPENDIX 3 – Breakdown of Capital 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Bank of England Monetary Policy Report – Aug 22 
DLUHC External Aussurance Reports 
CIPFA’s Financial Management Code 
 

Page 433



 

 

 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

 
Policy and Resources Committee 

 
09 November 2022 

 
Policy and Resources Committee 

 
13 July 2022 

 
Council 

 
28 February 2022 

 
Policy and Resources Committee 

 
15 February 2022 

 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 
 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport 
Committee 

 
22 October 2020 
 
 
3 December 2020 
 
 
1 February 2021 
 
 
16 March 2021 
 
 
14 June 2021 
 
 
 
7 September 2021 
 
 
 
15 November 2021 
 
 
20 January 2022 
 
 
1 March 2022 
 
 
20 June 2022 
 
 
20 October 2022 
 

Page 434



 

 Page 435



 

 

Appendix 1 - Progress on the delivery of the 2022-23 saving programme 
 
 
 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

                

Highways Operational 
Services - Income 
Exploration 

£0.030m £0.030m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m On target to be achieved. No actual 
savings achieved to date, as due to 
income trends it will not be clear how 
much of this saving has been delivered 
until the end of the financial year and will 
be monitored monthly  

  £0.000m 

Fleet efficiencies in 
Transport - going 
green 

£0.020m £0.000m £0.020m £0.000m £0.020m This saving will be achieved through a 
review and replacement of some fleet 
vehicles with newer models which are 
more efficient. There is a risk associated 
with this saving due to increased inflation 
impacting fuel bills. Mitigation to be 
achieved through opportunities that have 
arisen since April 2022 in relation to a 
review of the transport fleet and sale of 
vehicles which are no longer required.   

  £0.010m 

Capitalisation of 
Highways salaries  

£0.015m £0.015m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m On target to be achieved. Full year costs 
of £0.015m have been identified which 
relate to employees currently working on 
capital projects. 

  £0.007m 

 

P
age 436



 

 

 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Highways maintenance 
Contracts 

£0.025m £0.025m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Savings have been achieved. 
Maintenance spend will be reduced this 
year and expenditure will only be incurred 
for essential works.   

  £0.025m 

Street Lighting Service 
Savings 

£0.050m £0.050m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m On target to be achieved. No actual 
savings achieved to date as this 
expenditure usually occurs in the winter 
months and relates to street light 
inspectors employed to check lights to 
ensure they are working correctly 

  £0.000m 

Car park maintenance 
1 year budget 
reduction 

£0.050m £0.050m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m On target to be achieved but noting the 
ongoing risk of potential maintenance 
works if a Health and Safety issue is 
identified in year that was not foreseen at 
the time the savings was approved. 
Maintenance spend will be reduced this 
year as expenditure will only be incurred 
for essential works.   

  £0.000m 

Eco and Forest School 
Income 

£0.020m £0.000m £0.020m £0.000m £0.020m Saving is classified as "At Risk" as 
opportunities for income generation 
cannot be realised until the service is fully 
staffed. Mitigation will be achieved 
through a current vacancy within the 
Forest Schools service. 

  £0.010m 

 

P
age 437



 

 

 
 
 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Tree management 
Team Commercial 
Offer 

£0.025m £0.000m £0.025m £0.000m £0.025m Saving is classified as "At Risk" as due to 
the unforeseen departure of the Tree 
Manager, delays have been encountered 
to progress the saving meaning the 
service had to put temporary cover in to 
complete this project.  Mitigation will be 
achieved through a vacant Tree Manager 
post whilst work continues to generate the 
income associated with this saving. Work 
commenced in July to explore options for 
income generation.  

  £0.025m 

Rent of Café - Royden £0.010m £0.010m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m This saving will not be achieved as rental 
income as this was not deemed viable 
given the recent review of the condition of 
the café. Refurbishment  has been 
completed and the cafe opened in August 
with an in-house offer.  This saving is 
expected to be fully achieved this financial 
year. The site has generated £0.007m per 
month in the first 2 months of operation, 
which is currently offset against the initial 
set up costs. Therefore, no savings will be 
achieved until Quarters 3 and 4. 

  £0.000m 

 

P
age 438



 

 

 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Income increase on 
allotments 

£0.050m £0.050m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m On target to be achieved. This saving is 
based on a price increase from £74 to 
£120 for a full plot and from £40 to £60 for 
a half plot. Customers have been notified 
of price changes. No actual savings 
achieved to date, as renewals are not due 
until October and no significant drop in 
non-renewals are expected 

  £0.000m 

Increase in charges for 
Waste and 
Environmental 
services. 

£0.462m £0.462m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Garden waste prices have been 
increased from 01/04/22.  Subscriptions 
are currently at 39,500 as at the end of 
September and are expected to achieve 
at least 40,000 subscribers by the end of 
the year. Most residents have re 
subscribed to the garden waste service 
during Q1 and Q2, meaning there is only 
£0.072m remaining to be achieved.  This 
is expected to be achieved by the end of 
the year as some residents typically re 
subscribe in Q3. 

  £0.410m 

Removal of Vacancies 
in Environmental and 
Waste team 

£0.100m £0.100m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved as straight 
reduction in the budget for vacant posts 
which have been deleted 

  £0.100m 

 
 

P
age 439



 

 

 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Suspension of Climate 
Emergency Initiatives 

£0.125m £0.125m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved as straight 
reduction in the budget.  The team will 
use capital funding to meet additional 
requirements during the year 

  £0.125m 

Remodelling of Street 
Cleansing: Plus 
special events  

£0.214m £0.214m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved as this relates to 
a removal of the permanent presence 
service and renegotiation of the contract 
with Biffa 

  £0.214m 

Review of overtime 
budget in Parks 

£0.015m £0.015m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved as straight 
reduction in the budget to reflect reduced 
requirements 

  £0.015m 

Reduce grass cutting 
from 10 to 8 cuts 

£0.100m £0.100m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved  as fewer 
seasonal staff have been recruited in line 
with the budget available 

  £0.100m 

Cease community 
firework displays 

£0.030m £0.030m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved as straight 
reduction in the budget.  Firework displays 
will not take place this year 

  £0.030m 

Income Strategy - 
Cemeteries and 
crematorium service 

£0.053m £0.053m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m On target to be achieved. The saving is 
based upon price increases benchmarked 
against other Local Authorities and the 
price changes came into effect from April 
2022. Income projections are currently on 
track and are being monitored monthly 

  £0.026m 

 

P
age 440



 

 

 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Fund ASB Post from 
PCC grant 

£0.050m £0.050m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved as funding has 
been changed from revenue budget to 
PCC grant funding. 

  £0.050m 

Review Engagement 
Officer secondment 

£0.035m £0.035m £0.000m £0.000m £0.000m Saving is fully achieved. Post is now 
vacant and has been deleted. 

  £0.035m 

Introduce Overnight 
Camper Van Parking 
Charge in New 
Brighton 

£0.035m £0.001m £0.034m £0.000m £0.034m Saving is at risk. The option went live on 
8th July. An Experimental Traffic 
Regulation Order (ETRO) allows for 
comments to be received during the first 6 
months and amendments to be made if 
required. Income to date is £600, no 
penalties have been issued to 
campervans parking in contravention as 
compliance has been achieved. Any 
income shortfalls this year will be 
mitigated through other income streams 
within Highways. 

  £0.001m 

Transport efficiencies £0.070m £0.040m £0.030m £0.000m £0.030m It was expected that savings would not be 
achieved in Quarter 1, due to consultation 
periods and the requirement for 
employees to work notice periods. 
Mitigation to be achieved through a 
review of the transport fleet and sale of 
vehicles which are no longer required.  
This will create one off income generation 
opportunities to assist in mitigating the 
saving this year. £0.035m of savings 
achieved to date. 

  £0.035m 

 

P
age 441



 

 

 

Saving Proposal Approved 
Saving 

Green Amber Red Mitigation Comment   Actual 
Savings 

Delivered 
to Date 

Reduction in 
Community Patrol 
Service 

£0.150m £0.100m £0.050m £0.000m £0.050m It was expected that savings would not be 
achieved in Quarter 1, due to consultation 
periods and the requirement for 
employees to work notice periods. 
Mitigation to be achieved through one off 
use of remaining COVID-19 funding for 
staff who continued to work on COVID-19 
activities during Q1 Agreement as to what 
is available from remaining COMF 
(Contain Outbreak Management Fund) 
grant is still being finalised and will be 
reported at Q2.   

  £0.000m 

 Total Neighbourhood 
Services 

 
£1.734m 

 
£1.555m 

 
£0.179m 

 
£0.000m 

 
£0.179m 

   
£1.218m 

 

P
age 442



 

 

Appendix 2 - Earmarked Reserves 2022-23 
Environment, Climate Emergency 
and Transport 
 

     

Reserve 
Opening 
Balance    

£000 

Use of 
Reserve 

£000 

Contribution 
to Reserve 

£000 

Closing 
Balance 

£000 

Health & Safety Flood 
Prevention 

455 -455 0 0 

Parks Tree Maintenance 187 -187 0 0 

Environmental Health 300 -260 0 40 

Climate Emergency 100 -100 0 0 

Litter Enforcement - 
development of initiatives 

49 -49 0 0 

Weed Spraying : Mitigate 
against additional costs 

41 -41 0 0 

Birkenhead Park World 
Heritage Site Lottery Bid 

40 -40 0 0 

Coastal Protection 35 -35 0 0 

Environmental Health 
F.S.A. Backlog 

28 -28 0 0 

Trading Standards 25 0 0 25 

Hilbre Island – Legacy 21 0 0 21 

Health & Safety Armed 
Forces Welfare Pathway 

14 0 0 14 

Bike Safe 10 0 0 10 

Repairs & Maintenance 
upgrades on Public 
Conveniences 

8 0 0 8 

LAMPS to Concerto 
system replacement 

2 0 0 2 

Storeton Quarry 30 -30 0 0 

Waste Levy 0 0 600 600 

 Total 1,345 -1,225 600 720 

 

Page 443



 

 

Appendix 3 – Breakdown of Capital Programme 
 
 

Area Scheme 

  
Budget 
2022/23 

£000 
Forecast 
2022/23  

£000 

  
Variance 
2022/23 

£000 

  
Budget 
2023/24 

£000 

  
Budget 
2024/25 

£000 

  
Budget 
2025/26 

£000 

 

Buildings 
Energy 
efficient 
buildings 

900 200 700 540 0 0 

CCTV 

Removal of 
remaining 
analogue 
CCTV circuits-
21-22 

79 79 0 0 0 0 

Climate 
Emergency 

Climate 
Emergency 
Budget 

0 125 -125 0 0 0 

Flood 
Prevention 

Coastal 
Defence - 
Meols 
Feasibility 
Study 

100 30 70 70 0 0 

  

Connecting 
Wirral Waters: 
Detailed 
Design 

610 610 0 0 0 0 

  

Coronation 
Park 
Sustainable 
Drainage 

222 222 0 0 0 0 

  
Moreton 
Sandbrook 
Drainage 

433 23 410 180 0 0 

  

SUD - 
Leasowe to 
Seacombe 
Corridor 

931 1,556 -625 0 0 0 

  
Surface Water 
Management 
Scheme 

83 83 0 0 0 0 

  

Wallasey 
Embankment 
Toe 
Reinforcement 

100 100 0 1,258 0 0 

  
West Kirby 
Flood 

8,802 9,344 -542 0 0 0 

Page 444



 

 

alleviation 

  
Woodchurch 
Rd Drainage 

80 0 80 80 0 0 

Food 
Waste 

Food Waste 0 0 0 3,200 0 0 

Parks 
Allotment Sites 
Expansion 

125 61 64 64 0 0 

  

Arrowe 
Country Park - 
New Machine 
Shed & Wash 
Bay 

121 121 0 0 0 0 

  

Arrowe 
Country Park 
Depot: Re-
Surfacing, 
Material Bays 
& Electronic 
Entrance 
Barrier 

38 38 0 0 0 0 

  

Beach 
Cleaning - 
Replacement 
of equipment 

94 94 0 0 0 0 

  
Birkenhead 
Park Depot 
Resurfacing 

30 0 30 30 0 0 

  
Birkenhead 
Park Event 
Infrastructure 

164 0 164 164 0 0 

  

Birkenhead 
Park World 
Heritage 
Project Team 

85 0 85 85 0 0 

  

Cemetery 
Extension & 
Improvements 
(Frankby) 

142 0 142 142 0 0 

  
Landican 
Chapels 

119 0 119 119 0 0 

  
Lever Sports 
Pavilion 

80 0 80 80 0 0 

  

New Ferry 
Rangers 
Community 
Clubhouse 

1,042 1,042 0 0 0 0 

  
Parks and 
Countryside 
DDA 

447 47 400 400 0 0 

  Parks 2,635 0 2,635 2,635 0 0 

Page 445



 

 

Machinery 

  Parks Vehicles 1,071 0 1,071 1,071 0 0 

  
Play Area 
Improvements 

327 200 127 127 0 0 

  
Plymyard 
Cemetery 
Roadways 

75 55 20 20 0 0 

  
Plymyard 
Playing Field 

147 20 127 127 0 0 

  
Wirral Country 
Park Car Park 
Surfacing 

63 63 0 0 0 0 

  
Wirral Way 
Widening 

180 171 9 9 0 0 

Roads and 
Bridges 

Aids to 
Navigation 

40 18 22 0 0 0 

  
Bridges 
excluding 
Dock Bridge 

580 580 0 0 0 0 

  
Dock Bridges 
replacement 

500 210 290 0 0 0 

  
Highway 
Maintenance 

482 6,522 -6,040 0 0 0 

  

Highways 
Asset 
Management 
System - 
procurement of 
integrated 
asset 
management 
system 

49 49 0 0 0 0 

  

Key Route 
Network 
(LGF3) - 
Operate Key 
Roads / 
Routes 
Efficiently 

166 166 0 0 0 0 

  

Lyndale Ave 
Parking & 
Safety 
Measures 

125 125 0 0 0 0 

  

Major 
Infrastructure 
Development 
& Strategic 
Transport 
Forward 
Planning - 

333 133 200 200 0 0 

Page 446



 

 

Traffic 
Management 

  
Modernisation 
of CCTV 
System 

120 120 0 0 0 0 

  
Northbank 
West Cycle 
Scheme 

1 0 1 0 0 0 

  

Onstreet 
Residential 
Chargepoint 
Scheme 

102 0 102 0 0 0 

  
TAG Bus 
Case-A41 
Corridor North 

192 192 0 0 0 0 

  
TAG Bus 
Case-Wirral 
Waters outline 

179 179 0 0 0 0 

  

Tower Road 
National 
Productivity 
Investment 
Fund (NPIF) - 
ease 
congestion / 
upgrade 
national or 
local networks 

393 193 200 0 0 0 

  
Town Link 
Viaduct 

332 332 0 0 0 0 

Street 
Lighting 

Street Lighting 
Column - 
Replacement 
or Upgrade 

1,070 870 200 200 0 0 

  

Street Lighting 
-Illuminated 
Lighting and 
Signage 

294 294 0 0 0 0 

Travel and 
Transport 

Active Travel 
Tranche 1 

86 86 0 0 0 0 

  
Active Travel 
Tranche 2 

1,597 1,597 0 0 0 0 

  

Combined 
Authority 
Transport Plan 
(CATP) 

1,529 879 650 1,500 0 0 

  
Depot Welfare 
Improvements 

232 232 0 0 0 0 

  
Quick Win 
Levy 

45 45 0 0 0 0 

Page 447



 

 

  STEP 16 0 16 0 0 0 

  
Traffic Signal 
LED Upgrade 

0 982 -982 655 0 0 

Tree 
Strategy 

Tree Strategy 121 121 0 34 0 0 

  
Urban Tree 
Challenge 
Fund 

409 409 0 0 0 0 

Grand 
Total 

  28,318 28,618 -300 12,990 0 0 

 
 

Page 448



 

 

 

  

 

ENVIRONMENT CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

WEDNESDAY 30 NOVEMBR 2022 

 

REPORT TITLE: ENVIRONMENT CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Environment Climate Emergency and Transport Committee, in co-operation with the 
other Policy and Service Committees, is responsible for proposing and delivering an annual 
committee work programme. This work programme should align with the corporate priorities 
of the Council, in particular the delivery of the key decisions which are within the remit of 
the Committee.    
It is envisaged that the work programme will be formed from a combination of key 
decisions, standing items and requested officer reports. This report provides the Committee 
with an opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across the municipal year. The 
work programme for the Environment Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
  
The Environment Climate Emergency and Transport Committee is recommended to note 
and comment on the proposed Environment Climate Emergency and Transport Committee 
work programme for the remainder of the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 

 
 

Page 449

Agenda Item 12



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
1.1 To ensure Members of the Environment Climate Emergency and Transport 

Committee have the opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the annual work 
programme. 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 A number of workplan formats were explored, with the current framework open to 
amendment to match the requirements of the Committee. 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 3.1 The work programme should align with the priorities of the Council and its 
partners. The programme will be informed by:  

 

            The Council Plan  

  The Council’s transformation programme  

  The Council’s Forward Plan  

            Service performance information  

  Risk management information  

  Public or service user feedback  

  Referrals from Council 

 
Terms of Reference  

  
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee has responsibility 
for parks and open spaces, highways management and infrastructure, coastal 
protection and flood defence and environment and waste matters. It is the 
Committee that leads on behalf of the Council in responding to and matters 
concerning the Climate Emergency. The Committee is also responsible for the 
overview and scrutiny of flood risk management and coastal erosion management 
functions. 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for the Council’s 
role and functions:- 
(a) in co-ordinating the response to cross-cutting sustainability issues such as 

reducing carbon emissions, air quality issues, climate change response, 
improving resource efficiency and developing sustainable energy;   

(b) in relation to all highways matters and as highway authority, street authority, 
bridge authority, including but not limited to public open spaces, street furniture 
on the highway and open spaces or parts of open spaces immediately adjacent 
to the highway; 

(c) in relation to traffic management and transport and as traffic authority, including 
but not limited to public passenger transport and the co-ordination of transport for 
service users, traffic orders and rights of way issues; 

Page 450



 

 

(d) in relation to parking, including on and off-street parking and civil parking 
enforcement;  

(e) in respect of parks, open spaces, countryside management, allotments, 
playgrounds and cemeteries, including arboricultural, gardening and warden 
services; 

(f) in relation to the management of authorised and unauthorised sites and 
encampments, this to include all activities necessary or incidental to the 
Council’s performance of its responsibilities in relation to Gypsies, Roma and 
Travellers; 

(g) in relation to waste and as waste collection authority, litter authority, including but 
not limited to dealing with litter, street cleansing, abandoned vehicles and dog 
fouling, and the Council’s relationship with Merseyside Recycling & Waste 
Authority (MRWA) as the joint waste disposal authority;  

(h) as coast protection authority and lead local flood authority;  
(i) in respect of emergency planning and community resilience (infrastructure and 

contract services); 
(j) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in 

relation to the Committee’s functions; and 
(k) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in relation to the 

Committee’s functions, incorporating the assessment of outcomes, review of 
effectiveness and formulation of recommendations to the Council, partners and 
other bodies, which shall include any decision relating to the above functions. 

(l) in respect of Section 9JB of the Local Government Act 2000, the functions to review 
and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities of flood risk management 
and of coastal erosion management functions which may affect the local authority’s 
area. 

 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 This report is for information and planning purposes only, therefore there are no 
direct financial implication arising. However, there may be financial implications 
arising as a result of work programme items. 

 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, there may be 

legal implications arising as a result of work programme items. 
 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 There are no direct implications to Staffing, ICT or Assets. 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 The Committee’s ability to undertake its responsibility to provide strategic direction to 

the operation of the Council, make decisions on policies, co-ordinate spend, and 
maintain a strategic overview of outcomes, performance, risk management and 
budgets may be compromised if it does not have the opportunity to plan and 
regularly review its work across the municipal year. 
 

Page 451



 

 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Not applicable. 

 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 

carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity. 

 
 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality 

 implications. 
 
10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct environment and 

climate implications. 
 
11.0  COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct community wealth 

implications. 
 
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Anna Perrett 
  telephone:  0151 691 8564 
  email: annaperret@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Environment Climate Emergency and Transport Committee Work Plan 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Wirral Council Constitution 
Forward Plan 
The Council’s transformation programme 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 452



 

 

ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT 

COMMITTEE 

WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

Contact Officer/s: 

 

Polly Price 

KEY DECISIONS – On forward plan to be scheduled Nov 2022 – February 2023 

Item 
 

Lead Departmental Officer 

Parking Strategy Julie Barnes 

Pollinators Strategy Mike Cockburn 

20mph Zones - 

Consideration of 

Objections and 

Officers' Responses 

Simon Fox 

Weed Control Mike Cockburn 

West Kirby Marine 

Lake 

Colin Clayton 

Active Travel Julie Barnes 

Arrowe Park Road Julie Barnes 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS – WAITING TO BE SCHEDULED  

Item Approximate timescale  Lead Departmental 

Officer   

Road Safety Update TBC Simon Fox 

Page 453



Car Parking Options TBC Simon Fox 

Allotment Update TBC Mike Cockburn 

Flood Risk Update TBC Neil Thomas 

  

STANDING ITEMS AND MONITORING REPORTS   

Item Reporting Frequency   Lead Departmental 
Officer   

Budget Monitoring  Every Cycle Sarah Cox 

Performance dashboard Commencing July 2022 Nicki Butterworth 

Carbon Budget 
Performance Report 

Annually in June Andrew Snow 

 

WORK PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE COMMITTEE  

Item Format Timescale  Lead 

Officer   

Progress  

Working Groups/ Sub Committees 

 

Car Parking Charges  Working Group Nov 2020 Simon Fox Completed 

Road Safety  Working Group Jan-Feb 

2021 

Simon Fox Complete  

Hoylake Beach  Working Group Feb 2021  Colin 

Clayton/Neil 

Thomas 

Completed 

Climate Emergency  Working Group December 

2020 

Mike 

Cockburn 

Completed 

Active Travel Working group December 

2021 

Julie Barnes Ongoing 

Roadside Maintenance 

Working group 

Working Group 2022 Mike 

Cockburn 

TBC 

Tree Maintenance Working 

Group 

Working group 2022 Mike 

Cockburn 

TBC 

Task and Finish work 

Allotment provision Task & 

Finish 

Workshop and 

Report 

October 

2020 

Alex 

Davidson 

Complete 

Referral From Council 

Motion - Protecting 

Residents from Flood Risks 

TBC    

Page 454



Motion – Equal Pavement 

Pledge 

TBC    

 

 

Page 455



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee – Terms of 
Reference 
 
The Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee has responsibility 
for parks and open spaces, highways management and infrastructure, coastal 
protection and flood defence and environment and waste matters. It is the 
Committee that leads on behalf of the Council in responding to and matters 
concerning the Climate Emergency. The Committee is also responsible for the 
overview and scrutiny of flood risk management and coastal erosion management 
functions. 
 
The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for the Council’s 
role and functions:- 

(a) in co-ordinating the response to cross-cutting sustainability issues such as 
reducing carbon emissions, air quality issues, climate change response, 
improving resource efficiency and developing sustainable energy;   

(b) in relation to all highways matters and as highway authority, street authority, 
bridge authority, including but not limited to public open spaces, street furniture 
on the highway and open spaces or parts of open spaces immediately adjacent 
to the highway; 

(c) in relation to traffic management and transport and as traffic authority, including 
but not limited to public passenger transport and the co-ordination of transport 
for service users, traffic orders and rights of way issues; 

(d) in relation to parking, including on and off-street parking and civil parking 
enforcement;  

(e) in respect of parks, open spaces, countryside management, allotments, 
playgrounds and cemeteries, including arboricultural, gardening and warden 
services; 

(f) in relation to the management of authorised and unauthorised sites and 
encampments, this to include all activities necessary or incidental to the 
Council’s performance of its responsibilities in relation to Gypsies, Roma and 
Travellers; 

(g) in relation to waste and as waste collection authority, litter authority, including but 
not limited to dealing with litter, street cleansing, abandoned vehicles and dog 
fouling, and the Council’s relationship with Merseyside Recycling & Waste 
Authority (MRWA) as the joint waste disposal authority;  

(h) as coast protection authority and lead local flood authority;  
(i) in respect of emergency planning and community resilience (infrastructure and 

contract services); 
(j) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in 

relation to the Committee’s functions; and 
(k) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in relation to the 

Committee’s functions, incorporating the assessment of outcomes, review of 
effectiveness and formulation of recommendations to the Council, partners and 
other bodies, which shall include any decision relating to the above functions. 

(l) in respect of Section 9JB of the Local Government Act 2000, the functions to 
review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities of flood risk 
management and of coastal erosion management functions which may affect the 
local authority’s area. 

Page 457

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Hoylake Beach Management - Approval of Consultation Report and Final Consultation Outcomes
	Appendix A - Hoylake Consultation Report
	Appendix B - Hoylake BMP Identification of Short Listed Options
	Appendix C - Hoylake Beach Management Options November 2022 - Long List
	Appendix D - Hoylake Beach Geomorphology and Ecology Study
	Appendix E - Natural Engand Advice to Wirral Council Regarding Beach Management
	Appendix F - Hoylake Beach Management Consultation Engagement Strategy
	Appendix G - Maps of Options for Consultation

	7 Pollinator Strategy
	Appendix 1 -  Pollinator Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Pollinator Strategy

	8 Weed Control
	Appendix 1 - Weed Control
	Appendix 2 - Weed Control
	Appendix 3 - Weed Control

	9 Update - Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Update - Wirral Allotment Partnership Strategy

	10 Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee Performance Report
	Appendix 1 - ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE EMERGENCY AND TRANSPORT PERFORMANCE REPORT
	Capital Spend
	Highways Committee
	Environment Committee


	11 Quarter 2 Budget Report
	12 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - Work Programme, 20/10/2022 Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee

	 Terms of Reference



